
Date Published:27 February 2018     

Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 7 March 2018 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

1  APOLOGIES 

To note any apologies for absence.

Laura Powick

2  MINUTES (Pages 1 - 8)

To confirm and sign the minutes of the meeting held on 17 January 
2018.

Laura Powick

3  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members of the Committee are invited to declare any pecuniary or 
personal interests relating to specific matters on the agenda.

Please see note (a) at the end of the agenda.

Laura Powick

4  MOTION 787: PAVEMENTS (Pages 9 - 12)

To receive a report on measures to improve the inspection and 
fixing of pavements.

Cllr Vernon 
Smith

5  A417 'MISSING LINK' CONSULTATION (Pages 13 - 22)

To consider a report on the A417 ‘Missing Link’ consultation.

Amanda 
Lawson-Smith

6  A429 TASK GROUP (Pages 23 - 36)

To receive an update report on the A429 Task Group 

Cllr Nigel Moor



    

recommendations.

7  CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT (Pages 37 - 204)

The Committee to note a report from the Chief Fire Officer, detailing 
information on the portfolio of services provided by the 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service on behalf of 
Gloucestershire County Council.

Stewart Edgar

8  COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT (Pages 205 - 228)

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and 
Infrastructure to update the Committee on current issues. 

Nigel Riglar

9  WORK PLAN (Pages 229 - 230)

To review the committee work plan and suggest items for 
consideration at future meetings. (Work plan attached). 

Cllr Robert Bird

10  FUTURE MEETINGS 

9 May 2018
11 July 2018
19 September 2018
7 November 2018

Laura Powick

Membership –  Cllr Robert Bird (Chairman), Cllr Dr John Cordwell, Cllr Kevin Cromwell, 
Cllr Jeremy Hilton, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, Cllr Sajid Patel, Cllr Keith Rippington, Cllr Stephen Hirst 
and Cllr Rachel Smith 

(a) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about 
whether to make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer, 
Jane Burns 01452 328472 /fax: 425149/ e-mail: Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) 
prior to the start of the meeting.

(b) INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or 
reports relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the 
meeting, please contact: Laura Powick, Democratic Services Adviser 
:01452 324205/fax: 425850/e-mail: laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk

(c)

(d) 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS
1 Members are required to sign the attendance list.
2 Please note that substitution arrangements are in place for Scrutiny (see page 81 of 

the Constitution).

Please note that photography, filming and audio recording of Council meetings is 
permitted subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions.  Please 
contact Democratic Services (Tel 01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements 
ahead of the meeting.  If you are a member of the public and do not wish to be 
photographed or filmed please inform the Democratic Services Officer on duty at the 
meeting.

mailto:Jane.Burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:laura.powick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


    

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please leave as 
directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point which is outside the main entrance to 
Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further instructions.



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 -

ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
held on Wednesday 17 January 2018 commencing at 10.00 am at the Cabinet Suite - 
Shire Hall, Gloucester.

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Robert Bird 
(Chairman)
Cllr Dr John Cordwell
Cllr Kevin Cromwell
Cllr Jeremy Hilton

Cllr Patrick Molyneux
Cllr Sajid Patel
Cllr Rachel Smith

Substitutes:

Apologies: Cllr Keith Rippington and Cllr Stephen Hirst

45. APOLOGIES 

Apologies were received from Cllrs Stephen Hirst and Keith Rippington.

There were no substitutions at the meeting. 

46. MINUTES 

The minutes of the meeting held on 22 November 2017 were approved and signed 
by the Chairman. 

47. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were made. 

48. MOTION 798: GLOUCESTERSHIRE FLOOD AND COMMUNITY RESILIENCE 

David Parish, Strategic Flood Risk Management Officer, and John Beard, Assistant 
Chief Fire Officer, presented a report to the Committee on Gloucestershire flood 
and community resilience.

Motion 798: Gloucestershire Flood and Community Resilience was referred to the 
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee by full Council at its meeting in 
September 2017. The Committee considered the motion on 20 September 2017 
and agreed that a report outlining Gloucestershire’s flood resilience, 
Gloucestershire’s role as lead local flood authority, and how the flood levy had been 
used, would be presented at the Committee meeting on 17 January 2018.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

Cllr Kate Haigh, as proposer of the motion, attended the meeting to contribute to 
the debate. 

The Committee was advised on how flood risk had been managed since the severe 
flooding experienced in the County in July 2007, and recognised that there had 
been over £98 million of public and private investment in Gloucestershire flood 
alleviation projects over the last ten years.

The Committee was informed of the Council’s responsibilities as lead local flood 
authority, noting, in particular, that the Council was a statutory consultee to the 
planning process for major developments. It was also noted that the Council offered 
a free pre-application advisory service for developers.

In response to a query, it was explained that the Council would be consulted during 
the development of Joint Core Strategy local plans. 

In response to a further query, it was estimated that the Council’s advice on 
developers’ proposals was accepted and followed for the majority of applications. 

The strategies that had been implemented to improve local resilience to flooding 
were highlighted to members, in particular, that improvements had been made to 
the Emergency Management Centre and rest centres, and that community 
resilience had been promoted through an information booklet and website. 

Members discussed the report in detail, and recognised that Gloucestershire’s flood 
resilience had improved significantly since 2007. It was felt that communities were 
better prepared and more aware of flooding now than in 2007, and several 
members thanked officers at the Council and from partner agencies for their work to 
develop schemes to protect local communities from flooding.

Several members highlighted the work that had been carried out by district councils 
to improve resilience to flooding, including policies to address flood risk in planning 
applications. 

Although significant progress had been made to improve the County’s resilience to 
flooding, the Committee recognised that further measures were required to protect 
homes that were still at risk from flooding. In response to a query, it was explained 
that flood alleviations schemes at Podsmead and Hucclecote were being 
investigated, which would protect a number of those properties still at high risk. 

In response to a further query, it was explained that funding opportunities for a 
scheme at Alney Island Nature Reserve were being considered. 

The Committee noted that there was increasing interest in the development of 
upper catchment soft flood alleviation schemes, and that the Stroud Valleys Rural 
Sustainable Drainage project had received national recognition as a model of best 
practice. It was also noted that the Council was in conversation with the Forestry 
Commission regarding similar schemes in the Forest of Dean.

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Cllr Haigh highlighted her concerns regarding the reduction in employees at both 
the district and county councils to support local communities in the event of another 
extreme flooding event, and where communities without parish councils could seek 
support on flooding. 

It was explained that in the case of an extreme flooding event, Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service (GFRS) could have up to 300 boots on the ground within 30 
minutes, and that all firefighters were trained in water awareness. It was also 
explained that, in the absence of parish councils, the district councils had a 
responsibility to support local communities, and that there were other local 
community groups that could assist in a response to a flood.

It was agreed that this response to Cllr Haigh’s concerns would be included in the 
report and attached to the minute book for the meeting.

The Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood expressed his thanks to officers and 
GFRS for working to protect local communities within the County from flooding.

The Committee noted the report.

49. ROAD SAFETY REVIEW 

The Committee received an update from John Beard, Assistant Chief Fire Officer, 
on changes being made to the delivery of road safety initiatives. Following the 
withdrawal of the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner from the Road 
Safety Partnership in 2017, a review of road safety and related activities was 
carried out. The Committee was also informed that the review was an opportunity to 
consider the challenges facing Gloucestershire over the next five to ten years, and 
to ensure that road safety functions were integrated effectively to address these 
challenges. 

There was a discussion regarding blue light collaboration. It was noted that there 
would be collaboration moving forward, and that the Gloucestershire Emergency 
Services Collaboration Governance Board had been established.

It was explained that changes to the delivery of road safety initiatives included 
mainstreaming road safety functions within the core work of the Council by 
relocating staff into the teams responsible for highways, integrated transport, and 
development management. A new ThinkTravel Coordinator post would be created 
to ensure that work streams across the teams were effective, and GFRS would 
continue to work with partners to explore and deliver educational packages. 

In response to a query, it was noted that road safety liaison groups would not be 
affected by the changes. 

There was also a query regarding the diversity of vehicles and road users. 

The Committee noted that the review and all subsequent changes would be fully 
implemented by the end of the 2017/18 financial year.

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

50. CHIEF FIRE OFFICER REPORT 

Stewart Edgar, Chief Fire Officer, presented the report to the Committee, which 
detailed information on the portfolio of services provided by GFRS.

In particular, members were informed that GFRS was recruiting for retained and 
whole-time firefighters, and that they were currently at the final interview stage. It 
was hoped that between 10 and 14 whole-time firefighters would be recruited. 

It was explained, in response to several queries from members, that one of the 
strategic aims for GFRS was to recruit firefighters that represented the diversity of 
local communities, and that the retention of whole-time firefighters was high. It was 
noted that the retention of retained firefighters was different, due to the level of 
commitment required for the role. There was also a discussion regarding the impact 
of the fire cadet programme on recruitment. 

The Committee was advised that a consultation on the revised Fire and Rescue 
National Framework document had been launched on 27 December 2017, which 
ended on 14 February 2018. It was agreed that the submission from GFRS  to the 
consultation would be circulated with Committee members.

In an update on Trading Standards, it was explained that the Food Standards 
Agency had indicated that funding for inspections to determine the level of 
compliance at animal food manufacturers and production facilities was likely to be 
reduced in 2018. In response to a query, it was clarified that this would not affect 
the base budget for Trading Standards.

The Committee was informed of several recent fire incidents, which included a 
house fire in Cirencester and in Coney Hill, Gloucester. The Committee also 
discussed the Severn Trent water leak which affected homes in Tewkesbury on 15 
December 2017, and was informed that a de-brief on the incident was being 
arranged. 

51. COMMISSIONING DIRECTORS REPORT 

Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities and Infrastructure, updated the 
Committee on current issues. In particular, members noted that:

a) In an update on highway maintenance, there was likely to be an overspend 
due to the impact of the weather experienced this winter on the roads, 
however it was likely that this would be contained within the overall 
Communities budget;

b) A piece of work to assess the impact of the collapse of Carillion in 
Gloucestershire had been undertaken, and had concluded that there was no 
direct impact on projects being carried out by the Council;

c) The Council was currently out to tender for a replacement Park and Ride 
Service in Cheltenham, and that the Committee would be updated on 
progress with the procurement process at a future meeting;

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

d) The Capital Programme for 2017/18 was under pressure due to contractual 
claims in relation to Cinderford Northern Quarter and Berkeley Bridges, and 
unexpected emergency repairs. This had resulted in all remaining bridge and 
drainage schemes being deferred into the 2018/19 financial year;

e) Highways England was about to commence the next round of works at M5 
Junction 11; and

f) The Council was focussing on three cycling infrastructure projects moving 
forward, which included a cycling route between Tewkesbury and South 
Gloucestershire, the Cheltenham to Bishops Cleeve Cycle Link, and the 
Gloucester to Cheltenham Cycle Route.

The Committee was also informed about the Rural-Urban Outlooks – Unlocking 
Synergies (ROBUST) project, which was a European research project being 
delivered by a consortium of 24 research institutes, local and regional authorities.  
The overall goal of ROBUST was to advance understanding of the interactions and 
dependencies between rural, peri-urban and urban areas, and to identify and 
promote policies, governance models and practices that foster mutually beneficial 
relations. Gloucestershire was one of the settings for the research, and 
Gloucestershire County Council and the University of Gloucestershire’s Countryside 
and Community Research Institute were amongst the partners in the consortium.  
The project received funding from the European Union’s Horizon 2020 research 
and innovation programme and would run for four years from June 2017. 

Members asked questions, in particular, regarding the A417 Missing Link, the 
procurement of lower emission buses for the replacement Park and Ride Service in 
Cheltenham, Traffic Regulation Orders, local bus services, the LED Street Lighting 
Project, and the Lengthsmen scheme.

Following a discussion on the Great Western Rail franchise consultation, it was 
agreed that the draft response from the Council to the consultation would be 
circulated with Committee members for their comments, following the Lead Cabinet 
Member meeting on 5 February 2018. 

Members were also updated on the Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health 
Task Group, noting that a positive and informative Air Pollution Stakeholder 
Workshop had taken place on 16 January 2018, the outcomes of which would 
inform the recommendations of the Task Group.

The Committee noted the report.

52. WORK PLAN 

The Committee would receive a report from the Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Flood on measures to improve the inspection and fixing of pavements, as part of 
the Committee’s consideration of Motion 787: Pavements, and an update on 
progress with the A429 Task Group recommendations, at its meeting on 7 March 
2018.

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

It was proposed that items on the A417 Missing Link and on the libraries review be 
considered at an upcoming meeting, and that an item on the Dynamic Purchasing 
System for Transport be added to the work plan for consideration at a future 
meeting. The Air Pollution and its Impact on Public Health Task Group would also 
be reporting at either the May or July 2018 meeting. 

53. FUTURE MEETINGS 

The Committee noted the meeting dates for the remainder of 2018. 

CHAIRPERSON

Meeting concluded at 1.00 pm

Page 6



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 
17 January 2018

Topic Action Responsibility Progress

118. Motion 798: 
Gloucestershire 
Flood and 
Community 
Resilience 

- To amend the report to explain 
how communities will be 
supported during a flood 
despite the reduction in 
employees at district and 
county councils, and where 
communities without parish 
councils can seek support on 
flooding. 

- To attach the amended report 
to the minute book.

John Beard

Laura Powick

Completed

Completed 

2 Chief Fire Officer 
Report

To circulate Gloucestershire Fire 
and Rescue Service’s submission 
to the Fire and Rescue National 
Framework document consultation 
with Committee members

Stewart Edgar/ 
Laura Powick

To be included as an 
appendix to the Chief Fire 
Officer Report at the 
meeting on 7 March 2018.

3 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To provide Cllr Cordwell with the 
details of when the remaining A 
and B roads will be completed as 
part of the LED Street Lighting 
Project

Scott 
Tompkins

Completed

4 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To provide Cllr Hilton with details 
of the success and popularity of 
the Lengthsmen Scheme 

Scott 
Tompkins

Completed

5 Commissioning 
Director’s Report

To circulate with Committee 
Members the draft response from 
the Council to the Great Western 
Rail Franchise Consultation 
following the LCM meeting on 5 
February 2018

Simon Excell/ 
Laura Powick

Completed 

6 Work Plan - Items on Motion 787: 
Pavements and the A429 Task 
Group to be received at the 
meeting on 7 March 2018

- To provisionally allocate for the 
Air Quality and its Impact on 
Public Health Task Group to 
report back at the meeting in 
May 2018

- To highlight on the work plan 
that items on the A417 Missing 
Link and on the libraries review 
will be considered at one of the 
meetings in the next few 
months

- An item on the Dynamic 
Purchasing System for 
Transport to be included in the 
work plan for consideration at a 
future meeting.

Laura Powick Completed 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: MOTION 787: PAVEMENTS 

To receive a report on measures to improve the inspection 
and fixing of pavements.

Meeting Date: 7 March 2018

Chairman: Councillor Rob Bird

Presenting Officer: Kathryn Haworth

Purpose of Report: To outline the current inspection and repair of footways and 
identify what improvement measures might be required.

Planned Dates

Background 
documents:

n/a

Appendices n/a

Recommendations To note the report

              

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



                                                                                                                                      
1. Background

1.1 At County Council on 7 December 2016, the following motion was 
recorded.

 Motion 787 – Pavements

Proposed by Cllr Paul Hodgkinson
Seconded by Cllr Chris Coleman
This Council notes that there are many damaged pavements and 
footpaths across Gloucestershire in need of repair. This Council is aware 
that only £800K a year in dedicated footways capital– although many 
other highways capital schemes include significant footway spend which 
is not included in this figure. This Council asks the Cabinet Member to 
report back to the Highways Advisory Group on measures to improve the 
inspection and fixing of pavements, before reporting back to the 
Environment and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee with a 
positive action plan.

1.2 The intention was for the Cabinet Member to report back to the Highways 
Advisory Group.  However, since then the Highways Advisory Group was 
disbanded and hence this report is a response direct to the Environment 
and Communities Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

2. Inspection Regime

2.1. There are approximately 3600km of footways within the County.  These 
footways are inspected on a scheduled programme carried out by City 
and Guilds qualified Highway Safety Inspectors.  Inspections use a slow 
moving vehicle with two personnel - one driving, the other inspecting.

2.2. The inspection covers all areas within the highway boundary along that 
route. In urban areas, particularly when inspecting footways, it may be 
difficult to ensure that the inspection is carried out correctly by vehicle and 
it is necessary to carry out these inspections on foot. Walked inspections 
will be the normal for town centre footways. The inspectors will travel the 
footway noting areas of concern that warrant further investigation and any 
defects identified will be risk assessed in line with the Highways Safety 
Inspection Policy and then scheduled for repair within either the next 
working day or 28 days depending on the severity.

2.3. Reactive inspections are also carried out when potholes or defects are 
reported by the public.  These enquiries are inspected within 5 working 
days and any defects found are allocated for repair in line with the 
Highways Safety Inspection Policy.

3. Highways Safety Inspection Policy

3.1 The Highway Safety Inspection Policy has been tested in the courts over 
a number of years.  The Policy has been noted by the judiciary as a 
process which is robust and identifies good practice from throughout the 

Page 10



industry.  Gloucestershire has an average repudiation rate of 95% and 
this rate is well above the industry standard where 80% is often seen as 
acceptable.  This gives confidence that the processes, criteria and 
response times outlined in the existing Policy are robust and reasonable 
and safeguard the County’s liability.

3.2 The existing manual is currently being updated to align it with the new 
Code of Practice; Well Managed Highway Infrastructure October 2016.  
This code highlights the need for a risk based approach to all highways 
policies, and encourages consistency with neighbouring authorities to 
ensure that users of the network reasonable expectations of consistency 
are taken into account.  Gloucestershire’s Policy already follows a risk 
based approach so revisions are minor – these include reviewing the 
inspection hierarchy to align it with neighbouring authorities in the South 
West and ensuring consistency of inspection frequencies across county 
boundaries.  These revisions have been discussed with our insurers and 
legal team to ensure that the key stakeholders are satisfied.

4. Claims

4.1 The number of defects found during 2016-17 was 1010 footway defects in 
comparison with 15826 carriageway defects.  This equates to 6.38% 
footway defects of the number recorded for that period.

4.2 Since 2014 the responsibility for inspecting and repairing defects, 
including footway defects, has been transferred to the highways 
contractor, Amey.  This includes the transfer of liability for third party 
claims.  Since this time the claims history is as follows: 

2014-15 - 126 footway claims (total 668) = 18.5% of all claims received.
2015-16 - 105 footway claims (total 754) = 14% of all claims received 
2016-17 - 145 footway claims (total 603) = 24% of all claims received
2017- date - 34 footway claims (total 191) = 18% of all claims received 

4.3 The total number of footway claims since 2014 is 410, compared with a 
total of 2216 - this equates to 18.5% of all claims received. This rate is 
similar to what was experienced when GCC held the liability for claims.

5. Funding & Prioritisation

5.1 In addition to routine maintenance, footways throughout the county have 
received the following investment through the capital programme.

2014-15- £659,000
2015-16- £464,000
2016-17- £564,000
2017-18- £674,000 predicted spend.

5.2 The level of investment is anticipated to be £800k for the next financial 
year.  

Page 11



5.3 Where capital footway schemes are put forward, the prioritisation process 
uses a variety of different factors to prioritise schemes within the available 
funding including claims data, inspection data and local knowledge about 
the level of use.

5.4 Other aspects of the capital programme will also contribute to footway 
improvements such as safety schemes, which improve pedestrian 
provision or safety, and other large scale projects which include footway 
works and pedestrian or cycle provision.

5.5 In addition to capital funding there is also investment on the footway 
network from the revenue budget – this may include maintenance of 
footways through siding out and clearing vegetation at the edges, 
replacing kerb lines, and patching short sections where a number of 
defects are clustered.  This work is reactive in nature and carried out on a 
needs led basis.  In addition the lengthsmen gangs have been used to 
carry out a considerable amount of footway siding and vegetation 
clearance work.

5.6 Some councillors have used their Highways Local allocation to make 
contributions to footway surfacing or improvement schemes.  In 2016-17, 
27 councillors contributed towards footway schemes, totalling £192k of 
their Highways Local allocation.  In 2017-18, 44 councillors have allocated 
£477k from Highways Local to footway schemes.  Some are already 
complete and the remainder are planned for the remainder of the financial 
year.

6. Summary and Recommendation

6.1 Capital investment on footways in 2018-19 is at the highest level for a 
number of years and there is clear evidence of councillors recognising the 
importance of footway condition through their use of contributions from 
their Highways Local allocations and lengthsmen priorities.  It can also be 
seen that investment in footways is not limited to the capital footway 
programme, but is supplemented by footway improvements within other 
programmes of work such as safety improvements, revenue maintenance, 
highways local and lengthsmen activities.   Additional spend on footway 
maintenance has to be balanced with the consequent reduction in spend 
on carriageway maintenance.  

6.2 The combination of repudiation rates and feedback on the Highway Safety 
Inspection Policy from court defences would indicate that the level of 
expenditure going into footways is keeping them in a condition which 
maintains a manageable low risk to the public.

6.3 It is recommended that the current best practice approach is continued 
and supported and that councillors continue to work closely with their 
Local Highways Managers to allocated Highways Local and lengthsmen 
works towards footways which they would like to prioritise in their areas.

Page 12



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: A417 Missing Link - consultation

Meeting Date: 7 March 2018

Chairman: Cllr Bird

Presenting Officer: Amanda Lawson-Smith

Purpose of Report: To consider the A417 Missing Link consultation being 
undertaken by Highways England

Planned Dates The consultation runs from 15 February to 29 March 2018

Background 
documents:

All background documents can be found here:

http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link

https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/

Appendices n/a-see above

Recommendations To note the contents of the report and to welcome the intention 
by Highways England to improve the A417 Missing Link.  The 
County Council should continue to work with Highways England 
to ensure that an acceptable scheme is constructed as soon as 
possible.

                                                                                                                                                

Page 13

Agenda Item 5

http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link
https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/


1.0  Background
 

1.1 The Missing Link is a 5km stretch of single carriageway on the A417 near 
Nettleton Bottom which is managed by Highways England as part of the Strategic 
Road Network (SRN). It is the only single carriageway section on the 50km long 
trunk road, is a regular cause of serious congestion and has seen a very high 
level of accidents, including several fatalities, in recent years.

1.2 The A417 provides an essential link to the M5 at Gloucester and the M4 at 
Swindon – two of the region’s top growth areas. It helps businesses in the south 
west connect with markets and opportunities in the midlands and the north, and 
attracts investment for Gloucestershire and its neighbours by linking them to 
London and the south east.

1.3 Congestion can be unpredictable, so some motorists often ‘rat run’ along 
local roads, affecting the communities along these routes. These local roads 
were not designed to accommodate this level of traffic and collisions often 
happen.

1.4 The existing A417 runs through the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty, and crosses the highly sensitive Cotswolds escarpment at Crickley Hill. 
This steep change in the landscape means that finding a suitable solution for 
upgrading the A417 Missing Link is extremely challenging.

1.5 Gloucestershire County Council, District Councils, MPs, GFirst LEP, 
businesses and local residents have been campaigning and lobbying for an 
improvement to be made to the A417 Missing Link for many years.  In 2014 
Government announced that the scheme would be included in the Road 
Investment Strategy from 2015 – 2021.  The County Council has already 
contributed £1M towards the development of a scheme, and has committed a 
further sum of up to £3M (total £4m) at council on 14 February 2018.

1.6 Highways England is delivering £15 Billion of investment on the SRN as 
described in the Government’s Road Investment Strategy 2015 – 2020. As part of 
this strategy, the Department for Transport has made money available to develop 
a scheme to upgrade the remaining single carriageway section of the A417, with 
the aim of constructing the project in the next road investment period (RIS2) 
(2020-2025). Highways England is responsible for delivering this scheme.

1.7 This consultation sets out progress to date and the next steps.

2.0   Process to date

2.1   Over the years, there have been numerous attempts to improve the A417 
Missing Link. For various reasons, including affordability and changes in 
investment priorities, these have never come to fruition. However, in recent 
years, the case for improvement has become more compelling – to improve 
safety, support the economy, ease congestion and reduce pollution.

2.2 Over the last 18 months, Highways England has been looking at a number of 
route options, including proposals which have been put forward in the past. They 
have assessed them against the vision and objectives for the scheme which were 

Page 14



developed in partnership with key stakeholders, such as the Cotswolds 
Conservation Board and Gloucestershire County Council.

2.3 The objectives for the scheme are set out below:

 Transport and safety: to reduce delays, create a free-flowing road network 
and improve safety along this stretch of the A417.

 Environment and heritage: to reduce the impact on the landscape, natural 
and historic environment of the Cotswolds and, where possible, enhance the 
surrounding environment.

 Community and access: to reduce queuing traffic and pollution, improve 
access for local people to the SRN and support residents’ and visitors’ 
enjoyment to the countryside

 Economic growth: to help boost growth and prosperity by making journeys 
more reliable and improving connectivity.

3.0  Identifying the options

3.1 Around 18 months ago, Highways England started early assessment work to 
identify possible route options. For this, they used four sources:
 a review of historic work completed by Gloucestershire County Council and 

the (then) Highways Agency.
 outputs from initial scoping work carried out by Highways England to see if 

any viable solutions could be developed.
 outputs from a workshop carried out with stakeholders, including 

representatives from environmental and economic groups, and local 
authorities.

 the refinement of alternative routes by the project team.

3.2 Thirty options were identified and can be found on Figure 3 below (n.b. figure 
3 is the reference given in the HE consultation document).

Page 15



Page 16



4.0Assessing route options: the engineering test

4.1 The next step was to review the 30 options in engineering terms to ensure 
that Highways England only took forward options which improved on the quality 
of the existing road and can be realistically delivered.  For example if a route had 
bends that were too sharp or slopes that were steeper than the existing A417 at 
Crickley Hill, they were discounted. As a result of this test, 10 of the initial 30 
route options were discounted and 20 moved on to the next step.  Figure 4 below 
shows the 20 route options taken forward to the next step.

5.0 Assessing route options: the sift

5.1 HE then assessed each route against a series of five factors, which are part 
of a Department for Transport approved assessment method. These factors are:

Page 17



 Strategic – assessing what each option is trying to achieve and how it will 
address the problem;

 Economic – reviewing each option’s economic, environmental and social 
impact;

 Managerial – assessing the deliverability of a route in terms of construction;
 Financial – assessing the cost to build and affordability of each option; and
 Commercial – assessing the value for money, or benefit to cost ratio, of each 

option

5.2 This method, however, did not allow for the scheme’s ‘landscape-led’ vision 
and objectives to be taken into account. HE therefore adapted this method so 
that they could rank each option and score it against how strongly it meets the 
vision, objectives and factors above. As a result of this assessment, five options 
were taken forward for further assessment work. These were Options 3, 21, 24, 
29 and 30 and these five route options can be found on figure 5.

6.0 Assessing value for money and affordability

6.1 Results from the previous step suggested that the tunnel options (Options 3, 
21, 24 and 29) would bring greater landscape benefits, but would not offer value 

Page 18



for money and would be over the cost range allocated for the scheme (£250 
million - £500 million). The surface option (Option 30) was the most affordable of 
the five options. As a result of this, Highways England then assessed the other 
surface options (that had been previously discounted) to see if there were any 
other more affordable options that may be deliverable within the scheme’s cost 
allocation. 

6.2 After this assessment work, it was concluded that one further surface route 
option ‘Option 12’ met the scheme’s objectives and affordability criteria and 
Highways England recommended that this route be taken forward.  Option 12 is 
the route that the (then) Highways Agency presented as a possible solution in 
2003 when the Government last looked at improving the A417 Missing Link.

6.3 Six route options (2 surface options and 4 tunnels) remained and can be 
found in figure 6 below:

6.4 The six remaining options were then tested for: 

 Traffic impact
 Road safety

Page 19



 Environmental impact and opportunities
 Social impact
 Value for money and cost analysis

6.5 All route options performed similarly for the first 4 categories above.  Even in 
the Environmental Impact and Opportunities category the schemes were very 
similar, primarily because, even though there are landscape benefits with tunnels, 
the need to keep the existing A417 reduced these benefits greatly.

6.6 Value for Money and cost.  This is the area where the greatest difference 
between surface options and tunnels can be found.  Cost estimates were 
prepared for each route option as follows:

Option 3 
(tunnel)

Option 12 
(surface)

Option 21 
(tunnel)

Option 24 
(tunnel)

Option 29 
(tunnel)

Option 30 
(surface)

Most likely 
cost

£875m £465m £1,625m £1,210m £1,240m £485m

Return on 
investment*

75 pence 68 pence 47 pence 54 pence 56 pence £1.04

Value for 
money 
rating

Poor Poor Poor Poor Poor Low

*For every £1 spent

7.0 Overall conclusions on sifting and assessment

7.1 After the four step process of identifying and refining possible route options, 
HE has concluded:

 That the tunnel options provide better opportunities to minimise the impact 
on the landscape.

 Tunnel options would, however, still have an adverse environmental and 
visual impact due to the need for tunnel portals and link roads to the 
existing A417 and A436. The existing A417 would be retained.

 Tunnel options demonstrate poor value for money. That means that when 
their benefits are weighed against their significant cost, they would not 
offer a return on their investment for taxpayers.

 All of the tunnel options are also above the allocated cost range for the 
scheme of £250 million to £500 million. While Option 12 (a surface route) 
also offers poor value for money, it falls within the cost range for the 
scheme.

7.2 To ensure that affordable routes that fall within the allocated cost range for 
the scheme are taken forward (£250 million - £500 million), Highways England 
are presenting Option 12 and Option 30 as their proposed route options.

7.3 Highways England having looked at Option 12 and Option 30 in more 
detail has concluded that Option 30 presents greater opportunities to meet the 
objectives for the scheme by improving safety, supporting the economy, 
easing congestion and pollution, making the route more convenient for its 
regular users and improving the wellbeing of those who live near it. Option 30 
also offers better value for money for taxpayers’ investment. 

Page 20



7.4 The assessment undertaken by Highways England concludes that Option 
30 performs better than Option 12 and is therefore Highways England’s 
proposed solution for the A417 Missing Link.

7.5 Highways England has recommended that Option 30 is the preferred 
option. The County Council has the opportunity to comment on the 
consultation document with its stance before the deadline.

8.0 What happens next?

8.1 Consultation closes on 29 March 2018 after which Highways England will 
select their final preferred route and then hold a second consultation, with 
more refined plans available for the single route choice.  This is likely to be in 
Autumn 2018 and will be called the ‘Preferred Route Announcement’, with the 
statutory consultation taking place early in 2019.  A planning application will 
be submitted for the scheme later in 2019.  If planning permission is granted 
construction could start in mid 2021.

8.2 It is important to note that the list of schemes that the Government will 
fund and deliver within the RIS2 period has not yet been announced, and 
although The A417 Missing Link is a “strong contender” for inclusion in the 
programme the funding has not yet been secured.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee 

Report Title: A429 Task Group Progress Update

Meeting Date: 7th March 2018

Chairman: Councillor Rob Bird

Presenting Officer: Kathryn Haworth

Purpose of Report: To consider 

Planned Dates

Background 
documents:

n/a

Appendices Appendix A – Key traffic/HGV data held for A429 
Gloucestershire
Appendix B - S106 Funds associated with length of A429 Fosse 
Way through Gloucestershire
Appendix C – Multimodal corridor study – Draft conclusions and 
recommendations

Recommendations To note the report

Page 23

Agenda Item 6



1. Background

1.1. The A429 Task Group presented the task group’s recommendations to Cabinet on 
8th June 2016.  A formal Cabinet response was provided and circulated on 9th 
September 2016.  Cabinet was generally supportive of the recommendations, and 
made a few detailed comments for consideration.  It was noted that the normal 
budget setting cycle and processes would need to be followed where funding is 
required to take forward some of the recommendations.

1.2. This briefing note sets out the recommendations, associated priorities and work 
programme and progress made to date.

2. Recommendation 1 – Support an asset management approach to maintenance 
along the A429 to ensure it is maintained to a suitable standard (including cyclical 
and structural maintenance).

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) uses an asset management 
approach to the maintenance of the highway network which is set out 
in the Transport Asset Management Plan.  This enables the 
maintenance requirement and funding for all road classes to be 
understood and targeted.  Network deterioration occurs on all roads 
over time, and the available funding does not always keep pace with 
the network needs.  Gloucestershire currently has an estimated 
maintenance backlog of £90 million.  However, the road hierarchy of 
the A429 means that it is of strategic importance to the county and the 
priority of the A road network is recognised in the structural 
maintenance funding.  The hierarchy of the road is also reflected in the 
standards for safety included in the Highways Inspection Policy.  
Cyclical and routine maintenance are more dynamic activities as they 
involve responding to developing network and seasonal conditions 
across the whole of the county.  Within this approach the road 
hierarchy is also used to prioritise the available maintenance budgets.  

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

Officers investigate how to better share information about the cyclical 
maintenance activities and timetable which are taking place across the 
network.  Short term (6-12 months)

Progress 
Update:

Complete - A new page has been included on the GCC website which 
outlines the annual cycle of maintenance activities to supplement the 
existing information, additional information also provided about road 
maintenance activities, and the Find It tool is visible to enable 
customers to view what work is going on across the network.

3. Recommendation 2 - Promote the importance of the A429 to the economic health of 
the vibrant rural community through which it travels; and in the longer term, to seek 
reclassification of the road as a trunk road

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

GCC recognises the importance of the A429 to both the local 
community and the countywide traffic movements.  However, the 
reclassification of the A429 as a trunk road, and hence the 
responsibility passing to Highways England, is considered unlikely 
given the national policy which exists for the trunk road network across 
the country.

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

Long term

Progress 
Update:

The publication in October of the report “A Major Road Network for 
England” does not include the A429 through Gloucestershire as part of 
the MRN.  This was discussed at LCM on 7th November and it was 
agreed that GCC’s primary road network, including the A429, be put 

Page 24



forward for inclusion in the MRN.  Strategic Infrastructure team put 
forward comments and concerns on the A429 to report authors in Jan 
2017.  Response from them has been received, thanking for input and 
explaining their rationale for the roads chosen.  They did acknowledge 
that the A429 is an interesting case because of the geographical 
position, whilst not carrying the volume of traffic nor expected 
development levels which would justify it’s inclusion using the criteria 
they’ve selected.  The DfT is now considering how best to develop the 
idea and our comments have been brought to their attention.

Officers and LCM have also considered this aspect in more detail and 
concluded that the likelihood of the A429 being reclassified as a trunk 
road is very low and hence that the County Council should focus its 
attention on what opportunities there are for managing HGV traffic and 
dealing with capacity issues.  The partial review of the Gloucestershire 
LTS in 2018 presents an opportunity to consider the A429 so as to 
emphasise its priority for local communities.  Officers are arranging to 
convene a meeting with neighbouring authorities early in 2018 to try to 
facilitate discussions around HGV traffic in particular.  

4. Recommendation 3 - Investigate traffic monitoring requirements to complete any 
gaps in the current knowledge base, with particular regard to congestion and HGV 
movements, so that the impact of developments and neighbouring authority plans 
can be fully understood

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

GCC already carry out some limited annual monitoring of traffic 
volumes on the A429 but it is recommended that a traffic study could 
be carried out, subject to the budget being identified, to provide an area 
wide baseline of traffic volumes (including HGVs) and congestion.  This 
could also help to provide a baseline for investigating proposals for 
weight limits to manage HGV movements.  

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

Officers will provide a summary of what data exists, what data gaps 
there are and the costs for carrying out surveys to enable local 
councillors to consider whether to contribute highways local funding to 
carrying these out.  Short term (6-12 months)

Progress 
Update:

Several additional traffic surveys have been carried out and data is 
now held for most of the key sites across the A429 and adjoining lorry 
routes.  Data gaps identified, most notably that for the B4450, have 
been addressed.  This data has been used to inform the recent 
discussions on the proposed lorry ban in Burford, Oxfordshire and the 
potential impact on the Gloucestershire network.  A summary of the 
data held is contained in Appendix A.

5. Recommendation 4 - Explore and maximise funding opportunities from which to 
support improvements and maintenance on the A429

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

The Task Group has recognised that funding opportunities will have to 
be sought and maximised in order to bring some of the proposals 
forward over the short, medium and long term.  This approach is 
supported and noted and every effort will be made to ensure that as 
and when opportunities arise they are utilised.

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

As and when opportunities arise

Progress 
Update:

Officers have drawn together a list of S106 contributions which are 
available or likely to become due along the A429 corridor in order to 
consider as part of a wider options appraisal for the route and these 
are listed in Appendix B.  It should also be noted that officers have 

Page 25



already responded to the CDC Local Plan CIL Charging schedule 
concerning improvements needed along the A429.

There is no reference to the A429 in the Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule (DCS) or DCS and as such GCC’s response to the charging 
schedules would not refer to the A429.  The draft Regulation123 List is 
the list which the District Council is required to publish, which will not 
be funded through S106 and/or S278 obligations but can be funded by 
CIL.  It currently reflects the following LTP projects (and others).  This 
means that CIL money can be applied to these projects:

South Cotswold Sub Area (Cirencester, Down Ampney, Fairford, 
Lechlade-on-Thames, South Cerney and Tetbury)
 Cirencester – Improvements to A429 Cherry Tree junction
 Fairford – A417 / Whelford Road junction improvements
 Kemble – Junction improvement for A429 / A433
 Kemble – Re-use of old railway line for cycling between Tetbury 

and Kemble
 Tetbury – Improvements to A433 (London Road) / A433 (Long 

Street) / Hampton Street / New Church Street junctions
 Tetbury – Improvements to A433 (Long Street) / A433 (Bath Road) 

/ B4014 (Fox Hill) / Chipping Street junctions

North Cotswolds Sub Area (Blockley, Chipping Campden, 
Mickleton, Moreton-in-Marsh and Willersey)
 Moreton-in-Marsh – Improvement for Fosse Way, Moreton-in-

Marsh
 Moreton-in-Marsh – Widening of roads at junctions, modifications 

of mini-roundabouts to signal-controlled junctions, realignment of 
road markings and improvements to pedestrian facilities at A429 
(Roman Road) / A44 (Oxford Street) and A429 (Roman Road) / 
A44 (Bourton Road) 

6. Recommendation 5 - Further investigate potential options for managing congestion, 
resilience and road safety with a view to having a long term plan of improvements in 
place for the A429.

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

A number of detailed proposals were made relating to how to 
improve road safety.  The Road Safety Partnership (RSP) carries 
out annual monitoring of collision data across the county in order 
to be able to identify trends and particular locations of concern, as 
well as how to prioritise safety improvement budgets.  The RSP is 
also looking to better link with parishes so that future road safety 
messages and education awareness programmes could also be 
cascaded through parish magazines and newsletters.  However, 
on specific locations/issues raised:
 The A429 as a whole is currently ranked 49th in the latest 

ranking of A and B roads.
 The location at Kemble does not appear on the latest hotspot 

analysis in either the lengths or junctions list.  It is also likely 
that the Chesterton Development might change this whole area 
and the recent safety scheme on the bends north of Kemble 
should also continue to make a difference.  The A436 Bourton 
junction also does not appear on the latest hotspot analysis – 
there are 2 injury accidents recorded in the last 3 years.  
Similarly the A40/A429 Northleach roundabout doe

Page 26



 The A40/A429 Northleach roundabout is currently ranked 104th 
in the list of junction priorities with 3 slight injury collisions in 
the past 3 years.

 At Broadwater Bottom a more detailed analysis has been 
carried out by the RSP and a recommendation to consider the 
addition of a couple of bend warning signs to help highlight the 
corner to approaching traffic has been made.  The use of 
specific signs to inform traffic what the issues are or message 
which suggest behaviour changes are preferred and 
considered more effective than those showing accident 
numbers.

 Whole route treatments for speed limits would need to be 
investigated and more evidence gathered to understand how 
appropriate they might be.  There are long lengths of straight 
carriageway with no junctions along the A429 where it is 
unlikely to be able to meet national guidance for a blanket 
speed limit. 

The Task Group also identified a number of detailed proposals for 
easing congestion including widening the carriageway, building 
overtaking/crawler lanes and addressing known congestion pinch points 
such as those at Stow-in-the-Wold and Moreton-in-Marsh.  It is unclear 
how the funding for these would come forward as the majority would be 
economically unviable for GCC to progress alone but should be 
considered when development opportunities arise.  Similarly, bypasses 
for Moreton-in-Marsh and Stow-on-the-Wold are unlikely to be 
economically viable unless they are realised through development.  In 
addition, the inclusion of a plan to provide a pedestrian footbridge at 
Moreton-in-Marsh over the railway, allowing an improvement to the 
carriageway over the railway, is included in the Local Transport Plan.

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

It is recommended that officers implement the bend warning sign 
recommendation at Broadwater Bottom within the next 6-12 months 
using safety maintenance funding.  Short term (6-12 months).

It is recommended that officers investigate the feasibility of such 
proposals (including the whole route treatment for speed limits) along 
the A429 over the next 1-2 years.  It is also recommended that an 
options appraisal be undertaken, subject to identifying the budget, for 
addressing congestion at pinch points along the A429 to inform future 
debate and long term planning.  It is proposed that the funding for this 
study is sought in future budget setting cycles. Medium term (1-2 years)

Progress 
Update:

Warning signs at Broadwater Bottom were erected in Jan 2017.

Gloucestershire County Council has commissioned White Young Green 
(WYG) to undertake a multimodal corridor study of the A429/A433 
corridor.  The purpose of this study is to develop a long-term vision for 
the corridor and proposals on how to achieve it. The vision has been 
developed for 2040, almost ten years beyond the end of the Emerging 
Cotswold District Council (CDC) Local Plan period.  The proposed 
measures are aimed at addressing both existing issues and problems 
expected to arise beyond 2031, and ensure that the corridor functions 
safely for all road users and supports the economy.  So far WYG’s work 
has aided GCC’s response to TRO consultations by neighbouring 
authorities, affecting the A429 and provided background information for 
Cotswold District Council’s Housing Infrastructure Bid for funding for the 
Railway Bridge in Moreton-in-Marsh. The report is expected to be 
finalised by April 2018 but the draft conclusions and recommendations 
are outlined in Appendix C.  How these recommendations will be 

Page 27



addressed shall be considered once the draft report is finalised.

Officers have also begun investigating the proposal for a speed limit 
reduction with road safety colleagues to determine if there is any 
quantifiable benefit to be gained.

We commissioned a report on Stow in July 2017, as a result of this a 
number of changes were made to the signal operation (all four junctions 
were checked).  The area was observed a number of times at different 
times of the day based on some of the comments received.  This 
involved some alterations which have now been undertaken – the clocks 
within the controllers have been adjusted and the introduction of a virtual 
hard wire linking between the junctions, as well as the reinstatement of 
double green stages to improve flow through the junctions.  Since then 
the operation of the junction has been improved significantly.

The introduction of MOVA (smart signalling) has also been examined as 
part of this study and the alterations already made mimic virtually the 
installation of a hard wired MOVA controller.  It is intended to carry out 
some more observations in the Spring to assess whether these 
alterations are still providing the additional benefit, and so that any 
further tweaks can be made before the summer peak period.

7. Recommendation 6 - Support air quality monitoring at key locations, including 
Stow-on-the-Wold and Moreton-in-Marsh

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

The air quality monitoring funding agreed by Council in February related 
to areas with higher levels of vehicle pollution (AQMAs) and was subject 
to match funding from districts. Officers have met District Environmental 
Health Officers and some, including those from the Cotswolds, did not 
consider air quality to be a priority for funding or officer time.  There is an 
AQMA in the Cotswolds near the Air Balloon but nothing in the north 
Cotswolds. Therefore, initially other areas will be prioritised and the 
position with Cotswold District Council will be reviewed over the coming 
year to see whether there is scope to work with a school in Moreton or 
Stow later in the project.

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

Officers to review position with Cotswold District Council over the coming 
year to see whether there is scope to work with a school in Moreton or 
Stow later in the project.  Medium Term (1-2 years)

Progress 
Update:

Nothing further to report at this time – GCC are focusing AQ monitoring 
on schools in Cheltenham, Gloucester and Tewkesbury, plus a pilot with 
APCOA’s civil enforcement officers patrolling these areas.  With some 
history of work with schools completed, it may be easier to engage with 
other schools later in the academic year.  The Thinktravel Schools 
Engagement Team are currently running to capacity and have exceeded 
their target number of schools.  There is no capacity for them to extend 
to schools in Moreton or Stow.

8. Recommendation 7 - Further consider the public transport and cycle provision on 
the A429, and investigate where improvements can be made

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

Public transport and cycle provision is a key part of Gloucestershire’s 
Local Transport Plan.  In rural areas sustainable travel modes can be 
more difficult to promote and to achieve meaningful infrastructure 
provision.  

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

Officers investigate the public transport provision (bus and rail) on the 
A429 with a view to considering improvements for the future – primarily 
focused on spurs off the Fosse for cycling and links to stations at 
Kingham and Kemble.  It is also recommended that an options appraisal 

Page 28



is carried out, subject to the funding being identified, for creating cycling 
provision along the A429.  Medium Term (1-2 years)

Progress 
Update:

Gloucestershire County Council has commissioned White Young Green 
(WYG) to undertake a multimodal corridor study of the A429/A433 
corridor.  The purpose of this study is to develop a long-term vision for 
the corridor and proposals on how to achieve it. The vision has been 
developed for 2040, almost ten years beyond the end of the Emerging 
Cotswold District Council (CDC) Local Plan period.  The proposed 
measures are aimed at addressing both existing issues and problems 
expected to arise beyond 2031, and ensure that the corridor functions 
safely for all road users and supports the economy.  The report is 
expected to be finalised by April 2018 but the draft conclusions and 
recommendations are outlined in Appendix C.  How these 
recommendations will be addressed shall be considered once the draft 
report is finalised.

9. Recommendation 8 - Engage with neighbouring authorities in co-ordinating 
activities from which to progress any long term aspirations relating to traffic 
movements on the A429 and supporting local road network

Summary 
of Cabinet 
Response:

Gloucestershire County Council continues to work closely with 
neighbouring authorities on issues which have mutual impact

Work 
Programme 
& Priority:

Officers and councillors to continue to hold regular (at least annual) 
liaison with neighbouring counterparts to ensure that there is early 
discussion about proposals which might affect both authorities.  Short 
Term/Ongoing (6-12 months)

Progress 
Update:

A report was provided to LCM in April 2017 regarding any known TRO 
proposals by neighbouring authorities which might have a bearing on 
Gloucestershire’s network.  At this time there were proposals for Burford 
town centre, Chipping Norton, B4222 nr Kilcot and Mickleton.  The most 
advanced of these were proposals for a weight restriction in Burford 
town centre which had potential to route HGV traffic through 
Gloucestershire including on the A429.  Gloucestershire County Council 
formally objected to the proposals and a decision by Oxfordshire County 
Council was made on 12th October 2017 to defer work on the 
implementation to allow further work to be carried out on the impacts.  
Officers are continuing to work closely with Oxfordshire over this matter.  
Going forward it is intended to provide a regular update to LCM on these 
types of proposals.

Page 29



Appendix A – Key traffic/HGV data held for A429 Gloucestershire

This table shows the directional Average Daily Total (ADT) for September 2016, together with 
the HGV percentage (%).

Site
No.

Road
No. Location Two Way Northbound/ 

Eastbound
Southbound/ 
Westbound

ADT HGV % ADT HGV % ADT HGV %
7001 A44 Troopers Lodge, Bourton-on-the-Hill 9024 8.7% 4552 8.6 4472 8.9
10424 A429 Stratford Road, Moreton-in-Marsh 10394 8.3% 5320 8.3 5074 8.3
8001 A44 West, Moreton-in-Marsh 6377 10.4% 3250 10.5 3128 10.3
8000 A44 East, Moreton-in-Marsh 7274 9.6% 3614 9.3 3660 9.9
8003 A429 South, Moreton-in-Marsh 11908 -% 6045 - 5863 -
10422 A424 Evesham Road, Longborough 4867 6.9% 2477 6.7 2390 7
10423 A429 Station Rd., South Stow-on-the-Wold 19999 5.6% 10195 6.4 9804 4.8
8004 A436 Martins Hill, Stow-on-the-Wold 7401 3.4% 3743 3.4 3657 3.4
10421 A424 Fosseway Junct., Stow-on-the-Wold 7234 7.3% 3579 7.2 3655 7.3
7007 A429 Fosse Manor, S of Stow 13584 5.8% 7048 6 6536 5.6
7008 A429 North of Northleach 9130 11.1% 4625 11.4 4505 10.7
6008 A429 Dillies Farm, N of Cirencester 8482 9.3% 4218 8.6 4264 9.9
6009 A429 Burford Road, Cirencester 15300 - 7762 - 7539 `
6020 A429 Burford Road, W of Ciren. Bypass 15432 3.9% 7050 4.1 8382 3.8
6010 A429 Watermoor Road, Cirencester 34482 - 17866 - 16616 -
6011 A429 West of Chesterton Lane, Cirencester 28797 - 14268 - 14529 -
6012 A429 Royal Agricultural College, Ciren. 14768 9.3% 7331 9.4 7437 9.3
7001 A44 Troopers Lodge, Bourton-on-the-Hill 9024 8.7% 4552 8.6 4472 8.9
10519 B4450 Martins Hill to Stow Road Junction 1460 5.5% 741 5.3 718 5.7

These plans show the directional 24 hour 7 day average daily traffic flows for September 2016 
(rounded to nearest 50) and the percentage (%) of HGVs.

Page 30



Page 31



How does traffic & HGV's in Gloucestershire compare with national averages

Nationally 93.1 billion vehicle miles were travelled on rural ‘A’ roads to September 2016 and of 
these 6.1 billion vehicle miles were carried out by HGVs, giving the proportion of HGVs as 
6.6% of billion vehicle miles travelled.
Along the A429 the percentage of HGVs during September 2016 ranges from 3.4% at Stow-
on-the-Wold (ATC 8004) to 11.1% North of Northleach (ATC 7008).

Long term trends

Over the last 20 years, traffic has increased at varying rates across vehicle types. All motor 
vehicles have increased by 17.4%, and of this there has been an increase in car traffic by 
12%, van traffic by 70% and HGV traffic by 5.5%.  On rural A roads such as the A429 over the 
last year national traffic monitoring has shown increases in car traffic by 2.6%, van traffic by 
4.4% and HGV traffic by 2.7%.  (Source: Department for Transport Provisional Road Traffic 
Estimates Great Britain: October 2015 - September 2016, 10 Nov 2016).

Page 32



Appendix B - S106 Funds associated with length of A429 Fosse Way 
through Gloucestershire

Fire College, Moreton in Marsh (09/04440)
No Scheme £K  Notes

O30041001 Transport Strategy 16 Complete

2469 A44/A429 Roundabouts Phase 1 25
Complete (any GCC funds 
returned to the programme)

2484 A44/A429 Roundabouts Phase 2 35 Complete + GCC £15k
2261.1 Cycle Route from development to station
2261.2 Footway to bus stop
2261.3 Bus Shelter at development
2261.4 RTPI near Railway Station
2261.5 Bus Shelter near Railway Station

2261.6
Contribution to new waiting room at 
railway station

200 Significantly complete

Cotswold Friends Community Bus Service 30  Complete
 TOTAL 306  

Fire College, Moreton in Marsh (14/01483)
No Scheme £K  Notes

Removal of footway on railway bridge 30
VAS sign at bridge 70

2261.1 Cycle Route from development to station
2261.2 Footway to bus stop
2261.3 Bus Shelter at development
2261.4 RTPI near Railway Station
2261.5 Bus Shelter near Railway Station

2261.6
Contribution to new waiting room at 
railway station

38 Significantly complete

Bus services 32  
 TOTAL 170  

Todenham Road, Moreton in Marsh (14/00948)
No Scheme £K  Notes

2484 A44/A429 Roundabouts Phase 2 3 Complete
2261.1 Cycle Route from development to station
2261.2 Footway to bus stop
2261.3 Bus Shelter at development
2261.4 RTPI near Railway Station
2261.5 Bus Shelter near Railway Station

2261.6
Contribution to new waiting room at 
railway station

29 Significantly complete

 TOTAL 32  

Page 33



Appendix C – Multimodal corridor study – Draft conclusions and 
recommendations

WYG has been commissioned by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) to carry out a 
multimodal corridor study of the A429/A433 corridor.  The purpose of this study is to develop a 
long-term vision for the corridor and proposals on how to achieve it. The vision has been 
developed for 2040, almost ten years beyond the end of the Emerging Cotswold District 
Council (CDC) Local Plan period.

The proposed measures are aimed at addressing both existing issues and problems expected 
to arise beyond 2031, and ensure that the corridor functions safely for all road users and 
supports the economy. 

Recommendation 5 - Further investigate potential options for managing congestion, 
resilience and road safety with a view to having a long term plan of improvements in 
place for the A429

A summary of the key conclusions include:

 Vehicle flows vary significantly along the corridor with flows on the A429 are higher than 
on the A433.  Peak morning flows occur between 07:00 and 09:00, and evening peak 
between 16:00 and 18:00.  Friday is the day with the highest flows.

 The locations with the longest sections of low speeds observed were Moreton-in-Marsh, 
Stow-on-the-Wold, the approaches to the Cherrytree Lane, Burford Road in Cirencester 
and Tetbury.  PM peak journey times are generally longer than AM.  

 There is no clear pattern of seasonal variation. Tetbury is the location where the biggest 
seasonal variation was observed, indicating that tourist movements during the summer 
months significantly exacerbate traffic conditions during the weekend.

 Despite weight restrictions being in place for minor routes, they are difficult to enforce, 
especially since they are often directed to use them by satellite navigation systems.  HGV 
routing issues are also present in Oxfordshire.  The proposed weight restriction in Burford 
would impact Stow-on-the-Wold and the proposed weight restriction in Chipping Norton 
would severely impact Stow-on-the-Wold, and potentially Moreton-in-Marsh.

 Speeding issues have been identified North of Moreton-in-Marsh, North of Cirencester 
(Burford Road) and North of Tetbury.  The speeding along the A433 between Cirencester 
and Tetbury is considered the most concerning, in conjunction with the road safety 
analysis.

 The A429 and A433 are not among the GCC roads with the highest collision rates with 
trends observed are generally in line with national trends. Five collision hotspots have 
been identified along the corridor.  Four of the five hotspots are in or near town and village 
centres (Moreton-in-Marsh, Stow-on-the-Wold, Bourton-on-the-Water, and Tetbury). The 
location of the fifth hotspot is the A433 between Cotswold Airport and Tetbury which is 
mainly non built-up and winding.

 There are higher collision rates observed on the A433, especially for slight and serious 
collisions.  The majority of collisions were observed between the A429/ A433 junction and 
Tetbury, this section is mainly non built-up, and winding between Cotswold Airport and 
Tetbury.

Page 34



 Following the full build out of the Cotswold Local Plan including its supporting transport 
strategy post 2031 pinch points have been identified where junctions will be operating at or 
near capacity at Moreton-in-Marsh and Tetbury.  Stow-on-the-Wold will also be impacted 
subject to Oxfordshire’s proposed weight restrictions at Burford and Chipping Campden.

A summary of the key recommendations where action is required:

The preferred role of the corridor needs to be more clearly established. It serves many 
functions and some of these conflict with each other. The route is intended to focus on the 
local economy and communities but it also serves an important long-distance traffic and HGV 
function. This is not compatible with the creation of attractive town centres that people want to 
visit. 

 Agree strategic role of the A429/A433 corridor in terms of through traffic and HGVs

 Carry out origin/destination traffic surveys 

 Carry out a parking study in the towns to identify capacity and congestion issues and 
manage Light Goods Vehicles in town centre

 Work with Oxfordshire County Council to consider the role of the corridor for freight 
transport, improve the information provided about restrictions and routes and enforce the 
weight restrictions

 Carry out detailed accident investigations and provide additional signs, awareness 
campaigns, enforcement and monitoring to reduce accidents 

 Ensure delivery of the proposed junction capacity improvements contained in the Cotswold 
District Highway Capacity Assessment and the Chesterton development

 Commission a study to identify the cost / benefit of potential major capacity increases

How these recommendations will be addressed shall be considered once the draft report is 
finalised.

Recommendation 7 - Further consider the public transport and cycle provision on the 
A429, and investigate where improvements can be made

A summary of the key conclusions include:

 Walking and cycling infrastructure is largely limited to town centres along the corridor. 
 Walking infrastructure is considered to be at a good level, but cycling infrastructure is poor.
 Cycling along the A429 / A433 corridor or in town centres is unpleasant and unsafe.
 Walking and Cycling infrastructure requirements will be picked up through the County 

Council’s local Walking and Cycling Infrastructure Plans (LCWIP).

Current conditions at the market towns along the corridor do not encourage cycling as a mode 
of transport for residents and visitors. Existing congestion, noise, and air pollution levels make 
cycling feel unsafe and unpleasant, especially for inexperienced users. A lack of appropriate 
road width for safe and pleasant cycling is common among Moreton-in-Marsh, Stow-on-the-
Wold and Tetbury, and is often exacerbated by on street parking. 

The study does not propose cycle lanes or paths along the A429 carriageway because of its 
restricted width, the speed of general traffic and presence of HGVs. To provide cycle lanes 
along the A429 would require widening on long lengths of road and this is not considered to 
be a cost-effective use of funds for a low number of cyclists.  It is suggested that, as a short 

Page 35



and medium term solution, existing footpaths or recreational routes are upgraded and their 
connectivity is improved so that they can be used more widely.  This proposal will be 
considered as part of the County Council’s LCWIP process.  This will be delivered in three 
phases informed by outputs from the Department for Transport’s Propensity to Cycle 
Modelling Tool.  Due to the low levels of cycling recorded in the Cotswold area, the Cotswold 
LCWIP will be delivered as part of the phase 3 work which is likely to commence post 2019.

In terms of bus infrastructure and local information provision, no specific public transport 
infrastructure issues have been identified.  In broad terms, public transport is likely to remain 
used by a limited number of people but this number could increase if improvements are made.

Given the rural nature of the area, it is not likely that major changes in travel behaviour will be 
forthcoming in the short or even medium term.  In the long term it may be necessary to 
provide an alternative route for through traffic, recognising that highway capacity schemes 
have significant funding, planning and environmental challenges to overcome before they 
could be implemented.

A summary of the key recommendations where action is required:

 Improve pedestrian, cycle and equestrian crossings and other facilities in the appropriate 
locations 

 Create new and improved cycle routes between the towns and local transport hubs

 Improve public transport with new services, bus links to stations, bikes on buses, bus 
stops and station improvements

 Moreton-on-Marsh railway bridge improvements

How these recommendations will be addressed shall be considered once the draft report is 
finalised.

Page 36



1

Title Chief Fire Officer Report
Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

Chief Fire Officer 
suite of Services

Fire and Rescue Service, Trading Standards, 
Registration Service, Coroner Service and Civil Protection Team. 

Date of meeting 7 March 2018

Purpose of Report To provide a strategic update on issues and key areas of service 
provision.    

1. Fire and Rescue National Framework for England – Consultation

Section 21 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of State to 
prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework which sets priorities and objectives for fire 
and rescue authorities (FRAs) in England in connection with the discharge of their functions. 
FRAs have a statutory duty to have regard to the National Framework. 

The National Framework was last published in 2012 and changes were required that warrant 
a full revision of it at this time to embed the government’s fire reform programme such as the 
creation of a new inspectorate for fire and rescue services and the creation of the National 
Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC). The National Framework also reflects the provisions in the 
Policing and Crime Act 2017 on emergency services collaboration and changes to fire and 
rescue governance.

The proposed changes and objectives have been updated to include:
 Collaborate with emergency services [and other local and national partners] to 

increase efficiency and effectiveness of service provision. The aim is to increase 
public safety and reduce public costs.

 Develop and maintain a workforce that is resilient, skilled, flexible and diverse. This 
encourages fire and rescue services to put in place a ‘People Strategy’.

 Resources should be targeted in order to reduce fire risk, with close co-operation 
undertaken between partners across public and voluntary bodies and emergency 
services, to include intelligence and risk data sharing.

 The introduction of the role of Her Majesty’s Inspectorate for Constabulary and Fire 
and Rescue Service. The expectation is that all fire and rescue authorities must 
cooperate with the inspectorate and give due regard to the reports and 
recommendations made.

 Recognition that fire and rescue authorities operate with a range of different locally 
determined governance arrangements including an individual – either a police, fire 
and crime commissioner or a mayor – having sole responsibility for being the fire and 
rescue authority for an area.

 Recognition of the role of the National Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) for the provision of 
co-ordinated professional, operational and technical leadership of the sector, advising 
and supporting central and local government, and other stakeholders’.  

 The need for Fire Authorities to manage their budgets and spend money properly and 
appropriately, and ensure the efficient and effective use of their resources, pursuing 

Page 37

Agenda Item 7



2

all feasible opportunities to keep costs down while discharging their core duties 
effectively.

 The introduction of a ‘Professional Standards Body’ who will develop a coherent and 
comprehensive set of professional standards across all areas of fire and rescue 
services work, drawing on existing standards where appropriate in order to enhance 
professionalism across the fire sector.

 Fire and rescue services must be able to respond to the heightened threat of 
terrorism and be ready to respond to incidents within their areas and across England 
to keep communities safe.

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service has now contributed to the consultation on the 
National Framework. The Government intends for the new National framework to go before 
parliament in March 2018 and to come into effect in April 2018.

See Appendix 1 – Draft Fire and Rescue National Framework 2018
See Appendix 2 – Gloucestershire Fire Authority and Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue 
Service response to the consultation.

2. HMICFRS Inspection

Preparation for the HMICFRS inspection (indicative timeline for Gloucestershire Spring 
2019) is progressing well. This work includes a planned and detailed communication 
strategy designed to ensure that all stakeholders are kept informed and engaged in the 
process. A gap analysis is being undertaken based on the methodology questions provided 
by HMICFRS, the outcome of which will provide a comprehensive self-assessment by the 
Service thereby assisting it to be better prepared for the actual inspection. 

3. New Key Performance Indicators

Following a comprehensive review, the Service has developed a revised set of key and local 
performance indicators. This will ensure that focus is maintained on our prevention, 
protection, response and resilience activities and will assist the Service to take appropriate 
action to drive effectiveness, efficiency and ensure continuous improvement. 

4. Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety

Post-Grenfell, the Home Secretary called for an Independent Review of Building Regulations 
and Fire Safety. This is being led by Dame Judith Hackitt, with two key priorities:

1. Develop a more robust regulatory system for the future. 
2. Provide further assurance to residents that the buildings they live in are safe and remain 
safe. 

The interim report has been published (see Appendix 3) with early indications highlighting a 
requirement for a full overhaul of the regulatory system to address a wide range of issues. 
The final report is expected in Spring 2018. 

Report Ends

Page 38



3

Stewart Edgar
Chief Fire Officer

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Fire and Rescue National Framework 
for England 

Government consultation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

This consultation begins on 27 December 2017. 

This consultation ends on 14 February 2018. 

 

Page 41



 

About this consultation 

 

To: Fire and rescue authorities and fire and rescue 

representative bodies  

Duration: From 27 December 2017 to 14 February 2018 

Enquiries (including 

requests for the paper in 

an alternative format) to: 

Alan Turnbull  

Home Office 

6th Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 

4DF 

Tel: 0207 035 3558 

Email: FRSComms@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 

How to respond: You can submit your responses to the consultation by 

using the online form on gov.uk 

 

or in hard copy, by 14 February 2018 to: 

Harinder Sahota 

Home Office 

6th Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 

4DF 

Tel: 0207 035 3478 

Email: FRSComms@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 

 

Response paper: A response to this consultation exercise is due to be 

published by spring 2018 on gov.uk. 

 

 

Page 42

mailto:FRSComms@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.homeofficesurveys.homeoffice.gov.uk/s/2YJ15/
mailto:FRSComms@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

1 

Contents 

Foreword 2 

Executive summary 4 

Introduction 6 

Draft Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 7 

Questionnaire 29 

About you 30 

Contact details and how to respond 31 

Consultation principles 33 

 

 

 

 

Page 43



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

2 

Foreword 

Fire and rescue services play a crucial role in making our communities safer, whether it be 

preventing and protecting people from fire and other risks, or responding swiftly and 

effectively to the incidents and emergencies that occur. Over the past decade we have 

witnessed a significant decrease in the number of fires which suggests that we are, as a 

society, becoming safer than ever from the risk and consequences of fire. In part this must 

be a testament to the successful fire prevention and protection work that fire and rescue 

services deliver day in, day out, up and down the country.   

 

Nevertheless, the awful tragedy at Grenfell Tower provided a stark and terrible reminder 

that we can never afford to become complacent.  We must continue to work hard to keep 

people – especially those whose vulnerability to fire is increased by age, infirmity, mental 

health, domestic violence or any of the other complex issues some of us are living with – 

as safe from fire and associated risks as possible.  In many cases, this means engaging 

effectively with other agencies to work together to better protect and improve the outcomes 

for these individuals.    

 

The past decade has also seen fire and rescue services respond to an ever growing 

number of non-fire incidents.  Collaboration should be at the heart of how services operate 

so that services can work with, or on behalf of, local providers, to deliver a range of public 

safety activity to protect their local communities where it is in the interests of efficiency and 

effectiveness for them to do so. 

 

In 2016, the Home Office outlined an ambitious programme of reform which it is delivering 

with the fire and rescue sector. This revised National Framework seeks to embed these 

reforms, which include: 

 transforming local governance of fire and rescue by enabling mayors and police and 

crime commissioners to take on responsibility for fire and rescue services where a 

local case is made; 

 establishing Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire and Rescue 

Services (HMICFRS) as an independent inspection regime for fire and rescue 

authorities;  

 developing a comprehensive set of professional standards to drive sector 

improvement; 

 supporting services to transform commercially with more efficient procurement and 

collaboration; 

 increasing the transparency of services with the publication of greater performance 

data and the creation of a new national fire website; and - 

 driving forward an ambitious programme for workforce reform including through 

enhancing: professionalism; management and leadership;  training and 

Page 44



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

3 

development; equality and diversity; improved culture; and options for flexible 

working.  

 

 

As part of this reform programme, the fire landscape is changing with the formation of the 

National Fire Chiefs Council; an independent inspectorate (HMICFRS); and a professional 

standards body. The revised framework outlines the roles and responsibilities of these 

bodies and sets expectations for how services should work with them. 

 

It is against this background that the Government launches this revised National 

Framework for consultation. The National Framework will continue to provide an overall 

strategic direction to fire and rescue authorities, but Whitehall will not run fire and fire and 

rescue services remain free to operate in a way that enables the most efficient and 

effective delivery of their services, drawing upon their considerable skills and experience to 

best reduce the risks from fire. Ultimately, it is to local communities, not Government, that 

fire and rescue authorities are accountable.  

 

Finally, it is vital that we learn the lessons from Grenfell. I very much welcome the 

publication of Dame Judith’s interim report setting out a comprehensive analysis of the 

current system of building regulations and fire safety and recommendations for how it can 

be improved.  It is clear there is a need for reform across the system and that we need a 

new intelligent system of regulation and enforcement which encourages everyone to do 

the right thing and which holds those who cut corners to account. The scale of the change 

that her report calls for cannot be delivered by government alone so we will work closely 

with Dame Judith and other partners – including the National Fire Chiefs Council and fire 

and rescue services - during the next phase of the review, identifying the changes that 

need to be made to the system. We will update the National Framework as required to 

ensure that the learning and recommendations from this Review, as well as those from the 

wider Grenfell Tower Inquiry, are captured and reflected.  

 

In the meantime, we acknowledge the vital work that local fire and rescue services, and 

the NFCC, as a member of the Expert Panel, are doing to ensure that building owners are 

taking all the necessary steps to ensure those living in high rise buildings are safe and feel 

safe to remain in their homes.  

 

I look forward to receiving consultation responses on the revised National Framework.   

 

 

Rt hon Nick Hurd MP 

Minister for Policing and the Fire Service 

Page 45



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

4 

Executive summary 

1. Section 21 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires the Secretary of 

State to prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework which sets priorities and 

objectives for fire and rescue authorities (FRAs) in England in connection with the 

discharge of their functions. FRAs have a statutory duty to have regard to the 

Framework. The 2004 Act requires the Secretary of State to keep the Framework 

under review and revise it if needed with significant revisions subject to statutory 

consultation with representatives of fire and rescue authorities and their 

employees.   

2. The National Framework was last updated in 2012 and changes are needed which 

warrant a full revision of it at this time to embed the fire reform programme such as 

the creation of a new inspectorate for fire and rescue services and the creation of 

the National Fire Chiefs Council. The Framework also reflects the provisions in the 

Policing and Crime Act 2017 on emergency services collaboration and changes to 

fire and rescue governance.  

3. We have sought the views of an external working group in drafting this framework 

including the LGA and their elected members; the National Fire Chiefs Council; and 

HMICFRS. 

4. We propose the priorities and objectives for FRAs as set by the Framework to be: 

 identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 

their areas face; 

 make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and 

response to fire and rescue related incidents; 

 collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to 

increase the efficiency and effectiveness of service provision;  

 be accountable to communities for the service they provide; and 

 develop and maintain a workforce that is resilient, skilled, flexible and 

diverse. 

5. Within the Workforce chapter (chapter 6) of the draft National Framework, the 

section on ‘re-engagement of senior officers post-retirement’ has been the subject 

of an earlier, separate consultation. The Government’s response to that 

consultation is published separately. The draft National Framework includes the 

proposed wording following that consultation and no more changes to that section 

are planned following this consultation process. 

Page 46



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

5 

6. Annex A of the draft National Framework contains a revised ‘Protocol on Central 

Government Intervention Action for Fire and Rescue Authorities’. Section 23 of the 

Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 requires that an intervention protocol be 

prepared, and for the Secretary of State to have regard to it in the exercise of their 

power of intervention. Revisions to the protocol are required to be consulted on and 

so comments are invited on this document. 

7. Subject to the outcome of the public consultation and parliamentary time allowing, 

the Government intends for the new National Framework to come into effect in 

April 2018 to coincide with the commencement of fire inspection. The existing 

Framework – brought into effect in 2012 - remains valid until it is replaced. The 

outputs from the Grenfell Tower Inquiry and the Independent Review of Building 

Regulations and Fire Safety will be considered on an ongoing basis and further 

changes may be made to the Framework as required. Any such changes will be 

subject to a separate consultation. 

 

Page 47



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

6 

Introduction 

This paper sets out for consultation the revised Fire and Rescue National Framework for 

England and also for the revised ‘Protocol on Central Government Intervention Action for 

Fire and Rescue Authorities’. The consultation is aimed at fire and rescue authorities in 

England and their staff, as well as fire and rescue representative bodies. 

The proposals are unlikely to lead to additional costs or savings for businesses, charities 

or the voluntary sector, or on the public sector.  

 

Copies of the consultation paper are being sent to: 

Chiefs and Chairs of all Fire and Rescue Authorities in England 

Local Government Association 

National Fire Chiefs Council 

Association of Principal Fire Officers 

Fire Brigades Union 

Fire Officers’ Association 

Retained Firefighters’ Union 

Association of Police and Crime Commissioners 

 

However, this list is not meant to be exhaustive or exclusive and responses are welcomed 

from anyone with an interest in, or views on, the subject covered by this paper. 

Page 48



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

7 

Draft Fire and Rescue National 
Framework for England 

1. INTRODUCTION 

 
Powers 

 
1.1  Under section 21 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (“the 2004 Act”), the 

Secretary of State must prepare a Fire and Rescue National Framework.  
 

The Framework: 
a) must set out priorities and objectives for fire and rescue authorities in 

connection with the discharge of their functions;  
b) may contain guidance to fire and rescue authorities in connection with the 

discharge of any of their functions; and  
c) may contain any other matter relating to fire and rescue authorities or their 

functions that the Secretary of State considers appropriate.  
 
1.2  In setting out priorities and objectives for fire and rescue authorities in England, the 

requirements are best calculated to promote public safety and the economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness of fire and rescue authorities. The Framework sets out high level 
expectations; it does not prescribe operational matters which are best determined 
locally by fire and rescue authorities and their staff.   

 
1.3 In preparing the Framework, the Secretary of State is required to consult fire and 

rescue authorities or their representatives; persons representing employees of fire and 
rescue authorities; and any other persons they consider appropriate.  

 
1.4 Every fire and rescue authority must have regard to the Framework in carrying out 

their functions. Every authority must publish an annual statement of assurance of 
compliance with the Framework (see Chapter 3).  

 
1.5 Fire and rescue authorities function within a long-established statutory and policy 

framework. This document does not repeat all the duties placed on them in connection 
with the discharge of their functions, or more generally as a public service provider and 
employer. 

 
1.6 The term ‘fire and rescue authority’ in this Framework applies to every fire and 

rescue authority in England unless otherwise stated.  
 

Priorities 
 

1.7 The priorities in this Framework are for fire and rescue authorities to: 

 identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue related risks 
their areas face; 

 make appropriate provision for fire prevention and protection activities and 
response to fire and rescue related incidents; 

 collaborate with emergency services and other local and national partners to 
increase the efficiency and effectiveness of service provision;  

Page 49



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

8 

 be accountable to communities for the service they provide; and 

 develop and maintain a workforce that is professional, resilient, skilled, 
flexible and diverse. 

 

Page 50



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

9 

 

2. DELIVERY OF CORE FUNCTIONS 
 
Identify and assess 

 
2.1 Every fire and rescue authority must assess all foreseeable fire and rescue related 

risks that could affect their communities, whether they are local, cross-border, multi-
authority and/or national in nature from fires to terrorist attacks. Regard must be had to 
Community Risk Registers produced by Local Resilience Forums and any other local 
risk analyses as appropriate. 

 
2.2 Fire and rescue authorities must put in place arrangements to prevent and mitigate 

these risks, either through adjusting existing provision, effective collaboration and 
partnership working, or building new capability. Fire and rescue authorities should work 
through the Strategic Resilience Board where appropriate when determining what 
arrangements to put in place.   

 
Prevent and protect 

 
2.3 Prevention is always better than cure. Fire and rescue authorities must make 

provision for promoting fire safety, including fire prevention, and have a locally 
determined risk-based inspection programme in place for enforcing compliance with the 
provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in premises to which it 
applies. 

 
2.4 We expect fire and rescue authorities to target their fire safety, prevention and 

protection resources on: those individuals or households who are at greatest risk from 
fire in the home; those most likely to engage in arson or deliberate fire setting; and on 
those non-domestic premises where the life safety risk is the greatest.   

 
2.5 To identify those at greatest risk from fire, we expect fire and rescue authorities to 

work closely with other organisations in the public and voluntary sector, as well as with 
the police and ambulance services. Wherever appropriate, we expect fire and rescue 
services to develop partnerships to support risk reduction services to those identified as 
vulnerable, including from exploitation or abuse, and wherever possible to share 
intelligence and relevant risk data.   

 
2.6 In many cases, fire and rescue prevention and protection staff will be in a position to 

identify individuals’ wider vulnerabilities and exposure to risks beyond fire. By working 
closely and collaboratively with other public and voluntary sector organisations – both 
nationally through the National Fire Chiefs Council and through local arrangements - we 
recognise fire and rescue authorities can make an important contribution to increasing 
the effectiveness and efficiency of public services and alleviating pressures on local 
response resources. However, this should not be at the expense of their core fire 
functions. 

 
2.7 Given the wide range of roles that fire and rescue personnel undertake, including 

with people with complex needs and vulnerabilities, fire and rescue authorities will need 
to ensure that all their staff in public-facing roles have the necessary skills and training 
to meet such demands. They also should have appropriate safeguarding arrangements 
in place to provide the public with the reassurance and confidence that they have every 
right to expect.  

 

Page 51



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

10 

2.8 In all their prevention and protection activities, fire and rescue authorities should 
robustly evaluate the impact of their activities to ensure that they only pursue those 
which can be demonstrated to impact effectively and cost-efficiently on risk reduction 
within their communities. Fire and rescue authorities should share details of their 
successful interventions (and, importantly, those less successful interventions) to 
support each other to understand and build on what works best and what is most cost-
effective.  

 
Respond 

 
2.9 Fire and rescue authorities must make provision to respond to incidents such as 

fires, road traffic collisions and other emergencies within their area and in other areas in 
line with their mutual aid agreements.  

 
2.10 Fire and rescue authorities can enter into reinforcement schemes, or mutual aid 

agreements, with other fire and rescue authorities for securing mutual assistance, so far 
as practicable. 

 
2.11 Fire and rescue authorities must have effective business continuity arrangements in 

place in accordance with their duties under the Civil Contingencies Act 2004. These 
arrangements must be able to meet the full range of service delivery risks and national 
resilience duties and commitments that they face. Business continuity plans should not 
be developed on the basis of armed forces assistance being available. 

 
Integrated Risk Management Plan 

 
2.12 To establish how it aims to deliver its core functions to effectively prevent and 

mitigate the fire and rescue related risks facing their communities, each fire and rescue 
authority must produce an integrated risk management plan. Each plan must:  

 reflect up to date risk analyses including an assessment of all foreseeable 
fire and rescue related risks that could affect the area of the authority;  

 demonstrate how prevention, protection and response activities will best be 
used to prevent fires and other incidents and mitigate the impact of identified 
risks on its communities, through authorities working either individually or 
collectively, in a cost effective way; 

 evaluation of service delivery outcomes including the allocation of resources, 
for the mitigation of those risks; 

 set out its management strategy and risk-based programme for enforcing the 
provisions of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 in accordance 
with the principles of better regulation set out in the Statutory Code of 
Compliance for Regulators, and the Enforcement Concordat; 

 cover at least a three-year time span and be reviewed and revised as often 
as it is necessary to ensure that the authority is able to deliver the 
requirements set out in this Framework;  

 reflect effective consultation throughout its development and at all review 
stages with the community, its workforce and representative bodies and 
partners; and 

 be easily accessible and publicly available. 
 

 
 

Page 52



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

11 

 
3. INSPECTION, ACCOUNTABILITY AND ASSURANCE 
 
Inspection 
 

3.1 Independent inspection of fire and rescue authorities in England – and the fire and 
rescue service they oversee - is delivered by Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of 
Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS). The chief fire and rescue 
inspector and inspectors of fire and rescue authorities in England have powers of 
inspection given to them by the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, as amended by the 
Policing and Crime Act 2017. 

 
3.2 The inspectorate will provide a crucial assurance function to consider how effective 

and efficient fire and rescue authorities are, how well they manage their people and 
whether they are fulfilling their statutory obligations. The inspectorate will also highlight 
good practice and identify areas where improvement is needed so that remedial or 
constructive action can be taken.   

 
3.3 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 requires the chief fire and rescue inspector for 

England to publish an inspection programme setting out what inspections of fire and 
rescue authorities in England they propose to carry out, and an inspection framework 
setting out the manner in which inspections will be carried out, including the matters that 
will be inspected. The inspection framework and programme applies to every fire and 
rescue authority in England. The 2017 Act also requires the chief fire and rescue 
inspector for England to submit an annual report to the Secretary of State providing an 
assessment of the efficiency and effectiveness of fire and rescue authorities in England 
for the period in respect of which the report is prepared.  

 
3.4 All fire and rescue authorities must cooperate with the inspectorate and its 

inspectors to enable them to deliver their statutory function.  This includes providing 
relevant data and information to inform inspections. The Home Office and HMICFRS will 
work together to align data and information collections where possible to avoid 
duplication.  

 

3.5 Fire and rescue authorities should give due regard to reports and recommendations 
made by HMICFRS and - if needed - prepare, update and regularly publish an action 
plan (including any such plans arising from peer reviews and self-assessments) 
detailing how the recommendations are being actioned. When forming an action plan, 
the fire and rescue authority could seek advice and support from other organisations, for 
example, the National Fire Chiefs Council and the Local Government Association.   

 
Intervention 
 

3.6 Section 22 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 gives powers to the Secretary 
of State to intervene should a fire and rescue authority fail, or is likely to fail, to act in 
accordance with this Framework. The Secretary of State is required to prepare a 
protocol about the exercise of these powers and to have regard to it when exercising 
the section 22 powers. The intervention protocol for these powers is attached at Annex 
A.  

 
3.7 The 2004 Act allows the Secretary of State, by order, to require the fire and rescue 

authority to do something; to stop doing something; or not to do something in order to 
ensure the fire and rescue authority acts in accordance with this Framework. An order 
could be made if the Secretary of State considers it would promote public safety, the 

Page 53



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

12 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the relevant fire and rescue authority. Before 
any such order is made the Secretary of State must give the authority an opportunity to 
make representations about the order proposed.  

 
3.8 Use of this power is a last resort and intervention would only be considered if there 

was clear evidence that an authority was failing to act in accordance with the 
Framework, and that the failure was sufficiently serious as to warrant Government 
intervention. The expectation is that the fire and rescue authority should put in place 
processes to overcome any concerns, seeking sector-led support as appropriate. 

 
3.9 The Secretary of State also has other powers of intervention (for example, under 

section 15 of the Local Government Act 1999) but the Protocol on Central Government 
Intervention Action for Fire and Rescue Authorities at Annex A relates solely to ensuring 
fire and rescue authorities act in accordance with the National Framework. 

 
Accountability 
 
3.10 Fire and rescue authorities are expected to have governance and accountability 

arrangements in place covering issues such as financial management and 
transparency, complaints and discipline arrangements, and compliance with the seven 
principles of public life.1  

 
3.11 Each fire and rescue authority must hold the individual who has responsibility for 

managing the fire and rescue service – in most cases the Chief Fire Officer - to account 
for the delivery of the fire and rescue service and the functions of persons under their 
direction and control. In London, the Mayor of London must hold the London Fire 
Commissioner, as fire and rescue authority for Greater London, to account for the 
exercise of the Commissioner’s functions. 

 

3.12 In demonstrating their accountability to communities for the service they provide, 
fire and rescue authorities need to:  

 
 

 be transparent and accountable to their communities for their decisions and 
actions; 

 provide the opportunity for communities to help to plan their local service 
through effective consultation and involvement; and 

 have scrutiny arrangements in place that reflect the high standard 
communities expect for an important public safety service. 

 

 
 
Assurance and scrutiny  
 
3.13 Fire and rescue authorities must provide assurance to their communities and to 

government on financial, governance and operational matters and show how they have 
had due regard to their priorities and expectations set out in their integrated risk 
management plan and the requirements included in this Framework.  

 

                                            
1
 Selflessness; Integrity; Objectivity; Accountability; Openness; Honesty; and Leadership 

 

Page 54



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

13 

3.14 Fire and rescue authorities must publish an annual statement of assurance, which 
in the case of PCC fire and rescue authorities (PCC FRA), will be subject to scrutiny by 
the Police, Fire and Crime Panel (PFCP). These statements may also be considered by 
the inspectorate as part of their work. 

 
3.15 PFCPs will perform a scrutiny function, providing both support and challenge to the 

Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) on the exercise of their functions, acting 
as a critical friend. The powers, responsibilities and membership requirements of 
PFCPs are set out in the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011. 

 

Transparency 
 

3.16 Each fire and rescue authority must comply with their statutory transparency 
requirements. The nature of the requirements is dependent on the legal basis of the 
authority; for example, combined fire and rescue authorities would be subject to the 
Local Authority Transparency Code 2015 while PCC FRAs must comply with 
requirements under section 11 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 
and the Elected Local Policing Bodies (Specified Information) Order 2011. All fire and 
rescue authorities should therefore publish certain information, including: senior 
salaries, register of interests, staffing, income and expenditure, property, rights and 
liabilities, and decisions of significant public interest. Fire and rescue authorities must 
make their communities aware of how they can access data and information on their 
performance. 

 
3.17 Furthermore, section 26 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 states that a fire 

and rescue authority must: 
a) submit to the Secretary of State any reports and returns that are required; 

and 
b) give the Secretary of State any information with respect to its functions that 

are required. 
 
3.18 Specifically, fire and rescue authorities have a responsibility to provide regular data 

to the Home Office as stipulated by the DCLG Single Data List process. The data 
supplied are the source for the official and national statistics published by the Home 
Office and are used for the purposes of policy development across a range of 
organisations including Government as well as providing a publicly available national 
overview of activity by fire and rescue services. 

 

Page 55



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

14 

 
4. GOVERNANCE 
 

4.1 Fire and rescue authorities operate with a range of different locally determined 
governance arrangements including an individual – either a police, fire and crime 
commissioner or a mayor – having sole responsibility for being the fire and rescue 
authority for an area. Where police and crime commissioners - and mayors - wish to 
develop a local proposal with options to take on governance responsibility for fire and 
rescue in their area, fire and rescue authorities must provide the police and crime 
commissioner with such information that they reasonably require for the purposes of 
developing a proposal for the Secretary of State to consider.  

 
4.2 The Secretary of State can only give effect to such a fire governance proposal 

where, in her view, it appears to be in the interests of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness, or in the interests of public safety. The Secretary of State cannot give 
effect to a proposal if, in her view, it would have an adverse effect on public safety. 

 
4.3 Each fire and rescue authority has a statutory duty to ensure provision of their core 

functions as required by the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and, for example, take 
strategic decisions and hold their chief fire officer to account. 

  

4.4 The exception is in London, where the Policing and Crime Act 2017 reforms the 
governance of fire and rescue in London by abolishing the London Fire and Emergency 
Planning Authority and creating the London Fire Commissioner as a corporation sole 
being the fire and rescue authority. The Mayor of London has overall responsibility for 
setting the strategic direction of the fire and rescue authority in London, appointing the 
London Fire Commissioner (subject to a confirmation hearing), holding the 
Commissioner to account and setting the budget for the Commissioner.  

 
4.5 The London Fire Commissioner is responsible for ensuring fire and rescue services 

in London are efficient and effective and prepares the integrated risk management plan 
for approval by the Mayor.  

 
Managing the fire and rescue service/Chief Fire Officer 
 
4.6 Each fire and rescue authority will appoint an individual - a Chief Fire Officer - who 

has responsibility for managing the fire and rescue service. This includes managing the 
personnel, services and equipment secured by the fire and rescue authority for the 
purposes of carrying out functions conferred on it by the Fire and Rescue Services Act 
2004, Civil Contingencies Act 2004, and other enactments. The Chief Fire Officer must, 
in exercising their functions, have regard to the fire and rescue authority’s integrated 
risk management plan.  

 
4.7 The fire and rescue authority should give due regard to the professional advice of 

the chief fire officer when making decisions affecting the operation of their fire and 
rescue service.  

 
Plans to be prepared by PCC fire and rescue authorities 

 
4.8 Where a police and crime commissioner takes on the functions and duties of a fire 

and rescue authority they will be known as the police, fire and crime commissioner 
(PFCC). The PFCC must prepare and publish the documents set out below: 

 

Page 56



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

15 

A fire and rescue plan: the plan should set out the strategic vision, priorities and 

objectives for the fire and rescue service over the period of the document in 
connection with the discharge of the fire and rescue authority’s functions. The plan is 
subject to scrutiny by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel (in the same way they 
scrutinise the PCC’s police and crime plan). In developing this plan, the PFCC must 
make arrangements for obtaining the view of the community, as they currently do in 
preparing their police and crime plan.  
 
A fire and rescue statement: the statement should outline the way in which the 

authority has had regard - in the period covered by the document - to this National 
Framework and to any fire and rescue plan prepared by the authority for that period. 
This is subject to scrutiny by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.  

 
4.9 The PFCC must have regard to both the fire and rescue plan and the police and 

crime plan when carrying out their functions. The plans can be combined. Where a joint 
police and crime and fire and rescue plan is developed, the plan must set out both 
policing and fire and rescue priorities and objectives. Such plans are subject to scrutiny 
by the Police, Fire and Crime Panel.  

 
 

4.10 The PCC FRA must, like all other fire and rescue authorities, produce an integrated 
risk management plan as set out in chapter 2. This may also include details of how the 
fire and rescue service intends to meet the strategic vision set out by the fire and rescue 
plan. The integrated risk management plan will be subject to inspection by HMICFRS.  

 
4.11 The function of preparing and issuing the plan may be delegated to the Chief Fire 

Officer - or Chief Officer where a single employer has been put in place – however, the 
plan must be approved by the PCC FRA. 

 
National Fire Chiefs Council 
 

4.12 The National Fire Chiefs Council brings together the leadership of the UK’s fire and 
rescue services to provide co-ordinated professional, operational and technical 
leadership of the sector, advising and supporting central and local government, and 
other stakeholders.  

 
4.13 The NFCC fulfils a multifaceted role that is reflected throughout this document and 

other national frameworks. The NFCC represents the sector in local and national 
structures, helping to develop national policies and strategies. The NFCC is the first line 
of operational advice to central and local government during major incidents. This is 
outlined within the National Coordination and Advisory Framework (NCAF), which fire 
and rescue services must proactively engage with. 

 
4.14 The NFCC has a role to drive continuous improvement and development 

throughout the sector. Fire and rescue services should consult the NFCC for advice and 
support when developing improvement plans, particularly in response to inspections.  

 
4.15 The expectation is that fire and rescue services in England engage with the NFCC 

and, in turn, that the Chiefs Council works to support and represent every service.  

Page 57



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

16 

 
5. ACHIEVING VALUE FOR MONEY 
 
5.1 Fire and rescue authorities must manage their budgets and spend money properly 

and appropriately, and ensure the efficient and effective use of their resources, pursuing 
all feasible opportunities to keep costs down while discharging their core duties 
effectively. Fire and rescue authorities should regularly review the numbers and 
deployment of firefighters and other staff to ensure that its fire and rescue service has a 
workforce that is commensurate with the risks that it faces.  

 
5.2 Fire and rescue authorities must ensure that financial decisions are taken with the 

advice and guidance of the chief finance officer and that decisions are taken with an 
emphasis on delivering value for money to the public purse.  Fire and rescue authorities 
should ensure that management of their finances is undertaken with regard to published 
guidance including those set out at Annex B. 

 
5.3 Fire and rescue authorities should publish a medium term financial strategy which 

includes funding and spending plans for revenue and capital. The strategy should take 
into account multiple years, the inter-dependencies of revenue budgets and capital 
investments, the role of reserves and the consideration of risks. It should have regard to 
affordability and also to CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local 
Authorities. The strategy should be aligned with the fire and rescue authority’s 
integrated risk management plan and – if appropriate – the Fire and Rescue Plan. 

 
5.4 Fire and rescue authorities should publish robust, transparent and locally owned 

efficiency plans on their websites. Each fire and rescue authority should also publish an 
annual report on their progress against their efficiency plans.  

 
Reserves 

 
5.5 Sections 31A, 32, 42A and 43 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992 require 

billing and precepting authorities in England and Wales to have regard to the level of 
reserves needed for meeting estimated future expenditure when calculating the budget 
requirement. 

 
5.6 Fire and rescue authorities should establish a policy on reserves and provisions in 

consultation with their chief finance officer. General reserves should be held by the fire 
and rescue authority and managed to balance funding and spending priorities and to 
manage risks. This should be established as part of the medium-term financial planning 
process. 

 
5.7 Each fire and rescue authority should publish their reserves strategy on their 

website, either as part of their medium term financial plan or in a separate reserves 
strategy document. The reserves strategy should include details of current and future 
planned reserve levels, setting out a total amount of reserves and the amount of each 
specific reserve that is held for each year. The reserves strategy should provide 
information for at least two years ahead.  

 
5.8 Sufficient information should be provided to enable understanding of the purpose 

for which each reserve is held and how holding each reserve supports the fire and 
rescue authority’s medium term financial plan.  

 

Page 58

http://secure.cipfa.org.uk/cgi-bin/CIPFA.storefront/EN/product/PUBCF022
http://secure.cipfa.org.uk/cgi-bin/CIPFA.storefront/EN/product/PUBCF022


Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

17 

5.9 Information should be set out in a way that is clear and understandable for 
members of the public, and should include: 

 

 how the level of the general reserve has been set; 

 justification for holding a general reserve larger than five percent of budget; 

 whether the funds in each earmarked reserve are legally or contractually 
committed, and if so what amount is so committed; and 

 a summary of what activities or items will be funded by each earmarked reserve, 
and how these support the fire and rescue authority’s strategy to deliver good 
quality services to the public. 
 

 
Commercial transformation 
 

5.10 Each fire and rescue authority must demonstrate that it is achieving value for 
money for the goods and services it receives. Every fire and rescue authority should 
look at ways to improve its commercial practices including whether they can aggregate 
their procurement with other fire and rescue authorities and other local services (e.g. 
police) to achieve efficiencies.  

 
5.11 Fire and rescue authorities must demonstrate and support commercial 

transformation programmes where appropriate. Each fire and rescue authority should 
be able to demonstrate full awareness of the objectives to standardise requirements, 
aggregate demand and manage suppliers of products and services within their 
commercial arrangements.  

 
5.12 Fire and rescue authorities must ensure that their commercial activities, be that the 

placement of new contracts or the use of existing contracts, is in line with their legal 
obligations, including but not limited to the Public Contracts Regulations, the Public 
Services (Social Value) Act 2012, the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and transparency 
commitments. 

 
Collaboration 
 
5.13 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 created a statutory duty on fire and rescue 

authorities, police forces, and ambulance trusts to: 

 keep collaboration opportunities under review; 

 notify other emergency services of proposed collaborations that could be 
in the interests of their mutual efficiency or effectiveness; and 

 give effect to a proposed collaboration where the proposed parties agree 
that it would be in the interests of their efficiency or effectiveness and that 
it does not have an adverse effect on public safety. 

 
 
5.14 The duty is deliberately broad to allow for local discretion in how it is implemented 

and recognises that local emergency services are best placed to determine how to 
collaborate for the benefit of their communities. However, the duty sets a clear 
expectation that collaboration opportunities should be considered. 

 
5.15 The duty does not preclude wider collaboration with other local partners, such as 

local authorities and wider health bodies. To reflect their wider role, ambulance trusts 
are required to consider the impact of the proposed collaboration on their wider non-

Page 59



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

18 

emergency functions and the NHS when determining if it would be in the interests of 
their efficiency or effectiveness. 

 
5.16 Fire and rescue authorities should, where appropriate, work alongside all relevant 

local agencies and multi-agency teams involved in protecting those identified as 
vulnerable.  

 
5.17 Fire and rescue authorities must collaborate with other fire and rescue authorities to 

deliver intraoperability (between fire and rescue authorities) and interoperability (with 
other responders such as other emergency services, wider Category 1 and 2 
responders and Local Resilience Forums) in line with the Joint Emergency Services 
Interoperability Principles (JESIP). Fire and rescue authorities must collaborate with the 
National Resilience Lead Authority to ensure interoperability is maintained for National 
Resilience assets. 

 
5.18 Intraoperability includes, but is not limited to:  

 compatible communications systems, control rooms and equipment;  

 common command and compatible control and co-ordination arrangements;  

 effective information, intelligence and data sharing;  

 compatible operational procedures, and guidance with common terminology;  

 compatible training and exercising (both individually and collectively); and  

 cross border working with other English fire and rescue authorities and those 
in the devolved administrations.  

 

5.19 Interoperability includes, but is not limited to:  

 compatible communications systems, control rooms and equipment, as 
appropriate;  

 compatible command, control and co-ordination arrangements;  

 effective inter-agency working and liaison and, where appropriate, 
information, intelligence and data sharing;  

 shared understanding of respective roles and responsibilities, operational 
procedures, guidance and terminology;  

 robust multi-agency plans for managing risks identified in the National Risk 
Assessment and community risk registers;  

 multi-agency training and exercising; and  

 cross border working with other responders in England and the devolved 
administrations. 

 

Research and development 
 
5.20 Fire and rescue authorities should engage with national research and development 

programmes, including those overseen by the NFCC, unless there is a good reason not 
to.   

 
5.21 Where fire and rescue services embark on research and development outside of 

any national programme, processes should be put in place to ensure it meets quality 
standards and, where possible and appropriate, is available to the sector to enable 
good practice to be shared. 

Page 60



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

19 

 
Trading 
 

5.22 Fire and rescue authorities have the power to trade and make a profit but they must 
ensure that their commercial activities are performed in accordance with the 
requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, the Fire and Rescue Services Act 
2004 (as amended by the Localism Act 2011) and the Local Government Order 2009. 
Fire and rescue authorities must also ensure that such commercial activities are 
exercised through a company within the meaning of Part 5 of the Local Government and 
Housing Act 1989.  

 
5.23 A trading company is a separate legal entity and elected members and officers 

should at all times be aware of potential conflicts of interest when carrying out their roles 
for their authorities, or when acting as directors of trading companies.  

 
5.24 Fire and rescue authorities must ensure any actions taken in respect of their trading 

companies are considered against the requirements of competition law.  Any financial 
assistance - in cash or in kind - given by an authority that establishes or participates in 
it, should be for a limited period, set against the expectation of later returns, and re-paid 
by those returns. Any assistance should be provided under a formal agreement with the 
company and must be entered into for a commercial purpose. Before entering into such 
an agreement, the authority should satisfy itself that it will achieve its objective, and the 
company should satisfy itself that it will meet its objective in terms of its business plan. 
The parties should consider any State Aid implications and obtain their own expert 
advice where necessary. 

Page 61



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

20 

 
6. WORKFORCE  
 

People Strategy 
 

6.1 Each fire and rescue authority should have in place a people strategy that has been 
designed in collaboration with the workforce. This should take into account the 
principles set out in the NFCC’s people strategy and at a minimum cover: 

 improving the diversity of the workforce to ensure that it represents the 
community it serves;  

 equality, cultural values and behaviours; 

 recruitment, retention and progression;  

 flexible working;  

 professionalism, skills and leadership;  

 training opportunities; 

 health, wellbeing and support; and  

 a policy to tackle bullying and harassment.  
 

6.2 The Home Office collects and publishes a range of workforce data. This includes 
workforce diversity, information on new joiners, reasons for leaving and firefighter 
injuries.  

 
Professional Standards Body2  
 

6.3 The sector is currently working in partnership with government to consider options 
for enhancing professionalism by ensuring the development of a coherent and 
comprehensive set of professional standards across all areas of fire and rescue 
services’ work, drawing on existing standards where appropriate.   
 

6.4 All fire and rescue authorities must implement the standards approved through this 
work and the inspectorate will have regard to these standards as part of their 
inspections. 

 
Fitness Principles  
 

6.5 Fire and rescue authorities have an important role in helping to ensure their 
firefighters remain fit and are supported in remaining in employment. Each fire and 
rescue authority must comply with the fitness principles set out at Annex C. 

 
 
Re-engagement of senior officers  
 

6.6 The re-appointment of principal fire officers to the same or similar posts within the 
same fire and rescue authority, a short time after they have retired, has caused concern 
in recent years and increases costs for taxpayers. These individuals very often receive 
their pension benefits on retirement (such as their tax free lump sum) and then return on 
favourable terms, including an increase in take-home pay through avoiding paying 
employee pension contributions.  
 

                                            
2
 Please note that this policy is under development and an announcement is likely to be made before the 

final Framework is published. 

Page 62



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

21 

6.7 Fire and rescue authorities must not re-appoint principal fire officers3 after 
retirement to their previous, or a similar, post save for in exceptional circumstances 
when such a decision is necessary in the interests of public safety. Any such 
appointment must be transparent, justifiable and time limited.  
 

6.8 In the exceptional circumstance that a re-appointment is necessary in the interests 
of public safety, this decision should be subject to agreement by a public vote of the 
elected members of the fire and rescue authority, or a publicised decision by the 
appropriate elected representative of the fire and rescue authority, taking into account 
the legislative requirements of PCC FRA Chief Fire Officer appointment procedures. 
The reason why the re-appointment was necessary in the interests of public safety, and 
alternative approaches were deemed not appropriate, must be published and the 
principal fire officer’s pension must be abated until they cease to be employed by a fire 
and rescue authority.  
 

6.9 To ensure greater fairness and the exchange of talent and ideas, all principal fire 
officer posts must be open to competition nationally, and fire and rescue authorities 
must take account of this in their workforce planning. 
 

6.10 While the above requirements only extend to principal fire officers, we expect fire 
and rescue authorities to have regard to this principle when re-appointing at any rank. 

 

 
 
 

                                            
3
 For the purpose of this Framework, Principal Officers refers to those officers at Brigade or Area Manager 

level, and above, or those with comparable responsibilities to those roles. 

Page 63



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

22 

 
7. NATIONAL RESILIENCE  
 
7.1 The Government retains responsibility for the provision of national resilience assets 

and capabilities managed and delivered through fire and rescue services. This 
responsibility extends to undertaking the National Risk Assessment which informs the 
requirements for fire and rescue national resilience capabilities.  

 
7.2 In meeting this responsibility, the Government has committed significant financial 

resource to build national resilience capabilities and to support their ongoing 
maintenance.  

 
7.3 The Government relies on the strategic leadership role of the NFCC to maintain fire 

and rescue national resilience capabilities in a high state of operational readiness 
through a comprehensive assurance regime delivered through lead authority 
arrangements.  

 
7.4 Fire and rescue authorities must work with the lead authority to support the national 

resilience assurance processes in order to ensure capabilities are maintained at a high 
state of operational readiness. This includes co-operation of fire and rescue authorities, 
as necessary, on devolved training and, where applicable, on the long term capability 
management arrangements.  

 
7.5 Fire and rescue services, through the NFCC’s representation on the Strategic 

Resilience Board, must also work with Government to identify and address any national 
resilience capability gaps identified through ongoing analysis of the National Risk 
Assessment.  

 
Gap analysis  

 
7.6 Fire and rescue authorities’ risk assessments must include an analysis of any gaps 

between their existing capability and that needed to ensure national resilience (as 
defined above).  

 
7.7 Fire and rescue authorities are required to assess the risk of emergencies occurring 

and use this to inform contingency planning. To do this effectively, fire and rescue 
authorities are expected to assess their existing capability and identify any gaps as part 
of the integrated risk management planning process. This gap analysis needs to be 
conducted by fire and rescue authorities individually and collectively to obtain an overall 
picture of their ability to meet the full range of risks in their areas.  

 
7.8 As part of their analysis, fire and rescue authorities must highlight to the Home 

Office or the Fire and Rescue Strategic Resilience Board, any capability gaps that they 
believe cannot be met even when taking into account mutual aid arrangements, pooling 
and reconfiguration of resources and collective action.  

 
7.9 The Home Office, in liaison with other government departments and the devolved 

administrations, will support fire and rescue authorities in considering and defining the 
gap between existing capability and the capability required to ensure national resilience.  

 
 
 
 

Page 64



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

23 

National Coordination and Advisory Framework 

 
7.10 The National Coordination and Advisory Framework (NCAF) has been designed to 

provide robust and flexible response arrangements to major emergencies that can be 
adapted to the nature, scale and requirements of the incident. 

  
7.11 Fire and rescue authorities must proactively engage with, and support, the NCAF 

arrangements including the NFCC’s lead operational role.  
 
Response to Terrorist Attacks or Marauding Terrorist Attacks 
 

7.12 Fire and rescue services must be able to respond to the heightened threat of 
terrorism and be ready to respond to incidents within their areas and across England to 
keep communities safe. Fire and rescue services should also be interoperable to 
provide operational support across the UK to terrorist events as required. To enhance 
resilience to terrorist risks, the Government has committed significant financial 
resources to develop a Marauding Terrorist Firearms Attack (MTFA) capability, with the 
support of fire and rescue services. This is aligned to the National Risk Assessment and 
provides a specialist response across the county.  

 
7.13 Government and the NFCC recognise the critical contribution of fire and rescue 

services when responding to acts of terrorism. This is an agreed  function of fire and 
rescue services as set out in the National Joint Council for Local Authority Fire and 
Rescue Services Scheme of Conditions of Service (the Grey Book), and is 
encompassed within the broad descriptions within the existing agreed firefighter role 
maps: to save and preserve endangered life, and safely resolve operational incidents. 

 
7.14 Fire and rescue authorities are responsible for maintaining the robustness of the 

capability and, where they have an MTFA capability, must put in place arrangements to 
ensure their teams are fully available at all times, including periods when business 
continuity arrangements are in place. 

 
7.15 MTFA arrangements shall be further enhanced by putting in place an appropriate 

multi-agency assurance mechanism that will ensure the capability is effective and 
delivers it to the agreed standard. 

 
National Resilience Assurance 
 
7.16 Fire and rescue authorities must continue to work collectively and with the Fire and 

Rescue Strategic Resilience Board and the national resilience lead authority to provide 
assurance to government that: 

 existing national resilience capabilities are fit for purpose and robust; and 

 risks are assessed, plans are assessed and any gaps in capability that 

are needed to ensure national resilience are identified.  

 
7.17 Fire and rescue authorities with MTFA teams must work with police forces and 

ambulance trusts to provide tri-service assurance of this capability.

Page 65



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

24 

 

8. TIMESCALE AND SCOPE 
 

Timescales 
 

8.1 This Framework has an open ended duration. The Secretary of State continues to 
be responsible for keeping the terms of the Framework under review under section 
21(3) of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 and is required under section 25 to 
prepare a biennial report to Parliament on the extent to which fire and rescue authorities 
are acting in accordance with the Framework.   

 
Scope 
 

8.2 The Framework covers England only. It does not apply to Northern Ireland, 
Scotland or Wales where responsibility for fire and rescue is devolved. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 66



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

25 

 
Annex A  
 

Protocol on Central Government Intervention Action for  
Fire and Rescue Authorities 

 
Introduction 
 
1. It is a requirement under section 23 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004 (the 

2004 Act) that an intervention protocol be prepared, and for the Secretary of State to 
have regard to it in the exercise of their power of intervention.   

 
2. The Secretary of State’s order-making powers under section 22 of the 2004 Act are to 

ensure that fire and rescue authorities act in accordance with the Fire and Rescue 
National Framework for England (the Framework). Intervention is by order, subject to 
the negative Parliamentary procedure, and can only be made if the Secretary of State 
considers it would promote public safety; and the economy, efficiency or effectiveness 
of the relevant fire and rescue authority, or the services it provides.  

 
3. To date there has been no formal intervention in the operations of a fire and rescue 

authority by the Secretary of State under these powers. Use of this power is seen as a 
last resort. The expectation is that the political and professional leadership of the fire 
and rescue authority will put in place processes to ensure that sector-led support is 
provided to any fire and rescue authority that needs it.   

 
4. This intervention protocol (the protocol) broadly sets out the arrangements between the 

Secretary of State, the Local Government Association (LGA), Her Majesty’s 
Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS), the National 
Fire Chiefs Council (NFCC) and fire and rescue authorities should formal intervention 
be considered necessary.   

 
5. In this protocol the term 'intervention' is used to refer to action by the Secretary of State 

in exercise of their powers under section 22 of the 2004 Act. Although the Secretary of 
State also has other powers of intervention (for example, under section 15 of the Local 
Government Act 1999) this protocol does not apply to an intervention under those 
powers.  

 
 
Role of partners in supporting fire and rescue authorities at risk  
 
6. HMICFRS will play a leading role in identifying any fire and rescue authority that is 

failing, or is likely to fail, in providing efficiency, effectiveness and leadership for the 
public. The NFCC and the LGA, will play an important liaison role in engaging the wider 
sector in supporting those authorities at risk and work collaboratively with key bodies,4 

identify at an early stage serious risks to performance or the requirement to act in 
accordance with the Framework. The NFCC and/or Local Government Association will 
work with these bodies to prevent the escalation of those risks to avoid any risk to 
public safety or any negative impact on the reputation of the sector. For a PCC fire and 

                                            
4
 This could refer to fire and rescue authorities, the relevant professional leadership including the National 

Fire Chiefs Council, other sector-owned bodies, inspection bodies and HMICFRS in particular, and/or 

government departments 

Page 67



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

26 

rescue authority, the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners (APCC) could 
also be approached for advice and support. 

 
7. If there are specific concerns in respect of performance, or if there is evidence that 

indicates a fire and rescue authority is failing or is at risk of failing to act in accordance 
with the Framework, either through inspection by HMICFRS or through sector-led 
processes, the NFCC and/or the Local Government Association, and/or the Police, Fire 
and Crime Panel, and/or the Association of Police and Crime Commissioners will work 
with the authority to help them address the issues and seek improvement. 

 
Circumstances leading to statutory intervention  
 
8. No intervention would be considered unless there was clear evidence that an authority 

was failing to act in accordance with the Framework and that the failure was sufficiently 
serious as to require Government intervention.   

 
9. If, following a sustained and determined attempt to resolve problems through sector-led 

improvement an issue cannot be resolved, or if a fire and rescue authority is unwilling 
or unable to engage with sector-led improvement measures, the Secretary of State 
can, under section 28 of the Fire and Rescue Services Act 2004, commission 
HMICFRS to lead an investigation. Under this provision, the Secretary of State also 
has the power to require HMICFRS to undertake any further inspection of fire and 
rescue authorities in England as required for the purpose of furthering their efficiency 
and effectiveness. The Secretary of State may also seek advice and information from 
other persons/bodies (for example, the NFCC) in respect of specific identified issues. 

 
 
10. The Secretary of State has a range of powers including to request information about a 

fire and rescue authority’s functions5 and conferring on a fire and rescue authority 
functions relating to emergencies6. Inspection powers – powers to obtain information 
and access premises – are also held by HMICFRS’ inspectors.7  

 
What happens upon statutory intervention?  
 
11. In the event that statutory intervention is considered necessary, the Secretary of State 

will consult the authority concerned and any other body or authority which is 
considered necessary, such as HMICFRS, the NFCC and the Local Government 
Association, before exercising powers of intervention under section 22 of the 2004 Act.   

 
12. The form or extent of any formal intervention will be a matter for determination on a 

case by case basis, taking into account the views of the fire and rescue authority, 
HMICFRS, the NFCC, the Local Government Association, and any other consultees, 
depending on the nature and the severity of the failure under consideration. Following 
such deliberations, the Secretary of State will agree a course of action, and how the 
required improvement will be delivered. 

 
 

                                            
5
 Section 26 of the 2004 Act 

6
 Section 9 of the 2004 Act 

7
 Section 28 of the 2004 Act 

Page 68



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

27 

 
Annex B 
 

Published Financial Guidance (see Chapter 5)  
   

 The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 issued by the Department for Communities 
and Local Government which sets the financial reporting framework for local 
government bodies, including police bodies and Combined Authorities. 

 The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting issued by CIPFA /LASAAC, which 
constitutes proper practices for local government bodies, including fire bodies. 

 The Public Sector Internal Audit Standards (PSIAS) issued by CIPFA as the relevant 
internal audit standards setter for local government and the fire and rescue service. 

 Local Government Application Note for the United Kingdom Public Sector Internal Audit 
Standards issued by CIPFA. 

 Delivering Good Governance in Local Government issued by CIPFA/SOLACE.  

 Statement on the Role of the Chief Finance Officer in Public Service Organisations 
issued by CIPFA. 

 Standing Guide to the Commissioning of Local Authority Work and Services issued by 
CIPFA. 

 Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities issued by CIPFA.  

 Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral 
Guidance Notes issued by CIPFA. 

 Audit Committees: Practical Guidance for Local Authorities and Police issued by 
CIPFA. 

 Position Statement on Audit Committees in Local Authorities and Police, CIPFA, 2013. 

 Statutory guidance for local authorities on the framework for flexible use of 
capital receipts issued by the Department for Communities and Local Government. 

 Local Authority Accounting Panel (LAAP) bulletins that provide topical guidance on 
specific issues and accounting developments. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 69



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

28 

 
Annex C 
 

Fitness Principles 
 

Fire and rescue authorities have an important role in helping to ensure their firefighters 
remain fit and are supported in remaining in employment. Each fire and rescue authority 
must:   

 have a process of fitness assessment and development to ensure that operational 
personnel are enabled to maintain the standards of personal fitness required in 
order to perform their role safely;    

 ensure that no individual will automatically face dismissal if they fall below the 
standards required and cannot be deployed operationally;    

 ensure that all operational personnel will be provided with support to maintain their 
levels of fitness for the duration of their career;   

 consider where operational personnel have fallen below the fitness standards 
required whether an individual is able to continue on full operational duties or 
should be stood down, taking into account the advice provided by the authority’s 
occupational health provider. In making this decision, the safety and well-being of 
the individual will be the key issue;   

 commit to providing a minimum of 6 months of development and support to enable 
individuals who have fallen below the required fitness standards to regain the 
necessary levels of fitness;   

 refer an individual to occupational health where underlying medical reasons are 
identified that restrict/prevent someone from achieving the necessary fitness; and 
ensure that individual receives the necessary support to facilitate a return to 
operational duties; and   

 fully explore opportunities to enable the individual to remain in employment 
including through reasonable adjustment and redeployment in role where it appears 
the medical condition does not allow a return to operational duties. 

 

In those circumstances where there are no such opportunities and suitable alternative 
employment is either unavailable or, where available, is not agreed by the individual, then 
the fire and rescue authority will commence an assessment for ill-health retirement through 
the Independent Qualified Medical Practitioner process. 
  
If no underlying medical issues are identified, and following a programme of development 
and support it becomes apparent that an individual will be unable to regain the necessary 
levels of fitness, then a fire and rescue authority will fully explore opportunities for 
reasonable adjustments and/or suitable alternative employment. In those circumstances 
where there are no opportunities for reasonable adjustments or suitable alternative 
employment, the fire and rescue authority will in the case of an employee aged at least 55, 
consider commencement of the authority initiated early retirement process for it to 
determine whether the individual should be retired with an authority initiated early 
retirement pension. 
 
 

Page 70



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

29 

Questionnaire 

We would welcome comments on the following sections in the draft National 

Framework, or any general comments.  

Delivery of Core Functions 

 

 

Inspection, Accountability and Assurance 

 

 

Governance 

 

 

Achieving Value for Money 

 

 

Workforce 

 

 

National Resilience 

 

 

Intervention Protocol (Annex A) 

 

 

Other comments 

 

 

Thank you for participating in this consultation. 

 

Page 71



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

30 

About you 

Please use this section to tell us about yourself 

Full name  

Job title or capacity in 

which you are responding 

to this consultation exercise 

(for example, member of 

the public) 

 

Date  

Company 

name/organisation 

(if applicable) 

 

Address  

  

Postcode  

If you would like us to 

acknowledge receipt of your 

response, please tick this box 

 

(please tick box) 

Address to which the 

acknowledgement should be 

sent, if different from above 

 

 

 

 

If you are a representative of a group, please tell us the name of the group and give a 

summary of the people or organisations that you represent. 

 

 

 

 

Page 72



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

31 

Contact details and how to respond 

Please send your response by 14 February 2018 to: 

Harinder Sahota 

Home Office 

6th Floor, Fry Building, 2 Marsham Street, London, SW1P 4DF 

Tel: 0207 035 3478 

Email: FRSComms@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk 

 

Complaints or comments 

If you have any complaints or comments about the consultation process you should 

contact the Home Office at the above address. 

Extra copies 

Further paper copies of this consultation can be obtained from this address and it is also 

available online at [web address] 

Alternative format versions of this publication can be requested from [email/telephone 

number of sponsoring policy division]. 

Publication of response 

A paper summarising the responses to this consultation will be published in [insert 

publication date, which as far as possible should be within three months of the closing date 

of the consultation] months’ time. The response paper will be available online at 

[web address] 

Representative groups 

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations they 

represent when they respond. 

Confidentiality 

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal information, may 

be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to information regimes (these are 

primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 (FOIA), the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) 

and the Environmental Information Regulations 2004). 

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be aware 

that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory Code of Practice with which public authorities 

must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations of confidence. In 

Page 73



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

32 

view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you regard the information 

you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for disclosure of the information 

we will take full account of your explanation, but we cannot give an assurance that 

confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. An automatic confidentiality 

disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, be regarded as binding on the 

Home Office. 

The Home Office will process your personal data in accordance with the DPA and in the 

majority of circumstances, this will mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to 

third parties. 

Page 74



Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

33 

Consultation principles 

The principles that government departments and other public bodies should adopt for 

engaging stakeholders when developing policy and legislation are set out in the 

consultation principles. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance 

 

 

 

 

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/consultation-principles-guidance


Page 76



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

© Crown copyright 2017 

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except 

where otherwise stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-

government-licence/version/3 or write to the Information Policy Team, The National 

Archives, Kew, London TW9 4DU, or email: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk. 

Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain 

permission from the copyright holders concerned. 

This publication is available at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?departments%5B%5D=home-

office&publication_filter_option=consultations . 

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at 

public.enquiries@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk. 

Page 77

http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/
mailto:psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?departments%5B%5D=home-office&publication_filter_option=consultations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications?departments%5B%5D=home-office&publication_filter_option=consultations
mailto:public.enquiries@homeoffice.gsi.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Item 7 – Appendix 2 

Fire and Rescue National Framework for England 

Questionnaire 

We would welcome comments on the following sections in the draft 
National Framework, or any general comments. 

Delivery of Core Functions 

Para 2.6 P9 

The last sentence ‘However, this should not be at the expense of their core fire functions’ should 
be considered to be removed as it weakens the sentiment of this paragraph. 

Para 2.10 P10 

‘Fire and rescue authorities can enter into reinforcement schemes,’ is in contrast to the Fire and 
Rescue Services Act 2004 which states that they ‘must’, so far as practicable. 

Para 2.12. P10 

‘To establish how it aims to deliver its core functions to effectively prevent and mitigate the fire 
and rescue related risks facing their communities,’ could be widened to include delivery of 
services that address wider risks than just those that impact on core functions. 

 

Inspection, Accountability and Assurance 

None. 

 

Governance 

Para 4.2 P14 

‘in her view’ is written twice and is gender specific, it should be ‘their’ view. 

In addition para 4.2 needs to be expanded to incorporate all of the advice that has been issued 
by the Home Office and the Minister for Policing and the Fire Service in respect of any fire 
governance proposal and how it is to be evaluated. 

Para 4.8 P15 

This paragraph states that the Police and Crime Commissioner (PFCC) takes on the functions 
and duties of a fire and rescue authority they must prepare and publish a fire and rescue plan 
and a fire and rescue statement.   

We suggest that this should be requirement across all fire and rescue services regardless of 
governance arrangements so that there is consistency in requirements.  This annual plan would 
then be an annual action plan linked to the delivery of the 3 year IRMP. 

Page 79



Item 7 – Appendix 2 

This would streamline Planning and Performance arrangements for all fire and rescue services 
regardless of governance with a 3 year IRMP (vision and aims), a one year annual fire and 
rescue plan (delivery), to include the efficiency statement required in 5.4 and an annual  
statement of assurance including the fire and rescue statement and efficiency progress statement 
(delivery assurance/performance).   

Para 4.12 P15 

The role and value of the National Fire Chiefs Council is recognised in paragraphs 4.12 to 4.15. 
However, there is a need for Government funding in the same way that the National Police Chiefs 
Council (NPCC) is funded to ensure its long term sustainability.  

Achieving Value for Money 

Para 5.3 P16 

This paragraph provides advice on how the various different types of fire and rescue services 
should provide a medium term financial strategy. It would be helpful if it had regard for the 
different forms of governance in existence. 

Para 5.4 P16 

‘Fire and rescue authorities should publish robust, transparent and locally owned efficiency plans 
on their website’. It is unclear what is meant by the term ‘efficiency plans’.  

In addition this requirement could be considered as part of the annual fire and rescue plan (as 
suggested under governance arrangements it would be an annual action plan linked to the 
delivery of the 3 year IRMP) and the annual report on progress could be part of the requirement 
under the annual Statement of Assurance (see explanation under Governance comments above) 

 

Workforce 

We suggest including a requirement for a Workforce Plan as part of the people Strategy. 

 

National Resilience 

Para 7.12 P23 

The heading is entitled ‘Response to Terrorist or Marauding Terrorist Attacks’ which is the 
nationally revised terminology recognising the use of knives and vehicles as weapons. However, 
within para 7.12 and 7.14 there is reference to the older term of Marauding Terrorist Firearms 
Attack (MTFA). 

Para 7.15 P23 

‘MTFA (should be MTA) arrangements shall be further enhanced by putting in place an 
appropriate multi-agency assurance mechanism that will ensure the capability is effective and 
delivers it to the agreed standard’. Consideration should be given to the; who, what and how 
often. 

Page 80



Item 7 – Appendix 2 

 

Intervention Protocol (Annex A) 

Annex A Para 6 P25 

Early intervention is preferred and benchmarking the developing set of key indicators may help 
identify those who need early support before more formal intervention is required. 

 

Other comments 

Para 1.7 P7 

The first two bullet points should be swapped around so that ‘make appropriate provision for fire 
prevention and protection activities and response to fire and rescue related incidents’ is seen as 
a more important priority than ‘ identify and assess the full range of foreseeable fire and rescue 
related risks their areas face’. 

A comparison of the 2012 document published by Communities and Local Government and the 
2017/18 consultation document published by the Home Office demonstrates the huge 
transformation that has already taken place within the country’s fire and rescue services. 

 

About you 

Please use this section to tell us about yourself 

 

Full name Cllr Nigel Moor / CFO Stewart Edgar 

Job title Lead Cabinet Member Fire Planning and Infrastructure 
Gloucestershire County Council / Chief Fire Officer 
Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service and Operations 
Director Gloucestershire County Council  

Date 23.01.18 

Company 
name/organisation 

Gloucestershire County Council (Gloucestershire Fire and 
Rescue Service) 

Address Waterwells Drive 
Quedgeley 
Gloucester 

Postcode GL2 2AX 

 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



Building a Safer Future

December 2017

Dame Judith Hackitt DBE FREng  Cm 9551

Independent Review of Building 
Regulations and Fire Safety:
Interim Report

Page 83



Building a Safer Future
Independent Review of Building 

Regulations and  
Fire Safety: Interim Report

Presented to Parliament
by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government

by Command of Her Majesty

December 2017

Cm 9551

Page 84



© Crown copyright 2017

This publication is licensed under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0 except where otherwise 
stated. To view this licence, visit nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3.  
Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need 
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

This publication is available at www.gov.uk/government/publications 

ISBN 978-1-5286-0128-3

ID CCS1117446840  12/17

Printed on paper containing 75% recycled fibre content minimum

Printed in the UK by the APS Group on behalf of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office

Page 85

http://nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 3 

Contents
A personal view from Dame Judith Hackitt  5

Summary 9

Chapter 1: Findings and direction of travel 12

Chapter 2: A brief history of the current 
regulatory system 28

Chapter 3: The current regulatory landscape  40

Chapter 4: Gathering stakeholder evidence 78

Chapter 5: International systems for building 
regulation and fire safety 92

Appendices 104

Page 86



Foreword

Page 87



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 5 

A personal view from  
Dame Judith Hackitt

In the early hours of 14 June 2017, a fire 
spread through Grenfell Tower. Seventy-one 
people died, many homes were destroyed and 
countless lives have been affected. The fire 
appeared to be accelerated by the building’s 
exterior cladding system, leading to a national 
programme of extensive testing of the cladding 
on other high-rise buildings. This revealed 
widespread use of aluminium composite materials 
which did not meet the limited combustibility 
requirements of building regulations guidance, 
and raised concerns for the safety of others.

Further concerns soon came to light about the 
adequacy of the structural design of cladding 
systems when materials fell from a building 
in Glasgow. A subsequent series of fire and 
rescue service audits of tower blocks led to 
the temporary evacuation in London of the 
Chalcots Estate, Camden, and resulted in the 
discovery of structural safety issues with four 
buildings at the Ledbury Estate, Southwark. 

With these events unfolding, I was asked by 
the Secretary of State for the Department 
for Communities and Local Government 
(DCLG) and the Home Secretary to conduct an 
Independent Review of Building Regulations 
and Fire Safety with a particular focus on their 
application to high-rise residential buildings.

I have been asked to present timely 
recommendations to provide assurance to 
everyone, and in particular to residents of 
high-rise buildings, that urgent steps are being 
taken to improve the safety of buildings and 
to address what could be seen as evidence 
of systemic failings in the regulatory system 
and deeper problems in the industry.

This tragic incident should not have happened in 
our country in the 21st century. We now all have 
the opportunity to respond in a way that will lead 
to lasting change that makes people safer in the 

future. I have seen the improvements in safety in 
the oil and gas industry that followed the Piper 
Alpha oil production platform disaster in 1988 
and I hope this review can have a similar impact.

This review is work in progress and a final report will 
follow in spring 2018. The review is future-focused 
and has not been charged with investigating 
the specific circumstances at Grenfell – these are 
matters for the ongoing police investigation and the 
Grenfell Tower Inquiry. It is key that we share what 
we have learned to date and outline the direction 
of travel over the next few months. There has 
been an outstanding response from stakeholders 
through meetings, written responses to our call for 
evidence and subsequent roundtable discussions. 
From the very earliest stages of the process, the 
people we have spoken to have indicated that the 
current regulatory system falls short of what is 
required to be effective. While some have argued 
for specific short-term measures, most have 
recognised that the current overall system is not 
working effectively and needs to be overhauled. 

As the review has progressed, it has become clear 
that the whole system of regulation, covering what 
is written down and the way in which it is enacted 
in practice, is not fit for purpose, leaving room 
for those who want to take shortcuts to do so. 

This should not be interpreted as meaning that 
buildings are unsafe. Major building failures, 
including large-scale fires, are very rare and there 
are many construction firms, building owners, 
landlords and others in the system who do the 
right thing and recognise their responsibilities. The 
unprecedented verification, interim mitigation and 
remediation work undertaken by fire and rescue 
services, local authorities and building owners since 
the summer have ensured that measures are in 
place to assure residents of high-rise buildings of 
their safety. My focus is to create a better system for 
the future which will be easier to work with, deliver 
better solutions everywhere and rebuild confidence.

Page 88



6 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

I have set out to look at the whole system, including 
the people working within it, and how the various 
parts interact to deliver outcomes on the ground. 
This includes the roles and responsibilities of people 
designing, planning and constructing buildings; 
the roles and responsibilities of different enforcing 
bodies and those who set standards; and the roles 
and responsibilities of all those who interact with 
the system during the use of a building, which 
often involves highly complex ownership models. 
The regulatory system comprises all of these 
elements, not just what is written in statute.

One of the major outputs at this stage of the 
review is a map, which shows how the current 
regulatory system should work in practice. Carrying 
out this system mapping has been fundamental 
to understanding where the current weaknesses 
are and in providing the basis for developing a 
simpler and more effective framework for the 
future. This approach could have more widespread 
application across other regulatory frameworks, 
with the potential to deliver better overall results 
than other regulatory reviews conducted to date.

As an engineer, much of my career has been spent 
working in the chemicals industry where any 
project undertaken has to be specified, designed 
to that specification and properly reviewed; any 
changes have to be properly managed, reviewed 
and recorded. At the end of the project, a full 
record of what has been built must be handed 
over to those who will operate the project. This 
same philosophy continues throughout the life 
cycle of the entity that has been built, when any 
further changes or improvements are made. 

After some four months leading this review, 
it is clear that this same systematic, controlled 
approach to construction, refurbishment and 
management of occupied buildings is not by 
any means universal. There is plenty of good 
practice but it is not difficult to see how those 
who are inclined to take shortcuts can do so. 
Change control and quality assurance are poor 
throughout the process. What is initially designed 
is not what is being built, and quality assurance 
of materials and people is seriously lacking. 

I have been shocked by some of the practices 
I have heard about and I am convinced of 
the need for a new intelligent system of 
regulation and enforcement for high-rise 
and complex buildings which will encourage 
everyone to do the right thing and will hold 
to account those who try to cut corners.

During close to a decade as Chair of the Health 
and Safety Executive, I saw the construction 
industry respond to the challenge of improving 
its performance in managing the safety of its 
workforce on projects of all sizes. With an effective 
regulatory framework in place, the industry was 
willing and able to show leadership, to take 
responsibility for delivering a culture change 
and to move away from simply accepting that 
construction is a dangerous sector to work in. 
A cultural and behavioural change of similar 
magnitude is now required across the whole 
sector to deliver an effective system that ensures 
complex buildings are built and maintained so 
that they are safe for people to live in for many 
years after the original construction. The mindset 
of doing things as cheaply as possible and passing 
on responsibility for problems and shortcomings 
to others must stop. Everyone’s focus must be 
on doing the right things because it is their 
responsibility as part of a system which provides 
buildings that are safe and sustainable for those 
who will live in and use them for many decades.

Changes to the regulatory regime will help, but 
on their own will not be sufficient unless we can 
change the culture away from one of doing the 
minimum required for compliance, to one of taking 
ownership and responsibility for delivering a safe 
system throughout the life cycle of a building.

At the heart of this required change is a shift 
of ownership. Despite being advised at the 
outset that the regulatory system for building 
was outcomes and performance-based, I have 
encountered masses of prescription which is 
complex and in some cases inconsistent. The 
prescription is largely owned by government, 
with industry – those who should be the experts 
in best practice – waiting to be told what to do 
and some looking for ways to work around it. 

We know that many owners and landlords are 
taking responsibility and initiating remedial work 
where required. But even now I am aware that 
some building owners and landlords are waiting for 
direction from this review on what materials should 
be used to replace cladding that has been identified 
as inadequate. I would urge them not to wait 
but to consider what materials have already been 
identified and tested as safe. They must also take 
steps to ensure that those whom they commission 
to carry out any remedial works are competent to 
do the work and that the work is quality assured. 

Page 89



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 7 

A systemic review of the regulations by a non-
expert in construction was never going to 
recommend detailed changes to the technical 
requirements – this is beyond my area of 
competence. Any attempt to modify details 
of the regulation without addressing the clear 
systemic failings would be akin to adding a paint 
job and decorations to a fundamentally non-
roadworthy vehicle. My goal is to ensure that 
we create, within a much more robust overall 
system, a process that ensures there is effective 
oversight of materials, people and installation. 

I have been deeply affected by the residents of 
high-rise buildings I have met and I have learned 
so much from them. These buildings are their 
homes and their communities. They are proud 
of where they live, but their trust in the system 
has been badly shaken by the events of the last 
few months. We need to rebuild that trust.

I have also met some stakeholders during this 
process who think that there is one ‘fix’ typified 
by the ‘if we just do this one thing, it will all 
be better’ response. Some of this is driven 
by vested interest, but also by a desire to ‘do 
something’ quickly. I believe we must be very 
wary of this type of thinking, and the evidence 
tells me that this is not what residents want.

I have been impressed by the reasonableness and 
pragmatism of the residents I have met despite 
what has happened. If we are to regain their 
trust and create a better system for the future, 
we must do so by engaging them in deciding 
what solution is right for them in their particular 
situations, all of which are different given the 
histories of the many different buildings. There 
is no doubt that residents want timely resolution 
of issues but they are also realists and know that 
things must be prioritised – that means listening to 
them, involving them and respecting their views.

This interim report provides a summary of what has 
been learned so far, the proposed direction of travel 
for the next phase of work and the rationale for 
that. It also identifies some early actions which can 
and should be taken to support the future direction 
of travel; these will help to ensure delivery in an 
appropriately timely manner. There is a strong desire 
among all of those with whom I have engaged thus 
far to learn the lessons of the tragic event which 
took place at Grenfell Tower and to build a better 
system for the future. Our challenge now is to 
turn that into a reality and not to allow ourselves 
to move on without achieving lasting change.

Your comments and feedback on this interim 
report would be very welcome and we are planning 
to build in ways to gather those views as we 
move on to the next stage of the review. Most 
immediately, I intend to hold a summit of key 
stakeholders early in 2018. Many of the interim 
findings in this report already identify areas of 
work which it is appropriate to ask others to lead 
on in parallel with phase two of the review itself.

I would also like to thank the team of staff in 
DCLG and the Home Office who are providing 
outstanding support in this review. Despite the 
circumstances which led to this team being 
brought together, there is a strong sense that 
we can make a difference if we are bold enough 
to make the changes which are needed.

“Any intelligent fool can make things bigger, 
more complex, and more violent. It takes a touch 
of genius – and a lot of courage – to move in 
the opposite direction.” E.F. Schumacher

DAME JUDITH HACKITT

Page 90



Summary

Page 91



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 9 

Summary of the report

Aim

The Independent Review of Building Regulations 
and Fire Safety aims to make recommendations 
that will ensure there is a sufficiently robust 
regulatory system for the future and provide 
further assurance to residents that the buildings 
they live in are safe and will remain so.

This interim report sets out the findings to date 
and the direction of travel for the final report. 

Interim report key findings

The work of the review to date has found that the 
current regulatory system for ensuring fire 
safety in high-rise and complex buildings is 
not fit for purpose. This applies throughout the 
life cycle of a building, both during construction 
and occupation, and is a problem connected 
both to the culture of the construction industry 
and the effectiveness of the regulators.

The key reasons for this are:

• Current regulations and guidance are too 
complex and unclear. This can lead to confusion 
and misinterpretation in their application 
to high-rise and complex buildings. 

• Clarity of roles and responsibilities is poor. Even 
where there are requirements for key activities 
to take place across design, construction 
and maintenance, it is not always clear who 
has responsibility for making it happen. 

• Despite many who demonstrate good practice, 
the means of assessing and ensuring the 
competency of key people throughout the system 
is inadequate. There is often no differentiation 
in competency requirements for those working 
on high-rise and complex buildings.

• Compliance, enforcement and sanctions 
processes are too weak. What is being designed 
is not what is being built and there is a lack of 
robust change control. The lack of meaningful 
sanctions does not drive the right behaviours.

• The route for residents to escalate 
concerns is unclear and inadequate. 

• The system of product testing, marketing 
and quality assurance is not clear.

Direction of travel

The Independent Review will now undertake its 
second phase of work and publish a final report 
in spring 2018. This will include targeted work in 
partnership with the sector and other stakeholders. 
This interim report sets the direction for change that 
will underpin that report and covers six broad areas. 

Regulation and guidance
• The rules for ensuring high-rise and other 

complex buildings are built safe and 
remain safe should be more risk-based 
and proportionate. Those responsible for 
high-risk and complex buildings should 
be held to account to a higher degree.

• There should be a shift away from 
government solely holding the burden 
for updating and maintaining guidance, 
towards greater responsibility for the 
sector to specify solutions which meet 
the government’s functional standards.

• Regulations and guidance must be 
simplified and unambiguous.

Roles and responsibilities 
• Primary responsibility for ensuring that 

buildings are fit for purpose must rest 
with those who commission, design 
and build the project. Responsibility and 
accountability must rest with clearly 
identifiable senior individuals and not be 
wholly dispersed through the supply chain. 

• Roles and responsibilities across the whole 
life cycle of a building must be clearer.

Competence
• There is a need to raise levels of competence 

and establish formal accreditation of 
those engaged in the fire prevention 
aspects of the design, construction, 
inspection and maintenance of high-rise 
residential and complex buildings.

Page 92



10 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Process, compliance and enforcement
• There needs to be a golden thread for high-

rise residential and complex buildings so 
that the original design intent, and any 
subsequent changes or refurbishment, are 
recorded and properly reviewed, along with 
regular reviews of overall building integrity.

• There is a need for stronger and more 
effective enforcement activity, backed up 
with sufficiently powerful sanctions for 
the few who do not follow the rules. 

Residents’ voice and raising concerns
• Residents need to be reassured that 

an effective system is in place to 
maintain safety in their homes.

• There must be a clear, quick and effective 
route for residents’ concerns to be addressed.

Quality assurance and products
• Products must be properly tested and 

certified and there is a need to ensure 
oversight of the quality of installation work.

• Marketing of products must be 
clear and easy to interpret. 

Conclusion

In summary, this is a call to action for an entire 
industry and those parts of government that 
oversee it. True and lasting change will require a 
universal shift in culture. The industry has shown 
this is possible in the way the health and safety 
of construction workers has seen a positive 
transformation in culture and practice over the 
last decade. This change needs to start now. 
A summit will be called in early 2018 with key 
stakeholders to discuss taking this work forward.

Page 93



Page 94



Chapter 1   Findings and 
direction of travel

Page 95



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 13 

Contents
Background 14

Review methodology 15

Findings to date 16

Regulation and guidance  16

Roles and responsibilities  16

Competence  17

Process, compliance and enforcement  17

Residents’ voice and raising concerns 18

Quality assurance and products  18

International regulatory regimes 19

Other regulatory systems 19

Direction of travel for phase two of the 
review 20

Direction of travel – Regulation and guidance 20

Direction of travel – Roles and responsibilities 21

Direction of travel – Competence  22

Direction of travel – Process, compliance and 
enforcement  22

Direction of travel – Residents’ voice and 
raising concerns 24

Direction of travel – Quality assurance and 
products 24

Interim recommendations and challenges 25

Next phase of the review 27

Page 96



14 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Background

1 Independent Review terms of reference available at: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640790/Hackitt_Review_terms_of_
reference.pdf

1.1 
The government announced an independent 
forward-looking review of building regulations 
and fire safety on 28 July 2017. This review 
was commissioned by the Secretary of 
State for the Department for Communities 
and Local Government (DCLG) and the 
Home Secretary as part of the ongoing 
response to the Grenfell Tower disaster.

1.2 
As set out in the review’s terms of reference,1 
published on 30 August, this review is running 
in parallel with the work of the Grenfell Tower 
Inquiry. The review is independent and covers 
the system of regulation for all high-rise 
residential buildings. It will, however, provide 
useful background and input into the Inquiry.

1.3 
The review team was formed in August 2017, led 
by Dame Judith Hackitt DBE FREng, and charged 
with providing an interim report in 2017 and a 
final report by spring 2018. The production of 
this interim report marks the first key milestone 
in the review. It is an important opportunity to 
share the findings so far and to indicate the 
proposed direction of travel for the final report.

Page 97

http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640790/Hackitt_Review_terms_of_reference.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640790/Hackitt_Review_terms_of_reference.pdf


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 15 

Review methodology

2 Independent Review terms of reference available at: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640790/Hackitt_Review_terms_of_
reference.pdf

1.4 
From the outset, the work of the review has 
taken a systemic view of fire safety, focused on 
the overall regulatory system and not on the 
detail of specific requirements. In order to do 
this, the review has used a range of techniques:

• Research into the history of the regulatory system. 
A short summary is included at Chapter 2.

• An in-depth mapping exercise, developed 
through a series of workshops, covering the 
regulatory system throughout the life cycle of a 
building. This sets out how the current system is 
supposed to work, and how it actually works in 
practice, from initial planning and design through 
to construction, completion, handover, ongoing 
use and improvement/modification. The map 
includes other relevant areas of legislation which 
overlap with building regulations and fire safety 
regulations, including the Housing Act 2004, 
the Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974 
and Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015. This is included at Chapter 3.

• A call for evidence was issued in September 
and received more than 250 responses. 
These responses are well considered 
and offer hundreds of suggestions for 
improvements to the system. A summary 
and analysis are included at Chapter 4.

• The review has engaged with a large number 
of stakeholders (see Appendix C for details). 

In addition, the themes arising from the call 
for evidence have been explored at a series 
of roundtable events which took place during 
November. An overview is included at Chapter 4.

• A series of meetings and visits have taken place 
to gather information on other international 
regulatory regimes for fire safety and to gain a 
better understanding of regulatory systems in 
other sectors with comparable levels of safety 
risk. More detail is set out in Chapter 5.

1.5 
The terms of reference of the review2 set out that 
it should have a ‘particular focus’ on high-rise 
residential buildings, while recognising that it will 
cover the regulatory system for all buildings. It 
became clear, when thinking about a proportionate 
approach for different types of building, that it 
would not always make sense to separate high-rise 
residential buildings from other large or complex 
buildings where many people live or stay. This 
report therefore refers to either high-rise residential 
buildings or to ‘complex and high-risk’ buildings. 
This latter category includes other buildings for 
which exceptional events could lead to the risk of 
large-scale fatalities; for example, other purpose-
built flats, student accommodation and sheltered 
housing. The review will provide a more precise 
definition of ‘complex and high-risk’ categories 
for future government use in its final report.

Page 98

http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640790/Hackitt_Review_terms_of_reference.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/640790/Hackitt_Review_terms_of_reference.pdf


16 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Findings to date

1.6 
The overall conclusion is that the current 
regulatory system is not fit for purpose in 
relation to high-rise and complex buildings. The 
following sections highlight the major concerns 
based on the evidence gathered to date.

1.7 
It became clear quite early in the review that 
there is a need for significant improvement 
in the current system in a number of 
areas. These relate to matters of:

• regulation and guidance;
• roles and responsibilities;
• competence;
• process, compliance and enforcement;
• residents’ voice and raising concerns; and
• quality assurance and products.

Regulation and guidance 

Current regulation and guidance 
is both complex and unclear

1.8 
The Building Regulations 2010 are clear 
about the outcomes to be achieved but 
not about where responsibilities lie. 

1.9 
There is widespread confusion about what 
constitutes the regulations and what is guidance. 
The guidance on ways to meet the Building 
Regulations, set out in the Approved Documents, 
are frequently referred to as ‘the regulations’.

1.10 
The Approved Documents are not produced in 
a user-friendly format. The current format of 
covering each requirement (fire safety, thermal 
insulation, noise abatement, etc.) in separate 
sections leads to multiple, separate specifications 
for overlapping or common elements of a 
building, with no easy means for these to be 
integrated into a single, compliant specification.

1.11 
Key definitions are unclear; for example, ‘high 
rise’, ‘persons carrying out the work’, ‘limited 
combustibility’ and ‘material alteration’, 
leaving too much open to interpretation.

1.12 
The Building Regulations Advisory Committee 
(BRAC) for England has a statutory role to advise 
government on the Building Regulations. Its 
focus over recent years has been mainly on 
energy efficiency and the deregulatory agenda 
and less on fire safety and other aspects of the 
regulations. While this has been in line with 
prevailing government policy and the trend in the 
evidence base of a declining number of fire deaths 
year on year, it is not clear whether BRAC’s role 
is to proactively advise on initiatives and priorities 
or purely to take direction from government. 

Roles and responsibilities 

Clarity of roles and responsibilities 
within the system is poor

1.13 
There is a general lack of clarity around, 
or statement of, roles and responsibilities 
throughout the system.

1.14 
Even where there are requirements for key 
activities to take place it is not always clear who 
has responsibility for making these happen. 

1.15 
There is no requirement for identifiable, named 
dutyholders responsible for ensuring and proving 
compliance with the Building Regulations.

1.16 
‘Responsible persons’ under the Regulatory 
Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 are frequently 
not identified when the building is due to be 
handed over following construction and therefore 
people are not aware of their responsibilities and 
often assume they are for someone else to do.

Page 99



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 17 

1.17 
There is a widespread culture in relation to building 
and fire standards of waiting to be told what to do 
by regulators rather than taking responsibility for 
building to correct standards. The approach is very 
much driven by aiming for minimum compliance, 
not ensuring safety for the lifetime of the building.

1.18 
Even where regulations or guidance call upon 
people to consult with others in the system 
as part of meeting the requirements of the 
legislation, there is no clear understanding of 
the need to do that at an appropriate time 
or to take account of views expressed.

Competence 

The means of assessing and ensuring 
appropriate levels of competence throughout 
the system are unclear and inadequate

1.19 
The competence of those involved in the design, 
construction, ongoing operational management 
and maintenance of complex and high-risk 
buildings has been called into question. While 
there are many instances of competent people 
planning, building and maintaining buildings in 
a conscientious way, there is no consistent way 
to assess or verify their competence. Numerous 
examples have been quoted, demonstrating lack 
of competence among designers, builders, fire 
engineers, fire consultants, fire risk assessors, 
building control inspectors and others, which 
compromises the fire safety of buildings. 

1.20 
In particular, for fire risk assessors undertaking 
risk assessments on complex and high-risk 
buildings there are no statutory registration 
or accreditation requirements.

1.21 
Private sector Approved Inspectors are required 
under legislation and their code of conduct to 
demonstrate and maintain relevant qualifications 
and experience and are subject to audit by an 
independent body, whereas there is no such 
statutory competence framework for Local 
Authority Building Control inspectors (LABCs). 

1.22 
Some safety-critical tradespeople, for example gas 
engineers, must be registered for different types of 
work, but others do not have such requirements.

1.23 
This is one area where England and Wales appears 
to be lagging behind many other parts of the 
world that require key personnel throughout the 
system to be properly trained, assessed and in 
many cases licensed to carry out specific roles.

Process, compliance and enforcement 

Enforcement and sanction measures are 
poor and do not provide adequate means 
of compliance assurance, deterrence 
or redress for non-compliance

1.24 
There is widespread deviation from what is 
originally designed to what is actually built, 
without clear and consistent requirements to seek 
authorisation or review, or to document changes 
made. The current trend for ‘design and build’ 
contracts (where a main contractor is appointed to 
design and build the project rather than the client 
appointing separate designers and contractors) has 
been identified as being particularly problematic 
in facilitating evolutionary design, which fails 
to be properly documented or reviewed.

1.25 
There is no requirement in the Building 
Regulations for existing buildings to be 
brought up to the latest fire safety standards, 
as long as during any refurbishment the 
existing provisions are not made worse. 

1.26 
Across the life cycle of a complex and high-risk 
building, the different regulations that apply 
can overlap, and have varying approaches to 
responsibility and demonstrating compliance. 

1.27 
There is evidence of a number of key control stages 
of the process not being followed as intended; for 
example, the handover of fire safety information 
and the issuing of Completion Certificates. 

1.28 
There are wide differences of view regarding 
the benefits of the partial privatisation model 
introduced into building control which offers 
a choice between LABCs and private sector 
Approved Inspectors. The latter are perceived 
to be less independent of the clients and have 
no means of enforcement action available 
to them other than to refer cases to LABCs. 
This referral process is rarely used.

Page 100



18 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

1.29 
While informal enforcement activity by building 
control bodies generally leads to compliance, 
where non-compliance is identified, LABCs 
are deterred from taking formal enforcement 
actions by the cost of pursuing cases through 
the courts, and the historical failure of the 
courts to impose robust sanctions.

1.30 
Some instances of non-compliance are not 
picked up at all because key work is encapsulated 
within the fabric of the building before being 
inspected. The review has heard repeatedly that 
construction often begins before the full plans 
have been approved by building control.

1.31 
The information flow and documented 
evidence provided by developers to building 
control bodies does not provide an adequate 
public record to ensure building safety 
throughout the life of the building. 

1.32 
Information provided to residents of complex and 
high-risk buildings on the key fire safety measures, 
their importance and residents’ responsibilities 
is highly variable and too often non-existent.

1.33 
Fire and rescue service3 personnel may raise 
concerns about compliance with the Fire Safety 
Order which are not acted upon because of cost, 
because the building work is too far advanced to 
make changes or because their advice is ignored.

1.34 
Once a building is occupied there is a requirement 
for a fire risk assessment to be carried out 
regularly by a ‘responsible person’, but no 
requirement for this to be reported to a regulator 
or for this to be shared with residents. 

Residents’ voice and raising concerns

The route for residents’ concerns to be raised 
and addressed is unclear and inadequate

1.35 
Multiple occupancy residential buildings often 
have complex ownership and management 
models involving managing agents, varying 
leasehold contracts, residents’ associations 

3 Fire and rescue services are the delivery body of fire and rescue authorities (the statutory enforcing authority for the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005). In 
this report we use the term fire and rescue services.

and so on, making it difficult to identify 
who to contact to raise concerns or to get 
responses to concerns when raised.

1.36 
Roundtable discussions with residents have shown 
wide variation in practice by landlords from 
the very good to non-existent. We have heard 
from residents who are afraid to raise concerns 
for fear of eviction, and about the particular 
difficulties of reporting on things which involve the 
activities of other residents – their neighbours.

1.37 
Many of the problems which are reported and 
fixed, for example propping open of fire doors or 
obstructions in access ways, very quickly revert 
to being a problem and there is no effective 
means of ensuring that residents meet their 
responsibilities to their fellow residents.

1.38 
Regulators often face similar problems 
in getting concerns and defects 
addressed following investigation.

Quality assurance and products 

Current methods for testing, certification 
and marketing of construction 
products and systems are not clear

1.39 
DCLG’s Building Safety Programme identified 
more than 200 high-rise residential buildings 
across England fitted with aluminium 
composite materials cladding systems that 
are likely to present a fire hazard. There does 
not appear to be a single, simple reason to 
explain why so many buildings are affected.

1.40 
Products are marketed with specification 
data presented in ways which can 
easily be misinterpreted.

1.41 
Individual elements are being used as 
part of compound systems that are 
not being fully tested as systems.

1.42 
The widespread use of desktop studies to 
assess equivalence of products and systems 

Page 101



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 19 

is not properly managed or controlled in 
terms of both the circumstances in which 
they can be used and the qualifications and 
experience of those undertaking them.

1.43 
Test results, desktop studies, and the details of 
those who produce them, are not made public.

1.44 
A number of people engaged in the system 
have said that the test conditions used do 
not adequately reflect real-life conditions.

1.45 
The integrity and efficacy of product and 
system classifications are highly dependent 
on correct installation by competent 
and knowledgeable persons.

International regulatory regimes

There are some lessons to be 
learned and applied from other 
international regulatory regimes

1.46 
Fires in high-rise buildings have occurred 
elsewhere in the world and a number of corrective 
measures have been put in place or are under 
consideration. The review will use examples 
of what has worked well in other countries 
to support the work during phase two.

1.47 
A number of other regulatory regimes have more 
stringent standards for fire protection and require 
key roles within the system to be formally licensed. 

1.48 
Other countries have been more proactive 
in requiring formal accreditation of those 
engaged in all aspects of high-risk buildings.

1.49 
Some countries have been more proactive in calling 
for the retrospective upgrade of existing buildings.

Other regulatory systems

There could be greater alignment of the 
regulatory regime for building and fire 
safety with other regulatory systems

1.50 
A number of respondents have cited the greater 
clarity and effectiveness of UK health and 
safety legislation in relation to construction 
and, in particular, the Construction (Design and 
Management) Regulations 2015 which is due to 
the clearer assignment of roles and responsibilities.

1.51 
There has been a widespread call for greater 
consistency of use of terms to identify key 
responsibilities within the system.

1.52 
There is also significant scope for greater 
collaboration, intelligence sharing and 
combined inspections by regulators. 

Page 102



20 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Direction of travel for phase two of the review

1.53 
The review’s findings to date indicate that there is 
a clear need for a full overhaul of the regulatory 
system to address the wide-ranging issues 
outlined. This includes roles and responsibilities, 
competence and the lack of a joined up, effective 
system to deliver and sustain complex and 
high-risk buildings which are fit for purpose. 

1.54 
Phase two of this review will focus on defining 
a revised regulatory system which will be 
simpler, clearer to all involved and deliver 
better overall outcomes. It will be important 
for this revised system to continue to allow 
innovation in building design and construction 
and not introduce disproportionate delays or 
cost into building processes. Any additional 
time spent at the front end of designing and 
specifying a building is likely to yield significant 
benefits in time, cost and safety in construction 
and throughout the building’s life cycle.

1.55 
The revised system must be risk-based and 
proportionate and therefore not burden 
low-risk, small-scale or simple projects with 
requirements which are intended for complex 
and high-risk buildings where both the risk 
and consequences of catastrophic events 
are intrinsically considerably higher.

1.56 
Many of the findings to date clearly identify the 
need for a major cultural shift across all of those 
who are part of the system within the construction, 
operation and maintenance of complex and 
high-risk buildings. The focus must shift from 
achieving lowest cost to providing buildings which 
are safe and fit for people to live in for years 
to come. Work on developing some elements 
which will be required within a new system can 
be started now and can be delivered by a range 
of organisations. This is not simply a task for 
central government through revised legislation.

1.57 
The following section sets out the direction of 
travel in more detail. The challenge for phase 
two of the review will be to establish how the 
aspirations set out below can best be delivered 
and to bring forward recommendations to 
support this delivery. Stakeholders should 
prepare themselves for an early call to action to 
create a more effective regulatory system. The 
review is keen to work with residents and other 
stakeholders on shaping these recommendations. 

Direction of travel – Regulation and 
guidance

1.58 
The regulatory system needs to become more 
risk-based. Simple guidance which covers all 
elements of what is required to build simple 
residential dwellings would be much more 
accessible and user-friendly than the current 
detailed, tram-lined system of guidance. These 
simple types of dwellings are also handed over 
at the end of the process to a single owner. 

1.59 
In the case of complex and high-risk buildings 
with complex ownership and occupancy models, 
a more rigorous risk-based process must be 
put in place to ensure that building integrity 
is maintained throughout the life cycle. It is 
important that the construction and maintenance 
of these buildings is treated proportionately 
and that those responsible for such buildings 
are held to account to a higher degree.

1.60 
To implement a risk-based system it will be 
necessary to define what we consider to be 
‘complex and high-risk buildings’. It is envisaged 
that this would include buildings where multiple 
people live or stay and for which exceptional events 
could lead to the risk of large-scale fatalities. 

Page 103



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 21 

1.61 
The current system of building regulation relies 
heavily on central government to keep all 
regulations and supporting documents up to 
date, advised by BRAC, a statutory body with 
wide representation. It is inappropriate for the 
burden of keeping up to date with technology 
to rest solely with government in this way. It is 
clearly the role of government to set the basic 
framework of standards which must be achieved 
and to make it clear who has responsibility 
for delivering those standards of performance 
throughout the life cycle. However, it should not 
be for government to lead on the specification of 
the detailed solutions as to how those standards 
will be met. The scope of BRAC’s role in the 
future should be considered in this context.

1.62 
Most responses to the call for evidence have 
indicated that there is a need for Approved 
Document B to be simplified and brought up 
to date. The usability of all of the Approved 
Documents could be significantly improved by 
more fundamental changes to their structure which 
would also close a number of the current gaps 
which are left open to interpretation and confusion.

1.63 
Recommendation: The government should 
consider how the suite of Approved Documents 
could be structured and ordered to provide a 
more streamlined, holistic view while retaining 
the right level of relevant technical detail, with 
input from the Building Regulations Advisory 
Committee. Given that reframing the suite of 
guidance may take some time, in the meantime 
I would ask the government to consider any 
presentational changes that will improve the clarity 
of Approved Document B as an interim measure.

Direction of travel – Roles and 
responsibilities

1.64 
Primary responsibility for ensuring that buildings 
are built to the correct standards and are fit for 
purpose must rest with those who commission the 
work and those who design and build the project. 
Those commissioning must ensure that those they 
commission to do the work have the right levels 
of competence and are appropriately supervised.

1.65 
Responsibilities must not be dispersed through the 
chain as they are now. Even in an environment 
where there are multiple layers of sub-contracting 

there must be a clear, responsible dutyholder who 
is held to account for the performance or non-
performance of all of those to whom sub-contracts 
are let at all stages in the life of a building.

1.66 
It has also been observed that the use of ‘value 
engineering’ is almost always about cutting cost out 
of a project, at times without due reference to key 
specification requirements. Such processes must be 
undertaken by those with the responsibility and the 
competence to ensure the integrity of the building 
design and function, especially when considering 
the equivalence of substituted materials.

1.67 
Given the extent of innovation which is taking 
place in industry there should be greater 
industry responsibility for demonstrating that 
all buildings are designed and built to be fit 
for purpose, including the introduction of new 
techniques and materials into construction. 

1.68 
The role of regulators should be to seek assurance 
that standards are being adhered to throughout 
all stages of construction and use. It is for industry 
to demonstrate to the regulators that compliance 
with those standards is being achieved, including 
through innovation. Where there is failure to comply 
there must be a more effective means of ensuring 
not only that the deficiencies are put right but that 
those who were responsible for compliance with 
the standards are held accountable for their failure.

1.69 
After completion and handover of a building 
there must be clear responsibility assigned to a 
known person or persons for ensuring that the 
building remains fit for purpose throughout its 
life cycle. Where and when ownership changes, 
responsibilities must also be formally handed over.

1.70 
The assignment of responsibilities in blocks of 
flats, where there are boundaries between areas 
which are the responsibility of residents and 
those which fall to landlords or owners, must be 
clarified. The definition of the ‘common parts’ of 
such buildings, and clarification of who is qualified 
and able to properly inspect both common areas 
and individual properties, are critical elements 
of maintaining overall building integrity but are 
currently unclear due to the confusing overlap 
between the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System Regulations 2005 and the Fire Safety Order. 

Page 104



22 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Direction of travel – Competence 

1.71 
Those working on complex and high-risk buildings 
need to have the appropriate qualifications 
and experience and be able to evidence that 
qualification and experience. The design, 
construction, inspection and maintenance of 
complex buildings would normally require a 
higher degree of competence and expertise 
than that of small-scale or simple buildings.

1.72 
The task of raising levels of competence and 
establishing formal accreditation of those engaged 
at every stage of design, construction, inspection 
and maintenance of complex and high-risk buildings 
can and should be led by those professional bodies 
which cover the sector. The system needs to be 
designed to ensure that competence is measured, is 
made transparent to those engaging the individuals 
and has a means of recourse in the event that work 
delivered is substandard. This is a challenge to 
the current less rigorous and disjointed approach 
to registration or certification which allows 
many individuals to practice with questionable 
qualifications or without a requirement for 
competence to be assessed and accredited.

1.73 
Recommendation: There is a need to be certain 
that those working on the design, construction, 
inspection and maintenance of complex and 
high-risk buildings are suitably qualified. 

The professional and accreditation bodies have 
an opportunity to demonstrate that they are 
capable of establishing a robust, comprehensive 
and coherent system covering all disciplines for 
work on such buildings. If they are able to come 
together and develop a joined up system covering 
all levels of qualification in relevant disciplines, 
this will provide the framework for regulation to 
mandate the use of suitable, qualified professionals 
who can demonstrate that their skills are up 
to date. This should cover as a minimum:

• engineers;
• those installing and maintaining fire safety 

systems and other safety-critical systems;
• fire engineers; 
• fire risk assessors; 
• fire safety enforcing officers; and
• building control inspectors. 

I would ask these bodies to work together now 
to propose such a system as soon as practicable. 
I will launch this work at a summit in early 2018.

Direction of travel – Process, compliance 
and enforcement 

1.74 
The current interaction of different regulatory 
regimes leads to a complex system with 
different bodies responsible for enforcement 
and a varied approach to assurance and 
demonstrating compliance. The whole process 
needs to be streamlined and made consistent.

1.75 
There is a need to ensure that the right people 
are engaged and consulted at the earliest stages 
of complex projects and that their views are 
taken into account at the design stage. This is 
particularly important in relation to fire safety.

1.76 
Recommendation: Consultation with the fire and 
rescue services is required on plans for buildings 
that are covered by the Fire Safety Order, but does 
not work as intended. Consultation by building 
control bodies and by those commissioning or 
designing buildings should take place early in the 
process and fire and rescue service advice should 
be fully taken into account. The aim should be to 
secure their input and support at the earliest stage 
possible so that fire safety can be fully designed in.

1.77 
There needs to be a golden thread for all complex 
and high-risk building projects so that the original 
design intent is preserved and recorded, and 
any changes go through a formal review process 
involving people who are competent and who 
understand the key features of the design.

1.78 
When a building or part of a building is completed, 
there is a need for the project as built to be 
documented. A thorough, independent review 
needs to take place and a handover process 
completed before the building, or part of the 
building, can be occupied. Phased occupation 
of buildings does occur and, where it does, this 
must be handled rigorously with a clear handover 
process. During the next phase of work the review 
will conduct further research into the potential for 
Building Information Modelling (BIM) to transfer 
the documentation process onto a digital platform.

1.79 
Recommendation: Building developers need 
to ensure that there is a formal review and 
handover process ahead of occupation of any 
part of a new high-rise residential building. 
While there are legitimate reasons to allow 

Page 105



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 23 

occupation in a phased way, the practice of 
allowing occupancy of buildings without proper 
review and handover presents barriers to the 
implementation of any remedial measures 
identified as part of the completion process.

1.80 
Recommendation: There is a need for building 
control bodies to do more to assure that fire 
safety information for a building is provided by 
the person completing the building work to the 
responsible person for the building in occupation. 
Given the importance of such information for 
ongoing maintenance and fire risk assessment, 
proof should be sought that it has been transferred.

1.81 
Once a complex and high-risk building is occupied 
and in use, there must be a clearly identified 
responsible person who continues to monitor the 
condition of the building and is responsible for all 
changes and maintenance work carried out within 
it. It must be clear to occupants and anyone who 
works in the building who that responsible person 
is, and they must be held to account. Residents 
must be provided with clear guidance on how to 
proceed if they choose to carry out work themselves 
or bring in contractors to their own flats.

1.82 
Future modification and upgrade to complex and 
high-risk buildings must be subject to the same 
rigorous processes as during original construction 
and must be undertaken with reference to the 
original design criteria. Changes must be formally 
reviewed by competent professionals, documented 
after completion and formally handed over.

1.83 
Complex and high-risk buildings must also be 
subject to regular and thorough reviews of their 
overall integrity, even if they are not subject to 
major change. The integrity of such buildings can 
be compromised by a series of minor changes 
which lead to a cumulative degradation of 
protection. It is envisaged that these reviews 
would be the responsibility of the building 
owner but must be reported to the regulator and 
accessible information about them made available 
to residents. It may also be of interest to those 
who underwrite the risk for such buildings.

1.84 
Recommendation: It is currently the case under 
the Fire Safety Order that fire risk assessments 
for high-rise residential buildings must be carried 
out ‘regularly’. It is recommended that the 

responsible person ensures these are undertaken 
at least annually and when any significant 
alterations are made to the building. These risk 
assessments should be shared in an accessible way 
with the residents who live within that building 
and notified to the fire and rescue service.

1.85 
The lifetime of a building in use is orders of 
magnitude more than the time spent on its 
construction. Integrity must be maintained 
throughout the life cycle. Technology does not 
stand still and as new methods of improving 
the safety of buildings become available it is not 
sufficient for regulation only to make these a 
requirement for buildings of the future. There 
is a responsibility to give due consideration to 
what it is reasonable and practicable to do to 
upgrade and improve the fire safety of existing 
facilities throughout their lifespan, not merely 
to ensure that they do not deteriorate beyond 
how they were originally designed and built. 

1.86 
There needs to be a demonstration that there are 
sufficient layers of protection to ensure that building 
safety does not rely heavily on compartmentation. 
There is a high risk of compartmentation being 
breached during building use, whether as the result 
of residents’ own actions or of maintenance work 
carried out in the whole building. There are a range 
of fire protection measures that can be retrofitted 
to or amended in existing buildings; for example, 
extra staircases and smoke ventilation or sprinkler 
systems. Rather than prescribe one measure over 
others, it should be for building owners and 
landlords, with the right expert advice and the 
involvement of residents, to demonstrate that 
appropriate risk mitigation measures are in place.

1.87 
There is a need for stronger and more 
effective enforcement within the system but 
this requires the necessary resources to be 
available and demonstrably independent. Those 
charged with enforcing must have appropriate 
enforcement powers accompanied by sanctions 
and penalties which are suitably severe. 

1.88 
The cost of achieving compliance must be 
significantly less than the sanctions which may be 
imposed on those who do not follow the rules 
and fail to achieve the standards set, in order to 
create the right incentive to comply and a deterrent 
to seeking to circumnavigate requirements.

Page 106



24 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

1.89 
The current model of partial privatisation with 
clients being able to decide whether to choose 
between the use of LABCs or Approved Inspectors 
does not resolve the enforcement issue, raises 
concerns about independence and adds pressure 
on the resources within local authorities. While 
there may be scope to continue with a partial 
privatisation of the market, it is essential that 
effective enforcement is ensured and the work of 
Approved Inspectors is demonstrably independent. 

Direction of travel – Residents’ voice and 
raising concerns

1.90 
Residents need to be reassured that an effective 
system is in place to maintain safety in the 
buildings which are their homes. Their trust 
in the current system has been shaken and 
needs to be rebuilt by a more transparent 
system in which residents feel included, not 
‘done to’ by others without consultation.

1.91 
Many residents have told us that they have good 
systems in place and good relations with their 
landlords. However, where this is not the case, 
there should be a clear, quick and effective route 
established for residents’ concerns on fire safety 
to be raised and addressed with an external 
enforcement body. Many have expressed the wish 
for this to include the fire and rescue services.

1.92 
The results of regular surveys of building integrity 
must be shared with the residents and they 
should be consulted about plans to modify 
buildings. It is also important for residents to 
understand the various layers of protection 
which are fundamental to fire safety.

Direction of travel – Quality assurance and 
products

1.93 
It is important that products are properly tested, 
certified and marketed clearly, and that desktop 
studies are only used when appropriate, to ensure 
that suitable materials are used on different types 
of buildings, delivering the multiple different 
standards required. During phase two of this review, 
the case must be examined for a requirement 
for product testing data to be made transparent 
and publicly available and for a much clearer 
system of product classification and labelling. 

1.94 
Recommendation: The government should 
significantly restrict the use of desktop studies 
to approve changes to cladding and other 
systems to ensure that they are only used where 
appropriate and with sufficient, relevant test 
evidence. Those undertaking desktop studies must 
be able to demonstrate suitable competence. The 
industry should ensure that their use of desktop 
studies is responsible and in line with this aim.

1.95 
A number of respondents have called for a 
reinstatement of the former role of Clerk of 
Works or similar to act as the primary gatekeeper 
of quality assurance on significant projects. 
There is a need to ensure oversight of the 
quality of installation work carried out as well 
as of the materials delivered to site and used.

Page 107



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 25 

Interim recommendations and challenges

1.96 
While there is more work to be done to develop 
some of the ideas highlighted here and turn 
them into final recommendations, there are 
already some clear actions and initiatives which 
can and should be taken now, which would be 
entirely consistent with the likely future direction 
of travel. These are brought together below.

1.97 
By way of underpinning all of these interim 
recommendations, the industry must recognise 
the need for significant cultural and behavioural 
change, where the sector demonstrates similar 
responsibility for the buildings they create as 
they have shown they can take for the safety of 
people working on construction projects under 
the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015. There is no reason why this 
culture change cannot begin voluntarily now ahead 
of the final recommendations and any legislative 
changes. There is already evidence of good practice 
despite the shortcomings in the system itself.

A. The government should consider how 
the suite of Approved Documents could be 
structured and ordered to provide a more 
streamlined, holistic view while retaining the 
right level of relevant technical detail, with 
input from the Building Regulations Advisory 
Committee. Given that reframing the suite 
of guidance may take some time, in the 
meantime I would ask the government to 
consider any presentational changes that will 
improve the clarity of Approved Document B 
as an interim measure. (Paragraph 1.63)

B. There is a need to be certain that those 
working on the design, construction, 
inspection and maintenance of complex and 
high-risk buildings are suitably qualified. The 
professional and accreditation bodies have 
an opportunity to demonstrate that they are 
capable of establishing a robust, comprehensive 
and coherent system covering all disciplines 
for work on such buildings. If they are able 
to come together and develop a joined up 
system covering all levels of qualification 
in relevant disciplines, this will provide the 
framework for regulation to mandate the 
use of suitable, qualified professionals who 
can demonstrate that their skills are up to 
date. This should cover as a minimum:

• engineers;
• those installing and maintaining fire safety 

systems and other safety-critical systems;
• fire engineers; 
• fire risk assessors; 
• fire safety enforcing officers; and 
• building control inspectors. 

I would ask these bodies to work together 
now to propose such a system as soon 
as practicable. I will launch this work at a 
summit in early 2018. (Paragraph 1.73)

Page 108



26 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

C. Consultation with the fire and rescue services 
is required on plans for buildings that are 
covered by the Fire Safety Order, but does not 
work as intended. Consultation by building 
control bodies and by those commissioning 
or designing buildings should take place 
early in the process and fire and rescue service 
advice should be fully taken into account. The 
aim should be to secure their input and support 
at the earliest stage possible so that fire safety 
can be fully designed in. (Paragraph 1.76)

D. Building developers need to ensure 
that there is a formal review and handover 
process ahead of occupation of any part 
of a new high-rise residential building. 
While there are legitimate reasons to allow 
occupation in a phased way, the practice 
of allowing occupancy of buildings without 
proper review and handover presents 
barriers to the implementation of any 
remedial measures identified as part of the 
completion process. (Paragraph 1.79)

E. There is a need for building control 
bodies to do more to assure that fire safety 
information for a building is provided by 
the person completing the building work to 
the responsible person for the building in 
occupation. Given the importance of such 
information for ongoing maintenance and fire 
risk assessment, proof should be sought that 
it has been transferred. (Paragraph 1.80)

F. It is currently the case under the Fire Safety 
Order that fire risk assessments for high-
rise residential buildings must be carried 
out ‘regularly’. It is recommended that the 
responsible person ensures these are 
undertaken at least annually and when any 
significant alterations are made to the building. 
These risk assessments should be shared in 
an accessible way with the residents who 
live within that building and notified to the 
fire and rescue service. (Paragraph 1.84)

G. The government should significantly 
restrict the use of desktop studies to approve 
changes to cladding and other systems 
to ensure that they are only used where 
appropriate and with sufficient, relevant 
test evidence. Those undertaking desktop 
studies must be able to demonstrate suitable 
competence. The industry should ensure 
that their use of desktop studies is responsible 
and in line with this aim. (Paragraph 1.94)

Page 109



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 27 

Next phase of the review

1.98 
The review intends to focus on developing 
recommendations that will deliver the direction 
of travel set out above ahead of the final report. 

1.99 
The review has heard a range of views from 
the call for evidence and from our stakeholder 
engagement to date. As well as continuing 
to draw upon this evidence, the next phase 
will involve targeted work in partnership with 
the sector and other stakeholders in order to 
make rapid progress towards recommendations 
for the system in the final report.

1.100 
The next milestone will be a summit in early 
2018. Key stakeholders will be invited to 
attend this event which will set the direction 
and ensure co-ordination of the work we 
need a number of them to engage in during 
the spring in support of the development 
of the review’s final recommendations.

1.101 
We would welcome feedback on 
this report which can be sent to 
BuildingRegulationsandFireSafetyReview@
communities.gsi.gov.uk or in writing to:

Independent Review of Building Regulations and 
Fire Safety  
3rd Floor Fry Building  
2 Marsham Street  
London SW1P 4DF

Page 110



Chapter 2   A brief history of the 
current regulatory 
system

Page 111



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 29 

Contents
Introduction 30

Key findings 30

The evolution of building regulations and 
fire safety legislation 31

High-rise residential buildings 34

Other developments around the 
management of risk – health and safety 
regulation 36

Fire casualties since the 1980s 37

Page 112



30 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Introduction

2.1 
This chapter sets out a high-level history of the 
regulatory system, charting its developments 
and changes, contrasted with the latest fire 
incident trends. This overview provides useful 
background context on how the system has 
evolved, against which the mapping of the 
current system (Chapter 3) and the stakeholder 
engagement (Chapter 4) can be viewed. 

Key findings

2.2 
The legislative landscape has been built up in 
a piecemeal fashion – often by the government 
changing specific aspects in response to an 
event or disaster. In making recommendations 
for the future, this review is taking a systemic 
approach that looks at the full landscape as 
it is in order to design a system for the future 
that is more effective and more streamlined.

Page 113



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 31 

The evolution of building regulations and fire safety 
legislation

1 Transcribed in Henry Thomas Riley, ed. (1860) Munimenta Gildhallae Londoniensis: Liber Custumarum, Rolls Series, no.12, vol.2, 86–88, as discussed on http://users.
trytel.com/~tristan/towns/florilegium/community/cmfabr08.html

2.3 
There is a long history of rules and restrictions 
in place in England to lower the risk of fire. In 
the aftermath of a disastrous fire in Southwark, 
London, during 1212, a council of ‘reputable 
men’ established a series of conditions that 
local buildings should meet, covering roofing 
materials, provisions for fire-fighting, distance 
between buildings and internal standards.1 
These policies are still recognisable today 
as the basic themes for fire safety concerns 
as they affect building specifications.

2.4 
Following the Great Fire of London in 1666, the 
Rebuilding Acts (1667 and 1670) set standards 
for new construction in London to be based on 
stone instead of timber, with detailed requirements 
on the thickness of walls and heights of rooms 
within a building. Work was undertaken to widen 
streets to slow the spread of fire and reduce the 
time it would take for emergency help to arrive.

2.5 
During the 18th and 19th centuries, in part inspired 
by a drive to raise standards of public health 
and factory conditions in industrialising Britain, 
a series of legislative initiatives set and improved 
building requirements with respect to fire hazards, 
created local requirements for specific cities, and 
established building control as an essential function 
in regulating new builds and major refurbishments.

2.6 
Three key themes are evident in the history and 
evolution of the framework. First, government 
response to disasters driving changes in standards; 
second, the placing of responsibilities on 
different actors in the system – whether local 
authorities, fire authorities, building owners 
or ‘responsible’ persons; third, government 
initiatives to consolidate regulations and powers.

Recent milestone events in building 
regulations and fire safety

1965 – Building Regulations 1965

1968 – Ronan Point gas explosion

1969 – Rose and Crown Hotel fire

1970 – Report of the Departmental Committee 
on the Fire Service, Sir Ronald Holroyd

1971 – Fire Precautions Act 1971

1973 – Summerland fire, Isle of Man

1974 – Flixborough disaster

1974 – The Health and Safety 
at Work etc. Act 1974

1979 – Manchester Woolworths fire 

1984 – The Building Act 1984

1985 – Bradford City stadium fire

1987 – The Fire Safety and Safety 
of Places of Sport Act 1987

1987 – King’s Cross fire

1988 – Investigation into the King’s Cross 
Underground fire, Desmond Fennell

1988 – The Furniture and Furnishings 
(Fire Safety) Regulations 1988

1988 – Piper Alpha disaster

1989 – The Fire Precautions (Sub-surface 
Railway Stations) Regulations 1989 

1992 – The Workplace (Health, Safety 
and Welfare) Regulations 1992

1997 – The Fire Precautions 
(Workplace) Regulations 1997

1999 – Potential Risk of Fire Spread 
in Buildings via External Cladding 
Systems report, Environment, Transport 
and Regional Affairs Committee

Page 114

http://users.trytel.com/~tristan/towns/florilegium/community/cmfabr08.html
http://users.trytel.com/~tristan/towns/florilegium/community/cmfabr08.html


32 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

1999 – The Fire Precautions (Workplace) 
(Amendment) Regulations 1999

2004 – Fire Services and Rescue Act 2004

2004 – The Housing Act 2004 

2005 – Buncefield fire

2006 – The Regulatory Reform 
(Fire Safety) Order 2005

2007 – The Construction (Design and 
Management) Regulations 2007

2009 – Lakanal House fire

2017 – Grenfell Tower fire

2.7 
The Holroyd report2 of 1970 paved the way for 
the first major consolidation of fire legislation, 
creating the division of authority within the 
regulatory system that remains to this day. This 
report recommended differentiating powers relating 
to new and altered buildings to be enforced by 
building control, and those for occupied buildings to 
be enforced by the fire and rescue authorities. Since 
the Fire Services Act 1947, fire brigades have had 
a duty to provide advice on fire safety; in particular 
on fire prevention and means of escape. However, 
it was not until the Fire Precautions Act 1971 that 
safety provisions were enforced by brigades too. 
Designated buildings were required to apply for and 
hold a Fire Certificate, issued by the local fire and 
rescue service following a satisfactory inspection.

2.8 
If the 11 fire deaths at the Rose and Crown Hotel, 
Saffron Walden (1969) helped to provide political 
impetus for the introduction of the Fire Precautions 
Act in 1971, then two other disasters illustrate 
how the regulatory system can evolve. In 1985, 
56 people died in the Bradford City stadium fire, 
and, in 1987, 31 people died in the King’s Cross 
fire. Reviews followed each tragedy, and the 
system was amended by new legislation in both 
cases – the Fire Safety and Safety of Places of Sport 
Act 1987 and the Fire Precautions (Sub-surface 
Railway Stations) Regulations 1989 respectively.

2 Holroyd, R. (1970) Report of the Departmental Committee on the Fire Service. Cmnd 4731. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office.
3 Summerland Fire Commission (1974) Report of the Summerland Fire Commission. Government Office, Douglas, Isle of Man; as discussed in Turner, B.A., Pidgeon, N.F. 
(1998) Man-Made Disasters. Butterworth-Heinemann.
4 For example, Bickerdike Allen Partners (1990) Fire and building regulation: a review. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office; Interdepartmental Review Team (1994) Fire Safety 
Legislation and Enforcement. The Department of Trade and Industry.

Case study: Summerland fire in 
Douglas, Isle of Man (1973)

The Summerland fire in Douglas, Isle of Man 
in 1973 was, at that time, the greatest loss of 
life on the British Isles since the Second World 
War. On 2 August 1973, a fire broke out at 
the relatively recently opened Summerland 
leisure complex. Around 3,000 people 
escaped and an estimated 50 people died. 

The Summerland Fire Commission that 
followed concluded that there were many 
failings that contributed to the fire spread, 
including factors in the building’s design and 
construction, defects in the means of escape 
and emergency lighting, the use of novel and 
improper materials, and lack of building control 
oversight. The commission also highlighted 
the role of miscommunication and how 
unclear responsibilities contributed to events:

“Mr De Lorka thought it was for Mr Harding 
to organise an evacuation procedure, but he 
never discussed it with him … Mr Harding 
thought it was for the heads of departments to 
organise their own evacuation procedure but he 
gave them no instructions about it. Mr Paxton, 
the Deputy Managing Director … thought it 
was for Mr Harding to organise an evacuation 
procedure and for Mr De Lorka to make sure 
he did it. Mr Dixon, the supervising Fire and 
Safety Officer … thought it was Mr De Lorka’s 
duty … and no part of Mr Harding’s duty.”3

2.9 
Following a series of significant reviews of fire 
safety legislation in the 1990s4 and the growing 
complexity of the system over previous decades, 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 was introduced to clarify and change 
requirements for commercial buildings. Fire 
Certificates were abolished, with expectations 
placed firmly on “responsible persons” to 
manage the risk in their buildings by the 
completion of a fire risk assessment. As a result, 
fire and rescue services moved from a directive 
role in certain buildings to one of auditing.

2.10 
The other major component of ensuring fire 
safety in occupied buildings comes through local 
authority powers established in the Housing Act 

Page 115



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 33 

2004 and the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System (HHSRS) Regulations 2005. Since the mid-
19th century, local authorities have had the ability 
to regulate housing fitness and assess health and 
safety hazards. The Housing Act 1985 established 
a pass or fail Housing Fitness Standard test based 
on nine maintenance categories; however, this 
was seen as a blunt instrument, and so was 
replaced in 2005 with the HHSRS as a more 
powerful and objective assessment methodology. 
The HHSRS involves environmental health officers 
checking for the presence of 29 potential hazards, 
determining the likelihood of harm occurring 
if any of those hazards are present, and, if 
required, issuing sanctions to building owners 
where satisfactory remedial action is not taken.

2.11 
On building regulations and control, the Public 
Health Act 1936 consolidated local requirements 
to create a national system of building control, 
providing a single set of standards for building 
work to comply with. However, the provisions 
were not mandatory, so local authorities across 
the country were able to maintain different 
approaches. It was not until the Building 
Regulations 1965 and the Building Control 
Act 1966 that all building work in England 
and Wales had to comply with a consolidated, 
mandatory and prescriptive set of rules.

Page 116



34 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

High-rise residential buildings

5 DCLG (2015) English Housing Survey, dwelling sample.
6 This figure has been derived from Ordnance Survey and EPC data. It is for buildings where at least 90% of the address points in the building are residential or where a 
residential address is on the sixth floor or above.
7 Griffiths, H., Pugsley, A. and Saunders, O. (1968) Report of the inquiry into the collapse of flats at Ronan Point, Canning Town. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office.
8 Pearson, C. and Delatte, N. (2005) Ronan Point Apartment Tower Collapse and its Effect on Building Codes. Cleveland State University.
9 Environment, Transport and Regional Affairs Committee (1999) Potential Risk of Fire Spread in Buildings via External Cladding Systems. The Stationery Office.
10 Colwell, S. and Martin, B. (2003) BR 135 – Fire performance of external thermal insulation for walls of multi-storey buildings. 2nd edn. BRE Bookshop.
11 Knight, K. (2009) Report to the Secretary of State by the Chief Fire and Rescue Adviser on the emerging issues arising from the fatal fire at Lakanal House, 
Camberwell on 3 July 2009. Communities and Local Government Publications. 
12 Letter from Assistant Deputy Coroner to RH Eric Pickles, 28 March 2013. Available at: www.lambeth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/ec-letter-to-DCLG-pursuant-to-rule43-
28March2013.pdf

2.12 
Following the Second World War, high-rise 
blocks of flats were seen as a vital component 
of housing and development policy, encouraged 
by government subsidy provided in the Housing 
Subsidies Act 1956. Since the first tower block 
built in Harlow, Essex, at 10 storeys in 1951, 
best recent estimates are that around 800,0005 
people live in high-rise residential buildings 
and that there are around 10,000 residential 
buildings over 18 metres in England.6

2.13 
The gas explosion at the 22-storey tower block 
Ronan Point, Newham, London, was one of 
the first safety-critical defining events relevant 
to high-rise buildings. On 16 May 1968, a gas 
explosion in the kitchen of the 18th-floor flat 
led to the collapse of an entire corner of the 
building causing 4 deaths and 17 injuries.

2.14 
The Griffiths Review7 was set up to consider 
the causes of the collapse, and determined that 
the building was structurally unsound, with 
consequences for other tower blocks of a similar 
type. Urgent appraisal and remedial strengthening 
work was carried out across the country, with 
many buildings condemned. The Griffiths Review 
concluded that Ronan Point was in fact in 
compliance with building regulations, remarking: 
“This is so manifestly an unsatisfactory state of 
affairs that it is necessary to enquire how it came 
about and to consider remedies for the future.” 
Changes in regulations were swiftly brought about 
(indeed, building regulations were amended in 

many countries) and new British Standard structural 
design codes for concrete were introduced.8 
Ronan Point itself was demolished in 1986. 

2.15 
In 1991, a non-fatal fire in Knowsley Heights, 
Huyton, Merseyside, became an important 
example and case study for fires in high-rise 
buildings, due to the rapid extent of flame 
growth on the building’s exterior cladding 
system. Subsequent research led to changes in 
the building regulations guidance, including a 
recommendation for ‘fire stopping’ measures 
between the cladding and the building itself.

2.16 
Following the Knowsley Heights fire, as well as a 
fatal fire at Garnock Court flats, Irvine, Ayrshire 
(1999), a House of Commons committee was 
established to consider the particular risk of 
fire spread on external cladding systems.9 The 
committee’s recommendations led to updates 
of safety standards, an update to the BR 135 
guidance,10 establishment of the full-scale fire 
methodology BS 8414, and their direct reference 
in Approved Document B as a route-way for 
cladding systems to show compliance.

2.17 
On 3 July 2009, six people died in a fire at Lakanal 
House, Camberwell, London. In their analysis and 
understanding of the fire, the Chief Fire and Rescue 
Adviser,11 and the Assistant Deputy Coroner,12 
separately highlighted a range of issues, including: 
inconsistent fire safety advice available to occupants 
in some high-rise buildings, and in particular the 
role of the ‘stay put’ policy; the use of sprinklers, 
smoke alarms and other provisions; the role of 

Page 117



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 35 

fire risk assessments, and their relationship to 
high-rise buildings’ common parts; and Approved 
Document B, including calling for its simplification.

2.18 
In response to the issues raised, the Department 
for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
funded the Local Government Association (LGA) to 
develop with the sector new guidance for purpose-
built blocks of flats;13 and reviewed operational 
guidance and associated advice on ‘stay put’. In 
February 2017, DCLG published a user survey 
for Approved Documents B and M as part of its 
work to improve the quality of its guidance.14

13 Local Government Association (2012) Fire safety in purpose-built flats. www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-purpose-built-flats 
14 DCLG (2017) Usability Research – Approved Document B: Fire safety; Approved Document M: Access to and use of buildings. www.gov.uk/government/publications/
usability-research-building-regulations-approved-documents-b-and-m 

Page 118

http://www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-purpose-built-flats
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/usability-research-building-regulations-approved-documents-b-and-m
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/usability-research-building-regulations-approved-documents-b-and-m


36 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Other developments around the management of 
risk – health and safety regulation

15 Lord Robens (1972) Safety and Health at Work – Volume 1 – Report of the Committee 1970-72. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office.
16 See Lord Cullen (1990) The public inquiry into the Piper Alpha disaster. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office.

2.19 
The Robens Report in 1972 significantly reshaped 
the occupational health and safety regulatory 
landscape.15 It was prompted not simply by the 
contemporary toll in workplace deaths and injuries 
(around 1,000 people died each year in workplace 
accidents) but by a need to look critically both at the 
existing regulatory approach and how those involved 
in the wider system worked together to best effect.

2.20 
Robens’ conclusions had far-reaching effects. He 
concluded that the law was too prescriptive and 
piecemeal, set different standards in different 
industries and left some industrial sectors virtually 
unregulated. His report recommended creating a 
new framework built on a fundamental principle 
that whoever created a risk had a duty to manage it.

2.21 
At the heart of this goal-setting approach was the 
principle of proportionality. The legal standard was 
to reduce risks ‘so far as is reasonably practicable’, 
which meant that the level of risk had to be balanced 
against the measures needed to control it in terms 
of money, time or trouble. Equally important, a 
dutyholder did not need to take action if it would 
be grossly disproportionate to the level of risk.

2.22 
Health and safety legislation has also developed 
in the wake of serious incidents. Two significant 
change events were Flixborough in 1974 and 
Piper Alpha in 1988: 28 people died at a chemical 
plant explosion at Flixborough in Lincolnshire 
after flammable materials were released from 
poorly modified process plant; and 167 offshore 
workers died on the Piper Alpha oil production 
platform following a major hydrocarbon release.16

2.23 
The regulatory response to both these incidents, 
and other similar events elsewhere in Europe, was 
to raise the bar on expectations for operators of 
hazardous plant and to create the concept of the 

‘safety case’ (also referred to as a safety report). 
In these regimes the regulator gives permission 
to a dutyholder to carry out certain categories of 
intrinsically high-hazard work in direct contrast 
to the ‘permissive’ default setting on most other 
regimes where the dutyholder needs no such formal 
approval. This approach therefore adds an extra 
layer to the general framework of health and safety 
law. By design, it is also more resource intensive, 
both for dutyholders and regulators, and therefore 
normally used sparingly and only in circumstances 
where the added assurance is warranted in 
terms of the heightened hazard potential. 

2.24 
In a safety case/report regime, the dutyholder 
provides information to the regulator to 
demonstrate that they have considered what could 
go wrong in an installation, the worst consequences 
and to show that they have both preventive and 
reactive measures in place to manage the risks. 
When the regulator is content that the dutyholder 
has fulfilled the relevant requirement(s) they ‘permit’ 
operation. The dynamic nature of business also 
means that the regulator cannot do this on a one-
off basis. The dutyholder has to seek a reassessment 
for any significant changes and the regulator also 
reviews safety cases/reports on a routine cycle to 
ensure that they remain relevant and focused. 

2.25 
The general pattern of legislative oversight in 
other industries follows a broadly similar pattern 
of defining specific roles and responsibilities to 
embed goal-setting. A parallel example arises in 
construction where, in order to improve standards 
on building sites, the current regulatory framework 
(The Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015 (CDM)) introduced a ‘whole 
life cycle’ approach from design through to 
construction, refurbishment and demolition. CDM 
is explicit in assigning unambiguous responsibilities 
to key people within the system to maintain the 
importance of both accountability and continuity.

Page 119



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 37 

Fire casualties since the 1980s

17 As noted by, for example, Reason, J. (2015) Organizational accidents revisited. Routledge: “The road to hell is paved with falling LTI [lost time injury] rates.”
18 Home Office data available at: www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables 

2.26 
This review is set in a context of falling numbers 
of fire casualties since the early 1980s. There 
is a range of factors attributed to this decline, 
many unrelated to building design; for example, 
lower smoking rates, reduced flammability 
of products in the home, greater public 
awareness of fire hazards following outreach 
and awareness campaigns, the introduction of 
safety requirements for electrical installations in 
dwellings, and the increased use of smoke alarms.

2.27 
This long trend of falling fire incidents and 
casualties may mean that building and fire safety 
regulations have not received the priority that might 
otherwise have been the case. Yet incident trends 
tell us little about the likelihood of disasters and 
catastrophic events occurring.17 This review will seek 
to put in place a system that provides assurance 
that the impact of any future disasters is minimised.

Fire-related fatalities in England

Pr
od

uc
tiv

ity
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

ty

Fr
eq

u
en

cy

Year ranges

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

20
15

/1
6

20
13

/1
4

20
11

/1
2

20
09

/1
0

20
07

/0
8

20
05

/0
6

20
03

/0
4

20
01

/0
2

19
99

/0
0

19
97

/9
8

19
95

/9
6

19
93

/9
4

19
91

/9
2

19
89

/9
0

19
87

/8
8

19
85

/8
6

19
83

/8
4

19
81

/8
2

19
82

/8
3

19
84

/8
5

19
86

/8
7

19
88

/8
9

19
90

/9
1

19
92

/9
3

19
94

/9
5

19
96

/9
7

19
98

/9
9

20
00

/0
1

20
02

/0
3

20
04

/0
5

20
06

/0
7

20
08

/0
9

20
10

/1
1

20
12

/1
3

20
14

/1
5

20
16

/1
7

Figure 2.1: Total fire-related fatalities in England, 1981/82 to 2016/1718

Page 120

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables


38 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Total dwelling fires in England

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

19
81

/8
2

19
83

/8
4

19
85

/8
6

19
87

/8
8

19
89

/9
0

19
91

/9
2

19
93

/9
4

19
95

/9
6

19
97

/9
8

19
99

/0
0

20
01

/0
2

20
03

/0
4

20
05

/0
6

20
07

/0
8

20
09

/1
0

20
11

/1
2

20
13

/1
4

20
15

/1
6

Year ranges

19
82

/8
3

19
84

/8
5

19
86

/8
7

19
88

/8
9

19
90

/9
1

19
92

/9
3

19
94

/9
5

19
96

/9
7

19
98

/9
9

20
00

/0
1

20
02

/0
3

20
04

/0
5

20
06

/0
7

20
08

/0
9

20
10

/1
1

20
12

/1
3

20
14

/1
5

20
16

/1
7

Fr
eq

u
en

cy

Figure 2.2: Total dwelling fires in England, 1981/82 to 2016/1719

Fire-related fatalities Non-fatal casualties

Pr
od

uc
tiv

ity
 o

pp
or

tu
ni

ty

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

20
16

/1
7

20
15

/1
6

20
14

/1
5

20
13

/1
4

20
12

/1
3

20
11

/1
2

20
10

/1
1

Year ranges

Fr
eq

u
en

cy

Figure 2.3: Fatalities and non-fatal casualties from fires in purpose-built high-rise flats 
(10+ storeys) in England, 2010/11 to 2016/1720

19 Home Office data available at: www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables 
20 Home Office data available at: www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables. Data only collected from 2009/10. Data for year ending June 
2017 was published by the Home Office in November 2017, which included the casualties from the Grenfell fire.

Page 121

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 39 

0

200

400

600

800

1,000

1,200

20
10

/1
1

20
11

/1
2

20
12

/1
3

20
13

/1
4

20
14

/1
5

20
15

/1
6

20
16

/1
7

Year ranges

Fr
eq

u
en

cy

Figure 2.4: Total fires in purpose-built high-rise flats (10+ storeys) in England, 2010/11 to 2016/1721

21 Home Office data available at: www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables 

Page 122

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/fire-statistics-data-tables


Chapter 3   The current 
regulatory landscape

Page 123



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 41 

Contents
Introduction 42

Key findings 42

Methodology 43

Background – mapping the regulatory system 43

Stage 1 – The fire safety aspects of securing 
planning permission 45

Stage 2 – The fire safety aspects around 
the creation of new buildings, including 
building control oversight 47

Overview of regulatory requirements 47

Regulatory requirements – Approved 
Documents and Schedule 1 compliance 50

Regulatory requirements – Other routes to 
compliance with Schedule 1 51

Regulatory requirements – Who needs to meet 
the requirements of the Building Regulations? 52

Regulatory requirements – How are the 
building works checked?  54

Regulatory requirements – How are the 
building works checked in the Local Authority 
Building Control route? 56

Regulatory requirements – How are the 
building works checked in the Approved 
Inspector building control route? 61

Regulatory requirements – How are the 
building works checked? A comparison 
between the two BCB routes 63

Regulatory requirements – How construction 
products and workmanship are deemed to 
comply with the Building Regulations 64

Stage 3 – The fire safety aspects around 
refurbishments and change of use, 
including building control oversight 68

Decision 1 – Is this “building work”? 68

Decision 2 – Is the non-worsening provision 
invoked?  68

Stage 4 – The fire safety aspects of the 
regulatory framework surrounding the 
occupation of a building  70

Quick overview of the two key regulatory 
frameworks 70

The regulatory framework around the Fire 
Safety Order 72

The regulatory framework around the Housing 
Act 2004 75

Conclusion 77

Page 124



42 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Introduction

3.1 
This chapter sets out a narrative description of 
the mapping work undertaken to support the 
Independent Review. This exercise has been an 
important building block in understanding the 
current environment within which buildings are 
constructed and maintained. It has also enabled 
the review to highlight areas where the current 
regulatory system appears weak, both in the way it 
is constructed and in the way it operates in practice. 

Key findings

3.2 
The overall system is highly complex with multiple 
requirements and accountabilities throughout the 
system. The mapping exercise has identified issues 
around the following:

• There is a lack of clarity around key roles 
and responsibilities – for example, there is: 
(a) a notable absence of a clear dutyholder during 
the building design and construction process; 
(b) a very stark handover of responsibility once 
building work is completed; and (c) a confusing 
overlap during occupation between the 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 and 
the Housing Act 2004.

• There is an imbalance between building 
designers/contractors and regulators – the 
need for building control bodies (BCBs) to 
compete for business can sit uncomfortably with 
a proper consideration of fire safety design. In 
addition, there appears a significant amount of 
leeway for building designers/contractors to take 
action before their plans are properly considered 
without a rigorous change control process 
necessarily being in place.

• There are confusing differences between the 
two types of building control processes – 
the partial privatisation of building control 
services has led to some processes appearing 
unnecessarily different and this makes it 
more challenging to improve building control 
standards.

• There are competence issues throughout the 
system – the competency of individuals and the 
way of verifying their competence can be an issue 
for those designing and constructing a fire-safe 
building, those with responsibility for maintaining 
fire safety in an occupied building and those with 
regulatory oversight.

• The enforcement/sanctions regime is not 
strong enough to underpin compliance 
– sanction regimes exist but they are patchy, 
infrequently used and do not effectively drive 
compliance.

• There are significant limitations in driving 
improvements to existing buildings – 
the non-worsening principle in the Building 
Regulations 2010, combined with the limitations 
of the Fire Safety Order, mean there is little in the 
law to require meaningful improvements to the 
fire safety of existing buildings. 

Page 125



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 43 

Methodology

3.3 
The mapping work has been done by talking 
to relevant policy experts in the Department for 
Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and 
the Home Office and through discussions about 
current processes with key external stakeholders. 

3.4 
In Appendix D we have included an outline map of 
the current regulatory system. It is not intended to 
cover all detailed scenarios and contains our view 
of the system to date. It provides a crucial overview 
that is central to the thinking of this Interim Report. 
Extracts from the map are shown throughout this 
chapter.

Background – mapping the regulatory system

3.5 
Buildings are subject to a complex system of 
requirements throughout their life cycle, covering 
the phases of planning, design, construction, 
occupation, refurbishment (and demolition). 

Refurbishment

Occupation Design

Construction

Planning

Figure 3.1: The life cycle of a building

3.6 
By ‘system’, we mean the totality of formal and 
informal rules, processes, roles, powers, cultures, 
competencies and responsibilities applicable to 
the various people and organisations undertaking 
building work. As Chapter 1 made clear, there is 
a particular focus in this review on this regulatory 
system insofar as it applies to high-rise residential 
buildings through the lens of fire safety. 

3.7 
The complexity of the regulatory system comes 
partly from the sheer scale of requirements. 
There are several thousand pages of primary and 
secondary legislation, statutory and approved 
guidance, industry advice and competence 
frameworks within which specific fire safety 
requirements sit. 

3.8 
In addition, this complexity has been driven by 
adding further detailed requirements over time 
in response to specific government requirements. 
The requirements are multi-purposed, supporting 
government objectives. Fire safety is one of a 
number of areas covered, including structural 
integrity, provision of sanitation, and proper 
electrical installations. All of this has made it more 
difficult to combine the many requirements into a 
coherent system. 

Page 126



44 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

3.9 
The review has focused on the following four core 
elements of the current regulatory system:

Stage 1 – The fire safety aspects of the regulatory 
framework surrounding the requirement to secure 
planning permission for the development of a 
new building – as primarily set out in the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.

Stage 2 – The fire safety aspects of the regulatory 
framework surrounding the creation of a new 
building – as primarily set out in the Building 
Act 1984, the Building Regulations 2010 and the 
Approved Documents (including construction 
materials and workmanship).

Stage 3 – The fire safety aspects of the regulatory 
framework surrounding the handling of 
refurbishments.

Stage 4 – The fire safety aspects of the regulatory 
framework surrounding the occupation (and 
ongoing maintenance) of the common parts/
whole of a building – as primarily set out in 
the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, 
associated fire risk assessment documents and the 
Housing Act 2004 and Housing Health and Safety 
Rating System Regulations 2005.

3.10 
There are also a number of other relevant regulatory 
requirements such as those governing fire safety 
on the building site where a high rise is being 
constructed or refurbished (as primarily set out 
in the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015). Other regulations that help 
to manage the risk of fires occurring/spreading 
in some premises (including the Furniture and 
Furnishings (Fire Safety) Regulations 1988 or the 
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm Regulations 
2015) have not been included in this mapping 
exercise thus far.

3.11 
The following sections of this chapter set out these 
four areas in turn, describing how the current rules 
broadly work (with a specific focus on fire safety) 
with some key observations about where the theory 
and practice differ and where this impacts on 
fire safety.

Page 127



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 45 

Stage 1 – The fire safety aspects of securing planning 
permission

1 Unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

Person wishes to construct a 
high-rise residential building

Local planning
authority consider and 

determine within
13 weeks

Permission NOT
granted

Permission
granted

Applicant seeks planning 
permission

Figure 3.2: Securing planning permission for a 
high-rise building

3.12 
An application for planning permission would 
be required for a new-build high-rise block of 
flats. The legislation underpinning the planning 
application process (primarily the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and regulations) requires the 
client or those instructed by the client to make an 
application to their local planning authority (LPA). 
The law requires local authorities to determine 
planning applications in accordance with the 
provisions of the local development plan.1 The LPA 
may consider aspects such as:

• the number, size, layout, siting and external 
appearance of buildings; 

• the infrastructure needed to support the 
development, e.g. roads and water supply; 

• the use of the buildings proposed; and
• the impact of the proposed development on 

the surrounding area, e.g. if it would create 
significantly greater traffic flows.

3.13 
It is likely that most planning applications for new-
build high-rise buildings will be classed as a ‘major 
development’, for which the decision-making 
period is 13 weeks. An appeal can be made against 
a refusal to grant planning permission.

3.14 
The focus of the planning system is on the 
development and use of land. It is a general 
principle that planning should not seek to duplicate 
other regulatory regimes. In this context, fire safety 
considerations are not normally the subject of 
consideration at the planning application stage. 
An exception to this position is in relation to 
opportunities for emergency service vehicles to 
access buildings. Given the limited role of planning 
there is no requirement that the individuals making 
the application, or those considering it, have 
any specific fire safety-related knowledge. LPAs 
are required to consult certain bodies (known as 
statutory consultees) before granting planning 
permission for certain types of development. The 
two main regulatory authorities for the later stages 
in the building life cycle (BCBs and fire and rescue 
services) are not statutory consultees, as there is an 
understanding that fire safety issues will be picked 
up as part of the building control process. 

Page 128



46 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Findings

We understand that all LPAs will consider vehicle access arrangements, including for emergency vehicles, 
where it is appropriate to do so as part of a planning application. Most LPAs will have their own local 
guidance on vehicular access to new developments. This is in addition to the government-issued Manual 
for Streets, which provides guidance to practitioners involved in the design, planning and approval 
of new residential streets and modifications to existing ones. This may throw up observations about 
the adequacy of vehicle access by the fire and rescue services, which the LPA can take into account. 
Although fire and rescue services may be consulted, the review understands that direct engagement 
with these services varies from LPA to LPA, which can result in some layout issues not emerging until 
Stage 2.

Page 129



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 47 

Stage 2 – The fire safety aspects around the creation 
of new buildings, including building control oversight

2 Building Regulations 2010 regulation 3(1).

3.15 
Fire safety plays an essential part of the regulatory 
system surrounding the design and construction of 
high-rise residential buildings. That system has two 
key aspects: 

• First, legislation and guidance lay out a detailed 
set of performance-based requirements that the 
building work needs to meet on a whole range 
of areas including fire safety. Guidance sets out at 
length how those requirements can be met.

• Second, legislation creates statutory bodies 
known as BCBs to ensure effective oversight of 
those carrying out the work. 

Overview of regulatory requirements

Professional design team 
(including architects and 

engineers) develop extensive 
building design

Building work must be undertaken in 
accordance with the Building Regulations, 
in particular regulations 4, 7 and 
Schedule 1.
Schedule 1 includes:

A – Structural safety requirements
B – Fire safety requirements:
● B1 – Means of warning and escape
● B2 – Internal fire spread (linings)
● B3 – Internal fire spread (structure)
● B4 – External fire spread
● B5 – Access and facilities for the 
 fire service

7 – Materials and workmanship

Figure 3.3: Regulatory requirements for new 
buildings

3.16 
The Building Act 1984 is the key piece of legislation 
through which specific requirements relating to 
building standards are created. The Act says that 
on matters of building design, construction and 
demolition the government can make regulations 
for purposes such as:

• securing the health, safety, welfare and 
convenience of persons in or about buildings;

• furthering the conservation of fuel and power; 
and

• facilitating sustainable development.

3.17 
These overarching purposes are translated into a 
set of functional requirements covering 15 different 
aspects of “building work”. “Building work”2 
includes:

• the erection of a new building; 
• the “material alteration” of an existing building;
• refurbishment of a building;
• work required due to a material change of use; 

and 
• specific changes such as installing a boiler 

or insulation material, replacing windows or 
completing electrical work in dwellings.

Page 130



48 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

3.18 
These 15 different sets of requirements are in 
Schedule 1 to the Building Regulations 2010 
and cover requirements connected to many 
different aspects of a building’s properties. Also 
critical is regulation 7, which covers the materials 
and workmanship that must underpin the 
building work.

The 15 sets of requirements under Schedule 1

Part A Structure

Part B Fire safety

Part C Site preparation and resistance to contaminates and 
moisture

Part D Toxic substances

Part E Resistance to the passage of sound

Part F Ventilation

Part G Sanitation, hot water safety and water efficiency

Part H Drainage and waste disposal

Part J Combustion appliances and fuel storage systems

Part K Protection from falling, collision and impact

Part L Conservation of fuel and power

Part M Access to and use of buildings

Part P Electrical safety

Part Q Security

Part R Physical infrastructure for high-speed electronic 
communications networks

3.19 
Each of these 15 areas in Schedule 1 contains a set 
of “performance-based requirements” (numbering 
around 75 in total). When building work is carried 
out it must meet all of the relevant requirements. 
Each of these requirements is intended to have 
equal importance.

3.20 
Performance-based requirements are also known 
as ‘goal-based’ or ‘substantive’ or ‘functional’ 
requirements. These requirements set out the 
technical standards that building work must achieve 
once completed. This is in contrast to a ‘prescriptive’ 
system where there is a very specific list of 
instructions around precisely how any building must 
be constructed whatever purpose it is being used 
for and whoever will occupy it. 

3.21 
For example, the first performance-based 
requirement on fire safety is requirement B1 – 
Means of warning and escape. This says:

The building shall be designed and constructed 
so that there are appropriate provisions for the 
early warning of fire, and appropriate means 
of escape in case of fire from the building to 
a place of safety outside the building capable 
of being safely and effectively used at all 
material times.

3.22 
The use of the words “appropriate”, “safely” and 
“effectively” are all indicators of a performance-
based approach. So, under this approach, there 
is a requirement placed on those designing/
constructing/refurbishing the building to critically 
evaluate the viability of their plans against the 
requirements in Schedule 1. Therefore, in the 
context of requirement B1 – Means of warning 
and escape, it should be the case that those 
completing the building work have a fundamental 
understanding of the relevant fire phenomena, 
wider fire safety issues and how any complex 
design proposals may impact on the ability of the 
building to provide an adequate means of warning 
or escape. 

3.23 
The key purpose of setting performance-based 
requirements is to allow greater flexibility in building 
design, to encourage innovation and support cost-
efficiency. It also ensures that different designs and 
safety requirements can come into play depending 
on the purpose of the building; for example, a 
large-scale care home utilised mostly by elderly 
and infirm people is likely to need additional safety 
features in comparison with a warehouse. Having 
a performance-based system, which relies on 
sophisticated judgements, places increased reliance 
on the competence of those undertaking the design 
and construction of buildings and the skills and 
rigour of the regulators verifying the quality of the 
work that is done.

Page 131



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 49 

3.24 
There are five performance-based requirements 
associated with fire safety in Schedule 1. These are 
set out below.

PART B FIRE SAFETY

B1 – Means of warning and escape

The building shall be designed and constructed so that there are appropriate provisions for the early warning of fire, and 
appropriate means of escape in case of fire from the building to a place of safety outside the building capable of being safely and 
effectively used at all material times.

B2 – Internal fire spread (linings)

(1) To inhibit the spread of fire within the building, the internal linings shall—

(a) adequately resist the spread of flame over their surfaces; and

(b) have, if ignited, either a rate of heat release or a rate of fire growth, which is reasonable in the circumstances.

(2) In this paragraph ‘internal linings’ means the materials or products used in lining any partition, wall, ceiling or other internal 
structure.

B3 – Internal fire spread (structure)

(1) The building shall be designed and constructed so that, in the event of fire, its stability will be maintained for a reasonable 
period.

(2)  A wall common to two or more buildings shall be designed and constructed so that it adequately resists the spread of fire 
between those buildings. For the purposes of this sub-paragraph a house in a terrace and a semi-detached house are each to 
be treated as a separate building.

(3) Where reasonably necessary to inhibit the spread of fire within the building, measures shall be taken, to an extent appropriate 
to the size and intended use of the building, comprising either or both of the following—

(a) sub-division of the building with fire-resisting construction;

(b) installation of suitable automatic fire suppression systems.

(4) The building shall be designed and constructed so that the unseen spread of fire and smoke within concealed spaces in its 
structure and fabric is inhibited.

B4 – External fire spread

(1) The external walls of the building shall adequately resist the spread of fire over the walls and from one building to another, 
having regard to the height, use and position of the building.

(2) The roof of the building shall adequately resist the spread of fire over the roof and from one building to another, having regard 
to the use and position of the building.

B5 – Access and facilities for the fire service

(1) The building shall be designed and constructed so as to provide reasonable facilities to assist fire-fighters in the protection of 
life.

(2) Reasonable provision shall be made within the site of the building to enable fire appliances to gain access to the building.

3.25 
This means that substantial building work (such as 
the construction of a high-rise residential building) 
is likely to include a range of fire protection 
measures which support the overall fire strategy 
for the building. This will include measures to 
support particular requirements, such as means of 
escape and also fire-fighting. See Appendix G for 
more details.

Page 132



50 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Regulatory requirements – Approved 
Documents and Schedule 1 compliance

3.26 
Beyond the performance-based requirements set 
out above, the Building Act 1984 also enables 
government to create a suite of statutory guidance 
documents, known as Approved Documents.3 These 
provide specific examples of how each individual 
Schedule 1 requirement could be met.

3.27 
DCLG has overseen the writing, publishing and 
maintenance of 21 Approved Documents on how 
the requirements in Schedule 1 can be met in 
common building scenarios. These documents are 
intended to be updated when necessary. However, 
in practice many of the Approved Documents have 
not been comprehensively reviewed and updated 
for some time. Recent updates have also had to 
satisfy the government’s de-regulation agenda.

3.28 
The guidance set out in the Approved Documents 
has a recognised status in law where enforcement 
action is taken against a person carrying out 
building work (because they have not met the 
requirements of Schedule 1). In this case section 7 
of the Building Act 1984 makes it clear that – if 
the person can show that they have followed the 
guidance in the Approved Documents – then a 
court should consider that, on balance, they have 
met the Schedule 1 requirements. 

3.29 
There are two volumes on fire safety (one covering 
houses, the other covering all other building 
types, including high-rise residential blocks of 
flats), known together as Approved Document B. 
Approved Document B is the most commonly 
downloaded Approved Document, with nearly 
270,000 downloads in the year to March 2015.4

3.30 
Approved Document B sets out general minimum 
standards for common building scenarios. For 
example, on requirement B1 – Means of warning 
and escape, it sets out the maximum distance 
of travel from the entrance door of a flat to a 
common staircase or stair lobby (7.5 metres if the 
escape is in one direction only or 30 metres if the 
escape can be made in more than one direction). 
However, it does not seek to identify solutions 
for every possible building situation and every 

3 Building Act 1984, section 6.
4 DCLG (2017) Usability Research – Approved Document B: Fire safety; Approved Document M: Access to and use of buildings. www.gov.uk/government/publications/
usability-research-building-regulations-approved-documents-b-and-m 

possible group of building users. In other words, in 
prescribing one way of meeting the performance-
based requirement of B1 it does not preclude other 
solutions that could be deemed to equally meet 
that requirement. 

3.31 
So any person using the Approved Document 
is presumed to understand the nature of the 
performance-based requirements. This is both to 
understand where their specific plans could simply 
utilise the generic approach of the Approved 
Document and to understand where their plans 
require more tailored fire-engineered solutions in 
order to meet the Schedule 1 Part B requirements. 

Findings

Those designing or constructing buildings are 
often focused on simply meeting the minimum 
requirements set out in Approved Document 
B rather than focusing on the performance-
based requirements. Many stakeholders observe 
that the Approved Document is seen as ‘the 
regulations’ or ‘the requirements’ per se. As a 
result, there is often little evidence that those 
designing or constructing a building have taken 
ownership of the principles of a safe building 
as opposed to using the Approved Documents 
as a tick box. Effectively, this turns a goal-based 
system with helpful pointers in these documents 
into a prescriptive system. It also raises 
significant issues around the extent to which 
central government can realistically oversee the 
updating of an extremely detailed and technical 
set of recommendations to guide an industry 
that is rapidly innovating.

Approved Document B is often confusing and 
contradictory to non-specialist readers.

Page 133

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/usability-research-building-regulations-approved-documents-b-and-m
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/usability-research-building-regulations-approved-documents-b-and-m


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 51 

Regulatory requirements – Other routes to 
compliance with Schedule 1

3.32 
Where those designing or constructing a building 
wish to adopt a less standardised and more 
innovative building design then they are less 
likely to rely on Approved Document B. Approved 
Document B recognises that alternative approaches 
may be adopted and, for example, includes 
guidance on a specific fire safety engineering 
approach. In this situation there are a range of 
other industry-wide British Standards documents 
that can be used to help to satisfy the Building 
Regulations requirements. These documents can 
be used in a more targeted way to help those 
providing fire safety advice to establish compliance 
for specific needs not discussed in Approved 
Document B. For example, as mentioned above, 
Approved Document B states the maximum 
travelling distance from the entrance door of a flat 
to a common stair/stair lobby (in the event of a 
fire) is either 7.5 metres or 30 metres depending 
on how many means of escape there are. However, 
this may not be possible due to particular design 
features in a new building. If this is the case, then 
these other documents can help design teams to 
think through how to compensate elsewhere in 
the fire safety design; for example, by putting in 
place sophisticated sprinkler systems to mitigate 
the risk. By taking a more holistic approach design 
teams can still make a case that they meet the B1 
performance-based requirement. 

3.33 
The relevant British Standards documents on fire 
safety are intended to form a critical industry-led 
layer of knowledge and support and are highly 
valuable in underpinning the design work on more 
complex buildings. They are put together by the 
British Standards Institution (BSI) based on expert 
fire safety knowledge, agreed through committees 
and updated more regularly than the Approved 
Documents. They do not, however, have the same 
legal status as the Approved Documents. The key 
British Standards documents in respect of fire safety 
for a residential building are set out below.

5 British Standards Institution (2015) BS 9991:2015 Fire safety in the design, management and use of residential buildings – code of practice. https://shop.bsigroup.
com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030351309

Key alternative guidance sources

BS 9991: Fire safety in the design, 
management and use of residential 
buildings – code of practice

BS 9991 gives recommendations and guidance 
on the design, management and use of buildings 
to achieve reasonable standards of fire safety for 
all people in and around them. It also provides 
guidance on the ongoing management of fire 
safety within a building throughout its entire life 
cycle, including guidance for designers to ensure 
that the overall design of a building assists and 
enhances the management of fire safety.

This British Standard is applicable to the design 
of new buildings, and to alterations, extensions 
and changes of use of an existing building. 
It can be used as a tool for assessing existing 
buildings, although fundamental change in 
line with the guidelines might well be limited 
or not practicable. The recommendations and 
guidance given in this British Standard are 
intended to safeguard the lives of building 
occupants and fire-fighters. While some of the 
recommendations and guidance might also 
assist in the achievement of other fire safety 
objectives – such as protection of property, 
the environment, communities and business/
service viability – additional measures might be 
necessary which are outside the scope of this 
British Standard.5

BS 7974: Application of fire safety 
engineering principles to the design of 
buildings – code of practice

This British Standard provides a framework 
for an engineering approach to the 
achievement of fire safety in buildings by 
giving recommendations and guidance on 
the application of scientific and engineering 
principles to the protection of people, property 
and the environment from fire. It also provides 
a framework for developing a rational 
methodology for the design of buildings.

This standard applies to the design of new 
buildings and the appraisal of existing buildings. 
The use of this standard will facilitate the 
practice of fire safety engineering and in 
particular it will:

• provide the designer with a disciplined 
approach to fire safety design;

Page 134

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030351309
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail?pid=000000000030351309


52 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

• allow the safety levels for alternative designs 
to be compared;

• provide a basis for selection of appropriate 
fire protection systems;

• provide opportunities for innovative design; 
and

• provide information on the management of 
fire safety for a building.6

Findings 

At best, this flexibility of approach gives 
designers wider scope to interpret the spirit of 
outcome-based regulation. In practice, some 
designers fail to properly utilise these British 
Standards documents to meet the performance-
based requirements of Schedule 1 for various 
reasons including competence. As a result, 
they can end up cherry-picking requirements, 
using the British Standards documents to avoid 
meeting the minimum recommendations of 
Approved Document B without putting in place 
the compensating measures. This can mean 
building work ends up not complying with 
fire safety requirements of Schedule 1 of the 
Building Regulations.

Regulatory requirements – Who needs to 
meet the requirements of the Building 
Regulations?

3.34 
From stakeholder discussions, there are a myriad of 
ways in which organisations and individuals come 
together to establish the requirements for, and the 
planning, design and construction of, a new or 
modified building. Building procurement always 
starts with a client with a set of objectives ranging 
in scope and detail, who will initially engage 
with professional designers and/or contractors 
to create proposals and associated budgets. 
Sometimes outline designs are prepared and 
planning permission obtained, followed by more 
detailed design and construction sometime later. 
Design and construction are separate processes 
with considerable overlap. Under some models of 
‘design and build’, a client will primarily work with 
a contractor who will themselves employ designers, 
rather than the client selecting the designer directly. 
A large number of businesses and individuals can be 
involved in these key roles through lengthy supply 

6 British Standards Institution (2011) Application of fire safety engineering principles to the design of buildings – code of practice. https://shop.bsigroup.com/
ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030028692 
7 Building Regulations 2010 regulation 12 and 13.

chains. Key roles in respect of fire safety will be the 
person providing fire engineering input (who may 
not be a fully qualified fire engineer) and those 
installing fire safety systems such as alarm systems 
or sprinklers.

3.35 
The requirements of the Building Act and Building 
Regulations impose responsibilities in a less specific 
way. Under the legislation the responsibility for 
meeting the fire safety (and other) performance-
based requirements fall on “the person intending to 
carry out the work” and “the person carrying out 
the work”.7 This applies in both a new-build and a 
refurbishment scenario.

3.36 
The “person intending to carry out the work/
carrying out the work” must then have their work 
certified through the building control system. The 
role of the BCBs is to take all reasonable steps to 
satisfy themselves that “the persons carrying out 
the work” have met all the necessary performance-
based requirements. However, the primary 
obligation for compliance falls on those designing/
constructing the building, not on the regulator. 

3.37 
Some building work defined as low risk can be self-
certified by an installer as compliant with Building 
Regulations requirements without BCB oversight 
as long as the individual has been assessed as 
competent in their field to self-certify (for example, 
domestic window replacement, external wall 
insulation or installations of boilers). This self-
certification framework is operated through a 
system of authorised competent persons schemes. 
More than 3.5 million elements of building work 
were self-certified in this way in 2016. 

Page 135

https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030028692
https://shop.bsigroup.com/ProductDetail/?pid=000000000030028692


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 53 

Findings

The vagueness in the legislation around “persons intending to carry out work” and “persons carrying 
out work” are insufficiently focused and make it difficult to understand where accountability primarily 
lies for showing compliance. Having identifiable named dutyholders with a clear responsibility for 
ensuring and proving compliance with the requirements of Schedule 1 would appear to be a clearer way 
of maximising the focus on fire safety in a high-rise residential building. The specific requirements under 
the Construction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015 (see box below) provide an interesting 
counterpoint for consideration.

Professional competency is also clearly critical in providing sufficient reassurance around the fire safety of 
buildings. Fire engineering is critical throughout the design and building process, especially where there 
are deviations from Approved Document B. Fire engineering work is often carried out by other engineers 
who may lack the necessary skills in a way that would be unthinkable with, say, structural engineering 
work. The review also notes that those who install complex fire safety systems don’t need to prove their 
competence in the way that a gas installer would. 

In combination, the lack of a clear dutyholder and the competency issues combine together to underpin 
concerns that there is no reliable, competent oversight that work will be completed in line with the 
Schedule 1 requirements or the Approved Documents. This does not mean that there are no competent 
people working in the system; there are very many. Rather the system does not do enough to provide 
assurance that standards will reliably be upheld.

Work undertaken via the competent person schemes can impact negatively on fire safety – particularly 
around breaches of compartmentation and fire stopping materials. This can be caused by those 
undertaking the work simply not understanding the knock-on consequences of their work.

An example of greater regulatory clarity: The Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015

These regulations set out clear roles and responsibilities on businesses to ensure that health and safety 
risks, including fire safety, arising from construction work activity are properly controlled. It particularly 
identifies three clear roles in the construction process and assigns specific interlocking accountabilities 
to these roles to support the safe delivery of the work being undertaken. 

The client – who is accountable for ensuring that there are arrangements to enable the project to be 
managed effectively overall, including: appointing a principal designer and principal contractor with the 
requisite skills, knowledge, experience and organisational capability, and ensuring that they comply with 
their duties; allocating sufficient time and resources; providing pre-construction information; ensuring 
the creation of an overall health and safety file; and notifying the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) of 
the building site activity and key dutyholders where the work exceeds a defined threshold.

The principal designer – who is accountable for planning, managing, monitoring and co-ordinating 
information about health and safety risk during design and planning, including: ensuring designers 
comply with their duties to identify, eliminate and control foreseeable risks; providing relevant 
information to other dutyholders; providing information to the principal contractor to help them plan, 
manage and monitor the health and safety risk in the construction phase and preparing a health and 
safety file.

The principal contractor – who is accountable for planning, managing, monitoring and co-ordinating 
information about health and safety risk during the construction phase, including: liaising with the 
client and principal designer; preparing the construction phase plan; organising co-operation between 
contractors and co-ordinating their work; and providing the principal designer with relevant information 
for inclusion in the health and safety file.

These regulations are enforced predominantly by the HSE. Dutyholders are apparent and the relevant 
enforcing authority can take enforcement action where there are failures leading to significant risk 
(e.g. through Prohibition Notices or Improvement Notices and prosecution).

Page 136



54 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Findings

These regulations have assisted in driving culture 
change and raising safety standards on building 
sites. They appear to be an approach that is 
equally relevant for underpinning compliance 
with the Building Regulations.

Regulatory requirements – How are the 
building works checked? 

Professional design team 
(including architects and 

engineers) develop extensive 
building design

Choice of
building control 

route

Approved Inspector route
 Contract terms and fees agreed
Before or as soon as practicable 

after giving an Initial Notice in 
relation to the work, fire and 
rescue service consulted on 

B1-5 and FSO issues 

Local Authority Building 
Control route

Full plan deposited
and fee paid

 

Figure 3.4: Choice of building control route

3.38 
All significant new building work (from the building 
of a new high-rise residential building to a domestic 
loft conversion) requires building control oversight 
unless the work is very limited or can be covered by 
a competent person scheme.8

3.39 
Those undertaking the building work can choose 
one of two BCBs – either through a Local Authority 
Building Control (LABC) or a private sector 
Approved Inspector (AI) to perform that oversight.

3.40 
The Building Regulations 2010, together with the 
Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 
2010 and the Building (Local Authority Charges) 
Regulations 2010 set out many of the detailed rules 
that govern how building control systems operate. 

8 Building Regulations 2010 regulation 3 and 9.
9 DCLG (2017) Annual Report and Analysis of Building Control Performance Indicators – Building Control Performance Standards Advisory Group Report: 2015/16. 
This report is not based on a 100% response rate so is likely to be an undercount.
10 Lychgate Projects (2017) The contribution and value of LABC’s plan assessments.

3.41 
Every local authority in England and Wales must 
provide a building control function. There are 
currently estimated to be around 3,000 LABC 
staff. In comparison AI services are provided by 
around 90 limited companies and 7 individuals. The 
latest estimates suggest that BCBs certify around 
300,000 pieces of building work every year.9 Recent 
estimates suggest that LABC have a market share 
of 65–70%.10 There is no data on market share 
for building work on high-rise residential or other 
complex buildings only. 

3.42 
Partial privatisation and competition between 
public and private regulators was first introduced 
in 1985 through the creation of the role of AIs. 
The objective was to create a more commercial 
and customer-focused building control experience. 
When first established, the National House Building 
Council (NHBC) was the only AI. They had limited 
powers and could only provide building control 
services in respect of dwellings but no other types 
of building. Since April 2013, all AIs have been able 
to cover all types of building control work. 

Findings

Overall standards of customer service have risen 
as a result of the introduction of AIs. However, 
the part-privatisation of this regulatory function 
has created a unique competitive environment 
and has introduced unintended consequences. 

There can be a difficult trade-off between BCBs 
competing with one another for business with 
design and construction teams while ensuring 
rigorous and determined certification with all 
the requirements of the Building Regulations. 
This is particularly the case given tight margins 
on building work and the broader pressures on 
local authority resources. We have frequently 
heard that this leads to situations where BCB 
personnel can fail to ‘win business’ where 
they will not commit in advance to approval 
of more risky designs and that those who do 
win business can become far too embedded in 
supporting the building design process rather 
than being an impartial rigorous verifier of 
building safety.

Page 137



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 55 

Similarly, there are obvious commercial 
considerations for any BCB (whether LABC or 
AI) refusing to sign off completed work where 
that would jeopardise their future business 
with the same client. We have heard repeated 
concerns expressed about the commercial 
pressures associated with rigorous enforcement 
of fire safety requirements.

3.43 
There are no legislative requirements that set 
standards of competence or training for building 
control inspectors (or the types of jobs that they can 
take on). Instead, BCBs are expected to have staff 
that are competent to do the job.

3.44 
Both the LABC11 and AIs have tried to raise 
competence. The LABC partnership scheme enables 
local authorities to share expertise. LABC provides 
training for its members. Recently the LABC has also 
developed a set of standards and recently adopted 
an International Standard Organisation (ISO) 
standard, which aims to raise standards in Local 
Authority Building Control. They have also set up 
a range of formal qualifications with the University 
of Wolverhampton (launched this year), including 
a degree in building control surveying. However, at 
present there is no oversight of the quality of work 
of LABCs as there is in Scotland. The Construction 
Industry Council Approved Inspectors Register 
(CICAIR) assesses and registers all AIs to allow 
them to perform building control functions and 
audits their performance periodically. Re-approval is 
required on a five-yearly basis.12 

11 In this paragraph LABC should be taken to mean the not-for-profit membership organisation that represents all Local Authority Building Control teams in England 
and Wales.
12 An Approved Inspector can only act as a building control body if approved under the procedures specified in the Building Act and the Building (Approved Inspectors 
etc.) Regulations. CICAIR has been designated by the Secretary of State to act as the Approved Body on his behalf. CICAIR requires a Code of Conduct to be followed. 
Failure to meet the Code can lead to an Approved Inspector being removed from the register in which case they will not be able to operate. 
13 Key data comes from DCLG (2017) Annual Report and Analysis of Building Control Performance Indicators – Building Control Performance Standards Advisory Group 
Report: 2015/16. These figures are not based on a 100% count of BCBs so should be taken as indicative.

Key facts on building control bodies13

BCBs (whether LABC or AI) are overwhelmingly 
small and medium-sized operations, with 62% 
having 15 employees or fewer.

In 2015/16, the average building control fee 
charged per application was £750 in the private 
sector and £432 in the public sector. 

In 2015/16, domestic alterations, extensions and 
improvements made up 78% of building control 
applications and this represents 63% of fees 
charged.

The 2015/16 report highlighted another slight 
decrease in the skill level of BCB workforces. On 
average, 51% of staff were fully qualified with 
corporate membership of relevant professional 
bodies, down from 59% in 2012/13. In 
2015/16, 18% of staff were reported to 
have experience of fire engineering/fire risk 
assessment and 10% experience of high-rise 
buildings.

The age profile of BCBs suggests that they may 
face significant problems replacing experienced 
staff as their workforce approaches state 
pension age: 26% of BCBs workforce are aged 
over 55.

Findings

For a performance-based regulatory system to 
work well and maximise the safety of high-rise 
residential and other complex buildings there 
needs to be sufficiently competent individuals 
undertaking the design and construction, and 
highly competent regulators with the right focus 
and powers to ensure compliance. 

While both BCB routes are working on raising 
workforce skills, we have heard repeated 
concerns that they are clearly doing so against 
the backdrop of tight margins, an ageing 
workforce and limited experience of the most 
complex building types.  

Page 138



56 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Regulatory requirements – How are the building works checked in the Local Authority 
Building Control route?

LA
BC

co
ns

ide
r w

he
the

r 
bu

ild
ing

 w
or

k m
ee

ts 
Bu

ild
ing

 R
eg

ula
tio

n 
re

qu
ire

me
nts

PA
SS

: w
or

k 
me

ets
 al

l 
re

qu
ire

me
nts

FA
IL:

 
Inf

or
ma

tio
n 

giv
en

 re
qu

irin
g 

wo
rk 

to 
be

 
alt

er
ed

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
k 

co
nti

nu
es

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
k 

co
mp

let
ed

Co
mp

let
ion

 C
er

tifi
ca

te 
iss

ue
d i

n l
es

s t
ha

n 8
 w

ee
ks

 
fro

m 
the

 co
mp

let
ion

 of
 th

e w
or

k (
re

g 1
7)

Sa
tis

fac
tor

y
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

,
su

cc
es

sfu
l a

pp
ea

l, o
r 

su
cc

es
sfu

l re
qu

es
t to

 
re

lax
 B

uil
din

g
Re

gu
lat

ion
s?

 

YE
S

Fin
al 

ins
pe

cti
on

 
su

cc
es

sfu
l?

YE
S LA

BC
 is

su
es

 
En

for
ce

me
nt 

No
tic

e, 
sa

nc
tio

ns
 ap

pli
ed

NO

NO

YE
S

LA
BC

 is
su

es
 

En
for

ce
me

nt 
No

tic
e, 

sa
nc

tio
ns

 ap
pli

ed
NO

Sa
tis

fac
tor

y
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

,
su

cc
es

sfu
l a

pp
ea

l, o
r 

su
cc

es
sfu

l re
qu

es
t to

 
re

lax
 B

uil
din

g
Re

gu
lat

ion
s?

 

Lo
ca

l A
uth

or
ity

 B
uil

din
g 

Co
ntr

ol 
ro

ute

Fu
ll p

lan
 de

po
sit

ed
an

d f
ee

 pa
id

Pl
an

s a
ss

es
se

d w
ith

in 
5 w

ee
ks

/8 
we

ek
s

Fir
e a

nd
 re

sc
ue

 se
rvi

ce
 

co
ns

ult
ed

 on
 B

1-
5 a

nd
FS

O 
iss

ue
s

AP
PR

OV
ED

: F
ull

 pl
an

s 
me

et 
all

 B
uil

din
g R

eg
ula

tio
ns

 
re

qu
ire

me
nts

 – 
if r

es
po

ns
e 

no
t r

ec
eiv

ed
, p

lan
s d

ee
me

d 
to 

ha
ve

 pa
ss

ed

RE
JE

CT
: F

ull
 pl

an
s s

ho
w 

a 
co

ntr
av

en
tio

n o
f B

uil
din

g 
Re

gu
lat

ion
s o

r a
re

 
de

fec
tiv

e/i
nc

om
ple

te

AP
PR

OV
ED

 C
ON

DI
TI

ON
AL

 
PA

SS
: F

ull
 pl

an
s c

an
 

pa
ss

 su
bje

ct 
to:

- N
ec

es
sa

ry 
ch

an
ge

s m
ad

e
- F

ur
the

r p
lan

s d
ep

os
ite

d

A)
 N

oti
ce

 of
 A

pp
ro

va
l 

iss
ue

d
(w

ith
 co

nd
itio

ns
)

B)
 In

sp
ec

tio
n

sc
he

du
le 

de
ter

mi
ne

d

De
ter

mi
na

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
s

Sa
tis

fac
tor

y 
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

?

No
tic

e o
f In

ten
t to

 
sta

rt 
wo

rk 
se

nt 
to 

LA
BC

 2 
da

ys
 be

for
e 

bu
ild

ing
 w

or
k 

co
mm

en
ce

s

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
ks

 
co

mm
en

ce
(F

ull
 pl

an
s d

o n
ot 

ne
ed

 to
 be

 fo
llo

we
d)

Ag
re

ed
 ris

k-b
as

ed
 

ins
pe

cti
on

 pl
an

 w
ith

 
LA

BC
  fo

llo
we

d

YE
S

NO
Fu

ll p
lan

s s
ho

w 
co

ntr
av

en
tio

n o
f 

Bu
ild

ing
 

Re
gu

lat
ion

s

Figure 3.5: The Local Authority Building Control route

Page 139



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 57 

3.45 
Where the person intending to carry out building 
work chooses the LABC route then all expected 
costs must generally be paid at the outset.14 The 
arrangements under which local authorities set 
their fees are controlled through regulations (which 
refer to certain factors which are allowed to be 
taken into account in calculating charges).15 All 
assessment, inspection and certification work is 
charged for, but the cost of any formal enforcement 
activity needs to be met from general local authority 
resources. 

3.46 
Where the LABC is chosen and a high-rise 
residential block of flats is to be built then full 
plans for the building work have to be submitted 
to the LABC.16 Full plans are required where the 
Fire Safety Order 2005 will apply, that is, where 
the building, once occupied, will have shared areas 
(“common parts”) as well as individual flats. 

3.47 
The full plans application should contain all the 
drawings and design specifications to prove that 
the proposed work will comply with all of the 
performance-based requirements set out in the 
Building Regulations. Typically, this would include 
all floor plans, elevations and sectional drawings, 
detailed specifications and associated specialist 
packages in respect of individual elements such as 
groundworks, structural details and mechanical and 
electrical works. It could also include structural fire 
engineer calculations.

3.48 
The LABC must consider these plans against the 
Building Regulations requirements and respond 
within five weeks (or eight weeks if agreed)17 and 
determine whether the full plans submitted will 
either be: 

• approved (i.e. they meet the Building Regulations 
performance-based requirements);

• approved with conditions (i.e. they pass as long 
as certain changes are made/more information is 
provided); or 

• rejected (i.e. they clearly fail the performance-
based requirements). 

14 Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, regulation 8.
15 Building (Local Authority Charges) Regulations 2010, regulation 7.
16 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 12(3).
17 If these deadlines pass without a decision being made then the full plans are automatically deemed to “be approved” (Building Act 1984, section 16(11).
18 Building Act 1984, section 15.

3.49 
Where the construction work relates to a building 
where the Fire Safety Order 2005 applies, there 
is a statutory duty on the LABC to consult with 
the local fire and rescue service as part of this 
process.18 The statutory consultation normally takes 
place when the LABC is reasonably satisfied that 
compliance with the Building Regulations has been 
demonstrated (but before a formal notice to that 
effect is given). 

3.50 
The fire and rescue service is invited to comment 
(typically within 15 working days) on the fire safety 
aspects of the full plans and the extent to which 
they satisfy requirements B1-5 and the quality of 
the fire precautions that will be necessary once 
the building is in use. This is to maximise likely 
compliance with the provisions of the Fire Safety 
Order 2005 once the building is occupied, and to 
minimise the risk that there will be fire and rescue 
service requirements for immediate remedial work 
on occupation of the building.

3.51 
Where there are more complex schemes, or where 
significant departures from Approved Document B 
are proposed, early advice from the fire and rescue 
service may also be requested by the LABC outside 
of the statutory consultation. In some cases, this 
can even be before the full plans are formally 
submitted. This initial/preliminary design stage 
advice is also referred to as ‘pre-consultation’.

3.52 
The statutory consultation process is intended to 
allow both the LABC and the fire and rescue service 
to reach mutually compatible views on whether the 
proposals are satisfactory. In addition to making 
comments relating to the fire precautions, the fire 
and rescue service may also offer observations in 
relation to the Building Regulations, particularly in 
respect of requirement B5 – Access and facilities for 
the fire service. 

Page 140



58 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

3.53 
The LABC should have due regard to the 
observations raised by the fire and rescue service. 
Where there is a difference of opinion that cannot 
be resolved through discussion, the LABC may 
decide to approve the scheme regardless of 
any comments or observations and without the 
requirement for any further consultation (though 
any written comments from the fire and rescue 
service should be passed on). 

Findings

Fire and rescue service views are not 
automatically endorsed and fire and rescue 
services do not have the power to require LABCs 
to reject applications whatever their level of 
expertise or the level of concern raised. 

Some competence and capacity concerns have 
also been raised about fire and rescue services. 
Many fire and rescue services (particularly 
in high-density urban areas) have dedicated 
officers who are highly skilled and experienced 
in fire safety engineering. However, this is not 
the case everywhere. In addition, we have heard 
that overall numbers are under real pressure. 
This is likely to be made worse due to the age 
profile of fire and rescue service staff, with high 
proportions nearing retirement. 

3.54 
If content, the LABC will then issue a Notice of 
Approval for the full plans.19 In addition, the LABC 
will set out the schedule of stages of building 
work that need to be notified (i.e. where the LABC 
anticipates inspections will be undertaken on the 
building site on a risk-assessed basis).20 

3.55 
Following approval, those intending to carry out 
building work effectively have permission to start 
building work.21 Two days before building work is 
due to begin, the person intending to carry out the 
work will need to issue a Notice of Intent to the 
LABC.22 

19 Building Act 1984, section 16(6).
20 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 16.
21 The local authority can, where it wishes, cancel the full plans approval if building work is not started on site within three years. It can also cancel an Approved 
Inspector’s Initial Notice for the same reason.
22 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 16(1).
23 LABCs can, in law, reject full plans and require work to be regularised.
24 Value engineering is a systematic and organised approach to providing the necessary functions in a building project at the lowest cost. Value engineering promotes 
the substitution of materials and methods with less expensive alternatives, without sacrificing functionality. 

Findings 

The full plan approval stage is intended to 
be the fundamental starting point and the 
blueprint for all the work that is subsequently 
agreed. In practice: 

• building work on the basis of those plans 
appears frequently to commence well before 
the full plans are approved;23 and

• the agreed full plans do not have to be 
followed in practice and frequently are not 
followed as a result of business processes 
such as value engineering.24 While there will 
always be some changes to plans, there are 
no statutory obligations to notify LABC of 
even potentially significant changes in plans 
or materials used on plans. 

Both these factors appear indicative of a 
regulatory regime that is not being given due 
regard and which relies too much on the LABC 
to spot risks rather than for those constructing 
the building to remain fully accountable for the 
risks they may create and to manage them. This 
increases the risk that buildings end up falling 
short of the performance-based requirements.

3.56 
Once construction has begun, engagement 
continues between those responsible for the 
building work and the LABC. The ‘Building Control 
Performance Standards’ document sets out best 
practice underpinning this engagement, covering 
matters such as communication, site inspection 
frequency and handling of complaints. 

3.57 
During this phase, the LABC will check that the 
building work complies with the requirements of 
the Building Regulations. Where there is any doubt 
about this, compliance actions will be taken by the 
LABC to ensure that changes are made. 

3.58 
The LABC will aim to keep an overview of work, 
both in terms of its compliance with specific 
performance-based requirements and also to look 
at the totality of the building being constructed. 
This total view is important because solutions for 

Page 141



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 59 

fire safety, structural safety, energy conservation etc. 
can sometimes overlap with each other (especially 
where there are multiple inputs from unconnected 
specialists). Generally, this engagement process is 
intended to be co-operative with LABCs striving to 
identify practical and efficient remedies. Research 
from 2012 based on both LABCs and AI records 
suggests that this informal compliance activity 
is broadly effective, with very large numbers of 
informal enforcement activities each year.25 

3.59 
Site visits are important, for example, to check 
ground conditions, installer teams and on-site 
quality. There is a large element of risk assessment 
in this, where the experience, construction skills, 
competence and management capabilities of the 
on-site team are taken into account. The ‘Building 
Control Performance Standards’ document26 has 
recently changed the best practice approach to 
on-site inspections, from a minimum of once every 
28 days to whatever is deemed to be the right 
level for the particular piece of building work. 
Throughout this process, there is no clear legal 
obligation on those undertaking the building work 
to inform the LABC of any significant changes to 
the approach towards building work, changes to 
detailed plans previously submitted or changes to 
materials used.

3.60 
At the end of the building work, the LABC will 
undertake a final completion inspection as a 
precursor to occupation.27 Based on this final 
inspection, all relevant plans and their prior 
engagement, the LABC will decide whether to issue 
a Completion Certificate. This can be issued where, 
“after taking all reasonable steps,” the LABC is 
satisfied that the building work complies with the 
Building Regulations requirements. No further 
consultation with fire and rescue services is required 
by law at this stage.

3.61 
The certificate is intended to be evidence, but not 
conclusive evidence, that the Building Regulations 
requirements28 have been complied with. 
Compliance can only ultimately be determined by 
a court.29

25 Compliance Actions Survey 2012.
26 DCLG (2017) Building Control Performance Standards. www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/585965/Building_Control_
Performance_Standards_2017_Final.pdf 
27 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 17A. Occupation can begin before building work is completed. However, developers are required to notify LABCs if the building 
is to be occupied before completion and a Completion Certificate in respect of fire safety should, in law, be issued. 
28 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 17.
29 Building Act 1984, schedule 1, paragraph 4.
30 Building Act 1984, section 35.

Findings 

There is no formal legal requirement to inform 
LABCs of potentially significant changes to 
building work. This is problematic, particularly 
when combined with the competency issues 
raised previously and lack of clarity on who, in 
practice, needs to show compliance with the 
Building Regulations in the first place. More 
generally, the fact that building plans can 
change significantly means design changes 
that negatively impact on safety can be made 
without formal re-consultation (including with 
fire and rescue services).

On some projects, building work is completed 
and occupation commences before a 
Completion Certificate is issued. This is further 
evidence of a regulatory system not being 
shown sufficient regard in its attempts to make 
building work safe.

In contrast, we also understand that the issuing 
of a Completion Certificate by an LABC is 
often seen as ‘proof’ that those working on a 
building have built it to the required standards 
of Schedule 1. This misinterprets the role of 
BCBs (who, to the best of their ability, certify 
that work is to a required standard) and shifts 
responsibility for compliance away from those 
actually undertaking the building work.

3.62 
Where a Completion Certificate cannot be issued 
due to failings under the Building Regulations, and 
satisfactory remedial action is not taken by those 
undertaking the building work, then sanctions 
and enforcement activity can be undertaken by 
the local authority. However, it is not possible for 
an LABC to take enforcement action against any 
building work by its own local authority. Where 
there is a breach of the Building Regulations under 
section 35, a person is liable on summary conviction 
by a Magistrates Court to an unlimited fine and a 
further fine not exceeding £50 for each day the 
default continues after conviction.30 Under section 
36 a person can be required to remove or alter 
offending work. There are time limits for bringing 
a prosecution under section 35, which is two years 
from the date of the completion of building work 
(and within six months of having sufficient evidence 

Page 142

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/585965/Building_Control_Performance_Standards_2017_Final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/585965/Building_Control_Performance_Standards_2017_Final.pdf


60 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

to justify a prosecution).31 A section 36 notice must 
be served within one year of the date of building 
work being completed.32

Findings 

There is considerable informal enforcement 
activity by LABCs and AIs which appears 
effective in most cases. However, formal 
enforcement and sanctions activity is very 
limited – undermining the consequences 
associated with non-compliance. 

The level of financial deterrent usually 
applied under section 35 is unlikely to prove 
an impediment to large or medium-sized 
developers. There is, therefore, little to drive 
compliant behaviour where an individual or 
organisation is unwilling to meet their legal 
responsibilities under the Building Regulations. 
It is also not clear whether the fairly tight 
time limits on bringing prosecutions under 
the Building Act are sensible, given that some 
fundamental problems may only come to 
light a number of years after the building has 
been completed.

3.63 
Immediately prior to occupation, and as part of the 
Completion Certificate process, the relevant fire 
safety information relating to the building must be 
handed over to the “responsible person” who will 
take responsibility for the occupied building and 
will be responsible for ensuring the management 
and minimisation of fire risks under the Fire Safety 
Order.33 This fire safety information is intended 
to provide critical information about the building 
design and the assumed fire strategy once the 
building is occupied.34

31 Building Act 1984, section 35A.
32 Building Act 1984, section 36(4).
33 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 38.
34 Appendix G of Approved Document B has clear instructions on what Fire Safety Information should include – for example – information on how the building will be 
evacuated, access and facilities to assist fire services, whether design variations are enabled or supported by fire-engineered solutions.

3.64 
In normal circumstances, the issuing of a 
Completion Certificate, the handover of fire safety 
information and the commencement of occupation 
will be the point at which the regulatory framework 
set out in the Building Regulations (with LABC-led 
oversight) ceases to apply and the Fire Safety Order 
(with fire and rescue service oversight) starts. It is 
therefore a fundamental cross-over point in the 
regulatory system. 

Findings 

The handover of fire safety information is of 
fundamental importance to ensure control of 
the building regulation process and to provide 
assurance for safety over the life of the building. 
If carried out well, this is a key element of a 
functioning system.

However, the review understands that there are 
very significant weaknesses in this handover 
process. The transfer of fire safety information 
frequently fails to occur in practice because 
of the absence of a responsible person, or 
because the responsible person is unaware 
of their responsibility or because of the poor 
documentation during the design and build 
process. We also understand that this failure is 
virtually never subject to enforcement activity. 
In addition, the transfer of such information 
has only been a requirement since 2006. 
Building work completed prior to this date 
had no statutory requirement to transfer such 
information on completion. 

Page 143



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 61 

Regulatory requirements – How are the building works checked in the Approved 
Inspector building control route?

Fin
al 

Ce
rtif

ica
te 

iss
ue

d a
nd

 su
bm

itte
d 

to 
LA

BC
 

Fin
al 

Ce
rtif

ica
te 

ac
ce

pte
d b

y t
he

 LA
BC

Ini
tia

l N
oti

ce
 ce

as
es

 
(w

ith
in 

8 w
ee

ks
)

Ca
nc

ell
ati

on
 N

oti
ce

 
iss

ue
d t

o b
uil

din
g 

ow
ne

r a
nd

 LA
BC

FA
IL:

 W
ritt

en
 

No
tic

e 
iss

ue
d o

n 
all

eg
ed

 
br

ea
ch

es
 

PA
SS

: w
or

k 
me

ets
 al

l 
re

qu
ire

me
nts

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
k 

co
nti

nu
es

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
k 

co
mp

let
ed

Ap
pr

ov
ed

Ins
pe

cto
r

co
ns

ide
rs 

wh
eth

er
 

wo
rk 

me
ets

 B
uil

din
g 

Re
gu

lat
ion

 
re

qu
ire

me
nts

If A
pp

ro
ve

d I
ns

pe
cto

r c
on

sid
er

s 
bu

ild
ing

 w
or

k h
as

 al
ter

ed
 m

ate
ria

lly
 

ag
ain

st 
Ini

tia
l N

oti
ce

AI
 co

ns
ult

s F
RS

 th
en

 
iss

ue
s A

me
nd

me
nt 

No
tic

e t
o L

AB
C

Sa
tis

fac
tor

y 
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

?

YE
S

NO

Fin
al 

ins
pe

cti
on

 
su

cc
es

sfu
l?

(F
RS

 co
ns

ult
ed

)

YE
S

Sa
tis

fac
tor

y 
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

?

NO
YE

S

NO

LA
BC

 en
for

ce
s B

uil
din

g 
Re

gu
lat

ion
s, 

ma
y d

ete
rm

ine
 a 

re
ve

rsi
on

 fe
e.

Po
ss

ibl
e e

nfo
rce

me
nt/

sa
nc

tio
ns

 ap
pli

ed

Ap
pr

ov
ed

 In
sp

ec
tor

 ro
ute

 C
on

tra
ct 

ter
ms

 an
d f

ee
s a

gr
ee

d
Be

for
e o

r a
s s

oo
n a

s p
ra

cti
ca

ble
 

aft
er

 gi
vin

g a
n I

nit
ial

 N
oti

ce
 in

 
re

lat
ion

 to
 th

e w
or

k, 
fire

 an
d 

re
sc

ue
 se

rvi
ce

 co
ns

ult
ed

 on
 

B1
-5

 an
d F

SO
 is

su
es

 

Sa
tis

fac
tor

y 
ac

tio
n t

ak
en

?

LA
BC

 ac
ce

pt 
Ini

tia
l N

oti
ce

LA
BC

 re
jec

t In
itia

l N
oti

ce
Su

cc
es

sfu
l 

re
su

bm
iss

ion
? 

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
ks

 
co

mm
en

ce
(P

lan
s d

o n
ot 

ne
ed

 to
 

be
 fo

llo
we

d)

Ag
re

ed
 ris

k-b
as

ed
 

ins
pe

cti
on

 pl
an

 w
ith

 
Ap

pr
ov

ed
 In

sp
ec

tor
 

fol
low

ed

  

Pl
an

s C
er

tifi
ca

te 
no

t
iss

ue
d b

y A
pp

ro
ve

d 
Ins

pe
cto

r

Pl
an

s C
er

tifi
ca

te 
sh

ow
ing

 
Bu

ild
ing

 R
eg

ula
tio

ns
 

co
mp

lia
nc

e i
s i

ss
ue

d, 
 an

d s
en

t to
 LA

BC

Ap
pr

ov
ed

Ins
pe

cto
r a

ss
es

se
s

wh
eth

er
 pl

an
s m

ee
ts 

Bu
ild

ing
 

Re
gu

lat
ion

s
Fir

e a
nd

 re
sc

ue
 se

rvi
ce

co
ns

ult
ed

 on
 B

1-
5

an
d F

SO
 is

su
es

If P
lan

s C
er

tifi
ca

te 
re

qu
es

ted
 by

 
bu

ild
ing

 ow
ne

r

De
ter

mi
na

tio
n 

pr
oc

es
s

NO

YE
S

YE
S

Bu
ild

ing
 w

or
k c

an
no

t 
co

mm
en

ce
NO

Pl
an

s C
er

tifi
ca

te 
sh

ow
s 

co
ntr

av
en

tio
n

of 
Bu

ild
ing

 
Re

gu
lat

ion
s

Ini
tia

l N
oti

ce
giv

en
 to

 Lo
ca

l A
uth

or
ity

 B
uil

din
g 

Co
ntr

ol,
 w

ho
 ha

ve
 5 

da
ys

 to
 

re
jec

t

Figure 3.6: The Approved Inspector building control route

35 Building Act 1984, section 47(1).

3.65 
Unlike LABCs, an AI can choose whether to take on 
a job, and is able to charge whatever they wish for 
carrying out building control functions.

3.66 
Where a client has engaged with an AI and agreed 
fees for using their building control services, the 
AI must inform the LABC that it is undertaking 
oversight of the building control process by 
submitting an Initial Notice.35 The LABC has five 
days to decide if they are content with the notice 

Page 144



62 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

(this confirmation process is generally considered 
a formality).36 Confirmation by the LABC means 
that they cannot intervene in the building control 
process37 unless the AI withdraws from the project 
(at which point it would revert to the LABC).

3.67 
At the same time as issuing the Initial Notice (or 
thereafter), the person carrying out the work 
has the ability to also apply for a formal Plans 
Certificate.38 This is broadly equivalent to the full 
plan requirement on the LABC side and provides an 
additional level of formal assurance for the builder 
or client. Where completed, it must also be given to 
the LABC for information.

Findings 

Only a small proportion of Initial Notices are 
followed by a formal Plans Certificate (CICAIR 
data indicates in the region of 10%). While we 
have been told that detailed plans are shared 
through the building process the lack of a 
statutory Plans Certificate process undermines 
the scope for an early detailed approval stage 
to be the fundamental starting point for the 
building project and the primary testing point of 
the likely safety of the building as construction is 
undertaken. 

3.68 
The AI is also required to consult the fire and rescue 
service in the same way as the LABC on giving an 
Initial Notice, as part of any Plans Certificate process 
and at the end of the building work.39

Findings 

There are frequent concerns about the timing of 
consultations by AIs with fire and rescue services 
(often late in the building process when it is very 
challenging to reverse works already well under 
way). In addition, many fire and rescue services 
report that there is usually only one period of 
consultation in practice.

36 Building Act 1984, section 47(2).
37 Building Act 1984, section 48(1).
38 Building Act 1984, section 50.
39 Building (Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2010, regulation 12.
40 Notwithstanding the fact that, under regulation 9 of the Approved Inspector Regulations, an AI must have no professional or financial interest in the work they 
supervise unless it is minor work. This is backed up by the CICAIR Code of Conduct.
41 DCLG (2017) Building Control Performance Standards. www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-control-performance-standards 
42 Building Act 1984, section 51A.

As part of the mapping work, we have also 
heard numerous concerns about the degree 
and quality of detailed plans available for 
consideration and the degree of embedded 
working that fire and rescue services see 
between AIs and the design/construction team 
undertaking the building work. This raises 
questions of whether the AI is often too close to 
the design team.40

3.69 
In a similar way to the LABC route, the AI 
will engage in a risk-based inspection plan as 
construction develops. AIs are required, under their 
code of conduct, to abide by the ‘Building Control 
Performance Standards’41 to ensure continued 
registration by CICAIR. For LABC staff, these 
standards are considered best practice. 

3.70 
At any point, the AI can issue a written letter or 
communication challenging breaches in the building 
work and seeking remedial action within an agreed 
period. In addition, where the person carrying out 
the work makes any significant change to the work, 
as described in the Initial Notice, the AI must give 
an Amendment Notice to the LABC describing the 
change.42 The AI should, by law, consult the fire and 
rescue service on any Amendment Notice. 

3.71 
At the end of the process, where the AI is satisfied 
that the work is completed, it will undertake a 
further consultation with the fire and rescue service 
and issue a final certificate and send it to the local 
authority. If the AI does not believe the works 
comply with the Building Regulations, they cannot 
issue the certificate. If disagreement arises between 
the client and the AI which cannot be resolved, they 
may cancel the Initial Notice and responsibility for 
certifying compliance with the Building Regulations 
will then revert to the LABC.

3.72 
This reversion back to the LABC is necessary 
because, where an AI is the BCB, section 48 and 
51(3) of the Building Act prohibits a local authority 
from taking enforcement for a breach of the 
Building Regulations where an Initial Notice is still in 

Page 145

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/building-control-performance-standards


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 63 

force or a final certificate has been given. However, 
AIs have no powers to bring a prosecution. 
Therefore, if an AI is unsuccessful in getting 
compliance they can cancel the Initial Notice and 
the work then reverts back to the LABC for it to use 
its enforcement powers.43 

Regulatory requirements – How are the 
building works checked? A comparison 
between the two BCB routes

3.73 
It is clear that, while the overall remit that LABCs 
and AIs need to fulfil is the same, there are 
some similarities and a number of differences in 
requirements. Some of these are connected to the 
fact that, for example, formal enforcement action is 
a matter of public policy, undertaken only by public 
authorities. 

Same processes for 
LABCs and AIs

• Work needs to be notified to a BCB.
• BCBs need to check plans.
• BCBs need to consult with fire and rescue service.
• BCBs do some inspections on site.
• BCBs issue sign-off certificates at the end of building work.

Different processes for 
LABCs and AIs  

• The route for calculating local authority fees are set out in legislation and are normally required 
to be paid upfront. AIs can apply a more flexible and individual approach towards fees and their 
payment.

• Local authority staff do not require professional indemnity insurance. AIs do. 
• Local authority staff do not have the ability to reject taking on clients and work. AIs do. 
• Local authorities must, in law, be provided with full plans of proposed building works (where those 

works will be covered by the Fire Safety Order). AIs do not, in law, need to ask for detailed plans of 
building work at any stage – even for the most complex buildings. 

• Local authorities must, in law, consult the fire and rescue service at the outset. AIs must also do so, 
in law, at completion of work before giving a final certificate. 

• If an AI is unsuccessful in getting compliance, they can cancel the Initial Notice and the work then 
reverts back to the local authority for enforcement action.

• Formal enforcement can only be carried out by local authorities, not AIs.

Findings

The differences in processes between the 
two systems add to the complexity of and 
inconsistency in the regulatory environment and 
mean that there is no level playing field. 

There are advantages and disadvantages of both 
systems but having parallel processes (frequently 
enshrined in primary legislation) makes it more 
difficult for government to raise standards in a 
consistent way. 

The parallel routes also mean that the public 
record design and regulatory decision-making is 
inconsistent.

43 Building Act 1984, section 52(1).

Page 146



64 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Regulatory requirements – How construction products and workmanship are deemed to 
comply with the Building Regulations

Eu
ro

pe
an

 C
on

str
uc

tio
n 

Pr
od

uc
ts 

Re
gu

lat
ion

s a
pp

ly

En
for

ce
d b

y t
ra

din
g 

sta
nd

ar
ds

 un
de

r U
K 

Co
ns

tru
cti

on
 P

ro
du

cts
 

Re
gu

lat
ion

s 2
01

3

CE
 m

ar
kin

g a
nd

 D
ec

lar
ati

on
 

of 
Pe

rfo
rm

an
ce

 re
qu

ire
d 

to 
ma

rke
t p

ro
du

cts

Eu
ro

pe
an

 Te
ch

nic
al 

As
se

ss
me

nt 
an

d 
CE

 m
ar

kin
g p

ro
ce

ss

Inv
olv

em
en

t b
y n

oti
fie

d 
bo

die
s a

nd
 no

tifi
ed

 
lab

or
ato

rie
s

Pa
st 

ex
pe

rie
nc

e
Ind

ep
en

de
nt 

Ce
rtif

ica
tio

n S
ch

em
e (

UK
AS

 
ac

cre
dit

ed
 th

ird
 pa

rty
 or

ga
nis

ati
on

) 
pr

od
uc

es
 a 

De
cla

ra
tio

n o
f P

er
for

ma
nc

e

Pr
od

uc
t te

sti
ng

 pr
oc

es
s

La
bo

ra
tor

y t
es

tin
g t

o d
ete

rm
ine

d s
tan

da
rd

s 
(la

bo
ra

tor
y s

ho
uld

 be
 U

KA
S 

ac
cre

dit
ed

)

As
se

ss
me

nt 
in 

lie
u o

f a
 te

st 
(i.e

. a
 de

sk
top

 st
ud

y),
 

re
lia

nt 
on

 ac
tua

l te
st 

re
su

lts

Int
er

na
tio

na
l p

ro
du

ct
sta

nd
ar

ds
 pr

oc
es

s
Br

itis
h p

ro
du

ct
sta

nd
ar

ds
 pr

oc
es

s
Te

sts
 an

d c
alc

ula
tio

ns
 

pr
oc

es
s

M
at

er
ia

ls
 a

nd
 w

or
km

an
sh

ip

Is 
the

 pr
od

uc
t a

 st
an

da
rd

ise
d p

ro
du

ct?

Is 
the

re
 a 

Eu
ro

pe
an

 H
ar

mo
nis

ed
 S

tan
da

rd
 fo

r t
he

 pr
od

uc
t/w

or
km

an
sh

ip?
YE

S 
NO

Ind
ep

en
de

nt 
ce

rtif
ica

tio
n e

.g.
 B

SI
 K

ite
ma

rk 
pr

ov
ide

s a
dd

itio
na

l a
ss

ur
an

ce
 th

at 
pr

od
uc

t 
co

mp
lie

s w
ith

 st
an

da
rd

 (o
the

rw
ise

 it 
is 

ba
se

d o
n a

 m
an

ufa
ctu

re
r’s

 de
cla

ra
tio

n)

Ap
pr

ov
ed

 D
oc

um
en

ts 
(o

r o
the

r r
ele

va
nt 

gu
ida

nc
e e

.g.
 B

S 
99

91
) s

et 
pr

op
er

tie
s w

hic
h 

ma
ter

ial
s s

ho
uld

 m
ee

t (
e.g

. li
mi

ted
 co

mb
us

tib
ilit

y)

W
he

re
 do

ub
t e

xis
ts 

the
re

 ar
e p

ow
er

s 
for

 th
e B

CB
 to

 sa
mp

le 
an

d t
es

t 
ma

ter
ial

s u
nd

er
 re

gu
lat

ion
 46

 (L
AB

C)
 

or
 re

gu
lat

ion
 8 

(A
I)

YE
S 

NO

Re
gu

lat
ion

 7 
re

qu
ire

s b
uil

din
g w

or
k t

o b
e c

ar
rie

d o
ut 

wi
th 

ad
eq

ua
te 

an
d p

ro
pe

r 
ma

ter
ial

s, 
in 

a w
or

km
an

lik
e m

an
ne

r.

Ma
ter

ial
s i

nc
lud

e n
atu

ra
lly

 oc
cu

rri
ng

 m
ate

ria
ls 

an
d m

an
ufa

ctu
re

d p
ro

du
cts

 su
ch

 
as

 co
mp

on
en

ts,
 fit

tin
gs

, it
em

s o
f e

qu
ipm

en
t a

nd
 sy

ste
ms

Figure 3.7: How construction materials meet the Building Regulations 

Page 147



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 65 

3.74 
Products used for the construction or refurbishment 
of a building have a critical impact on its safety. 
Incorrect installation of proper materials can also 
compromise safety. Regulation 7 (Materials and 
Workmanship) of the Building Regulations 2010 
sets the general legal framework, and BCBs assess 
all building work for compliance.

3.75 
Regulation 7 applies to all products used in building 
work. We have illustrated the process using a case 
study on concrete below.

Regulation 7: Materials and workmanship

Building work shall be carried out—

(a)  with adequate and proper materials 
which—

 (i)  are appropriate for the circumstances in 
which they are used, 

 (ii)  are adequately mixed or prepared, and

 (iii)  are applied, used or fixed so as 
adequately to perform the functions for 
which they are designed; and

(b) in a workmanlike manner.

3.76 
Approved Document 744 (the Approved Document 
relevant to Regulation 7) defines materials to 
include:

• manufactured products such as components, 
fittings, items of equipment and systems; 

• naturally occurring materials such as stone, 
timber and thatch; and 

• backfilling for excavations in connection with 
building work.

3.77 
Materials and workmanship need to be no more 
than necessary to satisfy the relevant Parts of 
the Building Regulations. The decision whether 
a product, a kit or a system and its application 
complies with the Building Regulations is for the 
BCB to make, using the guidance in Approved 
Document 7. However, it must be stressed that 
the responsibility for complying with the Building 
Regulations lies with the person doing the work.

44 HM Government (2013) The Building Regulations 2010: Regulation 7: Materials and Workmanship. www.gov.im/media/1346196/approved-document-7.pdf 

Routes to compliance: products
3.78 
Approved Document 7 advises on the following 
routes which BCBs should consider appropriate to 
establishing a certain standard.

Route 1: Standardised products

3.79 
Harmonised European standards: Many materials 
are covered by the Construction Products 
Regulation (305/2011/EU-CPR), and are known as 
harmonised European products. They must have CE 
marking, which will reference the product standard. 
The product must also have a Declaration of 
Performance, which gives details of its performance 
in accordance with the measures stated in 
the standard. It is essential that the declared 
performance is suitable for the intended use. 

3.80 
Each harmonisation standard will set out conformity 
assessment and verification procedures. This is 
graded according to the performance criticality 
of the product. For many products, conformity 
assessments may require testing by a “notified 
body”. A notified body is an organisation 
designated by an EU country to assess the 
conformity of certain products before being placed 
on the market. Generally, products that are more 
critical to building safety have more assessment by 
the notified body, with less safety-critical products 
having only a manufacturers’ declaration. 

3.81 
Other products: If a material is not covered by a 
harmonised European standard, a non-harmonised 
European standard (e.g. EN 1329-1 for PVCu soil 
stacks), a British Standard (e.g. BS 4213 for cold 
water cisterns), or other international standard may 
be used to show compliance. Such specifications, 
including those prepared by ISO, or a national 
technical specification of a country other than the 
UK, may be used to demonstrate that a product not 
covered by a harmonised European standard meets 
the performance requirements of the Building 
Regulations. Manufacturers self-certify that their 
product conforms with the standard but third-party 
certification schemes, such as the BSI kitemark, 
are available to provide increased assurance of 
compliance. 

Page 148

https://www.gov.im/media/1346196/approved-document-7.pdf


66 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Route 2: Non-standardised products – 
independent certification schemes

3.82 
Certain products that are not covered by a 
harmonised European standard can use CE marking 
by obtaining a European Technical Assessment. This 
may involve testing by a technical assessment body. 

3.83 
There are many independent product certification 
schemes in the UK, for example, the British Board 
of Agrément (BBA), and elsewhere that may provide 
information on the performance of a product. Such 
schemes certify that a material complies with the 
requirements of a recognised standard and indicates 
its suitability for its intended purpose and use.

3.84 
Certification bodies base their judgements on 
laboratory testing, or assessments and calculations 
in lieu of a specific test (often called desktop 
studies) – both valid routes to establish product 
properties. If a certification body is content with 
the performance of the product, they will produce 
a certificate, which can be used to demonstrate its 
suitability for certain uses, which must be checked 
against the requirements of the intended use.

3.85 
Accreditation of a certification body by a national 
accreditation body belonging to the European 
co-operation for Accreditation (EA) provides a 
means of demonstrating that the certification 
body’s certification scheme can be relied on. In 
the UK, most independent certification bodies are 
accredited by the United Kingdom Accreditation 
Service (UKAS) against the appropriate quality 
assessment standard for the work they are 
undertaking. 

Route 3: Tests and calculations

3.86 
Where there is no relevant standard, tests, 
calculations or other means may be used to 
demonstrate that the material can perform the 
function for which it is intended. UKAS or an 
equivalent national accreditation body belonging 
to the EA may accredit the testing laboratories; this 
accreditation provides a means of showing that 
tests can be relied on.

3.87 
The Approved Documents outline many standard 
tests, for example under British Standards, that are 
routes to compliance. In some cases, assessments 
(often called desktop studies) carried out in lieu of 
test results, but based on real test results, can be 
undertaken to show that one tested product has 
similar properties to an untested product.

Route 4: Past experience

3.88 
Past experience, such as use in an existing building, 
may show that the material can perform the 
function for which it is intended.

Conformity testing

3.89 
Under regulation 46 of the Building Regulations, 
local authorities have the power to take samples as 
necessary to establish whether materials to be used 
in building work comply with the provisions of the 
regulations.

3.90 
Regulation 46 does not apply to any work specified 
in an Initial Notice or to any work for which a final 
certificate has been given by an AI and accepted by 
the local authority. However, there is an equivalent 
power for an approved inspector to make tests 
and take samples in regulation 8(1) of the Building 
(Approved Inspectors etc.) Regulations 2010.

Materials susceptible to changes in their 
properties

3.91 
There are special provisions for “short-lived 
materials”. For “materials susceptible to changes in 
their properties” certain environmental conditions 
can affect the performance of the materials over 
time. Such materials will meet the requirements of 
the regulations if the residual properties, including 
the structural properties, meet both of the following 
conditions:

a.  Residual properties can be estimated at the time 
of their incorporation in the work.

b.  Residual properties are shown to be adequate 
for the building to perform the function for 
which it is intended, for the expected life of 
the building.

Page 149



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 67 

Findings 

There are several areas of concern with this 
system, as highlighted by the majority of our 
call for evidence entries. Contributors believe 
products are marketed with specification 
data presented in ways which can easily be 
misinterpreted. Indeed, individual elements 
are often used as part of compound systems 
that are not fully tested as systems. Further, 
assessments in lieu of tests, or desktop studies, 
are widely used to assess equivalence of 
products and systems, but this is not properly 
managed or controlled both in terms of the 
circumstances in which they can be used and 
the qualifications and experience of those 
undertaking them. Such assessments, and the 
details of those who produce them, are not 
made public, even to building control.

Routes to compliance: workmanship
3.92 
The routes to demonstrating compliance in 
workmanship are similar to those for products:

• Harmonised EU standards may refer to the 
intended use of the product.

• British Standards, and other international 
standards, set standards on workmanship on 
building sites (such as BS 8000). Management 
systems can be covered by a quality management 
scheme (such as one that complies with the 
relevant recommendations of BS EN ISO 9000).

• Independent certification schemes can 
specify how workmanship will deliver a declared 
level of performance. The person carrying out 
the work should show that the workmanship 
will provide the appropriate level of protection 
and performance. 

• Competent person self-certification schemes 
that register installers of materials can provide 
a means of ensuring that work has been 
carried out by knowledgeable contractors to 
appropriate standards.

• Past experience, such as use in an existing 
building, may show that workmanship is 
appropriate for the function for which it 
is intended.

• Finally, tests can be used to show that 
workmanship is appropriate. Regulation 45 of 
the Building Regulations, regulation 8 of the 
Approved Inspectors Regulations and section 33 
of the Building Act 1984 give a BCB the power 
to carry out tests as they consider necessary to 
establish whether building work complies with 
the requirements of regulation 7.

Findings

The integrity and efficacy of product and system 
classifications are highly dependent on correct 
installation by competent and knowledgeable 
persons. The standards of workmanship for 
the installation of some safety-critical products 
(e.g. cladding) is not made explicit in the 
Approved Documents.

Case Study: Concrete

Materials

Concrete should comply with BS EN 197-1 and 
aggregates with BS EN 12620, both of which 
are harmonised European product standards 
so should have CE marking and a Declaration 
of Performance. Similarly, many common 
admixtures are also covered by harmonised 
European product standards.

Workmanship

Workmanship should comply with BS 8000-2, 
which is a British Standard. This standard 
covers matters such as handling and storage of 
materials, precautions against adverse weather, 
mixing, transporting, placing, curing and 
protection.

Page 150



68 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Stage 3 – The fire safety aspects around 
refurbishments and change of use, including building 
control oversight

45 Planning permission may also be required for making external alterations or additions to buildings.
46 Building Regulations 2010, regulation 4(3).

3.93 
The description of Stage 2 set out above applies 
to the construction of new buildings. Once a 
high-rise residential building is occupied and is 
being maintained, then Stage 4 below sets out the 
different regulatory system that applies through the 
Fire Safety Order and the Housing Act 2004.

3.94 
However, when that building is refurbished, or 
where its use is changed, the Building Regulations 
(including building control arrangements) are re-
engaged.45 In general, once a decision is made that 
the Building Regulations are re-engaged, the same 
requirements set out above, including the building 
control process, apply. However, there are two sets 
of complex decision-making processes needed in a 
refurbishment scenario. This reflects the difficulties 
that occur when needing to make changes and 
apply modern understanding of building and fire 
safety to a building that may be 50 or 100 years old.

Decision 1 – Is this “building work”?

3.95 
The Building Regulations set out a number of 
categories of building work which must meet 
the requirements in the regulations. The three 
types of work most likely to be within scope for 
refurbishments are:

• work that constitutes a material alteration;
• renovation of thermal element (exterior walls, 

roof and ground floor); and
• provision of a fixed building service (such as 

replacement windows and doors).

3.96 
Under regulation 3 of the Building Regulations, a 
“material alteration” is only such if the proposed 
building work would potentially make a building 
less safe structurally, more at risk from fire, or less 
accessible for disabled people than required by the 
Building Regulations in force at the time the work 
was originally carried out.

3.97 
Where the refurbishment fits within any of the 
categories of building work above, then Building 
Regulations requirements will apply and the BCBs 
and the building control oversight described above 
come back into play. Where the work is not building 
work, then there will be no BCB oversight.

Decision 2 – Is the non-worsening 
provision invoked? 

3.98 
The person doing the refurbishment work must 
then, alongside the BCB, make an assessment 
about the extent to which those parts of the 
building being refurbished will impact more 
generally on whole building. Very specifically, 
the ability of the existing building to meet the 
performance-based standards in Schedule 1 must 
be reconsidered. In many cases, an old tower 
block building from the 1960s will fall short of the 
expected modern minimum standards for meeting, 
say, requirement B1 (Means of warning and escape 
from fire). However, there is no requirement to 
generally improve the fire safety provisions in parts 
of the building not subject to building work, merely 
a requirement that the work should not make the 
building less compliant. This is called the “non-
worsening provision”.46

Page 151



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 69 

3.99 
If the alterations reduce the building’s effectiveness 
in meeting any specific Schedule 1 requirements 
compared with before those adjustments were 
made, further changes will be required as part of 
the building work – but only to take the building 
back up to the same sub-optimal level that it was 
before and not to the latest minimum acceptable 
standards. This non-worsening rule applies to every 
aspect of building requirements, except for some 
energy-efficiency provisions. 

Findings 

While there is a rationale for non-worsening 
(and more generally for not imposing the latest 
modern building standards on old buildings, 
which may quickly make continued occupation, 
or any refurbishment activity uneconomical), it 
results in many buildings not having up-to-date 
arrangements for fire safety and no statutory 
assumption of continuous improvement over the 
life of a building. This seriously limits the scope 
of the law to improve fire safety in pre-existing 
buildings.

Page 152



70 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Stage 4 – The fire safety aspects of the regulatory 
framework surrounding the occupation of a building 

47 In older buildings, the assumption is that the building has been maintained sufficiently to ensure that the fire safety features required at the time of construction 
remain to the same overall level and it is therefore as safe from fire now as it was then. 

3.100 
Once a building starts to be occupied then the 
assumption (based on building control sign-off) is 
that the building meets the fire safety requirements 
of the Building Regulations (that are in place at the 
time of construction) and, as such, is safe to be 
occupied.47

3.101 
Once building work is completed and occupation 
begins, a different regulatory regime applies. These 
regimes are designed to ensure that premises are 
proactively managed and maintained to keep those 
working or living there, and others in the building, 
safe from the risk of a fire. In residential buildings, 
this includes ensuring that any hazards to the health 
and safety of residents, anywhere in, on or around 
the building, are assessed and removed. 

3.102 
For high-rise residential buildings, there are two 
key legal frameworks, each with different scope, 
requirements and enforcing authorities:

• The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005 – enforced by the fire and rescue service; 
and

• The Housing Act 2004 and, in particular, the 
Housing Health and Safety Rating System 
(England) Regulations 2005 – enforced by local 
authority Environmental Health Officers (EHOs).

Quick overview of the two key regulatory 
frameworks

3.103 
The Fire Safety Order requires a “responsible 
person” in every relevant premises to carry out, 
and regularly review, a fire risk assessment for 
that premise. In residential premises, the fire risk 
assessment must consider whether the fire safety 
measures in place in the common parts of the 

building to which the Fire Safety Order applies are 
suitable and sufficient to minimise the life risk to 
those lawfully on, or in the vicinity of the premises 
and, where necessary, to implement and maintain 
improved fire safety measures that reduce the risk 
from fire to as low as reasonably practicable. 

3.104 
This system is fundamentally based on self-
regulation (by the responsible person), in 
conjunction with any competent person they 
choose to employ. In the majority of premises to 
which the Fire Safety Order applies, including the 
common parts of high-rise blocks of flats, the 
local fire and rescue service will be the enforcing 
authority. It will audit or inspect premises for 
compliance with the Fire Safety Order’s provisions 
on the basis of its locally determined risk-based 
inspection programme. 

3.105 
In contrast, the Housing Health and Safety Rating 
System 2005 (HHSRS), formed through the Housing 
Act, is a largely reactive system that assesses 
likely harm to tenants over 29 identified hazards, 
including one for fire risk. The HHSRS provides 
local authorities (through EHOs) with a range of 
powers to investigate and, where necessary, require 
landlords mostly private sector landlords) to improve 
standards and remove hazards. EHOs cannot take 
enforcement action against local authorities. The 
HHSRS looks at both the individual dwelling itself 
and the common parts of the building.

Page 153



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 71 

Definition of “common parts” under the Fire Safety Order 

The Fire Safety Order is primarily designed for non-domestic premises and, as such, applies only to the 
“common parts” of a residential building; for example, common staircases, corridors and the external 
doors to each flat. 

“Common parts” are outlined in article 2 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005 (Fire 
Safety Order) in relation to domestic premises, that is, parts of the building “used in common” by the 
occupants of more than one dwelling. Under the Fire Safety Order, common parts do not include any 
aspects of fire safety within flats or on the outside of a building, such as cladding. 

Unlike the Fire Safety Order, the HHSRS applies to all parts of residential buildings, including both 
individual flats and all the common parts of high-rise buildings.

Homes &
flats 

Non-domestic 
buildings Common parts 

of residential 
buildings 

Housing Act Fire Safety 
Order  

Figure 3.8: The interaction of the Housing Act and Fire Safety Order

Findings

There are two overlapping regulatory frameworks connected to ensuring fire safety in an occupied 
building. Although protocols48 do exist to oversee joint working, the legislative overlap and mismatch 
across these two frameworks make it significantly more challenging for government to ensure that there 
is a sufficient holistic focus on the fire safety of all occupied buildings. 

Specifically, the safety of the common parts from fire can sometimes rely on fire safety measures 
within the flats, into which there is no power of entry by the fire and rescue service or power to make 
requirements under the Fire Safety Order. However, there is such a power under the Housing Act. But 
a coherent fire safety regime is dependent on an understanding of what is happening both within flats 
and within the common parts. 

There is also no recognition in the current system of differing levels of competence required for high-risk 
or complex buildings. 

48 See in particular www.cieh.org/library/knowledge/housing/fire%20protocol%20final.pdf

Page 154

http://www.cieh.org/library/knowledge/housing/fire%20protocol%20final.pdf


72 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

The role of the responsible person
3.106 
A “responsible person” is required, under the 
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, 
article 9, to carry out, and regularly review, a fire 
risk assessment for the building. In the case of 
residential buildings, the responsible person is 
usually the building owner, landlord or managing 
agent. In many cases it will be a body corporate, 
rather than a named individual. 

3.107 
The responsible person must ensure that general 
fire precautions are in place to ensure the safety 
of residents and also any employees regularly on 
site. This duty is very similar to that imposed by the 
general duties of the Health and Safety at Work etc. 
Act 1974. 

3.108 
The Fire Safety Order is not prescriptive. The 
responsible person can decide the fire precautions 
that are to be put in place, based on the findings 

49 Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, article 18.

of their risk assessment. This will vary according to 
the specific circumstances of the building and the 
individuals who reside in it (or commonly work in it). 

3.109 
The “fire safety information” that should be handed 
over by those undertaking the building work to 
the responsible person as part of the transfer of 
responsibility (see paragraphs 3.63 to 3.64 above) 
will be of critical importance in determining and 
maintaining an adequate fire risk assessment. 

The role of the competent person
3.110 
A responsible person must carry out a fire risk 
assessment. If they need help in assessing fire 
risks, the responsible person may appoint a person 
with expertise in assessing and controlling fire 
safety risks to assist (for example, a contractor or 
a fire risk assessor). The person employed to assist 
with the fire risk assessment can be referred to 
as a competent person. The responsible person 
retains responsibility for ensuring that the fire risk 
assessment is suitable and sufficient.49 

The regulatory framework around the Fire Safety Order

Risk-based inspection 
programme by the fire and 

rescue service

Fire
safety audit

undertaken. Compliant
fire risk assessment

and sufficient fire 
precautions

in place? 

Fire risk assessment
produced and regularly 

maintained, with sufficient fire 
precautions in place

Handover of relevant fire 
safety info to responsible 
person (reg 38 of BRs) 

Building starts
occupation 

Responsible person has a duty for there 
to be a suitable and sufficient fire risk 
assessment covering the ‘common 

parts’ of their building. They may appoint 
a competent person for this task

YES

Prosecution:
● Fines
● Imprisonment 

Prohibition
Notice 

Alterations
Notice 

Enforcement
Notice 

Informal
Notice 

Necessary
action taken?

Appeal made against
FRS decision?

APPEAL 
FAILS

APPEAL 
SUCCEEDS

NO

NO

Determination process

YES

Figure 3.9: The regulatory framework around the Fire Safety Order 

Page 155



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 73 

3.111 
In 2013, the fire sector developed a set of criteria to 
enable responsible persons to demonstrate whether 
they had the competencies required to undertake 
a suitable and sufficient fire risk assessment 
(and to receive certification from company/
UKAS accreditation schemes for doing so). It also 
produced guidance to help responsible persons 
choose a suitable and competent contractor or fire 
risk assessor to assist where necessary.50

3.112 
A responsible person must also, except in limited 
circumstances, appoint a competent person to 
assist him in practically undertaking the fire safety 
measures identified as necessary in the fire risk 
assessment. A competent person in this context is 
defined under the Fire Safety Order as someone 
who has sufficient training and experience to 
enable them to properly assist in the undertaking 
of preventative and protective measures. The level 
of necessary competence will vary according to the 
nature and complexity of the premises. The principle 
is that the appointed person has the appropriate 
level of competence for the role they undertake. 

Findings 

There are no minimum requirements for 
the competent person and no statutory 
accreditation or registration processes (although 
some voluntary schemes e.g. Warrington 
Certification Scheme do exist). While this makes 
sense for many small, low-risk premises, it is 
a particular issue for more complex high-rise 
residential buildings where there are likely to 
be more sophisticated fire safety strategies and 
more complex issues around evacuation in the 
event of a fire. Responsible persons frequently 
do little to verify competence. 

Fire risk assessment
3.113 
The key responsibility of the responsible person 
under the Fire Safety Order (whether undertaken 
by themselves or a competent person on their 
behalf) is to carry out a fire risk assessment and put 
in place fire prevention and mitigation measures 
that adequately reduce the life safety risk to those 
on or in the vicinity of the premises to as low as 
reasonably practicable. 

50 Fire Risk Assessment Competency Council (2014) A Guide to Choosing a Competent Fire Risk Assessor. www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/guidance-choosing-a-
competent-fire-risk-assessor.pdf
51 For example: www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-accommodation

3.114 
The fire safety measures covering the common parts 
of residential buildings that must be adequate for 
compliance with the Fire Safety Order comprise the 
following:

• measures to reduce the risk of fire and the risk of 
spread of fire;

• the means of escape from fire;
• the measures necessary to assist people in the 

use of the escape routes, such as emergency 
escape lighting, fire exit signs and measures for 
smoke control;

• where necessary, fire extinguishing appliances;
• any fire alarm system necessary to ensure the 

safety of occupants; 
• an emergency plan;
• maintenance of all of the above measures; and 
• maintenance of measures required by legislation 

for use by fire-fighters.

3.115 
The fire risk assessment must be regularly reviewed. 
For example, when refurbishment of a building 
occurs, the responsible person must ensure that 
their fire risk assessment is reviewed to mitigate the 
additional risks the alteration process may impose 
on the building and its residents.

3.116 
When the Fire Safety Order was introduced, 
the government produced a suite of premises-
specific guidance documents designed to help 
those responsible for compliance with the Order 
(particularly in small or low-risk premises) to 
understand their responsibilities and identify and 
implement appropriate fire precautions.51 These 
guidance documents have not been updated since 
that point. 

3.117 
The government subsequently encouraged specific 
sectors to develop their own fire safety guidance 
and to make this available. In 2008, LACORS (Local 
Authorities Coordinators of Regulatory Services – 
then part of the Local Government Association) 
produced ‘Housing – Fire Safety guidance’ (aimed 
primarily at those responsible for fire safety in 
houses of multiple occupation and converted flats). 
More recently, DCLG funded the Local Government 
Association to work with the housing and fire 
sectors to produce ‘Fire Safety in Purpose-built 
Blocks of Flats’, which was published in 2011. 

Page 156

http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/guidance-choosing-a-competent-fire-risk-assessor.pdf
http://www.london-fire.gov.uk/Documents/guidance-choosing-a-competent-fire-risk-assessor.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-accommodation


74 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Findings

The Fire Safety Order has created some clarity 
around the role of the responsible person and 
their need to understand and manage the fire 
risks in their building. Nevertheless, feedback 
from the fire and rescue service inspections 
on high-rise buildings following the Grenfell 
Tower fire indicates that this system is not 
fully embedded. In a significant proportion of 
buildings visited, fire and rescue services had 
to issue notices covering areas such as poor 
compartmentation, and lack of effective fire-
fighting equipment.

Inspections, sanctions and enforcement 
around fire risk assessments
3.118 
Fire and rescue services are the enforcing authorities 
in the majority of premises to which the Fire Safety 
Order applies. Exceptions are as set out in article 25 
of the Fire Safety Order.52 The National Framework 
for Fire and Rescue in England requires each fire 
and rescue service to have a locally determined, 
risk-based inspection programme and management 
strategy in place to ensure compliance with the Fire 
Safety Order within their area.

3.119 
Fire and rescue services deliver their statutory duty 
to enforce the provisions of the Fire Safety Order 
by visiting premises and reviewing the adequacy 
of the fire risk assessment (to ensure that the fire 
precautions in place are adequate and appropriate 
to mitigate the risk to life to as low as reasonably 
practicable). In most cases, this will involve the 
inspection of records and fire safety measures. 

3.120 
There is no target for the number of fire safety 
audits that fire and rescue services must carry out 
each year. It is the responsibility of each fire and 
rescue service to allocate and manage its resources 
across prevention, protection and operational 
response to address and mitigate effectively 
the risks facing their communities. This includes 
considering how best to resource and deliver their 
statutory duty to enforce the provisions of the Fire 
Safety Order. Many fire and rescue services rely on 
an algorithm to identify the buildings to be visited. 

52 The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, article 25, www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/25/made (or article 6 The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005, www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/6/made).
53 Part 3 of the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, and articles 29, 30 and 31 set out the different types of formal action (Alterations Notice, Enforcement 
Notice and Prohibition Notice), The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, article 25, www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/3/made

This algorithm is based on national and local fire 
data supplemented by known risks in an area and 
any complaints or concerns raised.

3.121 
The decision as to whether a particular building 
complies with the provisions of the Fire Safety 
Order is a matter of professional judgement for the 
fire and rescue service fire safety officer. Fire and 
rescue services have a range of powers to ensure 
that improvements to fire safety measures are 
made where the building is judged to fall short of 
Fire Safety Order requirements. If the measures in 
place are judged to be minor infractions that do not 
represent a significant risk, then the fire and rescue 
service can issue an informal (i.e. non-statutory) 
notice recommending that improvements be made. 
In cases where the failure to comply may expose 
employees and/or relevant persons to significant 
risk, fire and rescue services can issue three types of 
statutory notice:53

• Alterations Notice – if the premises have high 
safety risks or will have high safety risks if the use 
of the premises changes.

• Enforcement Notice – if the fire and rescue 
service finds a serious risk that is not being 
managed. The notice will say what improvements 
are needed, and by when.

• Prohibition Notice – if the fire and rescue 
service thinks the fire risk is so great that use of 
the premises needs to be immediately prohibited 
or restricted. 

3.122 
Where statutory notices are not complied with then 
those responsible can be taken to court. Minor 
penalties can lead to fines of up to £5,000. Major 
penalties can lead to potentially unlimited fines 
and up to two years in prison in most serious, life-
threatening cases.

Page 157

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/25/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/article/6/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2005/1541/part/3/made


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 75 

Findings 

Prior to the Grenfell Tower fire, some (but not all) fire and rescue services assessed high-rise residential 
accommodation as not being higher-risk premises and therefore not a high priority for fire and rescue 
service audits and inspections. However, as risks change, the priorities for inspection also change. 
Therefore, as a result of the Grenfell Tower fire, the risk-based inspection programme has been updated 
to include a greater focus on high-rise buildings.

Fire and rescue services must combine two roles – advising responsible persons on how to fulfil their 
responsibilities under the Fire Safety Order, and also enforcing action against them where necessary. It is 
clear that fire and rescue services have found the contrasting advice and enforcement roles difficult to 
combine in practice. 

We have heard that there are pressures on fire and rescue services – connected to declining numbers 
and an ageing workforce. This would impact on the ability of some fire and rescue services to fulfil their 
statutory duties and undertake their inspection responsibilities effectively. 

The regulatory framework around the Housing Act 2004The Housing Health and Safety Rating System

No category 1 or 2 hazard

If category 1 hazard found, EHO must
take appropriate action:

Improvement Notice

Prohibition Order

Emergency Remedial Action

Hazard Awareness Notice

If category 2 hazard found, EHO 
has the power to issue notices 

as above if appropriate

Relevant 
enforcement

action applied 
e.g. fines

Risk-
based

assessment
undertaken

by EHO on HHSRS 
hazard factors

Risk score calculated on 
29 hazard factors, inc fire

Private properties and
common parts

considered

Complaint made 
to local authority by:
● Resident/Tenant

● Neighbour 

EHO undertakes
proactive 

survey/inspection

Appeal
made against

EHO
decision?

Necessary
action taken?

APPEAL 
FAILS

YES 

NO 

APPEAL 
SUCCEEDS

Figure 3.10: The regulatory framework around the Housing Act 2004 

Page 158



76 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

3.123 
Local authority EHOs54 have powers under the 
Housing Act to inspect any residential property in 
their area and require building owners to make 
improvements or remove hazards where necessary. 
A standard methodology – the HHSRS – is used to 
identify potential hazards and assess the potential 
for harm that may result from exposure to the 
hazard.

3.124 
The HHSRS applies to all tenures but it is most 
frequently used in the private rented sector. It is a 
reactive system which is normally triggered by a 
complaint from a private sector tenant about the 
condition of the property. An inspection can also 
be, or may take place because the local authority 
has become aware of relevant issues which suggest 
that a property needs to be inspected. If necessary, 
local authorities have powers of entry which permit 
them to enter a property without the landlord’s 
permission.55

3.125 
If an investigation is necessary under the HHSRS, 
an EHO will look at evidence of hazards across all 
29 possible hazard factors.

HHSRS 29 hazard factors

Physiological requirements:

1. Damp and mould growth 

2. Excess cold 

3. Excess heat 

4. Asbestos and manufactured mineral fibre 

5. Biocides 

6.  Carbon monoxide and flue combustion 
products 

7. Lead 

8. Radiation 

9. Uncombusted fuel gas 

10. Volatile organic compounds 

54 EHOs work to make sure that people’s living and working surroundings are safe and hygienic, across a range of issues such food safety, environmental protection and 
pollution control, noise control, health and safety at work, public health and housing standards.
55 Housing Act 2004, section 239.

Psychological requirements: 

11. Crowding and space 

12. Entry by intruders 

13. Lighting 

14. Noise Protection against infections:

15. Domestic hygiene, pests and refuse 

16. Food safety 

17. Personal hygiene, sanitation and drainage 

18. Water supply 

Protection against accidents:

19. Falls associated with baths, etc. 

20. Falls on level surfaces 

21. Falls on stairs or steps 

22. Falls between levels 

23. Electrical hazards 

24. Fire 

25. Hot surfaces 

26. Collision and entrapment 

27. Explosions 

28. Ergonomics – position and use of amenities 

29. Structural collapse and falling elements

3.126 
One of these hazard factors is the risk of fire. 
While it allows, in principle, for any fire risk to be 
assessed and then enforcement action to be taken, 
it is not primarily focused on building design or, 
for example, adequate fire prevention systems or 
means of escape, but more specific fire risks within 
a property (e.g. position of an open fire).

3.127 
When an assessment is made it will be the job 
of the EHO to calculate whether there are any 
category 1 hazards: where a property contains 
potentially serious risks to the health and safety of 
the occupants. In such cases, the local authority 
must take appropriate action requiring the landlord/
building owner to reduce or remove the risk. Where 
there is a category 2 hazard: less serious risk, local 
authorities may take action but are not obliged 
to do so.

Page 159



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 77 

Sanctions and enforcement under the 
Housing Act
3.128 
There are a number of enforcement approaches 
an EHO can take against (almost always) a private 
sector landlord (EHOs are not empowered to take 
action against a local authority property):

• Improvement Notice: requires improvements in 
building conditions within a set period of time. 

• Prohibition Notice: requires landlords to stop 
renting their property until necessary changes 
are made. 

• Emergency Remedial Action: in extreme 
circumstances where building work is undertaken 
by the local authority and then the costs are 
recouped.

• Demolition/Slum Clearance Order: in extreme 
circumstances the local authority can also 
determine the building must be demolished.

• Hazard Awareness Notices: where warning 
signs must be put up. They have no sanction 
attached and do not require action to be taken, 
but are very rarely used for category 1 hazards.

3.129 
Failure to comply with an Improvement Notice is 
a criminal offence for which local authorities can 
impose a financial penalty of up to £30,000 or 
prosecute in the courts, which have the power to 
impose an unlimited fine. A local authority can 

also seek a Rent Repayment Order covering up 
to 12 months’ rent. Ignoring a Prohibition Notice 
is also a criminal offence and the courts have the 
power to impose an unlimited fine. 

Findings

The overlap and mismatch across these two 
regulatory frameworks make it significantly 
more challenging for government to ensure 
that there is a sufficient holistic focus on the fire 
safety of all occupied buildings. 

The HHSRS has advantages given that it can 
look in both individual flats and common 
parts. However, it is a primarily reactive 
system covering a large number of housing 
hazards, meaning that local authorities are 
not necessarily using the powers to proactively 
manage fire risks. The prioritisation of the 
29 different factors is highly subjective. In 
addition, expertise on fire safety issues and the 
breadth of a complex fire management strategy 
is likely to be better understood, on average, 
within a fire and rescue service rather than an 
EHO team.

There is no recognition in the current system 
of differing levels of competence required for 
increasing complexity of buildings and situations 
to be assessed.

Conclusion

3.130 
The mapping work has shown that the overall 
regulatory system focusing on fire safety is highly 
complex with multiple requirements and diluted 
or unclear accountabilities throughout the system. 
The review will continue to refine the mapping and 
evidence base and use it to design a more effective 
and simpler system.

Page 160



Chapter 4   Gathering stakeholder 
evidence 

Page 161



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 79 

Contents
Introduction 80

Background 80

Key findings 80

Methodology 81

Call for evidence 81

Bilateral meetings and roundtables 81

Headline statistics from the call for evidence 82

Evidence and emerging findings  83

Q1. The overarching legal requirements 83

Q2. Roles 84

Q3. Responsibilities 85

Q4. Competencies of key players 85

Q5. Enforcement and sanctions 86

Q6. Tenants’ and residents’ voice and raising 
concerns in the current system 87

Q7. Quality assurance and testing of materials 88

Q8. Differentiation within the current 
regulatory system 89

Q9. International comparisons 90

Q10. Other sectors 90

Culture and behaviours 91

Page 162



80 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Introduction

Background

4.1 
Alongside the mapping work covered in Chapter 
3, the review has used a number of techniques to 
gather and analyse a large volume of quantitative 
and qualitative data from a wide range sources to 
inform its work.

4.2 
One such technique was a call for evidence issued 
on 12 September 2017 with a closing date of 
13 October 2017. In parallel, Dame Judith held a 
series of bilateral meetings with the construction 
industry, with fire safety organisations and 
relevant experts. Roundtable meetings were held 
with industry, with housing, landlord and tenant 
organisations, and in Manchester and London with 
residents of high-rise residential buildings.

4.3 
This chapter sets out the feedback, input and 
findings of this range of engagement with 
stakeholders. It sets out in broad terms the 
responses received through the call for evidence, 
as well as feedback received through bilateral 
meetings and the roundtable events. It outlines also 
where this feedback has contributed to the review’s 
emerging findings.

Key findings

4.4 
The call for evidence received a sizeable response 
with comprehensive feedback and evidence. This 
highlighted widespread dissatisfaction with the 
current system and numerous recommendations for 
improvement, many of which overlap with issues 
thrown up by the mapping work. Many of these 
issues and concerns raised were similarly reflected 
in discussions with industry, including regulatory 
system experts and fire safety organisations.

4.5 
The main points that have emerged from the call 
for evidence and discussion with industry and 
residents are:

• The guidance could be clearer and more 
user friendly – feedback showed a widespread 
misunderstanding of the role of guidance within 
the system and the scope for misinterpretation.

• Roles and responsibilities are not clear – there 
is a lack of definition and a lack of accountability 
for carrying out activity. 

• The handovers between different regulatory 
regimes are poorly defined and poorly 
executed. 

• Competence is an issue – there are no clear 
methods for assuring and demonstrating the 
competence of people working within the 
system.

• Enforcement is poor – partly because the 
process of enforcement is burdensome and costly 
for local authorities. Punitive measures could 
better hold to account those who fail to comply 
with regulations.

• Products are an issue – current testing and use 
of desktop studies are not sufficiently rigorous, 
and marketing does not reflect the complexity of 
the current testing.

• Residents’ voices are not heard – there are 
inadequate channels for residents to have a voice 
on fire safety with their landlords or managing 
agents.

• Communication is insufficient – on fire safety 
in high-rise residential buildings, it falls short of 
what is needed to help residents feel safe.

• Complexity of tenures can have a negative 
impact – the complexity of tenures and the lack 
of a national representative tenants’ organisation 
hinder a constructive relationship between 
building owners/landlords/managing agents and 
their tenants or leaseholders.

• Residents’ role – residents want to play a 
greater part in contributing to how fire safety 
works in their own buildings.

Page 163



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 81 

Methodology

1 The call for evidence for the Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety, available at: www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_
data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf

Call for evidence

4.6 
The call for evidence was a series of 10 questions 
that, taken together, addressed the totality of the 
regulatory system for building regulations and fire 
safety. As with other chapters of this report, the 
term ‘regulatory system’ was interpreted to include 
“the current framework of building, housing and 
fire safety legislation and associated guidance which 
create a framework through which fire safety is 
embedded, assessed and assured through the full 
life cycle of a building”.1

4.7 
The particular focus of the review is the regulatory 
system insofar as it applies to high-rise residential 
buildings. However, respondents to the call for 
evidence were asked not to limit their responses 
to that type of building should they wish to 
make broader points. Respondents were asked 
to comment upon which parts of the system 
work well and which do not, as well as to make 
recommendations for improvements.

Bilateral meetings and roundtables

4.8 
To conduct a series of bilateral and roundtable 
meetings, the review identified key stakeholders 
in the following groups: the building industry, 
fire safety organisations, technical experts, local 
authorities, housing organisations, landlord and 
tenant umbrella organisations, and residents 
themselves. With industry and fire safety 
practitioners and experts, the review sought to 
draw upon their expertise in the current building 
regulations and fire safety systems to identify 
strengths, key issues and concerns. By consulting a 
wide and diverse range of stakeholders, including 
through discussions with housing, landlord and 
tenant organisations, as well as residents, the 
aim was to obtain rich and robust data on what 
happens in practice on the ground and evidence 
that would inform the review’s findings. 

Page 164

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/the-call-for-evidence-for-the-independent-review-of-building-regulations-and-fire-safety
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf
http://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf


82 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Headline statistics from the call for evidence

• There was a good response to the review’s 
request for feedback, including through 
the call for evidence; there were more than 
250 responses in total.

• Respondents made a combined total of more 
than 1,000 recommendations.

• Areas in which most recommendations were 
received included the clarity of legislation 
and guidance, and roles and responsibilities 
(indicating that respondents considered them 
to be areas in which positive change might 
be achieved).

• We received a relatively high level of responses 
from some organisation types, such as 
professional bodies.

• Response rates for other organisation types and 
for jurisdictions other than England were lower; 
where appropriate, other measures have been/
will be used to obtain evidence.

• As well as considering respondents’ answers 
to specific questions, the review carried out a 
thematic analysis of responses, contributing to 
emerging findings and interim recommendations. 

Page 165



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 83 

Evidence and emerging findings 

2 Throughout, figures are expressed as an approximate percentage of those respondents who addressed the particular question (not all respondents answered every 
question), where they have done so in such a way that a clear ‘yes/no/mixed’ indication could be gleaned (in other cases, although the question has been addressed, the 
responses were more narrative, such that they were not amenable to summarising in that way).
3 The remainder have been initially assessed as ‘mixed’ (a similar approach has been taken where figures are quoted throughout this chapter).

4.9 
This section sets out quantitative and qualitative 
evidence received through the call for evidence, 
as well as feedback from bilateral meetings and 
roundtables. These are grouped under main 
themes, in line with our call for evidence questions, 
but also incorporate other relevant feedback. 
The 10 questions posed in the call for evidence 
are at Appendix E. Where extracts are quoted 
from responses to the call for evidence, these are 
intended as examples of important points but 
should not be seen as demonstrating consensus 
among respondents.

4.10 
Although there was no unanimity among 
respondents to the call for evidence and those 
consulted through bilateral meetings and 
roundtables, there was broad consensus that 
the current regulatory system is unfit for 
purpose, particularly with regard to high-
rise residential buildings. While in some areas 
the system worked well and there were examples 
of good practice, a clear need for reform was 
identified throughout the system. 

Q1. The overarching legal requirements

4.11 
The majority of responses to the call for evidence 
and wider feedback indicated that regulation and 
guidance are not clear.

4.12 
Many call for evidence respondents and others 
consulted explained that participants in the system 
generally find the legislation and guidance unclear. 
This included confusion between the two, with 
some referring to the Approved Documents as ‘the 
regulations’.

4.13 
At the roundtables, some believed that Approved 
Document B was generally a good document in 
that it sets parameters and performance indicators 
for implementing the regulations. However, there 
was concern that it was not user friendly and could 
be arranged in a more integrated way. Others 
confirmed that it could be that some elements 
were contradictory, that terminology throughout 
was inconsistent and that it could be interpreted in 
different ways.

4.14 
Some respondents highlighted that building in 
England can commence without some of the checks 
present in other jurisdictions, and that thereafter 
it can diverge from the original plans without any 
proper change control process and documentation. 

4.15 
There was widely held concern that implementing 
the rules was increasingly seen as a tick-box 
exercise, with building owners and industry focused 
on doing the minimum required to meet the rules 
rather than doing what was needed to ensure a 
building was safe in the immediate and long term. 

Quantitative analysis2

• Approximately 50% of respondents indicated 
that legislation and guidance are unclear.

• Less than 10% of respondents indicated that 
legislation and guidance are clear.3

Page 166



84 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Sample qualitative evidence

“It is also felt that over time the Building 
Regulations have become increasingly 
technical and complex, and personal 
experience suggests that even those 
involved in the design process appear 
to be struggling with the increasing 
complexity of regulatory requirements.”  
Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council 
Development Services Group

“For some, there is a lack of understanding 
about how all the strands of legislation 
and guidance fit together, and about the 
distinction between legal requirements 
and extensive guidance. It seems clear that 
some readers believe that the Approved 
Documents are the requirements … There 
is a general sense that the Approved 
Documents do not provide sufficient 
clarity. Approved Document B is generally 
considered complex, difficult to follow, 
and in places contradictory. Difficulties 
in understanding, and even navigating, 
the documents lead to differences in 
interpretation.”  
Construction Industry Council

Q2. Roles

4.16 
The majority of the responses to the call for 
evidence and feedback from stakeholders indicated 
that that roles, responsibilities and accountabilities 
are unclear.

4.17 
Many respondents to the call for evidence and 
others consulted explained that roles are undefined 
and unclear in the current system. There was 
widespread agreement that all parties needed to 
be clear about their roles and be accountable for 
their delivery. 

4.18 
Residents voiced frustration at the lack of clarity 
over who was responsible for fire safety in 
existing buildings, with many reporting a lack of 
engagement from their landlords or managing 
agents. Several noted that this may owe as much 
to the complexity of the regulatory framework and 
its lack of clarity about where accountability sits as 
to building owners or others deliberately not taking 
responsibility. 

4.19 
Many, including but not limited to fire safety 
organisations, felt that the role of fire safety 
engineers had been diluted, with limited 
consultation at the start of a project and an 
inability to speak with authority during design 
and construction. Residents regretted the loss of 
a defined and authoritative role for the fire and 
rescue services, and called for the latter to play a 
greater role in ensuring continued fire safety in 
existing buildings, with regular inspections and 
an ability to enforce its findings. A better defined 
and more authoritative role would ensure greater 
consistency in fire safety implementation across all 
multi-occupancy residential buildings. 

4.20 
There were mixed views on the role of Local 
Authority Building Control (LABC) and the extent 
to which it could act in both an implementation 
and enforcement role without a conflict of interest. 
There was a range of views also on the impact 
of privatisation of inspections and concerns that 
increased competition from Approved Inspectors 
drove down prices but did not necessarily result in 
better quality decisions. 

Quantitative analysis
• Approximately 60% of respondents indicated 

that roles, responsibilities and accountabilities are 
unclear.

• Less than 10% of respondents indicated that they 
are clear.

Sample qualitative evidence

“There is evidently a lack of effective 
guidance on the roles and responsibilities 
of individuals at key stages of the 
building process. There are elements 
of legislation that attempt to define 
responsible individuals, but even these 
do not provide clear answers. The lack 
of clarity is demonstrated by the primary 
duty of the Building Act, which applies to 
‘the person carrying out the work’. This is 
fundamental to compliance with Building 
Regulations, but who is that?”  
Construction Industry Council

Page 167



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 85 

“The identification and responsibilities 
of a responsible person under the RRO 
[Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 
2005] are often not well understood. In 
many cases there are multiple people and 
organisations dealing with the building 
and none of them accepting responsibility 
for being the ‘responsible person’.”  
Fire Industry Association

“The lead designer (architect or engineer) 
is commonly no longer responsible 
for oversight of the design and the 
specification of materials and products 
from inception to completion of the 
project, with design responsibility often 
transferred to the contractor, numerous 
sub-contractor designed elements, and no 
single point of design responsibility. The 
frequent absence of the role of the clerk 
of works or site architect and the loss of 
independent oversight of construction 
and workmanship on behalf of the client 
means that the client often has little real 
control over construction quality and 
frequently is over-reliant on the building 
control process alone to ensure compliance 
with the Building Regulations.”  
Royal Institute of British Architects 

Q3. Responsibilities

4.21 
Overall, responses to the call for evidence and what 
the review heard more widely indicated that, within 
the existing regime, overarching responsibility 
is unclear.

4.22 
Many respondents reported that responsibilities are 
unclear to many participants in the system during 
phases such as design, build and occupation and 
at the handovers between them, including when 
responsibility passes to the ‘responsible person’ on 
occupation. 

4.23 
Feedback was received also about the extent to 
which ensuring compliance with the Building 
Regulations should rest with building control and/or 
those carrying out building work. 

4.24 
Others addressed the overlap of responsibilities 
such as consultation between building control 

and fire and rescue services; in particular, whether 
this occurs sufficiently early for the fire and rescue 
service’s views to be properly taken into account.

4.25 
Some acknowledged that industry, as well as 
building owners and landlords, needed to take their 
share of responsibility for ensuring that buildings 
were safe in the long term.

Quantitative analysis
• Around 65% of respondents indicated that 

overarching responsibility is unclear.
• Just under 10% of respondents indicated that it 

is clear.

Sample qualitative evidence

“The construction process involves 
many professionals who deliver various 
pieces of information at various stages 
of construction. Within the UK, this is 
generally delivered without a designated 
person who has responsibility for 
compliance with the Building Regulations. 
This can lead to fragmentation in the 
flow of information which can lead to 
areas of non-compliance, which may be 
exacerbated without the interventions 
of a BCB. The Construction Design and 
Management (CDM) regulations are a 
model that offers parallels, with a named 
professional (such as the Architect) 
at the start of the scheme given the 
responsibility of ‘Appointed Person’.”  
National House Building Council

Q4. Competencies of key players

4.26 
Broadly speaking, the majority of responses to 
the call and much of what was heard from others 
consulted indicated that those responsible for 
demonstrating and assessing compliance within 
the existing regime are not appropriately trained, 
accredited or adequately resourced.

4.27 
Many respondents to the call for evidence and 
others expressed concern about the competence 
of principal actors within the process, in particular 
builders, inspectors and fire engineers, in what is 
necessarily a technical area, and one in which an 
inadvertent error could prove disastrous for fire 
safety.

Page 168



86 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

4.28 
The competence of building and fire safety 
professionals and how they are certified and 
accredited were seen as critical to proper 
implementation of the regulations and could in turn 
promote a change in culture and behaviours. There 
were examples of good practice, with Approved 
Inspectors requiring a specified level of expertise 
and overseen by an independent body, and work 
undertaken by the LABC4 on new qualifications. 
But, more generally, systems for ensuring that 
individuals had the right level of expertise and were 
formally registered and accredited with professional 
bodies were seen as inadequate and as carrying 
serious risks in situations where inadvertent errors 
could have a disastrous impact.

4.29 
Residents in particular were dissatisfied by the level 
of competence demonstrated by those responsible 
for fire safety in their buildings, whether this 
was the landlord or managing agent, or those 
conducting fire risk assessments. The quality of 
fire risk assessments was often inadequate, with 
some conducted off site or through only cursory 
inspection of communal areas. 

Quantitative analysis
• Approximately 55% of respondents indicated 

that those responsible for demonstrating and 
assessing compliance within the existing regime 
are not appropriately trained, accredited and 
adequately resourced.

• Less than 5% of respondents indicated that they 
are appropriately trained, etc.

Sample qualitative evidence

“The level of competency within the 
fire industry is widely varied … In 
relation to fire engineering, the IFE 
offers Chartered Engineer status, but 
in practice, the majority of people who 
advertise themselves as ‘fire engineers’ 
or ‘fire experts’ do not have that status. 
Many other fire engineers rely on other 
qualifications, such as Chartered status 
through other (non-fire organisations) or 
fire brigade experience. So while they may 
(or may not) be competent, they have no 
third-party check of their competence as a 
fire engineer.”  
International Fire Consultants Ltd

4 The not-for-profit membership organisation that represents all local authority building control teams in England and Wales.

“Increased privatisation of the building 
control process has led to a reduction in 
building control capability and capacity, 
particularly in local authorities, which 
has been raised as a significant concern. 
Some contributors have advocated 
increasing local authority responsibility 
for building control, which would require 
increased training and capacity. It is 
important that building control bodies 
have the right competence and capability 
to assess compliance, including the fire 
safety, of complex buildings, and that 
this competency is clearly defined. These 
requirements for competency and training 
should be consistent across building 
control; currently, local authorities are not 
subject to formal qualification and training 
requirements, unlike Approved Inspectors 
under the Construction Industry Council 
Approved Inspectors Register.”  
Royal Academy of Engineering

Q5. Enforcement and sanctions

4.30 
The majority of responses to the call for evidence 
and input from wider stakeholders indicated that 
the current checking and inspection regime is 
not adequately backed up through enforcement 
and sanctions.

4.31 
Industry stakeholders said that those responsible 
for fire safety needed to take their responsibilities 
seriously, retain sufficient oversight and ensure 
adherence to regulations. Enforcement was patchy 
and inconsistent. 

4.32 
Many respondents to the call for evidence cited the 
differing responsibilities and authorities of Approved 
Inspectors and LABC, and the limited extent to 
which prosecution through the courts was seen as 
an effective option, with fines for non-compliance 
seen as less financially burdensome than compliance. 
Some suggested that withholding Completion 
Certificates would be an important tool for building 
control bodies in ensuring compliance, preventing 
occupation of a building before formal sign-off.

Page 169



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 87 

4.33 
Ownership throughout a building’s life cycle from 
occupation through any refurbishments and change 
of use is seen as critical to ensuring fire safety in 
current housing stock. Formal documentation needs 
to be in place, reflecting changes to a building’s 
structure or use throughout its life cycle, so that 
owners, landlord and fire and rescue services are 
able to judge where fire safety systems might 
have been compromised. There was concern that 
inspections and reviews are insufficiently frequent or 
timed inappropriately, resulting in potential breaches 
not being discovered; namely, when defective work 
might be obscured by subsequent work.

4.34 
The principle of ‘non-worsening’ was discussed 
in some detail, with many wanting to see efforts 
to better reflect modern-day safety requirements 
when material changes were made but recognising 
the difficulties. Many questioned the feasibility 
of improved retrospective implementation on 
existing housing stock, although some flagged that 
retrospection could be legislated for, citing examples 
in other industries particularly where health and 
safety issues were an important feature.

Quantitative analysis
• Approximately 65% of respondents indicated 

that the current checking and inspection 
regime is not adequately backed up through 
enforcement and sanctions.

• Less than 5% of respondents indicated that it is 
adequately backed up.

Sample qualitative evidence

“Enforcement of the building regulations 
has been disincentivised by the 
introduction of competition between 
the public and private sectors … since 
competition was first introduced, there 
has been a tendency for developers, 
contractors and householders to move 
away from local authority building control 
and appoint a private sector building 
control body in contract law. The private 
sector has no enforcement powers and 
the contract gives the client a significant 
degree of control over the level and 
type of work undertaken by the building 
control body.”  
London District Surveyors Association

“The response from contractors would 
often be to cover up areas quickly in 
order to avoid the risk of Building Control 
identifying problems that would then 
need rectifying.”  
Fire Industry Association

“Where enforcement powers are 
particularly deficient are, in our view, 
around enforcement of the Building 
Act 1984. The Act only allows the 
local authority to bring a case against 
a defendant who has undertaken 
unauthorised works within two years of 
completion, and the case must be taken 
against the person who carried out the 
works. Alternatively, or in addition, within 
a year of works being completed, the local 
authority could serve an enforcement 
notice demanding that the building 
owner undertakes works to address the 
infringement; with the threat that the 
council could undertake the work itself 
and subsequently recover costs. In reality, 
it is difficult for local authorities to prove, 
particularly without the co-operation of 
building owners or the relevant Approved 
Inspector (if applicable), exactly when the 
works were completed and who by.”  
London Councils

Q6. Tenants’ and residents’ voice and 
raising concerns in the current system

4.35 
Overall, feedback from roundtables with residents 
and in the call for evidence indicated a mixed 
view of the effectiveness of the current means for 
residents to raise concerns about fire safety.

4.36 
There was overwhelming agreement among 
residents and organisations representing tenants 
and leaseholders that options were limited, with 
many not knowing how to express concerns about 
fire safety in their buildings and to whom, or what 
to do if their landlord or managing agent failed 
to respond. There were good examples where 
landlords listened, and of the empowering role 
that tenant and residential associations could 
play in informing and supporting residents on fire 
safety. However, many felt that the complexity 
of tenures, the lack of a national representative 
tenants’ organisation and inadequate enforcement 
where there were failings made it difficult to ensure 

Page 170



88 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

a genuinely constructive relationship between 
building owners/landlords/managing agents and 
their tenants or leaseholders.

4.37 
Many residents were frustrated by the intermittent 
nature of information made available on fire safety 
in their buildings, including access to fire safety 
assessments when they were conducted. Managing 
agents were singled out as tending to ignore or 
dismiss requests for information and for giving 
insufficient or incorrect advice. There were calls for 
greater residents’ participation in matters affecting 
their own buildings, including fire safety, although 
there was recognition that the mix of tenures meant 
that not all residents would see this as something in 
which they wished to be involved.

4.38 
Many wanted to know what ‘good’ looked like and 
who was responsible for ensuring this. Residents 
gave several examples of instances where fire 
risk assessments had been either perfunctory or 
not completed on a regular basis, resulting in 
a detrimental cumulative impact on fire safety. 
There was a call for punitive measures aimed at 
holding to account those who failed to enforce 
required measures. 

Quantitative analysis
• Less than 10% of respondents indicated that the 

current means for residents to raise concerns are 
adequate. 

Sample qualitative evidence

“The opportunities that Registered 
Provider landlords offer for tenants to 
engage with them usually range from 
patchy to even worse. A small number 
of social housing landlords have good 
methods of engagement with their 
tenants – but very few offer extensive 
engagement opportunities, and even 
fewer have the skills to be able to use 
the voices they do hear from tenants in 
a positive and constructive fashion that 
enables a two-way dialogue. The worst 
landlords rely almost exclusively on digital 
means of communication with tenants – 
i.e. the only means that tenants have to 
communicate with their landlord may be 
by email or through a digital platform on 
the landlord’s website, meaning (a) that 
whether and how the landlord responds 
is entirely in the gift of the landlord and 
(b) that there are no means for tenants to 

engage with the landlord collectively with 
other tenants … 
“Happily, there are still a small number 
of good landlords who do work closely 
with their tenants. In such tenancies, 
tenants are enabled to shape, challenge 
and scrutinise how the landlord manages 
homes. This is particularly important in 
that with such landlords, tenants are 
potentially empowered to identify and 
challenge in relation to areas such as 
tenant safety. They are the eyes and ears 
of the landlord – making sure that issues 
that need addressing are brought to light 
quickly and acted upon.”  
A Voice for Tenants group

Q7. Quality assurance and testing of 
materials

4.39 
Overall, respondents to the call for evidence and 
those consulted more widely indicated that the way 
building components are safety checked, certified 
and marketed in relation to building regulations 
requires change.

4.40 
A large proportion of industry and fire safety experts 
cited confusion over product testing, labelling and 
certification as a significant contributory factor to 
fire safety systems being compromised. On testing, 
many expressed concern that test conditions do not 
necessarily reflect real-world conditions and that 
a failure to replicate defective installation when 
conducting tests can have a misleading effect on 
test results. There was also concern that products 
are marketed in a way that allows product data to 
be misinterpreted.

4.41 
Desktop studies are considered by many to be the 
only cost-effective solution in some circumstances. 
However, many respondents were critical of the 
over-reliance upon desktop studies, given the 
limitations in their ability to accurately extrapolate 
performance in a fire (particularly where the 
performance of complete systems is extrapolated 
from performance testing of their component parts 
in isolation). 

4.42 
Call for evidence respondents raised concerns 
about the prevalence of product substitution as 
part of a process of ‘value engineering’, without 
any adequate control or oversight to ensure the 
replacement products performed as well as those 

Page 171



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 89 

envisaged by the designer and approved by building 
control at the full plans stage. Some referred to the 
increasingly uncommon role of a clerk of works as a 
quality control function on site.

Quantitative analysis
• Around 75% of respondents indicated that the 

way building components are safety checked, 
certified and marketed in relation to building 
regulations requires change.

• Less than 15% of respondents indicated that 
change is not required.

Sample qualitative evidence

“Fire safety marketing information and 
test reports are accepted at times when 
there is insufficient scrutiny or a lack 
of expertise in relation to how they 
are applied and may impact on other 
materials or product components within 
a system. Many products are tested 
totally in isolation and do not account 
for the interaction with other elements. 
For a fire door to function, all of the 
components (seals, glazing, ironmongery) 
must be compatible. Many lack a formal 
process to check that products are as 
originally specified, or even whether the 
products that are delivered to site are as 
specification.”  
British Woodworking Federation

“A register of products delivered and used 
in the construction process would provide 
a paper trail, would assist the control of 
materials and clearly identify if variations 
have been made to the previously 
approved specifications.”  
Retired building control manager

“Of particular concern is the testing of 
materials. Under the current system a 
desktop report from an accredited testing 
body is sufficient where no fire test data 
is available for a particular system. These 
reports are a matter of opinion and cannot 
be verified by building control. This use of 
desktop studies as a substitute for a fire 
test should be stopped.” London Councils

Q8. Differentiation within the current 
regulatory system

4.43 
A significant proportion of those who responded 
to the call for evidence and those consulted by the 
review saw advantages in creating a greater degree 
of differentiation in the regulatory system between 
high-rise multi-occupancy residential buildings 
and other less complex types of residential/non-
residential buildings, but there was no overarching 
consensus on this point.

4.44 
Many considered that the current system could be 
improved through the introduction of a system that 
differentiates on the basis of the risks associated 
with a proposed building. But a significant number 
of call for evidence respondents did not consider 
building height to be a sufficient basis upon which 
to make that differentiation. 

Quantitative analysis
• Around 45% of respondents saw advantages 

in creating a greater degree of differentiation 
in the regulatory system between high-
rise multi-occupancy residential buildings 
and other less complex types of residential/
non-residential buildings.

• Approximately 20% felt there were 
disadvantages in creating a greater degree of 
differentiation on that basis.

Sample qualitative evidence

“In terms of differentiating residential 
high rises, advantages could be stricter, 
more robust fire safety for high-rise 
residential buildings, which could help 
prevent multiple fatalities and serious 
injury/illness, including post-traumatic 
stress. It could also mean that more 
was invested in fire prevention in such 
buildings. However, disadvantages could 
be wrongly implying that non-residential 
high rises were not a fire risk … all high 
rises should be covered by effective fire 
safety regulation and enforcement.”  
Institution of Occupational Safety and Health 

Page 172



90 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

“A greater degree of differentiation in 
the regulatory system could have the 
advantage of making differentiated safety 
requirements more visible and hence 
clearer to those with responsibilities under 
the regulations. It could also facilitate 
the mandating of stricter review or 
enforcement processes in relation to high-
risk buildings, which may be valuable … 
there are arguments for differentiation 
based on the number of storeys, such 
as under three storeys, as is the current 
definition of low-rise buildings, or under 
ten storeys, where fire rescue services 
have more straightforward access to 
buildings both to remove residents and 
fight fire. However, there are many 
risk factors that can affect fire safety 
in addition to height, including area, 
function, access, building complexity, 
and so on. Therefore, it may be more 
appropriate to differentiate buildings 
based on a thorough risk assessment of 
design, rather than on the number of 
storeys alone.”  
Royal Academy of Engineering

Q9. International comparisons

4.45 
Overall, within the call for evidence, responses 
indicated there is a considerable amount of good 
practice in the area of fire safety, outside England. 
In many cases, specific examples were provided. 

4.46 
In the review’s more detailed research on 
international systems, a more balanced approach 
emerged, with clear areas of good practice but 
limited evidence of where particular approaches 
had made a genuine difference to fire safety. 
More detailed information on this research is in 
Chapter 5. 

4.47 
In the call for evidence responses and the opinions 
expressed at roundtable events, the use of 
sprinklers outside England was raised. In particular, 
the mandatory installation of sprinklers in new 
residential buildings in Wales, and their use in 
Australia. A significant number were in favour of 
fitting sprinklers in all new builds, and a smaller 

number supported the retro-fitting of sprinkler 
systems in some categories of existing buildings. 
However, it was also recognised that this could 
not be seen as a panacea, that there are practical 
challenges to their use in existing buildings and a 
need to consult with residents. Some stakeholders 
also raised the weaknesses of sprinkler systems; for 
example, their limited effectiveness at preventing 
external fire spread and the need for competent 
installation and effective maintenance.

Quantitative analysis
• Around 35% of respondents signposted and 

provided specific examples of good practice from 
other jurisdictions.

• Examples covered a broad range of countries, 
including New Zealand, Singapore, Australia, 
Scotland and Germany.

Q10. Other sectors

4.48 
The views of the majority of those who responded 
to the call for evidence show that there is a 
considerable amount of good practice in the area 
of fire safety in other industries and sectors. Specific 
examples were provided in many cases. 

4.49 
Respondents highlighted useful parallels with 
other industries, including aviation and offshore oil 
and gas extraction, namely after the Piper Alpha 
disaster. They also cited the greater clarity and 
effectiveness of UK health and safety legislation 
in relation to construction, and in particular 
the Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015 which clearly define roles, assign 
responsibilities to them and do not allow these 
to be delegated away. The Gas Safe (CORGI) 
certification scheme was quoted as an example of 
good practice in requiring a registered installer to 
undertake installation and testing.

Quantitative analysis
• Around 25% of respondents signposted and 

provided specific examples of good practice from 
other industries and sectors.

• Examples covered a range of sectors including 
oil and gas, air and maritime, and offshore 
industries. 

Page 173



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 91 

Sample qualitative evidence

“The railway industry requires that all 
combustible materials used on a passenger 
vehicle must meet fire safety criteria. 
A key lesson is that the railway vehicle 
manufacturer takes responsibility for 
the whole project, from concept design, 
to construction, and to approval by the 
authorising body … With respect to the 
[Fire Safety Order], it would be worth 
examining the NI CQC which only permits 
registered Fire Risk Assessors to carry out 
an FRA on a care home.”  
Institution of Fire Engineers

“As an example, in terms of [health 
and safety] legislation, asbestos is 
controlled effectively and efficiently by 
the HSE. This is regulated in terms of 
training, competence, qualification and 
certification. Only qualified companies/
individuals can carry out work, and all 
relevant construction staff are trained 
based upon their potential impact or 
exposure. The same principles can be 
applied/replicated to fire safety quite 
easily.”  
Engineered Panels in Construction Limited

Culture and behaviours

4.50 
An area of concern not addressed specifically 
through the call for evidence questions but which 
was a recurring theme throughout responses and 
feedback received more widely, was the current 
culture of the building industry, with claims that 
this impacted negatively on fire safety. Some 
suggested that a failure to take responsibility for 
safety and a reliance on building control to identify 
any faults were seen as opportunities to absolve 
those carrying out building work. It was noted 
also that construction is an industry in which sub-
contracting is common, and that this may lead to 
a lack of clarity about acceptance of multiple layers 
of responsibility.

4.51 
Many residents similarly recognised that much 
of what needed to change required a change in 
culture and behaviours, both on the part of owners 
and landlords, and residents themselves. The latter 
needed to understand the risks involved in certain 
practices, such as removing fire doors inside their 
flats and leaving obstacles in communal areas. 
Active residential associations could help with this 
but relied upon volunteers rather than the owner 
or managing agent being proactive in providing 
advice and information. Residents needed to feel 
they could speak out, both to their neighbours who 
might be putting fire safety integrity at risk, as well 
as to landlords and managing agents. A change in 
the urgency with which critical safety measures are 
addressed was also important to ensuring greater 
trust in the system.

Page 174



Chapter 5   International 
systems for building 
regulation and 
fire safety 

Page 175



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 93 

Contents
Introduction  94

Key findings 94

Approach and methodology 95

Emerging findings 96

Regulatory frameworks 96

Roles, responsibilities and accountability 99

Competence and accreditation 100

Compliance and enforcement 100

Privatisation of inspector, review and 
enforcer roles 101

Next steps 102

Page 176



94 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Introduction 

5.1 
The review is drawing upon international experience 
of building and fire safety regulatory systems 
and frameworks covering other industries where 
exceptional events can lead to the risk of large-
scale fatalities. Our aim is to compare the system 
in England with those used elsewhere so as to 
identify best practice, learn from others’ experiences 
and lessons, and examine whether and how we 
might seek to reflect best practice elsewhere in 
our own frameworks and implementation.

Key findings

5.2 
Our research into regulatory systems in 
other countries has enabled the review to 
present the following initial findings:

a. The formal use of gateways or approval points 
at the design approval stage and at points 
during construction and handover appears to 
indicate better compliance in line with local 
building regulations and standards. However, 
there are claims that this can lead to project 
delays if approval systems are under-resourced. 

b. Most countries we researched have a risk-
based approach, defining buildings according 
to their function and/or level of risk. More 
complex buildings are required to comply 
with more stringent processes and standards. 
They may be subject also to more frequent 
and in-depth on-site inspections, and require 
additional approvals during construction. 

c. Other countries define explicitly the competence 
required of those working on a build, often 
specifying the levels of expertise needed to meet 
the complexity of particular projects. Similarly, 
licensing and accreditation requirements often 
vary in line with the complexity of the building.

d. Examples in some countries indicated 
a correlation between compliance and 
enforcement; namely, that where there were 
more rigorous enforcement and sanction 
regimes there was greater compliance with 
regulations. More evidential data would be 
needed to make this finding more robust.

e. The countries examined included those with 
predominantly prescriptive or performance-
based systems, single or multiple regulations, 
and either a centralised or devolved approach. 
Our research to date has not enabled us 
to draw links between the use of one or 
more of these alternatives and evidence that 
they work more effectively than others.

f. From the countries we have researched to 
date, few appear to have tackled successfully 
the issue of ensuring that existing housing 
stock meets modern-day fire safety standards. 
A number have work in progress to improve 
existing stock in a phased manner, but there are 
limited examples of good practice in this area.

Page 177



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 95 

Approach and methodology

5.3 
In this first phase of the review, our focus has been 
on researching and mapping the core elements of 
building and fire safety systems in other countries. 

5.4 
In our preliminary research, we looked at 
a relatively wide range of countries where 
we might expect particular similarities to or 
differences from our approaches, owing either 
to a country’s history or political set-up, or where 
culture and behaviours may be very similar to 
or different from our own. This initial work 
enabled us to select specific countries based 
on four criteria, where one or more applied:

• of a comparable size to the UK – either in land 
area or population;

• with a comparable number of multi-occupancy 
high-rise residential buildings;

• recent experience of large-scale fires in high-rise 
residential buildings; and

• experience of recent reviews of building and fire 
safety systems.

5.5 
The countries we selected, whose building 
and fire safety regulatory systems we 
have researched in some detail, are:

• outside Europe – Australia, New Zealand, 
Singapore, Canada, United Arab Emirates (UAE), 
China, USA, Malaysia;

• within Europe – France, Germany, The 
Netherlands; and

• within the UK – Scotland, Northern Ireland, 
Wales.

5.6 
We conducted this research by:

• working with the Royal Academy of Engineering 
to gather information on current frameworks and 
implementation through global expert contacts;

• using the review’s call for evidence to gather 
information on systems and best practice in other 
countries;

• engaging in direct bilateral contact with 
governments and in-country fire safety experts; 

• conducting desk research, including accessing 
readily available papers by academics and expert 
organisations; and 

• participating at the first meeting of the EU’s Fire 
Information Exchange Platform in Brussels.

Page 178



96 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Emerging findings

1 Information provided by Fellows of the Royal Academy of Engineering and their colleagues with experience of the building industry and fire safety in the UAE.
2 Information provided by the Australian Academy of Technology and Engineering and the Institution of Fire Engineers, Australia.

5.7 
Our research has drawn out a number of 
common themes across building and fire safety 
regulatory frameworks and implementation. 

Regulatory frameworks

Single or multiple regulations
5.8 
Some countries have a combined single regulation 
covering all aspects of building systems (e.g. 
environmental, construction, fire safety), which 
could support a holistic or ‘whole system’ approach 
to new construction and refurbishments. Other 
countries (as is the case in England and Wales) 
have distinct areas of regulation, which interrelate 
so as to provide overall direction or guidance for 
construction and the full life cycle of a building. 

5.9 
There appear to be similar levels of complexity in 
regulatory frameworks, irrespective of a country’s 
use of a single or multi-faceted mechanism. 
Whether or not a single regulatory mechanism 
is used does not appear to impact on the extent 
to which it is implemented effectively. We found 
examples of both single and multiple mechanisms 
demonstrating effective practice, as well as areas 
of vulnerability. Single mechanisms were generally 
deemed to provide greater clarity on intent 
and purpose and to be easier to navigate, with 
positive expert feedback on the systems in The 
Netherlands and Australia. However, we found 
no substantive evidence that implementation was 
more consistent. In contrast, single regulatory 
frameworks were seen as slower to adapt to 
technological advances, while countries with 
multiple mechanisms in force, such as the USA and 
Canada, appeared better able to amend individual 
elements as new priorities or changes required this.

Case studies

The UAE has multiple regulations governing 
different aspects of construction and fire safety, 
with no single overarching document. There is 
also a clear differentiation between building and 
fire safety regulations, with different regulatory 
bodies. Concerns relate to a lack of clarity, 
inconsistencies and confusion over which codes 
and standards apply in which circumstances.1 

In Australia, the primary regulation governing 
buildings is the National Construction Code. 
This incorporates all areas of building regulation 
including energy efficiency, access, plumbing 
and fire safety into a single code.2 The code is 
overseen by the Australian Building Codes Board 
and is a model code, implemented with or 
without modification by states and territories.

Performance-based or primarily prescriptive
5.10 
The majority of countries researched have a mix 
of prescriptive and performance-based routes 
for regulation, although some have a stronger 
reliance on more prescriptive systems. Here we 
use the term ‘performance-based’ to refer to 
any functional, objective-based or performance-
based system, recognising that all systems 
clarify the intent of regulation with policy-level 
goals and functional objectives but do not 
necessarily define detailed performance objectives 
aimed at providing a basis for evaluation. 

5.11 
In those countries where there exists a more 
prescriptive system, this may be where local culture 
and behaviours, including the wider approach to 
regulation, favour a more rules-based approach 
to government regulation. Alternatively, more 
prescriptive measures may have been introduced 
where events such as large-scale fires or other 
disasters demonstrated that current systems were 
not being implemented fully, whether owing 

Page 179



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 97 

to the complexity of regulations, a general lack 
of understanding of responsibilities or concern 
about the level of competence of practitioners. 

5.12 
The 1980s and 1990s saw a marked shift in many 
countries, particularly in Europe but also beyond, 
towards more goals-based regulatory systems, often 
as part of wider political and social moves towards 
decentralisation and de-regularisation and aimed at 
encouraging innovation. More recently, a number 
of countries have introduced new prescriptive 
regulatory measures in a way that may, at first, 
appear to back-track on this earlier trend. However, 
this appears to be more of a direct response to 
large-scale fires and/or aimed at addressing areas 
where regulations or guidance have been found 
to have gaps or inconsistencies. We have heard 
that more prescriptive approaches have been 
established also in rapidly developing countries 
where the pace of change in the industry is rapid. 

Case studies

The US regulatory system is primarily prescriptive 
with detailed provisions and guidance; a very 
high proportion of buildings are constructed 
and maintained based on the National Fire 
Protection Association’s (NFPA) model codes and 
locally adapted codes. There are performance-
based criteria also, with goals, objectives and 
necessary considerations set out in the NFPA 
codes. But these are used rarely; compliance 
with clear prescriptive criteria is generally seen 
as preferable to possibly lengthy approval 
processes for designs that fall outside these.3

Scotland has a performance-based regulatory 
system, reliant on building owners and approved 
certifiers ensuring that their design and 
construction meet defined end requirements.4 

The UAE uses a prescriptive system, largely 
drawing on the USA’s NFPA codes. Where these 
prescriptive requirements are not achievable, the 
UAE authority having jurisdiction will consider 
performance-based designs as an alternative.

3 Information provided by the NFPA.
4 Meacham, B.J. (ed.) (2010) Performance-Based Building Regulatory Systems, Principles and Engagement – A Report of the Inter-Jurisdictional Regulatory Collaboration 
Committee, www.wpi.edu/sites/default/files/docs/Departments-Programs/Fire-Protection/IRCC_Final_PDF.pdf
5 Information provided by officials and organisations with experience of the building industry and fire safety in Singapore. 
6 Information provided by individuals working in Codes Canada, the Building and Development Branch of the Province of Ontario’s Ministry of Municipal Affairs, and 
the Ontario Building Officials Association.

Centralised or devolved promulgation
5.13 
The countries researched include those which 
promulgate regulations at the national, regional 
or local level. Where central government retains 
the dominant role, we have seen examples of 
coherent and consistent implementation and 
enforcement. This tends to work particularly well 
in countries of smaller landmass or population 
size where a consistent approach across the 
country is practicable, such as in Scotland and 
Singapore. Where regional or local government 
leads delivery and enforcement, the regulatory 
system appears better able to adapt to regional 
diversity; for example, where differing climates 
or seismic risk may require very different building 
solutions, such as in the USA, Australia or Canada. 
In those countries where a more devolved system 
operates, central oversight is usually provided by the 
development and promulgation of a national model 
code, which can then be modified to suit local 
conditions, as is the case in Australia and the USA. 

Case studies 

In the USA, states and local jurisdictions establish 
an appropriate safety requirement on the basis 
of model codes developed independently by 
the NFPA. They adopt these codes or introduce 
more stringent codes (they cannot fall below 
this model code standard), and these become 
legally binding in the state or city concerned. 
State or municipal agencies are responsible for 
enforcement, with no defined federal state role. 
Those working on a new building have a good 
understanding of local regulations, including 
where these differ from the national model code.

Singapore has a centralised system with 
building regulations set and enforced by the 
Building and Construction Authority within the 
Ministry of National Development, while the Fire 
Code is enforced by the Civil Defence Force. The 
system is reported to be particularly effective in 
enforcement and in allowing residents to report 
failures or their concerns about fire safety.5

In Canada, provinces and territories interpret 
and implement national codes locally. Some use 
the codes as they are set centrally, while others 
modify them to suit the local context.6

Page 180

http://www.wpi.edu/sites/default/files/docs/Departments-Programs/Fire-Protection/IRCC_Final_PDF.pdf


98 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Differentiation of buildings
5.14 
Most countries categorise buildings based on 
function, height, size and the level of risk. Different 
categories of buildings usually have differing 
requirements for fire safety, including for more 
complex or high-risk buildings such as high-rise 
residential buildings, schools and hospitals. Those 
working on buildings of a higher risk category 
are usually required to have a higher level of 
expertise, qualifications and accreditation, as is the 
case in China and the USA. Some countries also 
have different review or enforcement processes 
for buildings categorised as higher risk, carrying 
out more frequent and/or in-depth fire safety 
checks to reflect the complexity of the building. 

Case studies 

US national fire codes differentiate between 
buildings based primarily on function 
(e.g. group occupancy) and risk (most often 
structural design and the impact of any failure). 
Some model codes apply to all buildings, with 
others applying as appropriate according to 
eventual use and the level of risk. For example, 
healthcare buildings have a higher requirement 
and dependence on ‘defend in place’ principles 
(similar to England’s ‘stay put’ policy).7 

In Canada, there are multiple levels of building 
categorisation based on function, floor area, 
material construction and whether the building 
is fitted with sprinklers. For buildings over 
18 metres high, the code contains additional 
safety requirements including controlled smoke 
movement, sprinklers, lifts for fire-fighter access, 
central alarms and voice-controlled systems.

In Germany, the codes differentiate buildings 
on the basis of height and use. Categories 1, 
2 and 3 encompass buildings up to a height 
of 7 metres (from the ground to the floor of 
the top storey), while categories 4 and 5 cover 
buildings up to 13 metres and up to 22 metres 
tall. All buildings with a height above 22 metres 
are formally defined as high-rise buildings, 
and for these, as well as buildings with certain 
functions such as hospitals, schools or shopping 
malls, additional requirements apply.8

7 APEC and USAID (2013) APEC Building Codes, Regulations and Standards: Minimum, Mandatory and Green, www.cec.org/islandora-gb/islandora/object/
islandora:1213/datastream/OBJ-EN/view
8 German Federal Institute for Materials Research and Testing and the German Fire Protection Association
9 Scottish Government (2017) Building Standards: Performance Framework for Verifiers, www.gov.scot/Topics/Built-Environment/Building/Building-standards/verification/
verpf17

Regulatory reviews
5.15 
A number of countries have a formal schedule 
of regular reviews in place, usually in three- to 
five-year cycles, but this tends not to be the 
norm. Instead, many reviews are instigated after 
a large-scale fire or other disaster, for example 
following devastating fires in China and the UAE, 
or for reasons not always related specifically to 
fire safety, such as where technological advances 
in energy efficiency may require changes to 
other regulations. Where reviews conducted as 
a result of a large-scale fire result in changes 
to the fire safety regulatory system, these are 
frequently introduced through prescriptive 
measures either as a temporary or permanent 
‘fix’, until a more overarching review is held. 

Case studies

In Scotland, where no pre-determined schedule 
of reviews exists, reviews take place on an ad 
hoc basis in response to new developments or 
innovations, as well as in response to large-scale 
incidents.9 

Canada publishes any proposed changes to 
codes annually and publishes updated and 
reviewed codes in five-year cycles.

In Australia, the national code was previously 
reviewed annually but this has recently been 
reduced to a review every three years. Codes 
were first merged into the single National 
Construction Code in 2011 and a review was 
last held in 2016. A task force set up in Victoria 
in July 2017 to assess fire safety in buildings 
with cladding across the state is in progress. This 
review will keep up to date with its findings as 
its work continues. 

Retrospection
5.16 
Very few of the countries researched have a 
clear regulatory mechanism for ensuring that 
significant changes to existing buildings require 
fire safety measures to be brought in line with 
requirements for new buildings. It is more usual 
for those responsible to be required to ensure 
that any material modification or change in use 
results in ‘no worsening’ of the fire safety system 
and its expected effectiveness in the building. 

Page 181

http://www.cec.org/islandora-gb/islandora/object/islandora:1213/datastream/OBJ-EN/view
http://www.cec.org/islandora-gb/islandora/object/islandora:1213/datastream/OBJ-EN/view
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Built-Environment/Building/Building-standards/verification/verpf17
http://www.gov.scot/Topics/Built-Environment/Building/Building-standards/verification/verpf17


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 99 

There are exceptions, namely in the USA and 
Hong Kong, where there is clear guidance on 
the threshold at which any changes to existing 
buildings must meet new fire safety standards, 
and in New Zealand. But we have found only 
limited evidence of this taking place routinely 
or consistently, and a number of countries are 
looking actively at this particular fire safety issue.

Case studies 

In New Zealand, the Building Act 2004 requires 
that buildings must be brought to comply ‘as 
nearly as is reasonably practicable’ with the 
provisions of the Building Code where:

• a change of use of a building is intended, 
which involves the incorporation in the 
building of one or more household units 
where household units did not exist before, 
then the building in its new use must comply 
in all respects; or 

• alterations to, or a change of use of, existing 
buildings are intended, then the means of 
escape from fire and access and facilities for 
people with disabilities must comply.

This requirement demonstrates a move to 
improve fire safety cumulatively in existing stock, 
particularly in that considered to be high risk. 
This is not a new legal concept, with similar 
requirements seen in other legal mechanisms 
for evaluating safety systems in New Zealand. 
However, implementation is not always 
consistent.10 

In Canada, there are instances when the 
National Building Code is used to enforce the 
retrospective application of new rules to existing 
buildings, but this is not an expectation or 
requirement. The National Building Code could 
be interpreted to require the installation of fire 
alarms or sprinklers in an existing building where 
the authority having jurisdiction determines that 
there is an inherent threat to occupant safety, 
and issues an order to eliminate the unsafe 
condition. This will have been after a careful 
consideration of the level of safety needed 
and balancing the cost of implementing a 
requirement with the relative importance of that 
requirement to the overall code objectives. 

10 www.building.govt.nz/managing-buildings/change-of-use-and-alterations/anarp/
11 Scottish Government (2017), Investigation of Compliance Levels with the Building (Scotland) Regulations 2004 (including Schedule 3). 

Roles, responsibilities and accountability

5.17 
Building regulations generally define roles 
and responsibilities throughout a building’s 
construction and life cycle. The dutyholders 
vary, with accountability lying either with the 
building owner (e.g. in the USA), or transferring 
between the building owner, the design 
professional, the construction contractor or 
other individual involved at appropriate points 
during design and construction. In some 
countries, responsibility and accountability are 
clearly detailed for every stage of a building’s 
life cycle, as is the case in Singapore, while in 
other countries the handover of responsibility 
at a particular point is not always explicit. 

5.18 
A lack of clarity around roles and accountability 
tends to impact on the extent to which enforcement 
is seen as effective. Feedback from a number of 
countries confirmed difficulties in responding to 
non-compliance. This tended to be the result of 
those responsible not being aware that they were 
liable rather than a blatant disregard for the rules. 

Case studies

In Germany, the building owner has primary 
responsibility throughout and must submit 
all documentation for approval. But other 
individuals have responsibility for their areas of 
work; during construction the owner nominates 
to the building authorities a contact person 
responsible for construction. On completion, 
responsibility transfers back to the owner. 

In Scotland, overall responsibility for ensuring 
that buildings are designed, built, maintained 
and operated in a compliant manner sits 
with the building owner. Individuals playing 
a particular role are responsible for applying 
for the relevant warrant or permit at 
particular points but liability remains with the 
building owner.11 

In the UAE, the national code requires 
the designation of a person, the ‘Program 
Manager’, who is responsible for the design and 
completion of the fire prevention programme. 
Usually, an accredited independent third 
party (fire consultant) is used to prepare fire 
safety strategies, training programmes, safety 
checklists and fire systems to be implemented 

Page 182

http://www.building.govt.nz/managing-buildings/change-of-use-and-alterations/anarp/


100 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

during construction or modification. The 
Program Manager is responsible for ensuring 
that the plan is prepared by the consultant, and 
implemented during construction.

Competence and accreditation

5.19 
Generally, the required level of competence 
of individuals involved in a building’s design, 
construction and inspection is explicit in building 
regulations or guidance. The majority of 
countries we researched require a certain level 
of competence, indicated by certification either 
through centrally administered examinations or 
existing professional qualifications, and in many 
cases accreditation to recognised professional 
bodies. In countries such as Germany, the 
USA and China, the level of certification and 
accreditation required is higher for work on 
more complex or higher risk buildings. 

Case studies

In the USA, all individuals working on design 
and construction are required to have relevant 
qualifications, and different categories of 
certification and accreditation are required for 
different engineering specialisms. Accreditation 
requirements are determined at state level. 
A state-registered engineer is required to sign 
off building designs in their area of specialism 
only, and there are harsh fines (including loss of 
accreditation) for any individual who conducts 
this role improperly. State-level accreditation is 
not automatically transferable to other states; 
for example, California requires those working 
on building construction to be accredited within 
California given the very specific seismic risks in 
that state.

In Dubai in the UAE, fire safety professionals 
are licensed by the Civil Defence Force on the 
basis of written and oral examinations. Building 
codes also require companies to have a trade 
licence, which defines the category of work 
they may conduct, and for each category of 
work named qualified staff must be approved 
by the Dubai Municipality. A consultant with a 
trade licence to design low-rise buildings cannot 
be used to design a high-rise building. This 
results in credible companies requiring a mix 
of professionals so that they can bid for work 
across a wide range of construction projects.

12 Information provided by multinational organisations with experience of working in the buildings industry in China.

In China, all building designs must be 
completed and signed off by a chartered 
engineer, either of first or second class 
depending upon the complexity of the build 
and level of risk involved. Similarly, all design 
companies are defined as first or second class, 
and must have a requisite number of first-
class engineers to be able to operate on more 
complex builds. All designs must also undergo a 
peer review by a qualified individual registered 
with the government or go before an expert 
review panel if the design deviates from the 
national codes.12 

Compliance and enforcement

5.20 
Enforcement processes in the majority of countries 
researched include a review of the design and the 
issue of a permit before the start of construction, 
as well as at certain points throughout construction 
and at handover for final use. In some countries, 
a phased approach may be allowed so that review 
and approval of more complex designs may not 
necessarily hold up initial straightforward work, 
such as the construction of footings. Common 
practice across the countries researched includes 
a final review on completion of construction, and 
approval to allow the building to come into use.

5.21 
In most countries, the most common ‘sanction’ (or 
regulatory response) to non-compliance detected 
during construction or on completion is the 
requirement for it to be rectified before approval. 
Sanctions to address non-compliance are evident in 
the building regulations in all countries researched, 
but information provided in this initial phase has 
been limited on the extent to which these are used 
and in what circumstances different sanctions apply 
(e.g. fines or a custodial sentence). There is limited 
evidence at this point also of the effectiveness 
of such sanctions, not only in addressing non-
compliance of new or existing buildings, but also in 
deterring others from operating in a similar way.

Page 183



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 101 

5.22 
A common concern across many of the 
countries researched is the extent to which any 
deviation from a design or use of materials, 
after approval and construction begins, requires 
a further review and new formal approval. 

Case studies 

In Canada, sanctions are determined by 
individual provinces. Orders can be issued 
to require changes to ensure compliance. 
In Ontario, for example, sanctions include 
fines of up to CAD50,000 for individuals and 
CAD100,000 for corporates, with up to one 
year’s imprisonment also possible.

In Scotland, failure to comply with the 
Building (Scotland) Act 2003 can include 
fines, prevention of or restriction to the use 
of the building, and/or civil or criminal court 
proceedings.13

In the UAE, a building permit is required before 
work can begin. Non-compliance can result in 
substantial fines, which are applied frequently, 
or a custodial sentence, as well as the loss of 
a trade licence for the responsible individual 
and/or company.

Privatisation of inspector, review and 
enforcer roles

5.23 
Enforcement processes in most countries are 
currently conducted by local authorities or bodies 
appointed by government. Increasingly, countries 
both in Europe and beyond are shifting towards 
privatisation of building reviews and control, 
although local authorities generally retain an 
enforcement role in some form. At the completion 
of work, third-party or peer reviews are increasingly 
common practice, including by private bodies, with 
clear processes for this in China and the UAE.

5.24 
In our initial research, we have been unable to 
establish the extent to which increased privatisation 
and competition for regulatory inspections and 
reviews are resulting in a higher or lower level 
of standards, particularly where local authorities 
retain an enforcement role. Much of the feedback 
received indicates concerns that increased 

13 Building (Scotland) Act 2003, www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/8/contents 
14 Information provided by the Department of the Built Environment, Eindhoven University of Technology, Fellows of the Netherlands Academy of Technology and 
Innovation and their networks in the Netherlands Normalisation Institute (NEN) and the Delft University of Technology. 

privatisation reduces the independence of the 
review process and leads to a decreasing capacity 
and expertise in local authorities. There are notable 
concerns also that third-party inspections are open 
to abuse given the potential conflict of interests, 
with growing levels of mutual dependence 
between developers and contracted inspectors. 

Case studies

The system in Singapore relies heavily on the 
private sector to design plans and independent 
third parties to review designs.

In The Netherlands, local authorities are 
responsible for the approval of designs allowing 
the issue of building permits, inspections at 
any point during construction and completion 
approvals. A draft law currently before 
Parliament sets out new processes on quality 
assurance that would increase the privatisation 
of building control.14 There are concerns among 
some that this may reduce the independence of 
building control. 

Page 184

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/asp/2003/8/contents


102 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Next steps

5.25 
In the next phase of work, we will probe 
earlier responses from the countries surveyed, 
particularly in the areas set out above. We 
will commission more detailed information, 
including quantitative data on fire incidences, 
casualties and any trends, to help us identify 
where particular systems and/or changes to 
systems have resulted in genuine improvements 
to fire safety in high-rise residential buildings.

5.26 
We will also commission research into the 
regulatory systems of other UK industries relying on 
a high level of safety, including where large-scale 
disasters may have led to a comprehensive review 
of the regulatory environment. The oil and gas 
industry (including its response to the Piper Alpha 
disaster), the rail industry, bridge construction and 
food standards may all offer examples of good 
practice and lessons on which we can draw.

5.27 
Where we have indicated a number of areas in the 
regulatory system in England that require further 
investigation and analysis, we will use examples 
of what has worked well in other countries to 
support policy development in these areas. 

Page 185



Page 186



Appendices

Page 187



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 105 

Contents
Appendix A:  
Biography of Dame Judith Hackitt DBE FREng 106

Appendix B: Key terms 107

Appendix C: Acknowledgements 109

Appendix D: Mapping the building and 
fire safety regulatory system – high-rise 
residential buildings (Insert)

Appendix E: Call for evidence 113

The overarching legal requirements  113

Roles and responsibilities  113

Competencies of key players  113

Enforcement and sanctions  113

Tenants’ and residents’ voice and raising 
concerns in the current system  113

Quality assurance and testing of materials  114

Differentiation within the current regulatory 
system  114

International comparisons and other sectors 114

Appendix F: Key legislation and 
publications used 115

Legislation 115

Regulatory guidance 115

Publications  115

Appendix G: Typical fire safety measures in 
a building 117

Fire protection measures 117

Measures to support fire-fighting  118

Fire evacuation approach  118

Page 188



106 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Appendix A:  
Biography of Dame Judith Hackitt DBE FREng

Dame Judith was Chair of the Health and Safety 
Executive from October 2007 to March 2016. 
She previously served as a Health and Safety 
Commissioner between 2002 and 2005. She was 
made a Dame in the 2016 New Year Honours for 
services to health and safety and engineering, 
and in particular for being a role model for young 
women. She was awarded a CBE in 2006.

In April 2016, she was appointed as Chair 
of EEF, The Manufacturers’ Organisation.

Dame Judith is a chemical engineer and graduated 
from Imperial College in 1975. She worked in the 
chemicals manufacturing industry for 23 years 
before joining the Chemical Industries Association 
(CIA) in 1998. She became Director General of CIA 
(from 2002 to 2005) and then worked in Brussels 
for the European Chemical Industry Council (CEFIC).

She was elected Fellow of the Royal Academy 
of Engineering in July 2010 and currently chairs 
its External Affairs Committee. Dame Judith is a 
Fellow of the Institution of Chemical Engineers 
(IChemE) and a member of council. She was 
President of IChemE from May 2013 to May 2014.

Dame Judith is also Chair of Semta (the Science, 
Engineering and Manufacturing Technologies 
Alliance), and a non-executive director of 
the High Value Manufacturing Catapult.

Page 189



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 107 

Appendix B: Key terms

Adequate/appropriate/
reasonable provision

Tests to judge the degree of compliance necessary with a requirement in the Building 
Regulations 2010. The Approved Documents set out what would be adequate/appropriate/
reasonable in different circumstances.

Amendment Notice A notice given by an Approved Inspector under section 51A of the Building Act 1984 to notify 
changes to the description of the building work to be carried out as specified in the Initial 
Notice.

Approved Document A guidance document approved under section 6 of the Building Act 1984 to provide practical 
guidance on ways to comply with the requirements in the building regulations.

Approved Document B Statutory guidance on ways to comply with the fire safety requirements in Part B of Schedule 1 
to the Building Regulations 2010. 

Approved Inspector (AI) Bodies approved under section 49 of the Building Act 1984 to carry out building control 
functions as an alternative to Local Authority Building Control. Almost all are private sector 
bodies.

Building control A statutory process of assessing plans for building work and building work on site to decide 
whether the plans and work comply with the requirements in the building regulations.

Building control body (BCB) A local authority or an Approved Inspector.

Building Information Modelling 
(BIM)

A process of designing, constructing or operating a building or infrastructure asset using 
electronic object-oriented information or a discrete set of electronic object-oriented 
information used for design, construction and operation of a built asset.

Building work Work on buildings within the scope of the Building Regulations 2010 as defined in 
regulation 3. 

Competent person scheme A scheme authorised under the Building Act 1984 by which registered installers have the 
right to self-certify the compliance of the work they do without the involvement of a building 
control body.

Competent person (Fire Safety 
Order)

Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005, a competent person is defined as 
someone with sufficient training and experience or knowledge and other qualities to properly 
assist in the undertaking of preventative and protective measures (i.e. the measures identified 
in a fire risk assessment as the general fire precautions which must be taken to comply with 
the requirements of the Order).

Completion Certificate A certificate given by a local authority under regulation 17 or 17A of the Building Regulations 
2010 when the authority has taken all reasonable steps to assess the compliance of building 
work. A Completion Certificate is evidence, but not conclusive evidence, of compliance. 

Design and build A project where the main contractor is mainly responsible for both the design and build stages 
of a building project. 

Desktop study An assessment carried out in lieu of a physical test. The term is particularly associated with 
cladding systems.

Final Certificate A certificate given by an Approved Inspector under section 51 of the Building Act 1984 
stating that, having taken such steps as are reasonable within the limits of professional skill 
and care, the Approved Inspector’s opinion is that the work complies with the requirements 
in the building regulations. A Final Certificate is evidence, but not conclusive evidence, of 
compliance.

Fire engineer A person with the ability to apply scientific and engineering principles, rules and expert 
judgement, based on an understanding of the phenomena and effects of fire and of the 
reaction and behaviour of people to fire, to protect people, property and the environment 
from the destructive effects of fire.

Page 190



108 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Fire risk assessment A systematic and structured examination of the likelihood of fire and the consequences to 
those who may be affected by a fire. Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety Order) 2005, a 
fire risk assessment must evaluate the risk from fire to employees and other relevant persons 
(persons lawfully on the premises and/or persons in the immediate vicinity who are at risk 
from fire on the premises) for the purpose of identifying the general fire precautions that are 
needed to comply with the provisions of the Order.  

Full plans application An application made to a local authority under section 16 of the Building Act 1984 for the 
approval of the plans for building work. A full plans application must be made whenever the 
building is or would be subject to the Fire Safety Order 2005.

Initial Notice A notice given by an Approved Inspector under section 47 of the Building Act 1984 to say that 
the Approved Inspector will be the building control body, rather than a local authority, for the 
building work described in the Initial Notice. 

Material alteration Under regulation 3 of the Building Regulations 2010, an alteration made to a building is 
material if the work would result in a building not complying with a requirement where it 
previously did or, where it did not comply with a requirement, was no less compliant than 
before the work was carried out. 

Non-worsening of compliance Under regulation 4(3) of the Building Regulations 2010, a requirement that the building as a 
whole after the work was carried out fully complied with all relevant requirements or, where it 
did not previously comply, is no less compliant than before the work was carried out.

Plans Certificate A certificate given at the request of the person carrying out the work by an Approved 
Inspector under section 50 of the Building Act 1984 stating that, in the Approved Inspector’s 
opinion, the work set out in the plans would comply with the requirements of the building 
regulations.

Responsible person Under the Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005, a responsible person is generally 
an employer or, in premises which are not a workplace, the owner or other person who 
has control of the premises in connection with carrying on of a trade, business or other 
undertaking (whether for profit or not).

Section 36 notice A notice served by a local authority under section 36 of the Building Act requiring a building 
owner to bring non-compliant work up to the required standard or to remove the non-
compliant work.

Page 191



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 109 

Appendix C: Acknowledgements

Thank you to all the individuals and 
organisations who have engaged with the 
review to date. The organisations are listed 
below.

3C Shared Services Building Control
A & F Consulting
A2Dominion
Academie des Technologies
Access and Building Consultancy
Acivico Ltd
Adexsi UK Ltd
Advanced Smoke Group
Affinity Sutton
Alarmscom
All-Party Parliamentary Group on Fire Safety and 
Rescue 
All-Party Parliamentary Group on Leasehold and 
Commonhold Reform
ARCH Tenants Group
Architectural and Specialist Door Manufacturers’ 
Association 
Arup
Ascent Fire Safety
Association for Specialist Fire Protection
Association of British Insurers
Association of Residential Managing Agents
Association of Retained Council Housing
Atelier Ten
Atkins
Australian Academy of Technology and Engineering
Australian Institution of Fire Engineers
AXA
Balfour Beatty
Barrow-in-Furness Borough Council
Basildon Borough Council
Bassetlaw District Council
Belimo Automation UK Ltd
Berneslai Homes
Bespoke Building Control Ltd

Bevan Architects
Bolton at Home
British Automatic Fire Sprinkler Association
British Board of Agrément 
British Electrotechnical and Allied Manufacturers 
Association
British Plastic Federation 
British Property Federation 
British Research Establishment
British Rigid Urethane Foam Manufacturers’ 
Association 
British Safety Council
British Standards Institution
Buckinghamshire Fire and Rescue Service
Build UK
Building and Development Branch in the Province of 
Ontario’s Ministry of Municipal Affairs
Building Engineering Services Association 
Building Regulations Advisory Committee
Building Services Research and Information 
Association 
Buro Happold
Business Sprinkler Alliance
Butler & Young
Cadent Gas Ltd
Calderdale Council
Carlion
Catalyst Housing
Centre for the Protection of National Infrastructure 
Centre for Window and Cladding Technology
Centre Scientifique et Technique du Batiment 
Certsure LLP
Chartered Institute for Environmental Health
Chartered Institute of Architectural Technologists
Chartered Institute of Environmental Health
Chartered Institution of Building Services Engineers 
and the Society of Façade Engineering
Chartered Trading Standards Institute Greater 
London 

Page 192



110 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Chelmsford City Council
Cheshire Fire and Rescue
CICAIR
Citizens Advice Bureau
Clarion Housing Group
Coltraco Ultrasonics Ltd
Confederation of Co-operative Housing 
Construction Industry Council
Construction Leadership Council 
Construction Products Association
Council for Aluminium in Building
Crawley Homes
Croydon Council
Defence Infrastructure Organisation
Delft University of Technology
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy
Department for Education
Department of Finance, Northern Ireland
Department of Health
Department of the Built Environment, Eindhoven 
University of Technology
Design Fire Consultants
Devon and Somerset Fire and Rescue Service
Door and Hardware Federation
Ealing Council
East Sussex Fire and Rescue Service
Eastwood and Partners Consulting Engineers
Electrical Safety First
Engineered Panels in Construction Ltd 
Essenden Design Ltd
European Fire Sprinkler Network
Exova Warringtonfire 
Federation of Master Builders
Federation of Private Residents’ Associations
Federation of Tenants and Residents Associations
Fellows of the Canadian Academy of Engineering
Fellows of The Netherlands Academy of Technology 
Finishes and Interior Sector 
Fire Brigades Union
Fire Cubed LLP
Fire Doors Complete Ltd
Fire Industry Association
Fire Ingenuity LLP
Fire Protection Association
Fire Protection Ltd
Fire Sector Federation

Fläkt Woods Ltd
Flamerisk Safety Solution Ltd
Fortis Living
FS Consulting
Genesis Housing
Gentoo Group
German Federal Institute for Materials Research and 
Testing 
Glass and Glazing Federation
Greater Manchester Combined Authority
Greenfields Community Housing
Greenwich University
Grenfell Fire Forum 
Grenfell Tower Inquiry
Grundfos 
Guild of Architectural Ironmongers
Hackney Council
Hampshire Fire and Rescue Service
Harlow Council Building Control
Hazards Forum
Heatrae Sadia 
Hertfordshire Fire and Rescue Service
Historic England
Home Builders Federation
Housing Ombudsman
HSH (Hyde Group)
HSS Engineers Bhd
Humberside Fire and Rescue Service
Hyndburn Borough Council
Independent Expert Advisory Panel
Institute of Residential Property Management
Institution of Civil Engineers
Institution of Fire Engineers
Institution of Occupational Safety and Health
International Fire Consultants
JACOBS
JGA Fire Engineering Consultants
Kent Fire and Rescue Service
Killa Design
Kingspan Insulation Ltd
Knauf Insulation UK
Laing O’Rourke
Lakanal House Group 
Lambeth Council 
Lancashire Fire and Rescue Service 
Lareine Engineering
Lichfield District Council

Page 193



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 111 

Local Authority Building Control 
Local Building Standards Scotland 
Local Government Association
London & Quadrant
London Borough of Camden
London Borough of Havering
London Borough of Lambeth
London Borough of Newham
London Borough of Tower Hamlets
London Borough of Westminster 
London Councils
London District Surveyors 
London Fire Brigade
London Housing Association
Manchester City Council
McAlpine
MD Warranty Support Services Ltd
Meinhardt (UK) Ltd
Merseyside Fire and Rescue Service
Metropolitan Housing
Midland Heart
Milton Keynes Council
Mineral Wool Insulation Manufacturers Association
Ministerial Building Safety Group
National Association of Rooflight Manufacturers 
National Federation of ALMOs
National Federation of Tenant Management 
Organisations
National Fire Chiefs Council
National Fire Protection Association
National Fire Sprinkler Network
National House Building Council
National Housing Federation
National Landlords Association
National Tenant Organisations
National Trust
Network Homes Ltd
Newcastle City Council 
NIG Commercial
Nordic Fire Safety
North Wales Fire and Rescue Service
Northamptonshire Fire and Rescue Service
Notting Hill Housing
Nuclear Industry Fire Safety Co-ordinating 
Committee
Ontario Building Officials Association
Optivo Housing

Oxford City Council 
PA Housing
Parliamentary Office of Science and Technology
Passive Fire Protection Forum
Peabody Housing
Peaks and Plains Housing Trust
Places for People
Plymouth City Council
Plymouth Community Homes
Portsmouth City Council
Powys County Council
Probyn Miers
PRP Architects 
Residential Landlords Association
Retained Firefighters’ Union
ROCKWOOL Group
Royal Academy of British Architects
Royal Academy of Engineering
Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue Service
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors
Salford City Council 
Salix Housing
Scottish Fire and Rescue Service
Scottish Government
Scottish Review Panel of Building Standards (Fire 
Safety)
SE Controls 
Sefton Council
Shelter
Shropshire Fire and Rescue Service
Singapore Building & Construction Authority
Smoke Control Association 
Solihull Building Control
South Wales Fire and Rescue Service
South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service
Southern Housing
Southwark Council
Staffordshire Fire and Rescue Service
Strategic Housing
Structural Safety
Surrey, East Sussex, West Sussex Fire and Rescue 
Services
Swansea Council 
TAROE Trust
Technical University of Ostrava, Faculty of Safety 
Engineering
Tenos 

Page 194



112 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

The Concrete Centre
The Hyde Group
TNL Consulting Ltd
Together Housing
Tower Blocks Network
Trenton Fire Ltd
TROX UK Ltd
UK Phenolic Foam Association
Unipol Student Homes
University of Aberdeen
University of Cambridge
University of Edinburgh
University of Warwick
Vale of Aylesbury Housing Trust

VK Architects & Engineers
Waltham Forest Housing Association Ltd
Wandsworth Council
Welsh Government
West Midlands Fire Service
West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service
Westminster City Council 
WFP Fire & Security
Winchester City Council
Wintech
WM Housing Groups
Wythenshawe Community Housing Group
Zurich Insurance

Page 195



Mapping the building and fire safety regulatory system – high-rise residential buildings
Mapping the building and fire safety regulatory system – Construction of High Rise Residential Buildings

B
u

ild
in

g
 li

fe
 c

yc
le

L
eg

is
la

ti
o

n
P

ri
m

ar
y 

p
ro

ce
ss

es

Design phase

Building Act 1984         Building Regulations 2010         Building (Approved Inspectors, etc.) Regulations 2010
Approved Document B (fire safety) volume 2: buildings other than dwellinghouses, 2013, DCLG         Building Control Performance Standards, 2017, DCLG         Building Regulations and Fire Safety Procedural Guidance, 2015, DCLG

Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
Fire safety in purpose-built flats, 2011, LGA; Fire safety risk assessment: sleeping accommodation, 2006, Home Office

Person wishes to construct a 
high-rise residential building

Local planning
authority consider and 

determine within
13 weeks

Professional design team 
(including architects and 

engineers) develop extensive 
building design

Building work must be undertaken in 
accordance with the Building Regulations, 
in particular regulations 4, 7 and 
Schedule 1.
Schedule 1 includes:

A – Structural safety requirements
B – Fire safety requirements:
● B1 – Means of warning and escape
● B2 – Internal fire spread (linings)
● B3 – Internal fire spread (structure)
● B4 – External fire spread
● B5 – Access and facilities for the 
 fire service

7 – Materials and workmanship

Choice of
building control 

route

Approved Inspector route
 Contract terms and fees agreed
Before or as soon as practicable 

after giving an Initial Notice in 
relation to the work, fire and 
rescue service consulted on 

B1-5 and FSO issues 

Heath and Safety at Work, etc. Act 1974         Contruction (Design and Management) Regulations 2015         Fire safety in construction, 2010, HSE

Housing Act 2004         Housing Health and Safety Rating System (England) Regulations 2005
HHSRS Operating Guidance, 2006; DCLG: HHSRS Enforcement Guidance, 2006, DCLG

Site preparation phasePlanning phase

Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Construction phase

Occupation phase

Enforcement powers apply for up to 2 years following completion of work

European Construction 
Products Regulations apply

Enforced by trading 
standards under UK 

Construction Products 
Regulations 2013

CE marking and Declaration 
of Performance required 

to market products

European Technical 
Assessment and 

CE marking process

Involvement by notified 
bodies and notified 

laboratories

Past experience
Independent Certification Scheme (UKAS 

accredited third party organisation) 
produces a Declaration of Performance

Product testing process

Laboratory testing to determined standards 
(laboratory should be UKAS accredited)

Assessment in lieu of a test (i.e. a desktop study), 
reliant on actual test results

International product
standards process

British product
standards process

Tests and calculations 
process

Materials and workmanship

Is the product a standardised product?

Is there a European Harmonised Standard for the product/workmanship?
YES NO

Independent certification e.g. BSI Kitemark 
provides additional assurance that product 

complies with standard (otherwise it is 
based on a manufacturer’s declaration)

Approved Documents (or other relevant guidance e.g. BS 9991) set properties which 
materials should meet (e.g. limited combustibility)

Where doubt exists there are powers 
for the BCB to sample and test 

materials under regulation 46 (LABC) 
or regulation 8 (AI)

YES NO

Construction (Design and Management) Regulations

If a breach is identified, single enforcement 
actions under CDM/FSO include:
● Prohibition Notice
● Improved Notice
● Prosecution
● Fine for Inspection

No breaches identified 

Client must:
● Commit to managing project including fire risk
● Compile health and safety file
● Appoint a suitable Principal Designer and Principal Contractor
● Allocate sufficient time and resources
● Provide pre-construction information

Client notifies 
project to HSE and 

key dutyholders 
where work exceeds 
a defined threshold

HSE inspects premises and assesses 
potential material breaches:
● Process fire risks
● General fire precautions

Principal Contractor is accountable for:
● Planning, managing, monitoring and co-ordinating information   
 about fire risk during construction phase including liaising with 
 the client and Principle Designer
● Organise and co-ordinating co-operation between contractors
● Commit to minimising risk of fire
● Provide information for inclusion in the health and safety file

Principal Designer is accountable for:
● Planning, managing, monitoring and co-ordinating information   
 about fire risk during design and planning phase
● Ensure designers comply with their duties to identify and eliminate risk
● Commit to ensuring pre-construction design manages fire risk
● Commit to working closely with client and Principal Contractor

Permission NOT
granted

Permission
granted

Work is undertaken 
without building control 

oversight

Process repeats: 
● If planning 
permission required, 
go to:
● If planning 
permission NOT 
required, go to:

Regulation 7 requires building work to be carried out with adequate and proper 
materials, in a workmanlike manner.

Materials include naturally occurring materials and manufactured products such 
as components, fittings, items of equipment and systems

µ
µ

Applicant seeks planning 
permission #

#

Is the refurbishment 
defined as building 

work under the 
Building Act?

Refurbishment design phase

Refurbishment work phase

Satisfactory 
action taken?

LABC accept Initial Notice

LABC reject Initial Notice Successful 
resubmission? 

Building works 
commence

(Plans do not need to 
be followed)

Agreed risk-based 
inspection plan with 
Approved Inspector 

followed

Risk-based inspection 
programme by the fire and 

rescue service

Fire
safety audit

undertaken. Compliant
fire risk assessment

and sufficient fire 
precautions

in place? 

Fire risk assessment
produced and regularly 

maintained, with sufficient fire 
precautions in place

Handover of relevant fire 
safety info to responsible 
person (reg 38 of BRs) 

Building starts
occupation 

Responsible person has a duty for there 
to be a suitable and sufficient fire risk 
assessment covering the ‘common 

parts’ of their building. They may appoint 
a competent person for this task

Final Certificate 
issued and submitted 

to LABC 

Final Certificate accepted by the LABC

Initial Notice ceases 
(within 8 weeks)

Cancellation Notice 
issued to building 
owner and LABC

FAIL: Written 
Notice 

issued on 
alleged 

breaches 

PASS: work 
meets all 

requirements
Building work 

continues
Building work 

completed

Approved
Inspector

considers whether 
work meets Building 

Regulation 
requirements

Installation by a competent 
person (e.g. for electrical or 

gas works) 

Competent person 
issues certificate of 

compliance

Building control body is 
authorised to accept certificate 

of compliance as part of the 
Completion Certificate/Final 

Certificate process

Competent person installation

 
 

Plans Certificate not
issued by Approved 

Inspector

Plans Certificate showing 
Building Regulations 
compliance is issued, 

 and sent to LABC

If Approved Inspector considers 
building work has altered materially 

against Initial Notice

YES NO

AI consults FRS then 
issues Amendment 

Notice to LABC

If the building is to be refurbished:Local Authority Building 
Control route

Full plan deposited
and fee paid

Plans assessed within 
5 weeks/8 weeks

Fire and rescue service 
consulted on B1-5 and

FSO issues

APPROVED: Full plans 
meet all Building Regulations 
requirements – if response 
not received, plans deemed 

to have passed

REJECT: Full plans show a 
contravention of Building 

Regulations or are 
defective/incomplete

APPROVED CONDITIONAL 
PASS: Full plans can 

pass subject to:
- Necessary changes made
- Further plans deposited

 

A) Notice of Approval 
issued

(with conditions)

B) Inspection
schedule determined

Determination 
process

Satisfactory 
action taken?

Notice of Intent to 
start work sent to 

LABC 2 days before 
building work 
commences

Building works 
commence

(Full plans do not 
need to be followed)

Agreed risk-based 
inspection plan with 

LABC  followed

LABC
consider whether 

building work meets 
Building Regulation 

requirements

PASS: work 
meets all 

requirements

FAIL: 
Information 

given requiring 
work to be 

altered

Building work 
continues

Building work 
completed

Completion Certificate issued in less than 8 weeks 
from the completion of the work (reg 17)

YES

NO
Full plans show 
contravention of 

Building 
Regulations

Approved
Inspector assesses

whether plans meets Building 
Regulations

Fire and rescue service
consulted on B1-5
and FSO issues

If Plans Certificate requested by 
building owner

Determination 
process

NO

YES

YES

Building work cannot 
commence

NO

Satisfactory
action taken,

successful appeal, or 
successful request to 

relax Building
Regulations? 

YES

Final inspection 
successful?

YES

LABC issues 
Enforcement Notice, 

sanctions applied

NO

NO

YES

LABC issues 
Enforcement Notice, 

sanctions applied
NO

Satisfactory 
action taken?

YES

NO

Final inspection 
successful?

(FRS consulted)

YES

Satisfactory 
action taken?

NO YES

NO

LABC enforces Building 
Regulations, may determine a 

reversion fee.

Possible enforcement/
sanctions applied

YES

Prosecution:
● Fines
● Imprisonment 

LEGEND

Building owner

Resident/Tenant

People carrying/intending to 
carry out building work

Local planning authority

Local Authority Building 
Control (LABC)

Approved Inspector

Fire and rescue service

Competent person 
(Building Act)

Responsible person (FSO)

Competent person (FSO)

Local authority 
Environmental Health Officer

Process
Indicates any process

Terminating 
process
Indicates the beginning or end 
of a process flow

Decision required
Indicates a decision point 
between two or more 
processes

Document issued
Indicates data that can be 
read by people, such as 
certificates issued

The Housing Health and Safety Rating System

No category 1 or 2 hazard

If category 1 hazard found, EHO must
take appropriate action:

Improvement Notice

Prohibition Order

Emergency Remedial Action

Hazard Awareness Notice

If category 2 hazard found, EHO 
has the power to issue notices 

as above if appropriate

Relevant 
enforcement

action applied 
e.g. fines

Risk-
based

assessment
undertaken

by EHO on HHSRS 
hazard factors

Risk score calculated on 
29 hazard factors, inc fire

Private properties and
common parts

considered

Complaint made 
to local authority by:
● Resident/Tenant

● Neighbour 

EHO undertakes
proactive 

survey/inspection

Appeal
made against

EHO
decision?

Necessary
action taken?

APPEAL 
FAILS

YES 

NO 

APPEAL 
SUCCEEDS

Prohibition
Notice 

Alterations
Notice 

Enforcement
Notice 

Informal
Notice 

Necessary
action taken?

Appeal made against
FRS decision?

APPEAL 
FAILS

APPEAL 
SUCCEEDS

Plans Certificate 
shows 

contravention
of Building 

Regulations

Satisfactory
action taken,

successful appeal, or 
successful request to 

relax Building
Regulations? 

Initial Notice
given to Local Authority Building 

Control, who have 5 days to 
reject

NO

NO

Determination process

YES

P
age 196



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 113 

Appendix E: Call for evidence

The full call for evidence document can be found at: 

www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_
for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_
Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf

Reproduced below are the 10 questions contained 
in the call for evidence.

The overarching legal requirements 

Q1 To what extent are the current building, housing 
and fire safety legislation and associated guidance 
clear and understood by those who need to follow 
them? In particular: 

• What parts are clear and well understood 
by those who need to follow them?; and, if 
appropriate 

• Where specifically do you think there are gaps, 
inconsistencies and/or overlaps (including 
between different parts of the legislation and 
guidance)? What changes would be necessary to 
address these and what are the benefits of doing 
so? 

Roles and responsibilities 

Q2 Are the roles, responsibilities and 
accountabilities of different individuals (in relation 
to adhering to fire safety requirements or assessing 
compliance) at each key stage of the building 
process clear, effective and timely? In particular: 

• Where are responsibilities clear, effective and 
timely and well understood by those who need to 
adhere to them/assess them?; and, if appropriate 

• Where specifically do you think the regime is not 
effective? 

• What changes would be necessary to address 
these and what are the benefits of doing so? 

Q3 Does the current system place a clear over-
arching responsibility on named parties for 
maintaining/ensuring fire safety requirements are 
met in a high-rise multi-occupancy building? Where 
could this be made clearer? What would be the 
benefits of doing so?

Competencies of key players 

Q4 What evidence is there that those with 
responsibility for: 

• Demonstrating compliance (with building 
regulations, housing and fire safety requirements) 
at various stages in the life cycle of a building; 

• Assessing compliance with those requirements;

are appropriately trained and accredited and 
are adequately resourced to perform their role 
effectively (including whether there are enough 
qualified professionals in each key area)? If gaps 
exist how can they be addressed and what would 
be the benefits of doing so? 

Enforcement and sanctions 

Q5 Is the current checking and inspection regime 
adequately backed up through enforcement and 
sanctions? In particular:

• Where does the regime already adequately drive 
compliance or ensure remedial action is always 
taken in a timely manner where needed? 

• Where does the system fail to do so? Are 
changes required to address this and what would 
be the benefits of doing so? 

Tenants’ and residents’ voice and raising 
concerns in the current system 

Q6 Is there an effective means for tenants and other 
residents to raise concerns about the fire safety 
of their buildings and to receive feedback? Where 
might changes be required to ensure tenants’/
residents’ voices on fire safety can be heard in the 
future? 

Page 197

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/644139/The_call_for_evidence_for_the_independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety.pdf


114 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Quality assurance and testing of materials 

Q7 Does the way building components are safety 
checked, certified and marketed in relation to 
building regulations requirements need to change? 
In particular: 

• Where is the system sufficiently robust and 
reliable in maximising fire safety?; and, if 
appropriate 

• Where specifically do you think there are 
weaknesses/gaps? What changes would be 
necessary to address these and what would be 
the benefits of doing so?

Differentiation within the current 
regulatory system 

Q8 What would be the advantages/disadvantages 
of creating a greater degree of differentiation in 
the regulatory system between high-rise multi-
occupancy residential buildings and other less 
complex types of residential/non-residential 
buildings? Where specifically do you think further 
differentiation might assist in ensuring adequate 
fire safety and what would be the benefits of such 
changes?

International comparisons and other 
sectors

Q9 What examples exist from outside England of 
good practice in regulatory systems that aim to 
ensure fire safety in similar buildings? What aspects 
should be specifically considered and why?

Q10 What examples of good practice from 
regulatory regimes in other industries/sectors that 
are dependent on high quality safety environments 
are there that we could learn from? What key 
lessons are there for enhancing fire safety?

Page 198



Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 115 

Appendix F: Key legislation and publications used

Legislation

Housing Act 2004
Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) Order 2005
Building Act 1984
Building Regulations 2010
Building (Approved Inspector, etc.) Regulations 2010
Housing Health and Safety Rating System (England) 
Regulations 2005
Health and Safety at Work etc. Act 1974
Construction (Design and Management) 
Regulations 2015
Furniture and Furnishings (Fire Safety) 
Regulations 1988 
Smoke and Carbon Monoxide Alarm (England) 
Regulations 2015
Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Regulatory guidance

Department for Communities and Local 
Government, Approved Documents, various 
editions

Department for Communities and Local 
Government (2007) Building Regulations and Fire 
Safety Procedural Guidance, 4th edition

Scottish Government (2015) The Scottish Building 
Standards Procedural Handbook, 3rd edition 

Publications 

Bickerdike Allen Partners (1996) Department of the 
Environment – Design principles of fire safety. Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office
Bickerdike Allen Partners (1990) Fire and building 
regulation: a review. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office
Billington, M.J., Barnshaw, S.P., Bright, K.T., 
Crooks, A. (2017) The building regulations – 
explained and illustrated. John Wiley and Sons Ltd.
Building Regulations and Fire Safety in Scotland, 
published by the Local Government and 
Communities Committee, October 2017

Call to Action: The EU Needs a Fire Safety Strategy, 
published by Fire Safe Europe
Cole, J. (2017) Report of the Independent Inquiry 
into the Construction of Edinburgh Schools  
www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/2245/
independent_report_into_school_closures_
published
Colwell, S., Baker, T. (2013) BR 135 – Fire 
performance of external thermal insulation for walls 
of multi-storey buildings, 3rd edition. BRE Bookshop
Colwell, S., Martin, B. (2003) BR 135 – Fire 
performance of external thermal insulation for 
walls of multi-storey buildings, 2nd edition. BRE 
Bookshop
Department for Business, Innovation and Skills 
(2013) Enforcement of the Regulatory Reform 
(Fire Safety) Order 2005 www.gov.uk/government/
publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-
2005-focus-on-enforcement-review
Department for Communities and Local 
Government (2009) Initial Evaluation of the 
Effectiveness of The Regulatory Reform (Fire Safety) 
Order 2005
Department for Communities and Local 
Government (2005) Housing Health and Rating 
System – Enforcement Guidance www.gov.uk/
government/publications/housing-health-and-
safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-
housing-conditions 
Department for Communities and Local 
Government (2005) Housing Health and Rating 
System – Operating Guidance www.gov.uk/
government/publications/hhsrs-operating-guidance-
housing-act-2004-guidance-about-inspections-and-
assessment-of-hazards-given-under-section-9
Environment, Transport and Regional Affairs 
Committee (1999) Potential Risk of Fire Spread 
in Buildings via External Cladding Systems. The 
Stationery Office
Griffiths, H., Pugsley, A.G. and Saunders, O. 
(1968) Report of the Inquiry into the Collapse of 
Flats at Ronan Point, Canning Town. Her Majesty’s 
Stationery Office

Page 199

http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/2245/independent_report_into_school_closures_published
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/2245/independent_report_into_school_closures_published
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/news/article/2245/independent_report_into_school_closures_published
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-focus-on-enforcement-review
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-focus-on-enforcement-review
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/regulatory-reform-fire-safety-order-2005-focus-on-enforcement-review
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-conditions
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-conditions
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-conditions
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/housing-health-and-safety-rating-system-enforcement-guidance-housing-conditions
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hhsrs-operating-guidance-housing-act-2004-guidance-about-inspections-and-assessment-of-hazards-given-under-section-9
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hhsrs-operating-guidance-housing-act-2004-guidance-about-inspections-and-assessment-of-hazards-given-under-section-9
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hhsrs-operating-guidance-housing-act-2004-guidance-about-inspections-and-assessment-of-hazards-given-under-section-9
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/hhsrs-operating-guidance-housing-act-2004-guidance-about-inspections-and-assessment-of-hazards-given-under-section-9


116 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Haddon-Cave QC, C. (2009) The Nimrod Review: 
an independent review into the broader issues 
surrounding the loss of the RAF Nimrod MR2. 
Aircraft XV230 in Afghanistan in 2006. The 
Stationery Office
Holroyd, R. (1970) Report of the Departmental 
Committee on the Fire Service. Her Majesty’s 
Stationery Office 
Home Office (2006) Fire safety risk assessment – 
sleeping accommodation www.gov.uk/government/
publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-
accommodation
HSE (2010) Fire safety in construction – HSG168 
www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/priced/hsg168.pdf
Improving Building Standards, a Consultation Paper 
from the Scottish Executive, July 2001
Inge, J.R. (2007) The Safety Case, its Development 
and Use in the United Kingdom. Ministry of 
Defence
Interdepartmental Review Team (1994) Fire Safety 
Legislation and Enforcement. The Department of 
Trade and Industry
Knight, K. (2009) Report to the Secretary of 
State by the Chief Fire and Rescue Adviser on the 
emerging issues arising from the fatal fire at Lakanal 
House, Camberwell on 3 July 2009. Communities 
and Local Government Publications
Local Government Association (2012) Fire safety 
in purpose-built flats www.local.gov.uk/fire-safety-
purpose-built-flats
Lord Cullen (1990) The Public Inquiry into the Piper 
Alpha Disaster. Her Majesty’s Stationery Office
Lord Robens (1972) Safety and Health at Work – 
Volume 1 – Report of the Committee 1970–72. Her 
Majesty’s Stationery Office
Pearson, C. and Delatte, N. (2005) Ronan Point 
Apartment Tower Collapse and its Effect on Building 
Codes. Cleveland State University
Performance-Based Building Regulatory Systems, 
Principles and Engagement, a Report of the 
Inter-jurisdictional Regulatory Collaboration 
Committee, February 2010
Reason, J. (2015) Organizational accidents revisited. 
Routledge
Safety in Tall Buildings and Other Buildings with 
Large Occupancy, prepared by an international 
working group convened by The Institution of 
Structural Engineers, 2002
Summerland Fire Commission (1974) Report of the 
Summerland Fire Commission. Government Office, 
Douglas, Isle of Man
Todd, C.S. (2008) A Comprehensive Guide to Fire 
Safety. BSI

Tricker, R., Alford, S. (2014) Building regulations in 
brief, 8th edition. Routledge
Turner, B.A., Pidgeon, N.F. (1998) Man-Made 
Disasters. Butterworth-Heinemann
White, N., Delichatsios, M. (2015) Fire Hazards of 
Exterior Wall Assemblies Containing Combustible 
Components. Springer

Page 200

http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-accommodation
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-accommodation
http://www.gov.uk/government/publications/fire-safety-risk-assessment-sleeping-accommodation
http://www.hse.gov.uk/pubns/priced/hsg168.pdf


Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report 117 

Appendix G: Typical fire safety measures in a building

Fire protection measures

Measure Definition

Structural Fire 
Protection

The protection provided to the building structure in order to maintain adequate performance when exposed 
to fire. 

Structural fire protection can be provided by several methods including application of insulation materials or 
coatings, but protection may also be inherent within the structural element itself. 

Compartmentation Construction provided to prevent the spread of fire to or from another part of the same building or an 
adjoining building. 

For example, compartment walls and floors with a rated period of fire resistance are provided to separate 
individual flats. 

Fire Stopping A seal provided to close an imperfection of fit or design tolerance between elements or components, to 
restrict the passage of fire and smoke.

Fire Doors A door (including the door leaf, frame, ironmongery, glazing etc.) which, when closed, resists the passage of 
fire/smoke to a specified level of performance. 

Cavity Barriers A construction provided to close a concealed space (e.g. an external wall cavity) against penetration of smoke 
or flame, or provided to restrict the movement of smoke or flame in such a space. 

Fire Damper A device which operates to prevent the passage of fire through a duct or ventilation opening. 

Note – where there is a need to prevent the passage of smoke, the damper needs to satisfy additional criteria 
to be a fire and smoke damper.

Fire Detection and 
Alarm Systems

A system that detects fires and warns building occupants. Fire detection systems typically use automatic smoke 
or heat detectors, but can also include manual ‘break-glass’ call points. Means of warning is typically provided 
by sounders and sometimes visual alarm devices also.

Fire detection systems can be used to actuate other fire protection systems including smoke vents, fire and 
smoke dampers, and release fire doors on hold-open devices. 

Fire Suppression 
Systems

A system designed to supress and control fires within a building. 

Sprinklers are a type of fire suppression system which releases water at the fire location to restrict fire growth 
and spread. Other fire suppression systems include gaseous and water mist systems.

Smoke Control 
Systems

Systems designed to control the movement of smoke within the building. 

Smoke control systems can include vents which open either automatically or manually in order to extract 
smoke. Powered smoke control uses fans to drive flow and remove smoke from a building. 

As well as extracting smoke, a smoke control system can often include other provisions as part of an overall 
smoke control strategy; examples include smoke barriers/curtains and inlet air vents.

Pressurisation 
System

A type of smoke control which supplies clean air into an area being protected, typically a staircase. The 
creation of a positive pressure to the protected area helps prevent the movement of smoke into it from an 
adjoining fire-affected space. 

Fire Extinguishers Portable fire-fighting equipment, which requires manual intervention for application.

Emergency/Escape 
Lighting 

Lighting provided to illuminate escape routes that will function if the normal lighting fails.

Evacuation Lift A lift that may be used for the evacuation of people with disabilities, or others, in a fire.

Protected Stairway A stairway that is adequately protected from the rest of the building by fire-resisting construction.

Page 201



118 Building a Safer Future – Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report

Measures to support fire-fighting 

These are building features utilised by fire and rescue services in the event of a fire. 

Measure Definition

Fire-fighting Shaft A fire-resisting enclosure containing a fire-fighting stair, fire mains, fire-fighting lobbies and, if 
provided, a fire-fighting lift.

Fire Main (also commonly 
termed dry/wet riser)

A pipe running up or through a building which can be connected to an external water source such 
as a fire and rescue service pumping appliance. It allows fire-fighters to connect hoses to outlets 
inside the building to fight fires. 

A dry fire main is normally empty until supplied with water. A wet fire main is permanently charged 
with water. 

Fire-fighter’s Lift A lift that has protection, controls and signals which enable it to be used under the exclusive 
control of the fire-fighters.

Smoke Clearance System A type of smoke control system provided to assist fire-fighters in removing smoke from the building 
in the aftermath of a fire.

Fire evacuation approach 

This refers to the way people evacuate a building (in the context of residential buildings).

Approach Definition (in the context of residential buildings)

Stay Put An evacuation strategy based on the principle that only the residents of the flat of fire origin need 
to escape initially, while other residents may remain in their own flats.

Simultaneous Evacuation Procedure in which all parts of a block of flats are evacuated following the giving of a common 
alarm of fire.

Phased Evacuation This evacuation strategy is normally adopted for complex buildings and those with a fire control 
centre. In a phased evacuation the first people to be evacuated are all those on the storey most 
immediately affected by the fire, and those on other floors with impaired ability to evacuate.

The remaining floors are then evacuated, usually two floors at a time, at phased intervals. 

Page 202



978-1-5286-0128-3 
CCS1117446840

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee

7th March 2018

Commissioning Director’s Report 

This report summarises key areas likely to lead to decisions over the next 6 months, 
including updates on areas previously reported.  

1.1 Relevant Cabinet/ Cabinet Member/ Council decisions:
 Policy and Budget Framework - Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Council 

Strategy (County Council, Feb)
 Recommendation to Council - Publication and Submission of the Minerals Local 

Plan for Gloucestershire 2018-2032 (Cabinet, Jan)
 Recommendations to Council - Council Strategy and Medium Term Financial 

Strategy (MTFS) 2018-19 to 2020-2021 (Cabinet, Jan)
 Financial Monitoring Report 2017/18 (Cabinet, Jan)

2 Highway and Transport Authority
2.1 Highway Maintenance
2.1.1 Highways Contract (update)

 The Term Maintenance Contract (TMC) and the new Structural Maintenance 
(SM) resurfacing contracts are both out to market.  The TMC went out as planned 
on the 30th November and the SM contract a week later.  The successful bidder 
for the Structural Maintenance contract is likely to be announced by the end of 
February.  The TMC has been through the pre-qualification procurement stages 
and five bidders have been invited to submit tenders (Balfour Beatty, Griffiths, 
Ringway, Skanska and Volker Highways).  Tenders will be returned in mid-April 
with a shortlist of three bidders determined by mid-May.  Following a competitive 
negotiation phase final tenders will be submitted in July and a decision made in 
September 2018.

 Cabinet Panel (cross-party) met in January and reviewed elements of the new 
contract tender documents including how the future contractor’s performance will 
be measured and incentivised.  

 Despite a sharp rise in the number of safety defects following two winter events, 
Amey key performance indicators and delivery of the capital programme 
continues to remain on target.  Additional resources have been brought in to 
assist with defect repairs including the use of a jet patcher.

 The Council has received an additional £1.1m of Pothole Repair funds from DfT.  
Officers are seeking additional patching resources and pull together work plans 
to deliver the additional works in late spring/early summer.

 Winter operations have gone well and main roads have remained treated and 
operational throughout the recent snow events.  There have now been over 54 
gritting runs completed.  The five year average is 52 per year so highway teams 
are expecting an overspend on the winter service as cold temperatures were 
continued to be forecast for February.

2.1.2 Highways Local (update)
 Delivery is ahead of target although there are still some pockets where 

engagement with members was late, leading to the inability to delivery the works 
in this financial year.

Page 205

Agenda Item 8

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=8880&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=8880&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1061
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1061
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1060
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1060
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1029


2.1.3 Lengthsmen (update)
 The team has received 98 compliments about the work of lengthsmen over the 

last two years, more than any other work programme.
 Lengthsmen activities have finished for the year and the lengthsmen gangs are 

now focused on defect repairs although a few ‘mop up’ jobs are still being 
completed for some members that had purchased additional lengthsmen time.

2.1.4 Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs, update)
 TROs for 2016/17 are now all complete. 
 2017/18 TRO budget (£100k agreed at Council) – four schemes have been 

successfully scored in priority assessment:
o Wotton under Edge Parking Restriction Package – Informal consultation 

and Statutory consultation is complete; formal consultation will commence 
by early March 2018.

o Cheltenham Parking Restrictions Package – Statutory Consultation is 
complete and Formal Consultation currently underway with deadline for 
comments 2nd March 2018.

o Gloucester Restricted Parking Zone – Informal and statutory consultation is 
complete; formal consultation is planned for March 2018.  

o Gloucester Prohibition of Driving – Informal and statutory consultation is 
complete; formal consultation is planned for March 2018.  

 A list has been compiled of all TRO’s (including hump notices and development 
funded TROs) that are ongoing.  This list is updated monthly and is available on 
the Council’s website; http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/tros.

2.1.5 LED Street Lighting Project (update)
 Skanska are continuing with the LED conversions.  Works are ahead of the 

contracted programme, however they are behind on their own accelerated 
programme.  Work has now moved into the rural areas.  

2.2 Highway Useage
2.2.1 Network Management

 Asset Management (no change)
o An Annual Report is produced retrospectively outlining Asset Management 

activities around Highways Maintenance.  The latest version covering 
2016/17 is now available on the County Council’s website and can be 
viewed here.

o The Transport Asset Management Plan is available on the website in a 
chapter by chapter format to allow for a gradual updating of the Plan.  It 
can be viewed here.

 Parking (update)
o Cheltenham West – Feedback from the implementation of the West End 

and Lansdown zones has been largely positive. In the Railway zone 
officers are monitoring parking and exploring options to manage parking 
displacement.

o Publicly accessible ParkMap system to go live shortly, significantly 
improving public self- service through online access to parking information.

 Road Safety (update)
o Following the consultation with staff and unions on proposals for delivering 

the council’s road safety statutory duties staff have moved into their new 
teams in Highways and the Integrated Transport Unit. Work is underway to 
recruit to a ThinkTravel post to support active travel, the council’s travel 
plan and to oversee school travel plans.

Page 206

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/extra/tros
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2153/highways-annual-asset-management-report-2017-r1.pdf
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/transport/transport-asset-management-plan-tamp/


 Air Quality (update)
o An Air Quality and Health Workshop was held on the 16th January 2018.  

The workshop was very well attended by local stakeholders and included a 
talk from Dr Adrian Davis who has an international reputation in the 
interdisciplinary field of transport and health.  Through the discussions a lot 
of ideas were generated about how to develop local approaches to 
improve air quality and to reduce its impact on our population’s health.  
The team who organised the event are now working through these outputs 
to identify the top priorities for more collaborative approaches to tackling air 
pollution in the county.  Feedback has been collated and will be considered 
by the Task Group at its next meeting on 21st March 2018.

2.2.2 Cheltenham Transport Plan (update)
 Phase two (Imperial Road) – following reports of intermittent queuing issues, an 

additional queue detection loop was installed in November.  Some queuing 
issues were reported in January, but it is understood this was due to the failure of 
the Regent Arcade car park entry barriers.

 Phase three (Royal Well) – construction was 90% completed in January.  Cold 
temperatures have delayed the installation of a run-over island.  This will be 
completed shortly.  Monitoring will be undertaken in late February / early March.

 Phase four (Boots Corner Closure) – subject to satisfactory monitoring results, 
the trial closure of Boots Corner under an Experimental Traffic Regulation Order 
will commence on 5th June 2018.  Boots Corner and surrounding roads (Clarence 
Parade, Clarence Street, Pittville Street, Promenade, and Imperial Circus) will 
become bus lanes, with various exemptions including taxis and servicing 
between 6pm and 10am.  The experimental TRO will run for an initial 10 month 
period, as specified by the TRO committee recommendation in Jan 2015.  An 
officer report and recommendation on whether to make permanent, modify or 
abandon will be created following the formal consultation period ending at Month 
6, with a formal decision being required by the Commissioning Director in Month 
8/9.  If the recommendation/ decision is to modify the experiment, it will run for 
the full 18 month period to December 2019.

2.2.3 Cycling (update)
 There are a number of initiatives/projects currently underway for cycling.  Annex 

1 provides an update on each.
2.2.4 Public Transport (update)

 The council has recently tendered for a replacement Park and Ride service at 
Arle Court in Cheltenham.  At the time of writing this process has not concluded 
so it is not possible to confirm any details.

2.2.5 Commons and Rights of Way (CROW) Committee
 Deregulation Act (no change)

o Commencement of the Rights of Way provisions contained within the 2015 
Deregulation Act has been further delayed to 2018, with no firm date set.  

 Definitive Map Modification Orders (DMMOs, update)
o There are no substantive changes to report since the briefing to Scrutiny 

Committee and CROW Committee members on 1 December 2017.  An 
additional meeting of the CROW Committee was held on 30 January 2018 
at which a DMMO application was determined and we have also presented 
reports to the Internal Officers’ Panel for determination. The total number 
of outstanding applications (at all stages in the process) is 116. Reports 

Page 207



have been prepared for the next CROW Committee meeting, scheduled for 
29 March 2018. 

3 Infrastructure and Major Projects  
3.1 Major Transport Projects
3.1.1 Major Schemes

 A417 Missing Link (update)
o The public consultation is underway and will run from 15 February to 29 

March.  Information regarding the consultation can be found here:
 http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link 
 https://highwaysengland.citizenspace.com/he/a417-missing-link/

o Two surface routes are being consulted on: the original ‘brown route’ that 
the (then) Highways Agency promoted in 2003 and a second surface route 
with a slightly different alignment.  Tunnels have been discounted due to 
the high cost and low value for money.

o Environment and Communities Scrutiny Committee will discuss the 
consultation at its meeting on 7 March.

 Cinderford Spine Road (no change)
o Construction works for Phase One of the road have now been completed; 

snagging list to be sent to the contractor. 
o Environment Agency (EA) licences for dormice and newts have been 

transferred to the college from the County Council.

 Elmbridge (update)
o Scheme completed on time and on budget.
o Final account and outstanding Contractor payments (including retention) 

still to be agreed.  Contractor currently completing snagging and defects 
list.

o Arle Court Bus Lane scheme is out to tender with suppliers, with a 
proposed construction in April 2018 for a period of 4 months.

 Cross Keys roundabout (update)
o The County Council has been awarded £2.7 million Government funding 

for improvements to the Cross Keys roundabout at the junction of the A38 
and B4008, just north of junction 12 of the M5.  Works include new traffic 
lights on the A38, widening the approach lanes of the roundabout and 
enhancing conditions for buses and cyclists.  The scheme will cost 
£3.851m; the remaining money will be made up of section 106 funding, 
developer contributions and the County Council’s highways budget.  

o The County Council will progress detailed design throughout Spring 2018, 
with the aim of starting construction in Winter 2018.

3.1.2 Local Growth Fund (update)
 The initial £62.5m Growth Deal funding was announced in July 2014.  This 

included £14.1M major tail-end funding, now reduced to £9.07m to be paid 
directly from the Department for Transport (DfT) to the promoter; this is for 
Elmbridge Roundabout Scheme.  A further £15M of Growth Deal funding was 
announced in January 2015 and in February 2017, a further £29.13 million was 
secured in the third round of Growth Deal funding for the following projects:

o Longford Housing – £4.53 million
o Cyber Business Park – £22 million (DfT retained scheme)
o Gloucestershire College Forest of Dean Campus – £2.6 million

Page 208

http://www.highways.gov.uk/a417-missing-link


 In addition to the major tail-end funding allocation and the DfT-retained scheme 
(see above), £30,907,000 of the total Growth Deal allocation for Gloucestershire 
is allocated to the following transport schemes:

Scheme
Allocation

£’000
Indicative LEP Board 
decision date Promoter

A419 corridor 4,360 10/10/2017 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Lydney strategy 1,000 11/09/2018 Gloucestershire County Council 
Berkeley bridges 1,990 15/12/2015 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Cinderford Northern Qtr 3,800 15/12/2015 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Glos South West 
Bypass

2,000 20/02/2018 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 

St Barnabas 
Roundabout

1,000 Q4 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council 

B4063 Junction 1,600 Q4 2018/19 Gloucestershire County Council 
A40 Over Rnd & 
Highnam

2,230 13/12/2016 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 

Abbeymead / Metz Way 500 04/10/2016 - approved Gloucestershire County Council 
Gloucester Transport 
Hub

6,400 16/02/2016 - approved Gloucester City Council 

Cheltenham Spa 
Railway

1,497 12/12/2017 approved Great Western Railway

Longford Housing 4,530 Q3 2018/19 Tewkesbury Borough Council
Total Transport 30,907

3.1.3 Capital Programme, 2017/18 (update)
 We currently anticipate spending £40.1M in the 2017/18 financial year, which is 

£2.4M below the anticipated target.  This is because of significantly slower 
progress than anticipated with the Street Lighting LED conversion project (see 
2.1.5).  Other than that all other spend is currently largely in line with the revised 
November 2017 target.

3.1.4 Highways England (HE, update)
 A prospectus has been prepared by the A46 Partnership setting out the ask of 

the authorities along the A46, which in Gloucestershire is for improvements to be 
made to M5 J9 and the A46 through Ashchurch.  The prospectus is aimed at 
raising the profile of the road with a view to securing investment from 
Government for improvements. The prospectus will shortly be formally launched 
and can be found here:

o www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/A46-partnership
 Housing Infrastructure Fund.  The Government announced a new £2.3bn fund for 

local authorities and District Councils to bid to, to deliver new infrastructure to 
support new and existing communities.  The fund is divided into 2 streams: 

o A Marginal Viability Fund – available to all single and lower tier local 
authorities in England – to provide a piece of infrastructure funding to get 
additional sites allocated or existing sites unblocked quickly.  Tewkesbury 
Borough Council were awarded an indicative £8.1m to provide a new 
bridge over a railway line replacing a level crossing, to solve a road 
capacity problem and unlock development within the Tewkesbury 
Ashchurch Housing Zone – Access to the North.  Cheltenham Borough 
Council were awarded an indicative £3m to provide public realm 
improvements at Portland Street to release a stalled town centre housing 
scheme on a brownfield site with consent for 143 units of which 40% 
affordable.  

Page 209



o A Forward Fund – available to the uppermost tier of local authorities in 
England – for a small number of strategic and high-impact infrastructure 
projects. Bids can be up to £250 million.  Expressions of Interest were 
submitted by the County Council; one for an M5 Junction 10 upgrade and 
‘Smart Motorways’ improvements; and one for improvements to M5 
Junction 9 and the A46.  Announcements regarding the successful EOIs 
are expected at the end of March.

 HE has recently released the “SRN Interim Report” for consultation.  This report 
sets out the main challenges on the SRN that HE envisages for the next Road 
Investment Strategy period from 2020-2025.  The County Council responded to 
this consultation by the deadline of 7 February 2018.

 HE is consulting on the Major Road Network (MRN), a new network of local 
roads that local highway authorities can bid for funding to improve from the new 
National Roads Fund.  The consultation closes on 19 March.

o The Department for Transport report on the MRN can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/proposals-for-the-creation-
of-a-major-road-network

o The proposed MRN network map can be found at 
http://maps.dft.gov.uk/major-road-network-consultation/

3.1.5 Great Western Rail Franchise (update)
 The Government ran a consultation, asking for views on proposals for improving 

train services on the Great Western rail network from April 2020.  The Great 
Western franchise could be split up and the plans, if implemented, would create a 
new West of England rail franchise.  County Council officers submitted an officer-
level response to meet the deadline of 21st February 2018, which has been 
shared with members of this Committee.  The response highlights/ raises the 
following points:

o Disagree with the suggestion of splitting the franchise on the basis it will 
lead to further fragmentation and complexity to the rail industry that is 
largely impenetrable to most of the travelling public.  The possible future 
franchise structure set out in the document would create an additional train 
operating company (ToC) in Gloucestershire; 

o Strong support for including the MetroWest Phase 2 Gloucester (including 
Cam & Dursley) extension in the next (Direct Award) franchise service 
specification based on the positive findings from the studies commissioned 
so far.  This would give a half hourly service between Gloucester, Cam and 
Dursley and Bristol;

o Strong support for service improvements on the North Cotswold Line via 
the North Cotswold Line Taskforce which gets held up as an example of 
good partnership working.  GCC is a member;

o Disagree with the suggestion of removing intermediate stops to reduce 
journey times.  Clearly this could impact on stations such as Cam & 
Dursley, Stonehouse and Ashchurch for Tewkesbury; 

o The need for ongoing station improvements in terms of accessibility, 
parking, facilities etc, particularly Cheltenham and Gloucester;

o A commitment to increased investment in new rolling stock; 
o Support for an hourly service to Worcester as a minimum (stopping at 

Ashchurch for Tewkesbury) with additional services in the peak time; and
o Support (officer and financial) for studies to look at the potential for new rail 

stations between Gloucester and Bristol.  

Page 210



3.2 Planning
3.2.1 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and Section 106 (S106) Agreements (update)

 The national Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Review reported in February 
2017 alongside the publication of the Housing White Paper.  It assessed the 
extent to which the CIL does or can provide an effective mechanism for funding 
infrastructure, and has recommended a number changes to which the 
Government is responding.  

 Council officers responded to the Department for Communities and Local 
Government (DCLG) setting out the importance of the council’s role in 
infrastructure delivery and the problems faced by upper-tier authorities that 
cannot become CIL Charging Authorities.  

 A number of these concerns, shared with other counties, have been reflected 
within the report with subsequent consultations examining various aspects.  For 
now, CIL will remain, and progress should continue, where authorities are 
introducing CIL.  Further updates will be provided on the changes and how they 
may impact on the County Council.

 Within Gloucestershire, progress on District CIL Charging Schedules is as set out 
in Annex 2.  Two consultations are required: the Preliminary Draft Charging 
Schedule (PDCS) and the Draft Charging Schedule (DCS).  After the DCS 
consultation, an independent examiner holds an Examination in Public, and 
reports to the authority, which then makes further changes or proceeds to adopt.  

 As of April 2017, CIL has been operational within Stroud district and the County 
Council continues to cooperate with the other district councils in the development 
of their CIL schemes.  

 Cotswold DC CIL Examination took place in December 2017.  Some 
supplementary questions were asked by the Examiner, which require written 
answers.  The Inspector’s Report is expected to be published shortly.  Officers 
submitted comments throughout the process and will continue involvement. 

 The Joint Core Strategy (JCS) Authorities’ CIL Examination had been scheduled 
for September 2017, but has been postponed.  This followed a further 
consultation in July-September 2017 which aligns the CIL DCS with the changes 
to the JCS.

 The County Council continues to work with the CIL Charging Authorities to 
support on governance arrangements, CIL preparation and administration.

 Financial contributions that arise through S106 Planning Agreements are agreed 
between the County Council and the Developer/Owner as part of the planning 
application process, to mitigate against the specific impacts of a particular 
development, in accordance with the National Planning Policy Framework and 
CIL Regulations 2010 as amended.  

 The Local Developer Guide, which sets out the County Council’s expectations 
from development and guides how the Council will negotiate developer 
contributions, was updated in December 2016 and approved by Cabinet.  It was 
updated to bring it in line with new policies, including the introduction of CIL.

 At Gloucestershire County Council, the financial contributions agreed with 
developers relate mainly to strategic infrastructure, such as highways and 
transportation, schools and libraries.  Once received, S106 contributions can only 
be spent in accordance with the specific terms set out in an Agreement.  

 Contributions become due on trigger dates which are set out in each agreement.  
For example, an education contribution may be due after a certain number of 
new dwellings have become occupied.  The County Council has a S106 
Monitoring Officer who monitors the triggers in agreements and liaises and 
invoices developers when contributions become due.  

Page 211



 Annex 3 shows the quarterly statistics for S106 contributions agreed, due and 
received.

3.2.2 Joint Core Strategy (JCS, no change)
 Following receipt of the Inspector’s final report, all three of the JCS authorities 

have now adopted the JCS.  It is anticipated that the JCS will be immediately 
reviewed, starting in 2018.

3.2.3 Highways Development Management (HDM, update)
 The Team Manager returned to work in January and we are going through a 

process to recruit to vacant and new positions with the aim of filling vacancies in 
the final quarter of 2017/18. We are also working with districts to develop 
planning performance agreements (PPAs), to provide developers with more 
certainty about the timescales for assessing larger applications, mainly in 
Cheltenham and Gloucester.  A workshop is planned in March with districts, 
Amey and Legal services to understand how we can make best use of PPAs to 
speed up the delivery of new development in Gloucestershire.

 Since 2012/13 the County Council, as Local Highway Authority (LHA), has 
provided LPAs with standing advice for assessing the transport impact of 
developments of up to five dwellings on minor (mostly residential) and ‘C’ class 
roads where the speed limit is 30mph or less.  This was reviewed in 2016, as 
agreed with LPAs.  The HDM team offers support guidance and training to LPAs 
to assist them with understanding how to apply standing advice effectively.

 Since October 2016, for larger and more complex applications, the County 
Council has been providing LPAs with summary sheets giving a succinct 
overview of the main transport issues, concerns and recommendations.  This is 
in addition to a more detailed substantive response.  We have asked LPAs to 
provide copies of these summaries to their members and to include them in their 
reports to planning committee.  The aim of this approach is to assure members 
on planning committees that the LHA has properly assessed the impact of a 
development and whilst we may have concerns these do not warrant a 
recommendation to refuse the application.  Previously such concerns may not 
have been apparent in committee reports, which simply stated that the LHA has 
no objection.

3.3 Waste
3.3.1 Joint Waste Committee (update)

 The forecast for 2017/18 is a reduction in residual waste due to the full-year 
effect of the new improved waste services in Stroud and changes to recycling 
collections in other areas.  This will result in an anticipated recycling rate of 54% 
for the year.

 Following approval by Cabinet in September 2017, a short-term interim 
arrangement for residual waste disposal has been prepared to cover the gap 
between expiry of the current landfill contract in August 2018 and 
commencement of operation of the Javelin Park Energy from Waste facility 
(Residual Waste Project) in or around summer 2019.  A business case has been 
produced to consider the options for waste transfer arrangements once Javelin 
Park is operational.  New arrangements for the transfer of waste from the north of 
the county will need to be established, and a decision on to procure this service 
is due in the spring. 

 A project to replace the aging and unreliable waste compaction equipment at the 
HRCs is underway. This will introduce new mobile compaction equipment to the 
sites, initially at Hempsted and Pyke Quarry, and will provide reliability and 
flexibility for the operations at these sites.  Associated ground repairs will take 

Page 212



place at the same time to provide a safer working environment.  This will require 
temporary site closures of up to 2 weeks.

 Tendering for HRC materials recycling and disposal services has commenced.  
This utilises the Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) to let contracts for all 
materials which will commence in April 2018.  The new contract for Wood 
recycling commenced on the 1st January, offering an index linked pricing 
mechanism which is hoped will produce savings to the authority over its’ 3 year 
lifetime.

 A communications programme for 18/19 has been developed for approval by the 
Joint Waste Committee at the February meeting. This includes a number of 
campaigns aimed at reducing packaging waste, harnessing the current mood 
around the issues of plastic recycling.

 The governments 25 Year Environment Plan was published in January.  This 
provides a blueprint for a number of focused actions on a range of issues 
including waste management.  It also commits to producing a waste and 
resources strategy later this year, which will assist us in developing our plans in 
the future.  We will take this opportunity to review our own waste strategy in line 
with this.

 The latest performance forecast is included at Annex 4.
3.3.2 Residual Waste Project (update)

 The project is making good progress.
 Process equipment has started to arrive and is being installed on site. Concrete 

groundworks and the erection of the steel framework continues, including for the 
visitor centre and the roof structure for the incinerator bottom ash treatment hall.  
There are now approximately 200 staff and operatives working onsite.

 Western Power Distribution’s electricity cable installation works continue.  The 
cable will take power from the site to the national grid connection at the Ryeford 
substation, south of Stonehouse.

 Site operations and Health and Safety continue to a high standard.
 The Community Liaison Group met in January to discuss the project.  Minutes of 

the meeting can be found at http://www.ubbgloucestershire.co.uk/get-
involved/community-liaison.

4 Minerals and Waste Planning 
4.1 Minerals Local Plan (MLP, update)

 Cabinet, at its meeting on 31st January 2018 resolved to recommend to Full 
Council the approval of the MLP for publication and submission to the Secretary 
of State for examination;

 The recommendations made by Cabinet are now to be heard by Full Council at 
its meeting on 28th March 2018;

 The MLP will likely be published in spring 2018 and then submitted to the 
Secretary of State for examination in later summer / autumn 2018. Adopted may 
occur early in 2019;

 Following adoption, the new MLP will provide a local policy framework to deal 
with all minerals-related planning matters that arise across the county through to 
the end of 2032.

Page 213



5 Community Resilience
5.1 Renewable Energy Generation on the Council’s Estate (no change)

 Following the significant reduction of Government subsidy officers are reviewing 
options for the way forward including the viability of future investment in ground-
mounted solar PV generation on the Council’s estate.

5.2 Carbon Reduction Programme (update)
 The Council has a target to reduce carbon emissions from its estate by 60% by 

2020/21 against the 2006/07 baseline.  
 Emissions for the corporate estate (reported a quarter in arrears) continue to be 

significantly ahead of target; a 12% reduction for Apr to Sep 2017/18 with a target 
reduction of 6% against the same period 2016/17.  This will mainly be as a result 
of LED Street Lighting installed under the new contract, together with ICT 
improvements and ongoing works to Shire Hall, coupled with mild weather.  

 Renewable energy generation on the Council's estate remains limited, with solar 
PV on The Main Place, Coleford and Cirencester Fire Station.  Solar panels will 
be installed on the roof of Shire Hall as part of the refurbishment and options for 
further investment across the estate are being investigated.
(*tCO2e = ‘tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent’, which is a standard unit for 
measuring carbon footprints.  The idea is to express the impact of each different 
greenhouse gas in terms of the amount of CO2 that would create the same 
amount of warming.  That way, a carbon footprint consisting of lots of different 
greenhouse gases can be expressed as a single number.  The conversion 
factors used in the UK are published annually by Government; see Government 
emission conversion factors for greenhouse gas company reporting.)

5.3 Adaptation and Resilience
5.3.1 Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA)

 Delivering Sustainable Drainage Systems (update):
o Gloucestershire County Council, as the Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA), 

has a statutory duty to provide substantive responses within 21 days to 
consultation referrals received from the Local Planning Authority regarding 
developer’s proposals for the management of surface water on major 
planning applications.

o During the period 1st October 2017 to 31st December 2017 the LLFA 
received 42 major planning application referrals and responded to 100% of 
these within the 21 day response deadline.  

o In the same period, in addition to the work required to provide advice on 
planning applications, officers have also had to deal with 10 requests for 
pre-application advice and 19 requests to discharge planning conditions.

 Flood Alleviation Schemes (update)
o Work has commenced at Priors/Oakley north west of Cheltenham on a 

£2.5 million scheme to construct a flood alleviation scheme designed to 
reduce the risk from flooding to 179 properties.  The scheme comprises 
two surface water attenuation basins and a number of channel diversions 
and improvements to watercourses on the Noverton Farm and Priors Farm 
sites.  The scheme involves holding back surface water running off the 
Cleeve escarpment and releasing it back into the existing watercourses at 
a controlled rate.  The nature of the scheme will mean that existing land 
uses can continue after completion of the scheme and minimise the impact 
on landowners and the local community.  The pre-commencement work is 

Page 214

https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/government-conversion-factors-for-company-reporting


now finished and the civil engineering is expected to take about 10 months 
to complete, weather permitting.

o Investigations are ongoing at Brockworth and Churchdown to assess the 
number of properties at risk of flooding and the viability of installing 
property level protection.  Threshold surveys will be undertaken over the 
coming weeks to refine and verify our flood model data.  The next stage 
will be a technical survey during the summer with a view to installation in 
2019 subject to funding approval from Defra.

5.3.2 Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership (LNP, update)
 The LNP partnership will next meet on 15th March 2018.
 The LNP Manager post interviews have been held and the successful candidate 

will be announced at any time now.  The postholder should be in place by the 
end of May or early June 2018. 

 European Structural and Investment Fund (ESIF)
o The final call for new project bids for the remaining £1.5M available closed 

last November.  It is understood there were 3 bids showing expressions of 
interest.  Both of these would have some County Council involvement if 
they go ahead; i.e. using funds for highways and PRoW improvements to 
bring in match funding for green infrastructure and ecological 
enhancement.  Projects involving works on the Gloucester/ Sharpness and 
Cotswold Canals plus Market Towns in the County are awaiting news to 
see if they can advance full bids for potential final approval and funding 
later this year.

 The GI benchmark, produced by the Wildlife Trust with some assistance from the 
LNP was launched last November, called ‘Building with Nature’.  It is being rolled 
out as a UK certification scheme at www.buildingwithnature.org.uk 

5.3.3 National Adaptation Programme (NAP, update)
 The Climate Change Act (CCA) 2008 put in place a policy framework to promote 

adaptation action in the UK consisting of:
o The UK Climate Change Risk Assessment (CCRA) is a five-yearly 

assessment of the major risks and opportunities from climate change to the 
UK.  The Adaptation Sub-Committee (ASC) of the Committee on Climate 
Change has a duty to advise Government on the preparation of the risk 
assessment.  

 To inform the 2017 risk assessment, the ASC published an independent 
evidence report of the risks and opportunities to the UK from climate 
change in July 2016, UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017.  

 Defra used the ASC’s evidence report as the basis of the Government’s 
report, UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017, laid before Parliament 
in January 2017.  The Government endorsed the conclusions of the 
Adaptation Sub-Committee, with the exception of some of those on food 
security.

o The National Adaptation Programme (NAP) is the Government’s long-term 
strategy to address the main risks and opportunities identified in the 
CCRA, which is also produced every five years.  The first National 
Adaptation Programme was published in July 2013.  The ASC reported to 
Parliament on the progress made in the implementation of this programme 
in 2015, and again in June 2017; ‘2017 Report to Parliament - Progress in 
preparing for climate change’.  It includes 28 recommendations, with its 
overall conclusion being that, despite some progress, the level of risk has 
increased for a significant number of priorities.  

Page 215

http://www.buildingwithnature.org.uk/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/tackling-climate-change/the-legal-landscape/global-action-on-climate-change/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-government-report
https://www.theccc.org.uk/about/structure-and-governance/asc-members/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-2017/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-2017
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/adapting-to-climate-change/supporting-pages/national-adaptation-programme
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/2017-report-to-parliament-progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/2017-report-to-parliament-progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change/


 Government’s response was published in October 2017 (link), addressing 
the ASC’s 28 detailed recommendations on preparing for the impacts of 
climate change (Chapter 6 covers Local Government).

 The next NAP will be published in July 2018, with an initial draft expected 
in March 2018.

o The UK Adaptation Reporting Power grants the Secretary of State the 
power to require public service organisations to produce reports on what 
they are doing to adapt to climate change.  Nearly 90 organisations, 
primarily infrastructure providers, reported under the first round.  The 
Government published an updated strategy for the second round of 
reporting in July 2013, alongside the National Adaptation Programme.  
Under the new strategy, authorities report on a voluntary basis, and those 
that reported in the first round should provide an update on their progress 
of implementation.

 The Local Adaptation Advisory Panel (LAAP) for England (update)
o The LAAP, chaired by the Council’s Commissioning Director, Communities 

& Infrastructure, acts as an efficient forum for dialogue between local 
Government, central Government and arms length delivery bodies.  

o The LAAP met again in January to continue its preparations for submitting 
evidence to the Government’s anticipated NAP consultation.  

o Defra outlined preparations for the new NAP and will be consulting the 
LAAP on the local government chapter in preparation for the draft NAP 
expected to be published in March.

o The Met Office gave an overview of the revised UK Climate Projections 
(UKCP) 2018, which will include:

 Global projections for future climate (new), needed to understand impacts 
and variability

 Sea level rise and storm surge, with updated emissions, thermal expansion 
and melting

 Land probabilistic (likelihood) projections, with new high resolution 
projections at 25km2 and month-by-month changes to illustrate variability

 This will be available at www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate, with information 
entry points: 

 Climate data
 ‘Big picture’ pre-packaged information
 Sector specific data, guidance and case studies
 Practical guidance on how to adapt

o The Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and 
Transport (ADEPT) gave an overview of their role and how they and the 
LAAP could better work together.  ADEPT represents ‘Place’ Directors 
from county, unitary and metropolitan authorities, along with Local 
Enterprise Partnerships and corporate partners drawn from key service 
sectors.  The County Council is a member; the Commissioning Director, 
Communities & Infrastructure is one of three Vice Presidents, currently 
chair of the South West Board and is the Resilience Lead for ADEPT.

5.4 25 Year Environment Plan (25YEP, new item)
 The 25YEP, published in January, sets out the Government’s goals for improving 

the environment within a generation and leaving it in a better state than we found 
it.  It details how Government will work with communities and businesses to do 
this.  The Executive Summary and Summary of Targets are attached as Annex 
5a and 5b respectively.  

Page 216

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/651150/CCS207_CCS0917051660-1_Un_Act_Govt_Response_to_CCC_Report_2017_Accessibl.._.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/policies/adapting-to-climate-change/supporting-pages/adaptation-reporting-power
http://www.metoffice.gov.uk/climate


 The full plan can be found at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-
year-environment-plan.  

 The 25-year goals include achieving:
1. Clean air.
2. Clean and plentiful water.
3. Thriving plants and wildlife.
4. A reduced risk of harm from environmental hazards such as flooding and 

drought.
5. Using resources from nature more sustainably and efficiently.
6. Enhanced beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment.

 And managing pressures on the environment by:
7. Mitigating and adapting to climate change.
8. Minimising waste.
9. Managing exposure to chemicals.
10.Enhancing biosecurity.

 Highlights include:
o Air quality – publish a new Clean Air Strategy for consultation in 2018; 

clean air pledge inc meeting legally binding targets; ban on petrol and 
diesel cars and vans by 2040; measures for wood burning and smokeless 
fuels; emissions from farming.

o Natural flood risk management.
o Planning – principle proposed of ‘net environmental gain’ through the 

planning system for housing and infrastructure development; review of 
National Parks and Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONBs).

o Waste Management – commits to producing a waste and resources 
strategy later this year; pledge to eliminate avoidable plastics by 2022.

o Reducing CO2 emissions and improving resilience to climate change.
o Overall strategy for nature – update Biodiversity 2020 strategy.
o Farming – agri-environment schemes will be more focussed on paying land 

owners for environmental benefits; pesticides restrictions inc 
neonicotinoids (harmful to bees and other pollinators).

o Consultation on environmental principles and watchdog.
 The Plan sits alongside two other government strategies: the Industrial Strategy 

and Clean Growth strategy.

6 Community Resources and Partnership Projects
6.1 GlosCol RFD Campus Cinderford (no change)

 Plans to establish a high quality further education and training facility in 
Cinderford are continuing to progress following the securing of additional capital 
resource from the Homes and Communities Agency (HCA), the Growth Deal 3 
confirmation of a further £2.6 million (see 3.1.2) and the County Council’s 
completion of the construction of Phase 1 of the Cinderford Northern Quarter 
Spine Road.  Serving as the new Royal Forest of Dean campus for 
Gloucestershire College and the cornerstone of the education-led regeneration 
proposals for the Northern Quarter in Cinderford, the project involves the 
relocation of GlosCol’s current campus at Five Acres in Coleford to a 6,000 sq.  
meter, purpose-built facility in Cinderford, with the Five Acres site being released 
for housing.  The college build programme started in May 2017 and they are 
working towards a planned occupation and formal opening in September 2018.  

Page 217

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-britain-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy


6.2 Gloucester and Sharpness Canal (no change)
 The County Council submitted a European Structural and Investment Fund 

(ESIF) Outline Application Form for funding to support the improvement and 
upgrade of canal tow paths in and around Gloucester, on the 10th November.  
Subject to approval the full ESIF business case will be prepared in early 2018 
with a view to commencing works on site in May 2018.  S106 monies from the 
Kingsway development have been secured for £450k (which could increase 
further depending on the rate of development).  An application for an 
Environmental Trust Grant of £200k was submitted in December 2017.  There 
are two sections of canal towpath upgrade being proposed:

1) Approx. 2.7km from High Bridge to Sims Bridge
2) Approx. 2.9km from Sims Bridge to The Pilot Public House

6.3 Gloucester Transport Hub (was Gloucester Bus Station, update)
 Funding has been secured from GFirst LEP and GLTB.
 Britannia was appointed Contractor for the Highway Works following an open 

tender process, with the City Council acting as Employer under the contract.
 Construction works are substantially complete on the highway scheme with some 

defects and the Stage 3 Safety Audit outstanding.  The works included the 
reopening of Station Road/Bruton Way junction and kerb-line alterations to 
Station Road, the upgrading of the Bruton Way/Station Approach junction 
resurfacing and traffic signal upgrade.  Bruton Way Spur (outside the Land 
Registry Office) has been upgraded with a new shared use footway/cycleway and 
the highway has been re-opened to Westbound traffic.  Work has been 
completed on Market Parade to upgrade the taxi rank and install a zebra crossing 
and puffin crossing.

 Additional Traffic Regulation Orders are required to formalise the parking 
restrictions on Market Parade and prevent motorists from entering Bruton Way 
Spur in the wrong direction. 

 Kier was appointed by Gloucester City Council to take forward the design and 
build the new Bus Station.  Work is underway to install the drainage and the steel 
frame structure.

6.4 Lydney (no change)
 The overflow rail station car park is now open and discussions are taking place 

regarding future lease arrangements.
6.5 Libraries
6.5.1 Stonehouse Library relocation (update)

 Discussions are still ongoing with Stonehouse Town Council about the 
opportunity to relocate the library into the current Town Council building but are 
taking time.  The current library building is deteriorating so there is now some 
urgency in needing to come to an agreement which works for both parties.  The 
terms of occupation and a further draft layout have been produced and need to 
be agreed by the Town Council before the proposal goes through the Council’s 
governance processes.  There will also need to be a full 12 week public 
consultation on the proposal.

6.5.2 Growth Hub – Tier 3 network (update)
 The last phase of the library Growth Hubs will be rolled out by 31st March 2018.  

The innovation lab is being set up at Coleford Library and we are working on its 
launch.  Sarah Danson from the main Gloucester Growth Hub has been asked to 
speak at the National Growth Hub Network meeting about their link with libraries 
and the Chartered Institute of Library and Information Professionals saw our 

Page 218



stand at the Vision 2050 launch and also wants a piece written about the link 
between the Growth Hub and Libraries for their Journal.  There appears to be a 
lot of interest nationally about the Gloucestershire model.

6.5.3 Nailsworth Library (no change)
 Nailsworth Town Council is in discussions to move their Tourist Information 

Centre (TIC) into an area of Nailsworth Library.  The TIC is provided by 
volunteers who also volunteer at the library.  By offering the service from the 
same building we hope to reduce the demand on the pool of volunteers and the 
Town Council will move their provision to the building vacated by the TIC.  
Further areas of joint working/joint use of the building are being explored.

6.6 ROBUST (Rural-Urban Outlooks – Unlocking Synergies) project (no change)
 ROBUST is a European research project being delivered by a consortium of 24 

research institutes, local and regional authorities.  The overall goal is to:
a) Advance our understanding of the interactions and dependencies between 

rural, peri-urban and urban areas; and
b) Identify and promote policies, governance models and practices that foster 

mutually beneficial relations. Improved governance arrangements and 
synergies between rural, peri-urban and urban areas will in turn contribute 
to Europe’s smart sustainable and inclusive growth, maximising the 
creation of rural jobs and value-added.

 Gloucestershire is one of the settings for the research, and Gloucestershire 
County Council and the University of Gloucestershire’s Countryside and 
Community Research Institute are amongst the partners in the consortium.  The 
project receives funding from the European Union’s Horizon 2020 research and 
innovation programme and will run for four years from June 2017. The UK 
Government has recently launched the Industrial Strategy which acknowledges 
the importance and value of the UK’s collaboration with partners in the Horizon 
2020 programme.

7 2018/19 Budget
7.1 Budget consultation (update)

 County Council at its meeting in February approved the Council budget.
 784 people responded to the Council’s budget consultation and 74% agreed with 

the overall budget proposals.  89% of people agreed that protecting the most 
vulnerable people in the county was important to them – specifically ensuring 
they get the help they need, when they need it.  The Council has listened and 
invested additional resources in supporting our most vulnerable. 

 Figure 1 shows how the 2018/19 budget will be allocated:

Page 219



Figure 1: 2018/19 budget allocation

 Key highlights in the budget include:
o An extra £16.3 million to help the most vulnerable children and young 

people in the county
o An extra £2.5 million overall to protect vulnerable older people
o On-going commitment to the £150 million investment in highways over five 

years 
o £2.74 million to support Highways England’s A417 safety improvement 

scheme
o New Growing Our Communities Fund will provide each county councillor 

with £30,000 over three years to spend on community projects

 Gloucestershire was one of only ten bids nationally to be successful as a 
Business Rate Retention pilot, which allows the Council to keep more of the 
county’s business rates.  This means a one-off extra £4.6 million will be added to 
the overall budget for 2018/19.  This money will be invested as follows:

o £2.6 million for children’s social care
o £1 million for adult social care
o £0.53 million for the Highways Local Scheme
o £0.47 million for electric vehicle infrastructure

 The public infographic is attached as Annex 5.

Contact Officer
Nigel Riglar, Commissioning Director: Communities & Infrastructure
nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk, 01452 328470

Page 220

mailto:nigel.riglar@gloucestershire.gov.uk


ANNEX 1: CYCLING UPDATE
Updates on the cycling initiatives/projects currently underway are set out below:
Initiative/ 
Scheme

Update

Capital 
programme/ 
s106

Purpose: The County Council has a capital programme for scheme delivery, 
some of which is allocated for cycling schemes.
Update: The following schemes have funding allocated for 2017/2018
2017/18 Schemes

 Barriers to Cycling Gloucester: Cycle signs, kerbing alterations, tree 
removal and surfacing, completed October 2017

 Barriers to Cycling Cheltenham: Contraflow cycle lane, completed 
October 2017

 Bristol Road Cycle and Safety Scheme: Cycle lane alterations, 
completed  December 2017

 Pedestrian Cycle Linkages Cold Pool Lane to Morrisons: shared use 
footway/cycleway, consultation underway.  Provisional construction date 
February 2018

 Kingsditch Lane, Cheltenham Cycle Improvements: shared use 
footway/cycleway, completed October 2017

 Bishops Cleeve to Tewkesbury Cycle Signing: cycle signing 
improvements. Design complete, delivery in March 2018

2018/19 Schemes
 Northway Lane, Tewkesbury Cycletrack:  Shared use footway/cycleway. 

Land Acquisition and detailed design underway
 Gloucester Canal Towpath:  Upgrading the Canal Towpath between 

Gloucester and Hardwicke.  Construction programmed for May 2018 by 
the Canal and River Trust

 Bishops Cleeve to Cheltenham Cycle Improvements: Provision of new 
shared use cycleway parallel to A435.  Design and landowner 
negotiations underway

 Pittville to The Park Student Cycle Route:  Cycle signing improvements 
Route investigation undertaken, detailed design to follow 

 Lydney Transport Strategy:  Create and enhance cycle provision to 
improve connectivity in Lydney.  LEP Funded scheme and business 
case being prepared.

Highways 
England – SRN 
barriers

Purpose: Highways England is managing a £100m budget for improving 
facilities for cyclists on the Strategic Road network (SRN).  Their top priority for 
the Gloucestershire area is the link between Gloucester and Cheltenham and a 
package of improvements, worth £3.5m has been proposed by Highways 
England for the B4063.
Action:  HE is expected to lead on the detailed design and consultation for this 
scheme throughout 2018/19.  Construction is likely to take place in 2019/20 and 
has to be complete by March 2020.  The County Council is working with both 
the HE and the LEP to secure additional funds for further improvements on the 
route.

Cycling and 
Walking 
Investment 
Strategy (CWIS)

The Department for Transport launched its Cycle and Walking Investment 
Strategy (CWIS) in April 2017.  The strategy outlines Government’s ambition for 
cycling in England, which is ‘to make cycling and walking the natural choices for 
shorter journeys, or as part of a longer journey’.  The strategy introduces a set 
of aims and targets for 2025 including the doubling of cycle activity. 

The County Council was successfully identified as a pioneer authority to be one 
of the first wave of authorities to produce a LCWIP.  Council officers intend to 
roll out a countywide LCWIP in phases.  Phase 1 will cover the Central Severn 

Page 221



Initiative/ 
Scheme

Update

Vale area, phase 2 will cover Stroud and Tewkesbury and Phase 3 will cover 
the Forest of Dean and the Cotswolds.  This is based on outputs generated 
from the Propensity to Cycle modelling tool.

There are 5 deliverables expected from the LCWIP process and include:
1. Background Report – This is the outward facing document which links the 

LCWIP into local policy and explains the local commitment to walking and 
cycling.

2. Network Planning Document – This is a technical document which uses 
several of the DfT technical modelling tools to build the evidence for 
investment in the walking and cycling network.

3. Prioritised list of improvements – This is the delivery plan prioritising 
where we will invest, it will be reported in terms of delivery timeframe and 
expected costs.  Essentially this is the pipeline of future schemes.

4. Summary Report – This report summarises the Network Planning 
Document and Prioritised List of Improvements documents.

5. Impacts of plan – This is the monitoring report which we need to keep 
updated to explain what has worked and provide evidence to demonstrate 
the rate of change in cycling and walking levels in our area.

In July 2017 the County Council submitted an Expression of Interest (EoI) to the 
DfT for 29 days consultancy support to produce our Phase 1 LCWIP.  In 
October 2017 the Council was informed that the EoI was successful and we are 
to receive our full ‘ask’ in terms of support.  This will commence from April 2018.

Gloucestershire 
County Council 
Travel Plan

Purpose:  The Travel Plan for the Shire Hall Complex has been developed as 
part of the Green Impact review, which aims to support, recognise and accredit 
organisations for supporting actions on sustainability.  The Travel Plan also 
supplements the ongoing brand of Thinktravel, which was developed under the 
now ended LSTF funded programme aimed at encouraging and promoting 
sustainable travel within Gloucestershire.  
Update:  The intention was for the travel plan to be adopted by Corporate 
Management Team (CoMT) in February 2016 but this has been delayed due to 
the ongoing changes likely with car parking in relation to the Blackfriars 
development works and Quayside redevelopment.  An officer working group has 
been established to take this forward.  
The ‘Thinktravel’ website continues to promote and support cycling see 
https://www.thinktravel.info/ 

LTP-Cycle and 
Think travel 
strategies

LTP was adopted at Full Council on 29 June 2016.  The plan will be reviewed in 
2018.

Cycle liaison 
group update

Cycle liaison group met on Monday 11 December 2017.

Cycle 
Champions

The cross-party Cycling Advisory Group met Friday 12 January 2018.

Page 222

https://www.thinktravel.info/


ANNEX 2: Community Infrastructure Levy

The table below shows progress on District CIL Charging Schedules.

Local 
Authority

PDCS 
Consultation

DCS 
Consultation

Proposed rates Next steps

Stroud DC Feb 2014 April – Jun 
2016

Resi1: £80/Sqm
Retail2: £75/Sqm

Adopted and effective 
as of Apr 2017

Gloucester 
City Council

May – Jul 2015 May – Jun 
2016

Resi:
1-10 units: £0/Sqm
11+ units: £45/Sqm
Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but generally 
£35/Sqm
Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm

A further consultation 
to align the DCS with 
the JCS changes was 
carried out in Jul-Sep 
2017
Examination: mid-2018
Adoption: 2018

Cheltenham 
BC

May – Jul 2015 May – Jun 
2016

Resi:
1-10 units: £148/Sqm
11+ units: £200/Sqm
Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but generally 
£35/Sqm
Retirement Homes: 
£200/Sqm
Extra Care Homes: 
£100/Sqm
Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm

A further consultation 
to align the DCS with 
the JCS changes was 
carried out in Jul-Sep 
2017
Examination: mid-2018
Adoption: 2018

Tewkesbury 
BC

May – Jul 2015 May – Jun 
2016

Resi:
1-10 units: £104/Sqm
11+ units: £200/Sqm
Strategic Sites1: 
£variable but generally 
£35/Sqm
Out-of-Town retail: 
£100/Sqm

A further consultation 
to align the DCS with 
the JCS changes was 
carried out in Jul-Sep 
2017
Examination: mid-2018
Adoption: 2018

Cotswold 
DC

Published for 
consultation Jun 
- Aug 2016

Oct 2016 Resi1: £80/Sqm
Retail3: £60/Sqm

Examination: Dec 2017
Adoption: 2018

Forest of 
Dean DC

Not yet 
published

The Forest of Dean DC 
Cabinet resolved in Apr 
2015 to support the 
development of a 
potential CIL in the 
District when resources 
are available.  

Notes:
1) Strategic sites are excluded from CIL charge as infrastructure will most likely be secured 

through S106.
2) Supermarkets and retail warehouses
3) All retail

Page 223



ANNEX 3: Section 106 Planning Quarterly Contributions

The tables below show the quarterly statistics for S106 contributions agreed, due and 
received.

Negotiated Financial Contributions – Table 1

Overview:

 Table 1 details the number of S106 Planning Agreements/Unilateral 
Undertakings signed and total contributions negotiated and agreed to support the 
provision of highways, education & libraries infrastructure in Gloucestershire per 
quarter.

 These contributions will only become due to the County Council on 
implementation of the planning permission and respective trigger dates as 
detailed in individual agreements.

 The signed agreements include those with a valid planning consent as well as 
those that are subject to appeal.  For example; the headline figure in Q3 (October 
2015 – December 2015) included the Leckhampton (Shurdington Road, 650 
dwellings) development/agreement, with a negotiated value of over £6.5m, which 
was dismissed on appeal.  In Q4 (January 2016 – March 2016), the 
Leckhampton (Farm Lane, 377 dwellings) development/agreement with a 
negotiated value of £2,728,142.00 was allowed on appeal.

Latest Analysis Q2 - 2017:

 The total negotiated value is much higher in this quarter and there are 5 
agreements alone with negotiated values which together amount to over £10m 
as follows:

o £5m – Hunts Grove
o £2.25m – Tewkesbury Road, Twigworth – subject to appeal
o £1.66m – Par Four Lane, Lydney 
o £997k – Columbine Road, Tewkesbury
o £727k – Innsworth Lane

Table 1:
2015/2016 No. of Agreements Signed Total Value 

Negotiated 
Q1 April - June 11 £1,935,109.45
Q2 July - September 10 £1,574,110.00
Q3 October - December 7 £8,327,342.00
Q4 January - March 15 £8,216,894.00
2016/2017
Q1 April – June 11 £1,737,570.00
Q2 July - September 11 £2,234,717.00
Q3 October -December 6 £1,246,812.00
Q4 January – March 3 £1,437,439.00
2017/2018
Q1 April – June 11 £4,117,000.00
Q2 July - September 17 £15,641,000.00
Q3 – October - December 10 £3,746,880.00

Page 224



S106 Contributions Due:
The table below shows details of developments with contributions valued over £100,000 
that have become due in Jan-Feb 2018.  
Developer Amount Development/Contribution
Persimmon Homes Severn 
Valley

£102,673.59 Land at GCHQ Oakley, Cheltenham – 
Education 

Taylor Wimpey Bristol £169,708 Travis Perkins Site, Gloucester Road, 
Cheltenham – Library and Education 

Bloor Homes Western £245,323.88 Land to North  of Roman Way & Land to 
E Bourton Industrial Park – Education

Redrow Homes Limited £100,218.02 Land at Former Aggregate Industries 
Site, South Cerney – Public Transport

David Wilson Homes 
South West

£128,117.85 Land at Kingshill, London Road, 
Cirencester – Library and Education 

S106 Contributions Received:
Contributions become due on trigger dates which are set out in each agreement.  The 
table below shows the contributions valued over £100,000 that have been received during 
Jan-Feb 2018.  
Developer Amount Received in Jan-Feb 2018
Persimmon Homes 
Severn Valley

£102,673.59 Land at GCHQ Oakley, Cheltenham 
– Education 

Redrow Homes £100,218.02 Land at Former Aggregate 
Industries Site, South Cerney – 
Public Transport 

Page 225



ANNEX 4: Waste Performance for 2016/17

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Forecast

Total Municipal Waste 293,833 288,680 280,205 278,355 287,823 298,019 301,432 309,470 305,733
Variance -4.4% -1.8% -2.9% -0.7% 3.4% 3.5% 1.1% 2.7% -1.2%
Municipal Waste Landfilled 169,023 152,956 147,092 144,822 155,366 161,009 156,498 153,556 145,038
Variance -4.2% -9.5% -3.8% -1.5% 7.3% 3.6% -2.8% -1.9% -5.5%

2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18
Forecast

Total Household Waste 276,816 273,373 261,792 261,291 266,475 275,949 277,864 286,638 283.792
Variance -4.5% -1.2% -4.2% -0.2% 2.0% 3.6% 0.7% 3.2% -1.0%
H’hold Waste Landfilled 161,072 145,911 137,337 134,504 138,141 146,335 146,158 136,435 128,435
Variance -3.6% -9.4% -5.9% -2.1% 2.7% 3.6% -0.1% -6.7% -5.9%
Reuse & Recycling 66,501 70,348 68,771 70,189 71,075 69,967 73,029 80,116 82,819
Variance -5.7% 5.8% -2.2% 2.1% 1.3% -1.6% 4.4% 9.7% 3.4%
Food & Garden Waste 49,244 54,914 55,100 55,803 56,637 60,104 59,132 69,618 72,761
Variance -2.9% 11.5% 0.3% 1.3% 1.5% 6.1% -1.6% 17.7% 4.5%
Total Recycling 115,744 125,262 123,871 125,992 127,712 130,071 132,161 148,832 155,580
Variance 4.5% -8.2% 1.1% -1.7% -1.4% -1.8% 1.6% 12.6% 4.5%

The 2017/18 forecast continues to show that Gloucestershire is on course to recycle and compost more waste than is landfilled, with a 
forecast recycling rate in the region of between 54.5% for the full year.  The improved performance this year is largely due to changes to 
the collection services in Stroud and Cheltenham.  These are the last planned major service changes within Gloucestershire and step 
changes of this scale are unlikely to be seen again with the current configuration of services.  As stated in previous reports, the Joint 
Waste Committee has agreed to look at new options for increasing performance and establishing common service aspects across all 
partner areas when opportunities arise in the coming years.  An opportunity to further improve will occur when the Joint Waste team and 

P
age 226



Cotswold District Council review their services in 2019.  This will also provide an opportunity to develop a template for agreed common 
services across the county, which itself will be a focus for the partnership as we move forward.

P
age 227



ANNEX 5: Council Budget Infographic

Page 228



ENVIRONMENT AND COMMUNITIES OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

WORK PLAN 2018

17 January 2018 7 March 2018 9 May 2018 11 July 2018

Motion 798: Gloucestershire Flood 
and Community Resilience – To 

receive a presentation 

Motion 787: Pavements - To receive 
a report on measures to improve the 
inspection and fixing of pavements

Quarter 3 2017/18
Performance Report

Quarter 4 2017/18
Performance Report

Road Safety Review – to receive an  
update report

A417 ‘Missing Link’ Consultation Air Pollution and its Impact on Public 
Health – to receive a report on the 

task group’s recommendations 
(TBC) 

A429 Task Group – to receive an 
update report

P
age 229

A
genda Item

 9



19 September 2018 7 November 2018 

Quarter 1 2018/19
Performance Report

Quarter 2 2018/19
 Performance Report

 

FUTURE ITEMS

1 Libraries – how libraries have developed, the range 
of services provided by libraries, and community hub 
relationships (identified as a priority item)

6 Advice from Gloucestershire County Council (as 
Lead Local Flood Authority) to local planning 
authorities

2 Soft Flood Alleviation Schemes 7 Infrastructure Planning

3 Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport 8 Air Pollution – task group has been established to 
consider air pollution and its impact on public health

4 Fastershire Broadband

5 Infrastructure South – including the third river 
crossing

P
age 230


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes
	17 January 2018 Action Sheet

	4 Motion 787: Pavements
	5 A417 'Missing Link' Consultation
	6 A429 Task Group
	7 Chief Fire Officer Report
	Appendix 1 -National_Framework_consultation_document
	Appendix 2 - Response National_Framework_consultation_document
	Appendix 3 - Independent_Review_of_Building_Regulations_and_Fire_Safety
	Building a Safer Future Independent Review of Building Regulations and Fire Safety: Interim Report
	Contents
	Foreword
	A personal view from Dame Judith Hackitt

	Summary
	Summary of the report

	Chapter 1 Findings and direction of travel
	Background
	Review methodology
	Findings to date
	Regulation and guidance 
	Roles and responsibilities 
	Competence 
	Process, compliance and enforcement 
	Residents’ voice and raising concerns
	Quality assurance and products 
	International regulatory regimes
	Other regulatory systems

	Direction of travel for phase two of the review
	Direction of travel – Regulation and guidance
	Direction of travel – Roles and responsibilities
	Direction of travel – Competence 
	Direction of travel – Process, compliance and enforcement 
	Direction of travel – Residents’ voice and raising concerns
	Direction of travel – Quality assurance and products

	Interim recommendations and challenges
	Next phase of the review

	Chapter 2 A brief history of the current regulatory system
	Introduction
	Key findings

	The evolution of building regulations and fire safety legislation
	High-rise residential buildings
	Other developments around the management of risk – health and safety regulation
	Fire casualties since the 1980s

	Chapter 3 The current regulatory landscape
	Introduction
	Key findings

	Methodology
	Background – mapping the regulatory system
	Stage 1 – The fire safety aspects of securing planning permission
	Stage 2 – The fire safety aspects around the creation of new buildings, including building control oversight
	Overview of regulatory requirements
	Regulatory requirements – Approved Documents and Schedule 1 compliance
	Regulatory requirements – Other routes to compliance with Schedule 1
	Regulatory requirements – Who needs to meet the requirements of the Building Regulations?
	Regulatory requirements – How are the building works checked? 
	Regulatory requirements – How are the building works checked in the Local Authority Building Control route?
	Regulatory requirements – How are the building works checked in the Approved Inspector building control route?
	Regulatory requirements – How are the building works checked? A comparison between the two BCB routes
	Regulatory requirements – How construction products and workmanship are deemed to comply with the Building Regulations

	Stage 3 – The fire safety aspects around refurbishments and change of use, including building control oversight
	Decision 1 – Is this “building work”?
	Decision 2 – Is the non-worsening provision invoked? 

	Stage 4 – The fire safety aspects of the regulatory framework surrounding the occupation of a building 
	Quick overview of the two key regulatory frameworks
	The regulatory framework around the Fire Safety Order
	The regulatory framework around the Housing Act 2004

	Conclusion

	Chapter 4 Gathering stakeholder evidence
	Introduction
	Background
	Key findings

	Methodology
	Call for evidence
	Bilateral meetings and roundtables

	Headline statistics from the call for evidence
	Evidence and emerging findings 
	Q1. The overarching legal requirements
	Q2. Roles
	Q3. Responsibilities
	Q4. Competencies of key players
	Q5. Enforcement and sanctions
	Q6. Tenants’ and residents’ voice and raising concerns in the current system
	Q7. Quality assurance and testing of materials
	Q8. Differentiation within the current regulatory system
	Q9. International comparisons
	Q10. Other sectors
	Culture and behaviours


	Chapter 5 International systems for building regulation and fire safety
	Introduction 
	Key findings

	Approach and methodology
	Emerging findings
	Regulatory frameworks
	Roles, responsibilities and accountability
	Competence and accreditation
	Compliance and enforcement
	Privatisation of inspector, review and enforcer€roles

	Next steps

	Appendices
	Appendix A: 
Biography of Dame Judith Hackitt DBE€FREng
	Appendix B: Key terms
	Appendix C: Acknowledgements
	Appendix D: Mapping the building and fire safety regulatory system – high-rise residential buildings
	Appendix E: Call for evidence
	The overarching legal requirements 
	Roles and responsibilities 
	Competencies of key players 
	Enforcement and sanctions 
	Tenants’ and residents’ voice and raising concerns in the current system 
	Quality assurance and testing of materials 
	Differentiation within the current regulatory system 
	International comparisons and other sectors

	Appendix F: Key legislation and publications used
	Legislation
	Regulatory guidance
	Publications 

	Appendix G: Typical fire safety measures in a building
	Fire protection measures
	Measures to support fire-fighting 
	Fire evacuation approach 




	8 Commissioning Directors Report
	9 Work Plan



